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EDITORS* NOTE

Thcralundiir V. Mahalingam is one of those stalwarts , who ' have worked

throughout their life with single minded devotion and intense passion to unravel, the

mysteries of the south Indian history. From a humble beginning as a Research Scholar/

Assistant, soon after his Master of Arts degree in 1931, he rose step by step to the

highest position of Professor and Head of the Department of Ancient History and

Archaeology in the University of Madras; a position occupied by such distinguished

scholars as Dr S. Krishnaswami Aiyangar and Prof K.A. Nilakanta Sastri- During

the tenure of the last two the Chair was exclusively for History- It was only during

Prof Mahalingam’s time that a separate Chair for Archaeology with Ancient History

clubbed to it was created and Prof Mahalingam had the unique distinction of being the

first Professor of the newly instituted Chair with a compliment of teaching and technical

staff for Field work.

Prof Mahalingam attained this height through sheer merit and hard work.

He is one of the few to be awarded the degree of D- Litt. of the University of Madras

for his thesis, “Administration and Social Life under Vijayanagar”. In recognition

of his services to the cause of history the Government of India honoured him by bes-

towing Padma Sri in 1969. Prof Mahalingam had been President of several Congresses

and Conferences. He has contributed more than two hundred articles and reviews. His

total number of books exceed a dozen. His contributions arc varied, covering history,

archaeology, art and architecture, epigraphy, numismatics, religion and philosophy, etc.

Two of his books Studies in South Indian Archaeology and South Indian Setdptures and
Iconography arc to be released shortly. Presently Prof Mahalingam is busily engaged in

the projects sponsored by the University Grants Commission and the Indian Council of

Historical Research.

Tlie present book is a collection of thirty-six papers, and articles read before the

distinguished gatherings of several Conferences, Congresses, Seminars and published in

various Rc.scarch journals; some of them arc now defunct, spanning more than a millen-

nium, from the Pallavas of Kanchi to the British East India Company. They at once bring

before us his versatility and grasp of the subject. He himself has indicated in his Introduc-

tion, the scope, problem and further work done in each subject. It would be, therefore,

redundant for us to recapitulate them here. But it would be interesting to mention only
two topics, those relating to the village administration of the medieval south India
(Village Communities in South India and the Chitramcli Periyanattar) and the social

legistalion, particularly regarding (lu? obnoxious dowry system (Social Legislation in
Medieval South India).
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^INTRODUCTION

« This volume contains 36 research papers contributed by me to different Journals,

'Periodicals, Felicitation Volumes or read at Conferences devoted to the study of

’Indian history during the past four decades. These represent different aspects of the

history of south India, commencing from the times of the Early Pallavas of Kanchi-

puram and ending with the Tondaiman rulers of the erstwhile princely State of Puduk-

kottai in the beginning of the last century. Of these ten relate to the period of the Pallavas

upto the beginning of the tenth century A.D., six to the Chola-Chalukya period; eight

- to the Vijayanagara period and nine to the post-Vijayanagara period covered by those

of the Nayaks of Thanjavur and Madurai, theNawabs of Carnatic and the Tondaiman
' Rajas of Pudukkottai. The subjects deal mainly with important historical events and

socio-economic and administrative institutions that marked some of the aspects of

many of the facets of the history of south India.’ In the course of this introduction I

have tried to indicate further research done by scholars on some of the topics dealt with

‘ here and my own recent views on them.

-
‘ 'Early Pallava Genealogy and Chronology’ [1] is the outcome of the study of the

• genealogy and chronology of the early Pallavas of Kanchi prior to the accession of

' Simhavishnu, father of Mahendravarman I, which is one of the knotty problems in

' south Indian history and on which different scholars have suggested different pedigrees

and chronological schemes. However, fresh discoveries of a few significant inscriptions

enabled the present writer to suggest modification of the earlier views regarding the

genealogy and chronology of the Pallavas and postulate a new tenable scheme till fresh

. evidences necessitate change. The copper plate inscriptions of the Early 'Pallavas of

t Kanchi, which number sixteen, the Manchikallu stone inscription of Simhavarman I and
several contemporary Kadamba and Ganga inscriptions are the main sources of infor-

- mation to reconstruct the pedigree and chronology of the early rulers of the Pallava

family. The date of the extinction of the Ikshvaku power in the lower Deccan as sugges-

. ted by D.C. Sircar, the date of the Dakshinapatha expedition of Samudragupta, some
synchronisms provided by the early Kadamba and Ganga inscriptions, the date of acces-

,

sion of Simhavarman n as furnished by the Jain work Lokavibhaga, the synchronism
offered by Dantdin’s Avantisimdarikathasara, the information supplied by the recently

, discovered Indrapalanagara Copper Plates of Vishnukundin king Vikramendrabhatta-
rakavarman II are some of the landmarks which have been utilised to reconstruct

„t}ie chronology of the early Pallavas of Kanchi prior to the accession of Siiphavishnp,
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'Early Pallava-Kadamba Relations’ [2] is a study of the contacts between these

two powers of south India for about 100 years i.e. from the early fourth century A.D.

to the middle of the fifth century A.D. The account is based largely on the Kadamba

and Ganga inscriptions as the contemporary Pallava records do not speak specifically

of their relations with the neighbouring powers. The humiliation experienced by Mayura-

sarman, a brahmana of the Manavya gotra and of the family of the Kadambas during

the aSvamedha sacrifice performed by the Pallava king Sivaskandavarman I led to the

establishment of the Kadamba kingdom in Western Deccan by Mayurasarman evidently

at the expense of the Pallavas. However, the Pallavas were wise and diplomatic enough

to keep the rulers of the Kadamba family under their influence, though Mayurasarman’s

conflicts with them continued for some time even after the reign of Sivaskanda-

varman I. The growing influence of the Kadambas over the Baijas in the subsequent

period was considered a menace by the Pallavas to their power and prestige and they in

turn patronised the Western Gangas to counterpoise it. The Pallava rulers lost no

chance to assert their diplomatic supremacy over the Kadambas whenever the internal

affairs of the Kadamba kingdom showed any sign of dissension and provided an opport-

unity for them to step in. Such an opportunity to interfere in the Kadamba
politics came after the death of ^Kakusthavarman, the fourth king of the Kadamba

dynasty after Mayurasarman, The Kadamba kingdom came to be divided among

the two sons of Kakusthavarman viz. Krishnavarman I and Santivarman, The

former carved out a separate kingdom for himself with his headquarters at Triparvata.

When he chose Devavarman, his younger son as his heirapparenf, the then Pallava

ruler Sirahavarman II along with Santivarman espoused the cause of Vishnuvarman, the

elder son of Krishnavarman I through a Kaikcya princess, defeated the last of them and

crowned Vishnuvarman on the Triparvata throne retaining the Banavasi throne for

Santivarman. The Kadamba prince during bis exile served the Pallavas in ’ the capacity

of a General of the army and remembered gratefully the help extended to him by the

Pallavas to gain the throne, by naming his son as Simhavarman after the Pallava ruler.

Thus the account of the Pallava-Kadamba relations during the period enables one to get

an insight into the political conditions of the lower Decean and the diplomatic successes

achieved by the Pallavas.

When the Kadambas were succeeded by the Chalukyas Of Vatapi in the Deccan
area, the conflicts between the latter and Pallavas of Kanchi became intense and persis-

tent. Throughout the period the Chalukyas wiged frequent wars in the South,

mainly with the Pallavas. The Pallava raid of the Chalukya Capital in 642 A.D. by

Narasimhavarman I caused pandemonium in the Chalukya politics. The history of the

Chalukyas becomes clear only after the emergence of Vikramaditya I, a son of Pula-

kesin II.

The paper on ‘Aditya and Vikramaditya’ [9] attempts to discuss one of the

puzzles in the genealogy of the \\ estern Chalukyas of Badami after Pulakesin II. It

discusses the identification of one Adityavarman, described as a son of Pulakesin II in

a copper plate grant obtained from the Kurnool district. The view of earlier scholars

was that he was the eldest son of Pulakesin II and that he endeavoured to wrest the
throne from his younger brother after the Chalukyan resurrection by Vikramaditya II.

The present article, however, throws a different light on the problem. Some common
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features in the contents and phraseology between the Kumool record and those of

Vikramaditya I are brought to notice and it is concluded that Aditya was the original

name of Vikramaditya I and that both of them were not different persons. Some

scholars, however, feel that Aditya and Vikramaditya are two different rulers.

Pallava Narasimhavarman II Rajasimha and south India’s contribution

particulary during the supremacy of the Pallavas, to the Indianization of the South East

'Asian region is vividly brought out in a subsequent article [3]. In his book Bijdragen

tot de TaaJ , Land en Volkenktinde vayi NetherlandiscJi (vol.lXXIV, 1918), J.P.

Vogel was inclined to believe that there was not merely cultural contact but there were

also political relations in those days between the Pallavas and the Far East; but he

could not assert this for want of direct and clear evidence alleast from the side of the

Pallavas However, a study of the Chinese sources, some Pallava inscriptions and

•certain salient features of the history of South East Asian countries of the period furnis-

hes several pieces of evidence which make one think that the Pallavas had much to do

with South East Asia. Though each of them by itself may not be considered sufficiently

-significant, when taken together collectively, they paint an impressive picture of the

trans-oceanic contacts of the Pallavas during the reign of Rajasimha. Here an interesting

account of the Colonial Empire of the Pallavas and the political relations that existed

between the Imperial Pallavas and their colonial kingdoms, are clearly brought to light.

‘Accession of Nandivarman Pallavamalla’ [4] deals with an elusive and evading

problem of the manner of the selection and accession of Nandivarman II to the Pallava

throne at Kanchi. Pallavamalla was a prince of a little known collateral branch of the

Pallavas and was ‘chosen by his subjects’ to rule over the Pallava kingdom after Para-

meivaravarman 11. In the Vaikuptha Peruma| temple at Kanchipuram constructed by

him, the Pallava king Nandivarman II Has given an official account of the entire history

of the Pallavas from their mythical ancestors upto the time of the construction of the

.temple in the form of a series of sculptured panels on the walls of the temple. Under-

neath these panels relating to the accession of the king are found label inscriptions in

Tamil narrating the incidents portrayed therein. Such explanatory labels and sculptures

giving an official account have no parallel in any south Indian monument. They are of

significant value.

This paper brings out clearly ; (i) The colonial kingdom of the Pallavas in the Indo-

China region was ruled over by a collateral branch of the Pallavas which gave the prince

Pallavamalla the Kanchi kingdom when the latter was plunged into anarchy; (ii) the

selection and coronation of Pallavamalla was not without opposition and evidence for

an early clash with the king-select and another contestant to the Pallava throne at the

outskirts of Kanchi even before the former was invested with the authority of the Pallava

kingdom is, for the first time, pointed out; and (lii) the disturbed political conditions

which prevailed, in the Pallava kingdom for a period of nearly 20 years subsequent to

the accession of Nandivarman II.

A different view of the above problem is given by Dr Ramesan in his recent book
Bfiidtes in Medieval Decean History (based on two unpublished copper-plate inscriptions in
the Hyderabad State Museum, one of which belonged to the reign of Pallava
Hripatungavarman). He thinks that Pallavamalla was a son of Paramesvararman II,
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through a daughter of Hiranyavarman. The prince was brought up in the court of

Hiranyavarman who was ruling over the southern part of the Pallava kingdom. After

the death of Paramesvararman 11, Pallavamalla acquired his rightful heritage. Ramesan

maintains that the above is the probable course of events leading to the accession of

Nandivarman II to the Pallava throne.

However, the present writer still thinks otherwise and prefers to believe that the

accession of Pallavamalla was not a natural or peaceful event. At the outset, a matri-

monial connection between two branches of the Pallavas themselves, as suggested by

Ramesan, is not at all convincing. The troubled politics in the Pallava kingdom during

the period is evidenced, not only by the Vaikuntha Perumal temple label inscriptions,

but also supported by the Udayendiram Plates of Nandivarman II and the Rayakota

Plates of Skandasishya II.

The period of 20 years from the accession of Nandivarman II i.e. from c. A.D. 737

to c. A.D. 750 IS marked by the disturbances and dissentions in the Pallava kingdom. The

article on ‘Pallava Skandasishya IT [5] is yet another contribution which reviews the same

period apart from the above paper. In this paper the place of the Rayakota charter

which has been surprisingly ignored by the earlier scholars, is discussed. The date

assigned to the charter in this article has been unanimously accepted by scholars. The
Pallava king Skandasishya II was able to establish his authority over a part of the

Pallava kingdom against Nandivarman II for atleast fourteen years and this fact is

strengthened from various pieces of information available from inscriptions. In passing

the papei also gives a glimpse about the relations between Pallava Nandivarman II and

Rashtrakuta Dantidurga.

Nandivarman II and his son and successor Dantivarman ruled the Pallava

kingdom for 110 years. In the reign of Dantivarman the growing weakness of the

Pallava rulers was exposed to an alien interregnum lasting for a period of about 27 or

28 years from the 21st year of Danfivarman’s reign to the 49th regnal year. ‘An Inter-

regnum in Pallava History’ [8] describes the earliest phase of the decline and disintegra-

tion of the Pallava kingdom. The article, based on the evidence of several inscriptions

including some of the contemporary records of the Pandyas and Cholas, reveals that

during the reign of Pallava Dantivarman, a Telugu-Choda ruler named Sri Kantha who,

-it is shown, was one among the precedecessors of Chola Vijayalaya and a close relative

of the Pandya rulers Manabharana and Srimara Srivallabha, occupied Tondaimandalam
during that time and nominated one Abhimanasiddhi, probably a junior member of the

Pallava family on the throne of Kanchi. However, after the death of Sri Kantha, the

Pallava crown prince Nandivarman III, son of Dantivarman with the assistance of the

Rashtrakutas regained his ancestral throne and thereby restored the Pallava power in

Tondaimandalam. This paper not only reveals the evidence of an alien interregnum in

the Pallava history but also gives a complete picture of the political conditions that pre-

vailed in the Tamil country then, which led to the occupation of the Tondaimandalam
region, as far as the available evidence goes.

The problems in later Pallava genealogy and chronology are many and a
number of scholars have speculated on them. The article [7] examines fully the question

^
and fixes the genealogy nnd chronology of the Pallavas from Nandivarman II to
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Apparajitavarman. The exact relationship between each of the rulers of the dynasty

during the period is defined, their dates of accession are fixed and the period of rule of

each of them is satisfactorily determined. This article takes the date of the famous

5rlpurambij am battle to c. A.D. 895 and extends the Pallava rule in the Tondai-

mandalam region to c. A.D. 913. The last Pallava ruler, Aparajitavarman’s defeat and

death at the hands of Chola Aditya I and also the policy pursued by Kampavarman,

brother of both Nripatungavarman and Aparajitavarman vis a vis the Nripatunga-

Aparajita clash is indicated.

‘Sana Nandivarman’ [10] is the outcome of the study of a stray verse found in

the Yopparunkalakkarigai, a commentary on a Tamil prosody and also some other verses

in the same work. The article, identifies the Bana chief praised in the verses with Bana

Jayanandivarman who was a contemporary of Nandivarman II and the historical value

of these verses embodied in the commentary are brought out. ‘The Nolamba Pallavas :

Their Origin’ [6] as the title suggests, examines the origin of the Nojambas who figure

largely in the inscriptions of south India of the ninth and tenth centuries A.D. It is

•shown that the Nolambas probably originated as a family of rulers during the reign of

Pallava Nandivarman II.

These roughly cover a period of nearly six centuries from the early fourth century

A.D. to the early tenth century A.D. and largely, as their contents show, are confined to

the political history of the Pallavas and taken individually each of them tries to find

solution for a specific problem in the study of Pallava history.

The next set of articles relates to the Chola dynasty. Among them four papers

examine some important events that took place during the declining period of the

Cholas, i.e. during the 13th century A.D. and which have some bearing on the disinte-

gration of the 400 year-old Second Empire of the Cholas, and two papers on the guild

organizations and village communities of south India that attained greater heights of

importance during the supremacy of the Cholas.

‘A Bana Chieftain of the Thirteenth century’ [11] is an article on the career and

•personality of a rebellious Bana chief named Rajaraja Magadai Nadalvan. In the early

regnal years of Kulottunga Ill’s reign he was a loyal feudatory of his suzerain and
distinguished himself as a Chola General. He was crowned ruler of the conquered

Pandya country in recognition of his services in the Pandya war. Subsequently he seems

to have followed the example of the Kadavarayas in defying the Chola emperor. This

new policy of his was vigorously resented by the other chieftains under the Cholas and
they formed a confederacy among themselves effectively isolating the defying Bana
chieftain. Consequently there occurred a new turn in the career of Magadai Nadalvan
and he went over to the side of the Pandyas who under Maravarman Sundara Pandya I

was able to throw off the Chola imperial yoke. Sundara Pandya repeated what all

Kulottunga III had done to his predecessors and country. He, after the conquest of the

Chola country presented the same to Rajaraja Magadai Nadalvan, as he was the same
person who had been vested with the crown of the Pandyas by Kulottunga III.

Thus this chieftain was able to receive a prestigeous status in Pandya quarters also.

.How-ever, his defection to the Pandya floor drew upon him the anger of Hoysala
Narasimha and the latter punished the chief for his contumacy and imprudence. . The
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career of Rajaraja Magadai Nadalvan is an interesting one and gives a glimpse of the

unchecked power of the chieftains under the Choias and how the changes in their loyalty

brought about the disintegration of the Chola Empire in the thirteenth century.

‘Hoysala Vira Narasimha II and the Magara kingdom’ [16] examines the activities

of one of the over-grown feudatory principalities under Chola Kulottunga III named

Magara-Rajya which offered tough opposition to Hoysala Vira Narasimha II in the latter’s

attempts to help the Chola emperor to retain his authority. Interestingly the Magara

kingdom is mentioned mainly in the inscripriptions of the 13th century A.D., the

identification of which remained a problem for a long time. In this piece of writing the

Magara kingdom has been identified with the Telugu-Choda kingdom, a good slice of

which geographically lay to the east of the Hoysala kingdom. However, the present

writer has revised his view on the identification of Magara kingdom in a paper submitted

to the Indian Epigraphical Congress (H Session) on the Tiruvendipuram Inscription of

Rajaraja 111. In that arficle the Magara kingdom has been identified with portions of

the Kolar district in the Karnataka State which region, from a study of the inscriptions

of the place, is found to have been ruled by some Chola subordinates without acknow-

ledging Chola supremacy.

The next paper [13] is devoted to a consideration of the evidence bearing on an

invasion of the Odras {Oddas) as far as down as ^rirangam and their temporary occupa-

tion of the temple at the place for a period during the unsettled times in the area between

1223 and 1225 and the restoration of normal conditions in the Srirangam temple by

Maravarman Sundara Pandya I as recorded in his Srirangam epigraph dated 1225 A.D.

{ARSIE, 53 of 1892; SII, IV, No. 500). The inscription mentions that ten persons who

were heads of ten groups of temple servants joined the invading Oddas and collected a

cess called Oddakkasti. This is partly confirmed by the evidence of the Koyiloltigti, a

chronicle of the Srirangam temple, though there are some discrepancies with regard to

the chronology and details of the' events as recorded in the work. It was Sundara

Pandya I who was responsible for forcing the Oddas to retreat from their conquest of

the Srirangam area.

In the article the ‘Battle of Uratli’, [12] the feuds between the Kadavarayas who
defied the Chola Emperor Rajaraja III and the Yadavarayas who owed allegiance to

the Choias are brought out. As a preliminary step aiming at their own independence at

the expense of the Choias, the Kadavarayas seem to have attempted to capture the

Tondaimapdalam area from the hand of the Yadavarayas who w’ere then loyal to the

Chola emperor. Uratti near Madurantakam, Chingleput district was one of the battle-

fields in which a close relative of the Yadavaraya chieftain was killed. The article based
on an inscription that mentions the above incident gives an account of the political

disturbances during the period under review which eventually contributed to the decline

and distruption of the Chola empire.

‘The Chitrameli Periyanattar’ [15] is a short but interesting article. The paper
deals with the guild organization of agriculturists of the name Chitramel-Periya Nattar
and show how much encouragement it received at the hands of Kulottunga III. The
paper ‘Village communities in South India’ [14] attempts a vivid portrayal of the general

pattern, common characteristics and common purposes and ends of the viilage communi-
ties of south India in the. medieval period. The material drawn for this study is mainly
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from the Sangain literature and later inscriptions which cover a period ranging from the

Sangant age to the Vijayanagara times. This is, more or less, an intense survey of this

particular aspect and intended mainly to give a coherent picture of the village communi-

ties of south India through the ages.

The next nine articles which relate to the period of the Vijayanagara Empire bring

out the aspects like the relations between Vijayanagara and Ceylon, irrigation under

Vijyanagara kings, social legislation in that empire, lessons of this mighty Hindu kingdom

to posterity and also the study of one of the great literary productions of the times by

one of the most reputed kings of south India, Krishnadeva Raya of the Tujuva dynasty

of Vijayanagara.

The two papers the 'Sangama Dynasty and Ceylon’ [22] and ‘Vijayanagara and

Ceylon’ [17] are complementary in nature. While the first article confines itself to the

first dynasty of the Vijayanagara Empire and its relations with the island, the second one

covers the whole of the Vijayanagara period.

The article entitled ‘Tirumalaideva Maharaya’ [18] relates to the Vijayanagara

prince of that name and the son of Krishnadeva Raya whose inscriptions occur in many
parts of the Vijayanagara empire in the years 1524-1525. Till the appearance of this

article, it was believed that Krishnadeva Raya abdicated the throne in favour of his son

Tirumalaideva, evidence for which was the account of Nuniz, the Portuguese chronicler

on the coronation of the prince by the Emperor; and Tirumala, the successor died under

suspicious circumstances for the death of whom the bereaved emperor plucked the eyes

of his devoted minister Timmanna Dannayaka, the son of Sajuva Timma,

his brother and two sons and put them into prison. The present article

fully tackles the problem and unveils the following interesting details

:

Though Krishnadeva Raya had a number of wives, his chief queen being Tiruma-

lambika; he had no male issue till very late in his reign. This fact not only worried

the great emperor, but also caused much anxiety among many loyal courtiers regarding

the succession after the emperor. One among them was Rayasam Kondamarasayya.
This trusted lieutenent of the emperor even made gifts to temples in order that his master

may be blessed with a son. It appears that a son was born in the year 1519 and was

named Tirumalaideva. Krishnadeva Raya, it seems, installed the prince as Yiivaraja in

1524 when he attained six years, to avoid any dispute for throne after his death.

But the installed Yumraja died a premature death within eight months of his anoint-

ment. Subsequently Achyutaraya was anointed Yiivaraja. Krishnadeva Raya continued

to reign for atleast five years after the unhappy death of his son.

It has been shown clearly in the article that Nuniz’s account on the abdication of
the throne by Krishnadeva Raya in favour of Tirumala is nothing but a misconception
of a Hindu practice of anointing the crown prince, while the king himself was alive.

The paper on ‘Irrigation under Vijayanagara’ [23] is a short note on the methods of
the construction of irrigation works, their maintenance and repairs and the settlement of

irrigation disputes in the Vijayanagara empire. It is shown how the Vijayanagara sovereigns
were affording irrigation facilities for agricultural improvement in their kingdom. The
next paper entitled ‘Social Legislations in Vijayanagara’ [20] deals with a few legislations
relating to the practice of takingmnd giving dowry by' either the bride’s party or the
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bridegroom’s party on occasions of marriage and some arrangements of a social naturfi

among a few artisan communties during the Vijayanagara and Madurai-Nayaka periods.

One important point to be noted in this connection is that such legislations were made

among communities themselves and not endorsed by the government. The 'next

on 'Lessons of Vijayanagar History’ [25] focusses one’s attention on a need for a strong

centre to check centrifugal tendencies in a vast kingdom and the need for co-operative

etfort on the part of the communities and associations for the maintenance of social

harmony and promote economic progress in a country. These two papers are, inciden-

tally, of immense topical interest.

The inagmtm opiis of Kiishnadeva Raya (1509—29) was i\\c. ^miklmnalyada,

which is considered as one of the malrakavyas in the Telugu -literature. It narrates the

story of Periyalvar or Vislinuchitta, the sixth Alvar who is said to have converted the

Madurai King to the Srivaishnava faith. Krishnadeva Raya, the author expresses his

political maxims in the sub-plot which he intertwines with the main theme. He makes

Yamunacharya instruct his son on politics and administration. The paper on the

‘Administrative Value of the Amu ktamalyada’ [19] points out the salient features .of

the political maxims contained in the great work. It reviews the original contribittion of

the author of the Atnuktamalyada. It has been shown that Krishnadeva Raya was not

only talking a theory, but also silent practice. His views on the upkeep of Dhama,

the choice of ministers, emphasis on the organization of an efficient system of espionage,

the policy newly undertaken by him to administer the temple properities, elaborate

irrigation facilities to agrarian section of his subjects and on the befriending of vigorous

forest tribes are some of the points discussed enhancing the value of the Aimtkiamalyada.

Thus it contins the ideas of a great Hindu emperor of the medieval period on adminis-

tration and practical hints to be followed by any Hindu prince.

The paper on ‘Virappa Nayaka and Vijayanagara’ [27] describes at length the

relations of this ruler of Madurai with the three contemporary Vijayanagara emperors

viz. Tirumala, Sriranga I and Venkata II. In the early years of his rule, Virappa Nayaka

appears to have been a loyal feudatory of the Vijayanagara House. However, by A.D. 1583

the relations between Srirangadeva and the Chief seem to have become strained and
consequently the Imperial army under Venkata, the brother of Sriranga and the viceroy at

Chandragirl along with the army of Achyuta Raya of Thanjavur marched against Virappa
Nayaka. A battle was fought at Vallam near Thanjavur in early 1583. The victory of

Tirumalai Raya, the General of Virappa Nayaka, over the Imperial forces is found
recorded in the Pudukkottai Plates of Srivallabha and Varatungarama of the Tenkasi
Pandya line. However, since Virappa Nayaka continued to acknowledge the authority
of Vijayanagara it is said that the battle did not end in the complete defeat of the
Vijayanagara army and by an agreement made between the two, staUis quo ante was
restored and Virappa Nayaka promised to continue the payment of tribute to the Vijaya-
nagara House. When Venkata II succeeded his brother Sriranga I on the Vijay.anagara
throne in 1584 Virappa Nayaka continued his loyalty to the Vijayanagara House in the
reign of this emperor also- But by 1595 he appears to have once again revolted against
Imperial control. The Chikkadevaraya Vainsarali contains certain interesting details about
this event. When the Vijayanagara army laid seige to the fort at Madurai, Virappa
Nayaka succeded in bribing some Generals of the Imperial army and persuaded them to
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Withdraw. One among the Generals who apear<! to have accepted the bribe was Tiru-

malai Raya, a nephew of the emperor. In the above article while ' tracing the career of

Virappa Nayaka, the writer has pointed out the value of the Pudukkotai Plates, as also

the tnistworthiness of the work Chikkadevaraya Vamsavali. The account given in the

• article duly reconciles different views on the subject.

The next set of articles relate to the post-ViJayanagara period from the second

quarter of the seventeenth century A.D. to the middle of the nineteenth century and

contains studies on the history of Madurai, Tiruchirappalli and the former princely State

of Pudukkottai.

.. ‘Randaiila Khan and the Karnataka’ [24] gives an account of the course ofcon-

quest of the Western Karnataka between 1637 and 1640 by the Bijapur General Rand-

aula Khan, ably assisted by Shahji, the father of Sivaji. The Bijapur General carried

out his conquest of the Karnataka in different stages. The clashes between the Bijapur

General on the one hand and the provincial chiefs and Venkata III, the Vijayanagara king

on the other hand, are brought out in the paper. Though Venkata III repeatedly tried to

.recover the conquered areas of the Knmatakd several times, he could not do so againsi

militant Randaula Khan. However, some time in 1 641 when the Bijapur General with

Jhe support of Sriranga, the nephew of Venkata III opposed the latter and came within

twelve miles (18 2 km) of Vellofe, Venkata III was able to defeat him with the support

,of the southern Nayakas. ... , .

“Historical Material in Ramappayyan Ammanai’ [30] is an article which examin-

es the historical value of the poem which is a type of Tamil literary production. It

‘deals largely with the war that was waged by Ramappayya, the famous Dalavay of

Tirumalai Nayaka of Madurai (1623-59) on behalf of the latter against the Setupati

.chief of Ramanathaparam, as also his successful fight on behalf of the Vijayanagara

'emperor Venkata III against the Muslims who invaded the Bangalore region. A careful

-Study of the above ammanai work is made in the paper and it is concluded that the poem

.'is historically not useful, particularly the portion dealing with the expedition of the

-General.to Bangalore. But as a ballad it is an eJccellent' piece of Tamil literature.

,
The article the ‘End of the Madurai Nayakship’[29] extends the datfc of the end of

“hladurai Nayakship to c.1739 as against the accepted date of 1736 or 1737 on the basis

-of the evidence of the fact that Queen Minakshi, the last ruler of the dynasty reigned

'till about the middle of that year. The events of the reign of Queen Minakshi from
-C.1731 to 1739 are fully described and it is shown how with' the tragic end of the Queen
in 1739 the Nayakship of Madurai came to an end, as also a brilliant 'chapterjin the

History of the extreme south of the' Peninsula. The article “Two decades of the
Madurai’ [28] reviews in brief the political fortunes of the city during the last years of
Nayakship and the course of its occupation by the Muslims. The troublesome
period of the Madurai principality continued till Col.Heron reduced the area to submis-
•sion and appointed Mahfuz Khan as the renter of Madurai for Rs. 15,00,000 per year.

,

The paper entitled Haidar Ali and Tiruchirappalli’ [33] describes the events
preceding the seige of Tiruchirappalli in 1781 by Haidar Ali and how the British were
able to dnve Haidar Ali from Tiruchirappalli with the timely help of the Zamindar of
Turaiyur near the place. The information on the part played by the Zamindar of
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Turaiyur in this particular event is furnished by the Mackenzie Manuscripts and streng-

thened by the evidence given by the Koyilohign, a Tamil chronicle that deals with the

history of the Srirangam temple as mentioned earlier.

The paper ‘Nawabs of the Carnatic and Hindu Temples’ [31] brings out the deep

interest shown by the Nawabs of Canatic in the proper maintenance of the Hindu temples.

After the attack of the French army on the Srirangam temple in 1759, Nawab

Muhammad Ali Walajah made arrangaments to rebuild, rehabilitate and fortify Srirangam

giving a good instance of his interest in the proper functioning of one of the biggest and

most important of Hindu temples lying in his jurisdiction. His successor Umdatu’l

Umara Bhadur (1795— 1801) also evinced great concern for the observance of the custo-

mary usages and the conduct of proper worship in temples. His successful interference

made the priests of the Nataraja temple at Chidambaram give up their obstructionist

policy and reopen the Govindaraja Perumal shrine in their temple-complex for worship.

Between the 10th and 15th of March, 1793 interesting incidents took place at

Tirupparankunram and Madurai consequent on the encampment of Colonel Baird at the

former place along with his soldiers and his forced opening of the temple gate in order

to house his men resulting in the religious martyrdom of some Hindus. The article

‘Colonel Baird at Tirupparankunram’ [32] gives a graphic account of the incident based

on the British documents and an inscription found at the Subrahmanya temple at Tirup-

parankunram. The events that took place in Madurai and Tirupparankunram, on the

provocation of Colonel Baird’s forced opening of the Tirupparankunram temple gate

shows that even in the 18th century the religious zeal of the Hindus was considerable and
it was thought risky to wound the feelings of the religious minded people by the ruling

authorities irrespective of their own religion or creed. The paper also shows how an im-

portant officer of the British administration made a false assertion in his statements.

‘Sir William Blackburne : An Ideal Political Resident’ [34] describes the part

played by one of the outstanding men of the British Civil Service named Major Sir

William Blackburne who was Resident at Thanjavur in the first quarter of the nineteenth

century. William Blackburne (1764-1839) started his career as a cadet of the Madras
Infantry divison of the British Army in 1782 and distinguished himself in the British

campaigns which ended in the defeat of Tipu Sultan in 1792. In the subsequent years

he was promoted to the rank of Captain and appointed Resident at the court of Thanja-
vur in 1801 and the officer held it till 1823 when he resigned and left India. When Raja
Vijaya Raghunatha Tondaiman, the ruler of Pudukuottai died 1807 and was succeeded
by Raja Vijaya Ragunatha Raya Tondaiman, a boy of ten years, he was appointed
Political Officer for Pudukkottoi and was required ‘to undertake the management of the
province of Poodocottah and the guardianship of the minors’. When one of the princes
attained age and took charge of the State, Blackburne was made the medium of commu-
nication between the Raja and the ciitcheries of Thanjavur, Tiruchirappalli and Madurai.

Here it is shown how this political Resident discharged his duties faithfully and
earnestly and how his connection with Pudukkottai made the State one of the peaceful,

progressive and reformed states in British India. His interest and love for his wards,
and princes of the Pudukkottai Royal House, were so well-reciprocated by them that
there developed a sort of filial affection between them.

T.V. Mahalingam
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Early Pallava Genealogy and Chronology

The history of the Pallavas before Simhavishnu is full of tantalising guesses and

intiiguing riddles. This is not because of thcipaucity of material evidence for its recons-

truction but perhaps of its abundance. The early Pallava rulers of Kanchi who, like their

notable successors, played a significant role in' the political and cultural history of south

India, appear to have started as a political power in south India in the beginnings of the

fourth century A.D. supplanting the contemporary Ikshvaku rulers of Nagarjunakonda. A
few of their early copper plate charters are in Prakrit while a majority of them are in

chaste Sanskrit. These charters which were essentially intended to be documentary records

of various donations incidentally give the royal genealogy in their preambles which consti-

tute an almost authentic and only source for a study of early Pallava history. The welcome

addition of two newly discovered inscriptions^ in recent years to the list and the find of a

few contemporary Ikshvaku records from Nagaijunakonda® necessitates a revision of the

early Pallava genealogy and chronology which have not so far been satisfactorily settled.

Of the seventeen available early Pallava records, the Prakrit inscriptions which

number four are taken to be the earliest on the basis of their language and palaeography.

They are the Manchikallu stone inscription of Simhavarman, the Mayidavolu grant of

Yuvamaharaja Sivaskandavarman, dated in the tenth year of his father®, the Hirahadagalli

Plates of Maharaja Sivaskandavarman dated in his eighth year* and the British Museum
Plates of the queen Charudevi.® The Manchikallu inscription closely follows the early

Ikshvaku records in palaeography and language and is assignable to about the

1. The Manchikallu Stone Inscription of Simhavamian, Epi. Jnd., XXXII, pp. 87-90 and The Vasanta

,

Copper Plate grant of Simhavarman, Copper Plate Grants of the Andhra Pradesh Government
Museum, Vol. I, pp. 211-18.

2 TAR, 1959-60 pp. 53-54; and IHQ. XXXVI.
3. Epi. Ind., VI, pp. 84-91.

4. Ibid., I, pp. 2-10.

5. Ibid., van, pp. 143-46.
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first half of the fourth century A.D. The Yuvamaharaja Sivaskandavarman of the

Mayidavolu Plates and Maharaja Sivaskandavarman of the Hirahadagalli Plates are

unanimously taken to be the same, as such an identification is suggested by the name of

the ruler as well as the palatrgraphy of the Plates. The British Museum Plates of

Charudevi refer to three names Vijayaskandavarman, Vijaya Buddhavarman and

Buddhyankura in the grand-father-fathcr-son relationship. Vijayaskandavarman of this

Prakrit grant may also be identical with Skandavarma of the other two Prakrit plates as

the prefix vijaya in this record does not necessarily mean that he must be another king.

In fact it IS evident from the Vesanta Grant that there was nothing exceptionally special

about vijaya which was borne indiscriminately as a prefix by many rulers.

The relationship between Simhavarman of the Manchikallu inscription and

Skandavarman of other copper plate charters is at present a matter for conjecture, though

the contiguity of the periods to which they have to be assigned on other considerations

would warrant the assumption that the latter succeeded the former on the throne. The

names gleaned from the Prakrit charters may be thus dovetailed ;

Simhavarman

Sivaskandavarman ‘

I

‘ Buddhavarman

1

,
Buddhyankura

Buddhavarman and Buddhyankura of this order have been assigned a total reign period

of thirty years, fifteen years for each of them;® but as none of the other records refer to

them, it is doubtful whether they actually ruled from Kanchi. Probably they belonged to

a junior branch. i

Another name to be reckoned with in early Pallava pedigree is Vishnugopa of

Kanchi, mentioned in the Allahabad Pillar Inscription of Samudragupta.’ He is not

spoken of as of the Pallava d3'nasty in the inscription ; but as no ruler of any dynasty
other than the Pallava bearing this name seems to have ruled in Kanchi or was connected
with the place during that period, and as the name Vishnugopa was a familiar one in the

Pallava family, it is very likely that he was a Pallava. Samudragupta is said to have
ruled from c. 330-376 A.D. and his Dakshimpatha expedition in which he is said to have
conquered Vishnugopa may be generally placed about 350-360 A.D.

I ! <

Dr. D.C. Sircar considers this Vishnugopa of Samudragupta ’s inscription as a son
of Simhavarman of the Manchikallu inscription and ascribes to him a rule of twenty years
front 355 to 375 A.D.® But it is difficult to determine his exact position in the Pallava
family as also whether he actually ruled the kingdom or not; nor is it possible to identify
him with Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa referred to in the Sanskrit charters, as the latter

6. Rao, B.V. Krishna, A Ristoty ofthe Early Dynasties of Andhradesa, pp. 213-14,
’

7. Fleet, CII, Vol. HI, Gupta Inscriptions, pp. 6 ff.
' '

8. /H(2, XXXVI, pp. 22-28. , M
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appears to have belonged to a collateral branch, as the grants made,by him, his son and

grandson were issued not from Kanchipurara but from other places while the Allahabad

inscription mentions Vishnugopa as of Kanchi {Kaucheymishnugopa). It is, therefore,

possible that this Vishnugopa was the brother or the son of Skandavarman and never

ascended the throne on the main line. ^ ^ ,
I

The Pallavas of the Prakrit charters were followed by those of the Sanskrit charters;

or to put it conversely Sanskrit instead of Prakrit was progressively used after the time

of Skandavarman. The Sanskrit charters are twelve in number, amcng which ten furnish

the names of the grantors and their jthi^ce immediate ancestors, great-grandfather,

grandfater and father, while one, the Vesanta Grant omits the name of the grantor’s

great-grandfather and another, the Darsi Plate gives the name of the great-grandfather

alone.® The copper plate grant from Omgodu (ly® ; dated in the thirteenth titlii of the

third Hcjnantc-paksha in the thirty-third year of a certain Skandavarma appears to be the

earliest among the Sanskrit charters. Adverting to^the form of dating in this grant

Dr. Sircar observes that this “resembles that used in.early Prakrit grants and is remarka-

bly different from the form of dating used in* the Sanskrit grants of the Pallavas. It,

therefore, shows that Skandavarman rulc^- not long after the kings of the Prakrit

charters,”^^
f

’•
. u’j ! ,

This grant furnishes the following genealogy :

Kumaravishnu

1

Skandavarman
I

Viravarman

I
-

Skandvarman
^

Two other Sanskrit charters, the Uruvapaljp® and Singarayakonda^® plates of

Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa dated in the reign of a Simhavarman give this sequence :

Skandavarman

Viravarman

I

Skandavarman
^ I

.

Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa

9. Epi. Ind., I. pp. 397-9S. Tliis is a stray plate; the sheets of the grant having been lost. This
probably belongs to one of the rulers of the collateral branch about whom nothing is known. The
grant was issued not from Kanchi but Dasanapura.

l6. /6iW, XY, pp. 251-52 '

11. The Successors of the Salmahanas, pp. 202-3. Dr. Sircar refers to Skandavarman as Skandavarman II.

But the intercalation of the Prakrit and Sanskrit charters makes him Skandavarman III.

Though this grant was not issued from Kanchipurara but Tambrapa it may be taken that Skanda-
tamian of this plate belonged to the main branch which ruled from Kanchi. It is significant to
note that in the plate itself Tambrapa is described not as a roj al capital but cnly as that of royal
camy (Viiata Tambrapa sthana). ' ! >

12. Ind. Ant., V, pp. 50-53.

13. Bharati. '
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- Curiously the plates of Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa were dated not in the regnal year of

his father, i.e. SkandaVarman, but a certain Simhavarman about whom we were in .dark

till the discovery of the Vesanta grant. It was Fleet'^ who first hinted at the probability

of Simhavarman having been the elder brother of Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa and this has

been proved by the following sequence furnished in the Vesanta grant : •,

Viravarman

1

Skandavarman

Simhavarman ’
• i;

The varied sequence mentioned in the Omgodu I, Uruvapalli and the Vesanta

grants, when integrated present the under-lined genealogy :

Kumaravishnu
1

Skandavarman

I

Viravarman
I

Skandavarman
I

Simhavarman • Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa

A significant event of the reign of Simhavarman appears to be the branching off

of a collateral line. The Uruvapajji and Singarayakonda grants of Yuvamaharaja
Vishnugopa are dated respectively in the eleventh and twelfth years of Simhavarman, his

brother and overlord which probably suggests that the new branch was not yet comple-
tely independent. The grants of the successors of Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa are dated
in their own regnal years only. Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa had a son named Simhavar-
man, who issued at least four grants—Omgodu IP®, Pikira^', Mangaduru’^" and Vilavatti*®

all furnishing the following genealogy :

Viravarman

I

Skandavarman

I

Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa
!

Simhavarman

This is obviously the pedigree of a collateral branch to which the Chura grant-
adds the name Vishnugopa after Simhavarman^®.

14. Ind. Ant., V. pp. 50-53.

15. Epi. Ind., XV, p. 242 ff.

16. Ibid., XIV, pp. 159-63.

17. /nd. V.pp. 154-57.

18. Epi. Ind.,XXl\, p. 296.

19. Ibid., p. 137.
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Two other copper plate charters, the Udayendiram*® and Chendalur®^ Plates both

issued from Kanchipuram and dated respectively in the fifth year of a Nandivarman and

the second year of a Kumaravishnu should belong to the main branch. The former

affords a sequence thus :

Skandavarman

1

Simhavarraan

Skandavarman

I

Nandivarman

In the light of a Skanda-Simha sequence in the Vesanta Grant and a Simha-Skanda

sequence in the Chendalur Plates it is possible to treat this Nandivarman of the

Udayendiram grant as the grandson of Simhavarman of the Vesanta Grant and the great

grandson of Skandavarman of the Omgodu II, Pikira, Mangadurii, Vilavalti Grants.

The Chendalur Plates provide the following genealogy :

Skandavarman
1

I Kumaravishnu

I

Buddhavarman
1

Kumaravishnu

As it is not possible to adjust this pedigree in a collateral branch and as the Plates were

issued from Kanchipuram, the seat of the main branch, it is quite probable that

Kumaravishnu, son of Skandavarman in this plate was the second son of Skandavarman,

the father of Nandivarman of the Udayendiram Plates. If this surmise is admitted the

following genealogy will emerge :

Kumaravishnu
I

Skandavarman
I

Viravarman
I

Skandavarman

Simhavarman Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa

Skandavarman Simhavarman

!
I

1 I Vishnugopa
Nandivarman Kumaravishnu II

Buddhavarman
I

Kumaravishnu III

20. Ibid., Ill, pp. 142-47.

2}. Ibid., VIII, pp. 233-36.
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' .ThePallafik'ovil'dTairterbf Sirrihavishnu,,the, first Pallava- record using the, Tamil

language partly introduces two more names—Simhavarmati and Simhavishnu, father and-

SOD) to this list.-- ^ It is difficult- to determine the relationship between Sirahavarmari of,

this charter and Kumaravishnu III, the grantor of the Chendalur - grant. The Vayalur^

lithic record of Naiasimhavarman Il-“ which furnishes a conventional catalogue of Pallava

rulers from Brahma onwards mentions respectively a Vishnugopa, Simhavarman and

another Simhavarman proceeding SimhaVishnu. It is noteworthy that this sequence is

not seen in the immediate Chendalur and Udayendiram grants. Though the Vayalur

inscription may not be taken at its face value it is not unlikely that at least a few names

proceeding Simhavishnu, the progenitor 'of the later" ^Pallava line, are trustworthy. If

this is' granted'it is apparent .tliat Simhavarman of the Pallankovil, Plates \yas not a ruler,

in the direct line but belonged to a minor collateral branch. ,Isit that Kurnaravishnu

theigrantdr'of the Chendalur Plates had no progeny and^Simhavarman of the collateral

branch was -brought because of necessity I It
i
is possible that Simhavarman of the

Pallankovil Plates was a very young contemporary of Kumaravishnu 11 and was living"

during the successive reigns-' of Buddhavarman and KumaravislinuTII,) and as an

octagenarian ascended the throne nominally .while his illustrious son Simhavishnu was

the defacto ruler. That it was Simhavishnu who ran the administration during the

reign of Simhavarman is gleaned from the ' Pallankovil Plates themselves and the

Hosakote grant of the Western Ganga king' Avanita.=< The genealogy of the successors

of Simhavishnu is given in several of tfie later i*allava charters about which there are no
two opinions. :

’

• , /
I A , , ,

The genealogy drawn up by Ramesan while editing the Vesanta Plates is difficult

of acceptance, as according to him Vishnugopa who opposed Samudragupta in about
350 A.D. was the brother of Simhavarman. of the Vesanta, Plates and the great-grandson
of Skandavarman of the Prakrit charters and the giantor of the -Uruvapajli Plates and'
the king mentioned in the Omgodu II, Pikira,-Mangaduru, Vilavatti and Chura Grants,'
while the very reign of Skandavarman of the Prakrit charters has itself to be pushed
fonvard to c/rca 350 A.D. in the light of a' few' Iksbvaku inscriptions from Nagaijuna-
konda.=5 Further his assumption that there were no eollateral branches on which the
genealogy is based is contradicted by the names of a few minor Pallava dynasties which
were definitely collateral branches of, the mainline. An inscription from Amaravati
seems to speak of an entirely new stock of the Pallava family.^® When Paramesvara-
varman II died .without any issue to succeed at a later stage in the Pallava history only a
prince-from a collateral line was brought to be crowned.

r
;

.;.'T
_ ,

The determination of the date of these early Pallava rulers brizzles with many
difficulties. While editing the stone inscription i fn Prakrit from Wnclukallu'Dr. D.C.

22. 1958-59. pp. 41-83.
‘

23. Epi. Ind., XVIII, pp. 4552.
‘ ' ‘

24. AT.4/J, 1938, pp. 80 ff. !;[ ,, p;

,

25. IHQ, XXXVI, pp. 22-28.

26. Sir, I, pp. 25-9.



EARLY^PAULA’VA" GENEALOGV'AND tCHROKOLOGY 7.

Sircar ascribed it and the ruler Simhavarman mentioned in it to c. 290 A.D.-’ But his

recent examination of three Prakrit epigraphs from Nagaijunakohda necessitates a

revision of the date ascribed.-® One of these, a record of the Ikshvaku ruler Ehuvala

Chantamula, the son of Virapurushadatta and the grandson of Chantamula, is dated in the

cyclic year Vijaya, corresponding to 333-34 A.D. It is to be noted here that the Manchikallu

inscription appears to indicate from its provenance that Simhavarman of that record

supplanted the Ikshvakus in the Guntur region—an achievement which could not be

ascribed to any date before 334 A.D., the last known year of the last known Ikshvaku

ruler. Therefotefithe tMafldukallurinscription has to be assigned to the period after

334 A.D. It is likely that Simha'vafm’an-'itarted his reign about 315 A.D. and occupied

the Guntur area towards the end of hts reign which may apprdxihiately jbe in 345 A.D.
1

,qM on.v

The next known ruler Sivaskandavarman is credite5'''^AVith:' <the'^jDerformance of

ah'omedha and other sacrifices.- ,
His.Hirahadagalli grant is dated' in his eighth year; and

considering the fact that he was a yicvaraja before his accession and claims the perfor-

mance of aivamedha owd other sacrifices even by his eighth year it is possible to presume

that he actively ''participated in the wars of his predecessor., was advanced in age at the

time of his accessipn* and ruled for about a dfecade only. • Probably his reign ended by

about 355 A.D. Vishnugopa of the Allahabad Pillar Inscription of Samudragupta also

fails in this period. xi \ : j.o. ,
-s

There are no means of determining the precise reign, periods of Kumaravishnu I,

Skandavarraan II, Viravarman and Skandavdrmah-III. in the present state of out

knowledge. The Penukonda Plates-® of the,
.

Western'
,
Ganga ruler Madhava II and

Jjokavibhdga,^ a Jain work on cosmology afford interesting -synchronisms which enables

the determination of chronology to a certain extent.
''

- - .—. ‘ _

. The Penukon'da Pjates over that the two Pallava kings .Simhavaram and Skanda-

varman respectively anointed Ayyavarma and Madhava II on the Ganga throne. It then

follows that the grantor of the Penukonda Plates must.(,b6 (a; -contemporary , of !Palla:va

Skandavarraan who crowned him. The Penukond^ Pljites have beeii j assigned to

475 A.D. on palaeographic'al grounds. Evidently, Skandavarraan must have been reigning

during that period and Simhavarman who crotyhed the father of Madhava IT..reigned
some two or three decades earlier. The mentions the twenty-second regnal

year of a Pallava king called Simhavarman as;equivalent to the Saka year 380 or 458
A.D. If 458 AD., was the twenty-second year’of;Simhavarman he must have ascended

the throne in 436-38 ;A.D.; in other words the reign lof Skandavarraan, the grantor of the

Omgodu I plates extended upto 436 A.D.; as OmgoduT plate is dated in his 33rd
regnal year it may, be taken that he ascended the throne circa 400 A.D. The period
between 355 A.D. and 400 A.D. perhaps constituted the reign periods of Kumaravishnu I,

Skandayarthan-Il and Viravarman. By approximation a period of fifteen years may be
asagned to^each of these three.

,

27. Epi. Ind., XXXII, p. 89.

28. /i7e.,XXX\Tpp. 23-28.

29. Epi. Ind., XTV. pp. 331-40.

30. Fleet, IRAS.. 1915, pp. 471-75.
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Simliavarman (c. 315-45 A.D.)

(Manchikallu)

Vishnugopa
who opposed
Samudragupta
c. 350 A D.

Skandavarman I

Kumaravishnu I Buddhavarman
c. 355-370 A.D. 1

]
Buddhyankura

Skandavarman II

c. 370.85 A.D.

Viravarman
' "

c. 385-400 A.D.
I

Skandavarman III

c. 400-436 A.D,

Simhavarman c. 436-65 A.D. Yuvamaharaja Vishnugopa

I I

Skandavarman IV c. 465-90 A.D. Simhavarma

I I

1 I
Vishnugopa

Nandivarman Kumaravishnu II

c. 490-520 A.D. c. 520-40 A.D.
I

Buddhavarma
c. 540-60 A.D.

1

Kumaravishnu
C.-560-580 A.D.

Simhavishnu c. 580-86 A.D.
1

Simhavishnu c. 586-610 A.D.
1

Mahendravarman 610-630 A.D.



EARLY PALLAVA GENEALOGY AND CHRONOLOGY 9

As his Vesanta Grant is dated in his nineteenth year Simhavarman, who ascended

the throne in 436-37 A.D., should have reigned at least up to 465 A.D. There are at

present no means of deciding the actual reign period of his son Skandavarman IV who

was doubtless the Pallava king who crowned the Ganga Madhava II as mentioned in the

Penukonda Plates. As the reign of Madhava II appears to have started in circa 475 A.D.

and as the Penukonda Plates referring to this Skandavarman are assignable to the fourth

quarter of the fifth century A.D. his reign may be taken to have extended approximately

to about 490 A.D. An intercalation of the Udayendiram and Chendalur Plates, as

attempted above, would suggest that this Skandavarman had two sons, Nandivarman

and'Kumaravishnu. The reign periods of these two and the latter’s successors, Buddha-

varman and Kumaravishnu III cannot be correctly settled now in the absence of further

evidence.

On the authority of the Badami inscription of Pallava Narasimhavarman the

last year of Mahendravarman I has been calculated to be 630 A.D. and it is generally

taken that he ascended the throne in the beginnings of the seventh century giving him a

period of about thirty years considering his manifold achievements in war and peace.

HdweVer, if the synchronism of the Western Ganga'^Durvinita, Pallava Sirrihavishnu and

Chalukya Vishnuvardhana is accepted,' the reign of Simhavishnu might have extended at'

least up to 610 A.D. Simhavishnu appears to have been an extremely enterprising ruler,

Who subjugate(i several chiefs in the South and clashed with the Chalukyas in his ambi-
,

tious programme of expansion. If a period of about 30 years is to be given to him, giving"

allowance to his| achievements and a period of about six years to,his father Simhavarman
(the Pallankovil Plates being dated i n his sixth year) who does not seem to have virtually

ruled, the period of about eighty years has to be distributed among’ Nandivarman I of
the Udayendiram Plates and Kumaravishnu II, and Buddhavarman and -Kumaravishu III

of the Chendalur Plates.
s

Thus the entire reconstructed early Pallava genealogy and chronology works,out
as given in the previous page.

31. M. Ant., IX, p. 99; also Sff. XI, No. l/ -
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Early Pallava -- Kadamba Relations

The early Pallavas of Kanchi appear to have played a very prominent role in

south Indian history from almost the very beginnings of their recorded history. The

exact nature of their relations with contemporary powers like the Kadambas and the

Gangas is at present not known clearly on account of the paucity of sufficient evidence.

Though the Pallava records do not oftep specifically speak ot the aspects of their relations

with the neighbouring powers, a few Kadamba and Ganga inscriptions incidentally

refer to the role of the Pallavas in their kingdoms and cons'dcrably help a study of

their mutual relations.

An early Kadamba ruler who came into active contact with the Pallavas of

Kanchi was Mayurasarraa. In the Talagunda inscriptions^ he is said to have gone to the

Pallava capital w'ith his gwu Virasarma to complete his studies in the sacred

lore and entered the glwijfa at that place. The inscription records that he had
a quarrel then with an aSva^amstha (taken to be a mounted guard) and became indignant

at the treatment given to him. He then gave up his Vedic studies in anger and
‘unsheathed a flaming sword eager to conquer the world’. After getting himself trained

in warlike exercises he easily overpowered the frontier guards of the Pallavas and
established himself in the dense forests round about the Sri Parvata hill (in the Kurnool
district). The Pallava ruler of the time having failed to control Mayurasarma, installed

him ultimately as the ruler of the region extending from the Arabian sea to Prehara.
The expression aSmsamstha in the Talagunda inscription has been taken to mean a horse
sacrifice and Mayurasarma’s quanel with the Pallavas taken as an incident that took
place in the course of the horse sacrifice of the Pallava king Sivaskandavarma of the

Hirahadagalli Plates.- But it is absolutely clear that Mayurasarma came to Kanchi with
the avowed object of completing his Vedic studies by entering the ghatika. If, therefore,

his fight with the Pallavas had some bearing cn the horse-sacrifice we have only to

imagine that he was humiliated during the aSvam dha, took vengeance against the Pallava

1. Epi. Ind., VIII, pp. 24-36; EC, VII, Sk. 76.

2. P. C. Sircar, The Successors of the Satmahanas, p. 184, n, 1.
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ruler and caused troubles thereafter. Again the expression antalipalanpa1lcn’endrana?n in

the Talagunda inscription suggesting that the quarrel of Mayurasarma was not limited to

the reign period of a single Pallava king but continued in the succeeding reigns is inter-

esting. If Mayurasarma clashed with any Pallava ruler other than Sivaskandavarma of

the Hirahadagalli Plates, it might in all probability be Kumaravishnu of the Omgodu I

Plates® who is also credited with the performance of an ah’aimdlta*

Mayurasarma was succeeded on the Kadaraba throne respectively by Kangavarma

(360-85), Bhagiratha (385-410), Raghu (410-25), Kakusthavarma (425-50), etc. The

Kadambas appear to have become very powerful in south-u’est Deccan and even

subjugated the Bapas who were originally the feudatories of the Pallavas. The growing

Kadamba influence was most certainly a menace to the Pallavas. Perhaps to act as a

counterpoise to their increasing strength and influence and to take back the territories of

the Banas, the Pallava ruler, according to the Udayendiram Plates of Prithvipati II con-

secrated Konkanivarma (c. 400 A.D.) of the Ganga race.® The historical validity of the

statement may be doubted because of the comparative lateness of the evidence; but as the

Ganga subordination to the Pallavas during the next reign is attested to by the

Penukonda Plates it may be taken to embody an authentic account. The Pallavas appear

to have succeeded in drawing back the Banas from the Kadambas because Konkanivarma
is referred tons the 'confounder of the Bana A«/a’® and the forest fire to the stubble of

Bana.^ But it was during the reign of Pallava Simhavarma of the Vesanta Plates that

the Kadambas appear to have been in subordination to the Pallavas.

It is interesting to note that the Hebbata grant of the Kadamba king Vishnuvarma

dated in his fifth regnal year mentions that he was croumed by a Pallava king®. The
actual expression in the grant is Kadambandm Aviareprati-buribaya aSvamedha yajinah

Sii Krisbim-arjnuia Mabarajasyo jyestha-priya-tanayem aneka samara sankatopalabdha

vijayena sarva Sastra kald pdrageua samyahprajd pdlana dakshena satyasaiidliena parcma-

bral.manyena Santwara-Maharaja PallarendrabhishiUena Sri VisUmivarmma Maltarajena and
this passage has been translated as follows : “by Vishnvarmma who has achieved victories

against great odds in a number of battles, who has made a proficient study of alt the

iastras and arts, who was an efficient ruler of his people, who was truthful and a good
Brahmapa and who was installed on the throne bp Santivara, a Pallava king.” Here
the editor of the inscription has taken l§antivara as the name of the Pallava ruler who
crowned Vishnuvarma on-the Kadamba throne. This lead has been followed by all

scholars who have worked on the subject and thus have mistaken the real events and
offered fanciful explanations.

3. Epi. hid., XV, pp. 251-52.

4. For a discussion on the early Palhva genealogy and chronology see' the author’s book, Kiinclpuram
in early South Indian History. ’ ^ \

5. SII, II, pp. 333 and 387-V-13; Ind. Ant., XIII, pp. ]87 and 189 n; H. Lefanu, A Manual of the
Salem District, II, p. 370.

6. Kudlur grant, MAR., 1930.

7. FC, IX, Db. 67.

8. MAR, 1925, p. 98, No. 118.
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But this translation or interpretation does not appear to be correct. The expression

Santivara Maharaja Pallavendrabhishiktena should be correctly taken to mean, “having

been anointed by both Santivara Maharaja and the Pallava king.” (The Sanskrit rules,of

compound sanidsa like Rama and Lakshmana may be recalled in this connection). We

may also cite the analogy of the coronation at a later date, of the Western Ganga ,king

Sivamara by the two crowned kings, Rashtrakuta Govinda and Pallava Nandivarraan.
,

According to this interpretation, of the two kings who crowned the Kadamba

ruler, Vishnuvarma, the name of the Pallava king is not mentioned in the record,

though there are other evidences which reasonably enable us to identify him with

Simhavarma of the Vesanta grant.® The other, Santivara Maharaja, can only be the

Kadamba king of that name and the uncle (Jyeshtjia-pita) of Vishnuvarma. It may be

noted that in the Berur Plates in his third regnal year, Vishnuvarma records the permis-

sion of his jyeshtha-pita named Santivarma.^® Santivarma is described in it as the master

of the entire Karnataka region adorned by Vaijayanti.^* It is well-known that the

Kadamba grants fall into two distinct sets : one relating to the descendants of

Mayurasarma, the founder of the family, and the other tracing thejr descent

from Krishnavarma, the performer of horse sacrifice. The only connecting link between

these two different sets is the mention of Santivara in the Berur Plates as the jyeshtha-

pita of Vishnuvarma, the son of Krishnavarma, the performer of horse sacrifice. That this

Santivara is none other than Santivarma, the son of Kakusthavarma is evident from the

Halsi Plates of Mrigesavarma,^® wherein he is described as the dear son of Santivarma

who was the son of Kakustha.^®

From the fact that Santivarma was the jyeshtha-pita of Vishnuvarma who was the

sou of Krishnavarma I it will be evident that Krishnavarma was his younger brother.

But still he superseded his elder brother on the throne and performed the horse sacrifice,

extending the Kadamba kingdom and proclaiming himself as the paramount sovereign

of the entire Dakshinapatha. He is described as dakshinapatha vasiiinati vasupati (the

possessor lord of the riches of the land of Dakshinapatha), ekatapatra (possessor of the

sole umbrella), samararjita vipidaiSvarya (the acquirer of great wealth by war) rajavisesha-

raUia ndgajamkramya-dayamibhata (who enjoyed a heritage that was not be attained by a

person of Naga descent or who enjoyed his heritage after attacking some chieftains of

Naga descent or who enjoyed a heritage which had not been attained even by Naga
kings). This would have certainly brought him into open conflict with the Pallavas of

Kanchi whose nominal subordinates the Kadambas were. The very fact that the

Talagunda inscription states that Mayurasarma, the founder of the line originally entered

the service of the Pallavas of Kanchi who were also ruling at the time when the record

was incised and that the kingdom was bestowed on him by his master who also invested
him with the fillet will clearly indicate that the Kadambas had not forgotten 'the favours

9. Copper Plate Grants of the Andhra Pradesh Government Museum, Hyderabad, Vol. I, pp. 21-38.

10. £C, VI, Kad’ur 162.
'

' ' ’

11. Ibid., Vaijayantl Tilaka Samagra Karnctladeia bhuvanya bhaWSram j'yeshthopitaram ^ri ^nthora
raima DharmamaharUjan anujnepyam,

12. Ind. Ant., VI, p. 24.
,

13. Sri KUttsthanatendrosyasunurblmnurivaparah^ri Santivara tarna eti-fBja-fDji\a-locharab. •
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bestowed on them by the Pallavas and had been remaining loyal to them, acknowledging

their overlordship, even though nominal. This presumption is supported by the Anaji

Stone Inscription of the Kaikeya chief Sivanandavarma.^'*

The Devagiri Copper Plate grant^® made not by king Krishnavarma himself but by

his son and heir-apparent (yimraja) Devavarma, was issued at a time when the former

was at the height of his power. The heir-apparent chosen by him, Devavarma, was not

his eldest son which status was claimed by Vishnuvarma who is described as bom of a

princess of the Kaikeya family .1® Thus Krishnavarma superseded not only his elder

brother Santivara, but also made his junior son the heir-apparent, superseding his eldest

son Vishnu. Naturally the persons whose claims were overlooked appear to have allied

themselves together against the aggressor, Krishnavarma. The Anaji inscription, referred

to above, seems to be a hero-stone record set up in memory of the Kaikeya chieftain,

Sivanandavarma and mentions the loss of his kingdom (sva-desa) and a tumultous battle

between the Pallava king and Krishrtavarmaraja, in which the army of the latter was com-

pletely broken. It then says that Sivanandavarma, with a tranquilhsed heart (piasamita-

Iiridaya) lay on the darbha grass with a view to attain heaven. It is not explicit on which

side he fought and fell. But this much seems to be certain, that his leanings were in

favour of the Pallavas whose victory rejoiced him. The expression prasamita hridaya has

been taken as ‘with a heart full of sorrow.’ Dr. Sircar has shown that it only means as

above "mind freed of anxiety.”^’ This victory of the Pallava king whose name is not

mentioned resulted m the restoration of the old order.
‘

,
The duration of the reign of Krishnavarma is not known. The only record of his

reign issued by the heir-apparent Devavarma is undated. But one may presume that it

should have lasted for a few years to allow for the expansion of his kingdom after his

overcoming all opposition, stabilisation of his position and performance of the horse

sacrifice. It is also not known whether he directly succeeded his father, overlooking or

casting aside the claims of his elder brother, or whether he usurped the kingdom some-

time after the succession of his" brother. No inscription of Santivarma other than the

Talagunda inscription mentioned earlier has come to light so far. But he seems to have

survived the usurpation of his younger brother and the subsequent restoration of the old

order by the Pallavas. This becomes clear from the Berur "grant of Vishnuvarma
specifically mentioning the gift being made by Vishnuvarma with the permission of his

jyeshijiapita who was the master of the entire Karnataka region adorned by its capital.

Thus the restoration of the old order meant the installation of both Santivarma
and his nephew Vishnuvarma to power, the former evidently over the entire

Kadamba kingdom and
,
the latter probably over the provincial government at

Palavika. (It may be even inferred that the Talagunda inscription, incised in the reign

of Santivarma and registering the digging of a tank in the premises of the Siddhalaya for

14. J?C, Vol. XI, p. 142. - la

15. /Hfl. i4n/.. Vol. VII, p. 33.
"

16. Kaikcya-siitTiym iitpaiwa in the Bannahalli Plates of his grandson Krishnavarma II; Epi. hid.,

Vol. VI, p. 16.

17. Sircar, op. cit., p. 289.
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Bhava i.e., l§iva temple at Sthanakandini long after the event, was set up after the

restoration as will be evident from the early history of the family and the foundation of

the kingdom recorded therein, with some stress on the subordinate role played by the

founder Mayurasarma under the Pallavas by whom the progenitor was crowned).

The name of the Pallava ruler who restored the old order in the Kadamba

kingdom is not explicitly mentioned anywhere. It is interesting to recall here that the

Penukonda Plates^® of the Western Ganga ruler Madhava II state that two Pr.llava kings

Simhavarma and Skandavarma respectively anointed Ayyavarma and Madhava II on the

Ganga throne. The grantor of the Penukonda Plates must therefore be a contemporary

of Pallava Skandavarma who crowned him. On palaeographical grounds the Penukonda

Plates have been assigned to c. 475 A.D. This warrants the assumption that Pallava

Skandavarma must have been reigning during the period and Simhavarma who crowned

the father of Madhava II ruled some two or three decades earlier. The Lokavibliaga,^” a

Jain work on cosmology, refers to the twenty-second regnal year of a Pallava ruler named

Simhavarma as corresponding to the §aka year 380 or 458 A.D. If 458 A.D. was the

twenty-second year of Simhavarma he must have ascended the throne in 436-37 A.D.

Among the early Pallava copper plate charters the Vesanta grant=® furnishes the sequence

of a Viravarma-Skandavarma-Simhavarma and the Udayendiram Plates-^ that of a

Skandavarma-Simhavarma-Skandavarma-Nandivarma. An intercalation of these sequen-

ces would show that Simhavarma, the grantor of the Vesanta grant is the same as

Simhavarma, grandfather of Nandivarma, the grantor of the Udayendiram Plates.“

A Simha-Skanda sequence, it may be mentioned, answering to the synchronism recorded

in the Penukonda Plates is gleaned only from the Udayendiram Plates. Therefore,

Simhavarma of the Vesanta grant must have ascended the throne in 436 A.D. and

anointed Ayyavarma, otherwise known as Skandavarma on the Ganga throne; and the

son of Pallava Simhavarma named Skandavarma anointed Madhava II.

Considering the fact that Pallava Simhavarma of the Vesanta Plates crowned a king on
the Ganga throne and his date as revealed by the synchronism recorded in the Lokmibhaga
(from 436 A.D. to about 465 A.D.) coincided with that of Kadamba Santivara (450-475

A.D.) it is possible to presume that it was he who reinvested Santivara and Vishnuvarma
on the Kadamba throne. This is in a way confirmed by the fact that the son of Vishnu-
varma was named Simhavarma—a name not borne by any other Kadamba ruler. It is

interesting to recall here that in the Uruvapalli Plates-^ issued in the eleventh year of this

Pallava Simhavarma by his younger brother, Vishnugopa, mention is made of a Senapati
Vishnuvarma who constructed a devaknla. This Senapati Vishnuvarma seems to be no
other than the Kadamba prince of that name, who presumably fled to the Pallava court
for help and stayed there for some time when he was probably made Senapatt.

18. Epi. Ind.. XIV, pp. 331-40.

19. Fleet, JRAS, 1915, pp. 471-75.

20. Copper Plate Grants ofthe Andhra Pradesh Government Museum, Hjderabad, Vol. I, pp. 21-38.

21. Epi. Ind., Ill, pp, 142-7.

22. For a discussion on early Pallava genealogy and chronology see the author's book Klinclpuram in
Early South Indian History.

23. Ind. Ant., V, pp. 50-53.
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Pallava Rajasinilia and South East Asia

The story of Indian expansion in South-East Asia which has been slowly unfolded

by the indefatigable labours of French and Dutch savants like Professor George Coedes

and N. J. Krom and studied in recent years by Indian scholars like R. C. Majumaar and

K. A. Nilakanta Sastri is a subject of great and absorbing interest. The part played by

south India in the expansion of Indian culture in those far off lands even in the early

centuries' of the Christian era has been immense and may be said to be the most signi-

ficant. One is struck by the complete Indianisation of institutions found in those

countries. The kings bore Indian names and Sanskrit was their official language. Indian

religions and religious institutions, easily spread there. The south Indian Grantha script

was adopted in writing most of their inscriptions, many of them couched in correct,

elegant and poetic Sanskrit. The character of such Indianisation has been discussed at

some considerable length by scholars, and Nilakanta Sastri says, for instance, as follows;
f I

» ^

“Of political conquest and empire-building, of the holding down by force of

vast populations and their exploitation to the economic benefit and political advantage

of a distant foreign power there is no question here at all. All our sources agree in

presenting a picture of a number of autonomous Hindu states, each going its way and

living its separate life; all having direct but by no means brisk trade relations with India

and China—witness for instance of Fa Hien’s long halt in Java. But of the political

influence of Java there is no trace whatsoever.”^

.
Though China also exercised a considerable measure of influence over the

countries of South-East Asia, Indian influence was more effective and durable for “the

Chinese always remained colonies of foreigners with little inclination to mix with the

local populations and in contrast to what the Hindus achieved there is no where any
trace of the taking over of Chinese Culture by the children of the soil.”

I, Sastri, K. A. Nilakanta, South Indian Influence in (he Far East, p. 122,
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South India’s contribution to such Indianisation of the South East Asian countries

was great and particularly so during the days of the Pallavas of Kanchi. J. Ph. Vogel

in his contribution on the Ytlpa inscription of King Mnlavarnian from Koetai (East

Borneo) has observed that, “It is certainly astonishing that in the inscriptions

of the Pallavas and other Southern dynasties no reference whatever is made to the

relations which in those days must have existed between the Coromandal and the Far

East. The explanation probably is that those relations of which the accounts of the

Chinese pilgrims have left us such a valuable record, were of a perfectly peaceful nature.

Suppose the powerful Pallava princes of Kanchipura have equipped armadas and carried

their arms to the remote shores of Champa and Java, may we not assume that their

conquests of the far side of the ocean would have been extolled in their praSastis with no

less effusion than we find lavished on their victories over the Chalukyas?”" It will be

apparent from the above that Vogel was inclined to believe that there was not merely

cultural contact, but there were also political relations in those days between the Pallavas

and the Far Fast or South-East Asia; but he could not say so for want of direct and

clear evidence at least from the side of the Pallavas.

The Rayakota Plates of Pallava Skandasishya II describe the donor of the grant

as equal to Agastya, who drank the ocean {chatiirasy=akarait—.yatuin=Uah kartta vela-

vinaiah kalaSabhava ira brahmaya iakshiraja)?

This comparison is not a new one in Pallava epigraphy. The Kuram Plates of

Paramesvaravarman I described Narasimhavarman I as one who "destroyed (the city of

Vatapi, just as the pitcher-bom (Agastya) (the demon) Vatapi (Kala(a-yo;ieri\a xinmthita-

Vatapcli).^ , The Udayendiram Plates of Nandivarman II Pallavamalla also employ the"

same simile of the same king Narasimhavarman whom it describes as ‘one who imitated

the pitcher-born (Agastya) by his conquest of Vatapi’. (/igastya iva ririmtliita Vatapeli).^

It is well-known that Narasimhavaram I conquered Vatapi the capital of the Chalukyas

and assumed that title Vatapikonda.^ On the analogy of the above we have to,take the

expression contained in the Rayakota Plates that just as Agastya drank the ocean and
made it non-existent, Skandasishya II, the donor of the Plates conquered the ocean,

making it as .if non-existent, or in other words, that he obtained ,victories on the seas,

and evidently m the far distant lands beyond the seas. ^
'

What the lands beyond the seas were'is made clear in the grant. Obviously the

reference is not to Ceylon. It is well-known that Narasimhavarman I and Nripatunga
among the Pallava kings gained victories over the Simhala kings. The Kasakkudi Plates

of Nandivarman II Pallavamalla describe Narasimhavarman I who surpassed the glory

of the valour of Rama by (his) conquest of Lanka {Lanka Jayadbarita Raina parakrajna)

and,the Bahnr Plates of Nripatunga mention that the donor was “renowned .not only on

2. yo'seh Bijdiagcn tot deTaaJ—, Land cn Volkcnkundc van Nellicrtandsch Indic,\o\. LXXIV. (1918).
p. 192. •

3. Epi. Ind., Voi. V. p. 49. 11. 9-11.

4. sn, Vol. I, p. 152. Text 1. 17.
'

5. Ind. Ant., Vol. VlII, p. 277; SII., II.T 356. 1.54; 366. Text,' 1.14; see also' p. 51 f.

6. ARSIE

,

65 of 1909; see Report for 1933, pt. ii, para 5,

7. OT, Vol. If, p. 349.
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the earth, (but) even in the other (world) like Rama”® while the Sanjan Plates of the

Rashtrakuta king Amoghavarsha I describe the conquest of Ceylon by Govinda III in

the following words : “he behaved (like Rama) the enemy of Lanka.”® Thus one may
normally expect that if the conquest of Ceylon was meant by the inscriptions referring

to Agastya mentioned above the simile of Rama would have been used as in the

inscriptions referring to Lanka. It is, therefore, most probable that some other land

beyond the seas, and far distant from south India, was meant here.

It may be noted that from about the seventh or eighth century A.D. the cult of

Agastya became popular in South-East Asia and his role in the Hinduisation in Java

and as a preacher of Saivism is well-borne out by the evidence of epigraphy, literature

and sculpture.^® The well-known Dinaga inscription (A.D. 760), for instance, records

how the ruler of East Java who was a great devotee of Agastya made a beautiful abode

for the sage and installed in it an image of Agastya made of black stone in the place of

wooden^ image set up earlier by his ancestors. In fact “Agastya was supposed to have

played the role of an intermediary between the Deity and Royalty in Java, just as other

sages did in Champa and Kambuja”.^^

^ The concluding verse in the Vayalur Pillar inscription of Pallava Rajasimha says :

“May he exercise the royal prerogative and take up the vow of administering (his)

subjects upto the extremities of his kingdom, as even to include the thousand islands.”

The actual word used in the inscription is Dvipalaksham and the editor of the inscription,

H. Krishna Sastri, doubts in a footnote the correctness of the translation of the word
Dvipalaksham and asks whether there could “be , a reference by dhvani in the word
Dvipalaksham to the Laccadive Islands called Lakshddvipa in Sanskrit.^® But he prefers

to take it as an avyayibhava and translate it as above thus showing that the Pallava rule

must have extended in the time of Rajasimha even to the distant islands in the Ocean.
Again, according to him, the sense of the two verses in the inscription, particularly that

of the second “is such that it suggests the occasion for the engraving of this record to

be the accession of King Rajasimha to the throne”.^® If the interpretation is correct,

the inscription would show that Pallava rule extended to many islands across the seas

even in the days prior to the accession of Rajasimha. However, it is unfortunate that no-
where it is stated explicitly what and where those islands were.

But most unexpectedly help comes from the Chinese sources which say :

“In the eighth year of K‘ai-Yuen (720) the king of the kingdom of South India,

Che-li-Na-lo-seng-K’ia (§rl Narasimha) proposed to employ his war-elephants and his

cavalry to chastise the Ta-che (Arabs) as well as the T’on-po (Tibetans) and others.

Moreover he asked that a name be given to his army; the emperor praised it greately
and named his army ‘the army which cherished virtue”

.

8. Dpi. Ind., Vol, II, p. 349.

9.. Ibid., p. 254, w. 32 and 34.

10. Sastri, K. A. Nilakanfa, ‘Agastya’, TBG. (1936), pp. 47j-545,
1 1. TBG., (1924), pp. 227-86.

12. Ibid., p. 152 and n,

13. Ibid.
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Again : “In the 11th month, an ambassador was sent to confer by brevet the title

of king of the kingdom of South India, Che-li-Na-lo-seng-K’ia pao-to-pa-mo (§ri

Narasiroha Potavarman).’’^

The king of south India mentioned above is Narasimhavarman II, the Pallava

ruler of Kanchi, well-known under his surname Rajasimha. It is said that he sent an

embassy to China to inform the Chinese Emperor of his intention to go to war against

the Arabs and the Tibetans and request him to give a name to his army which was given;

he also sent word that he had also constructed a temple on account of the Emperor and

requested him to give a name to it also. The Chinese Emperor honoured the ambassa-

dor highly and sent an embassy in return to south India to gratify the wishes of the

Pallava king.

The mention of the Arabs and the Tibetans as the enemies indirectly at least of the

Pallava kingdom in this period is interesting but intriguing. It does not stand to reason

how separately or allied together, the Arabs and the Tibetans could have ever been the

enemies of a south Indian kingdom in the eighth century It is said that according to the

evidence of certain Chinese writers, the Tibetans, called the Thufan by those writers,

played in the seventh and eighth centuries A-D- a great part in Central Asia. Masters

for a time of regions situated in the north-cast and south-east, they made the emperors

of China tremble even in their capital.’® On this it has been thought that “one may
reasonably surmise that it was the Chinese court, which being impressed by the

political power of Narasimhavarman in India was anxious to enlist his support in its

plans against the Tibetans.’® This would certainly look rather very strange. South

India is far removed from Tibet and China both by land and sea. For a south Indian

to reach these countries by land must haveheen hazardous in as much as he has to cross

through many rivers and hills not to speak of the snow-clad Himalayan range. By sea

there is no direct contact with Tibet, and a journey through China would take a long

time. Further, the circumstances which would have compelled the Chinese Emperor to

seek the help of a south Indian king of all the rulers of this vast sub-continent

in which there were a number of powerful kingdoms particularly in north India in their

struggle against the Tibetans are not apparent.

On the other hand, if sufficient reliance is to be placed on the Chinese evidence—
there is no reason why it should not be taken to be reliable—one has to presume that the

Tibetans and the Arabs were the enemies both of the Pallavas and the Chinese. So far

as the Tibetans are concerned it may be doubted if they could have been on inimical

terms with the south Indian Empire of the Pallavas. It stands more to reason that the
country of the Pallavas with whom they were on terms of enmity must have been
somewhere else, which should have been easily accessible both to the Tibetans and the
Chinese. The Hinduised kingdoms of Champa and Kambuja are the ones, that being
situated as they were, satisfy the requirements for such identification and hence most

14. Sastri, K. A. Nilakanta, Foreign Notices ofSouth Indiafrom Megasthenes to Ma Titian, pp. 116-17.

15. Ibid., p. 17, Reinaud Aboidfeda, 1, CCCLVJI—VIII, also Smith V. A., Early History of India,
p. 377.

^ J >

16. Ibid.
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likely they were the countries intended. The Tibetans had in these days extended the

sphere of their influence and activity and occupied all the area to the north-east and

south-east of their country. They definitely came down as far as the Gauda deia and

probably had direct contact with the Hinduised kingdoms of South-East Asia in the

same way as they had contacts with China.

We also know that the Arabs had begun to extend the sphere of their maritime

trade as far as the regions of Eastern Archipelago and the Chinese coast. They were

thus powerful rivals and a serious menace to the Pallavas, who had not only extensive

trade relations with those regions, but also perhaps political supremacy, though undefined,

over them.

At the same time the Chinese were having extensive maritime trade relations with

many countries in South-East Asia and hence the activities of the Arabs very close to

their homeland would have been very much resented by them, because they should have

affected their interests. Thus the Arabs like the Tibetans should have been considered

their enemies in the same way as they were considered by the Hinduised kingdoms of

South-East Asia rather than by the Pallavas of south India.

So the reference to the Pallavas seeking the help of the Chinese in the war against

the Tibetans and the Arabs can be best explained only on the supposition that the inter-

vention of the Tibetans and the Arabs was over the Hinduised kingdoms of South-East

Asia, over which the Pallavas of south India probably had political control, though its

extent is not easily definable.

But the political supremacy of the Pallavas over these regions duiing the period

may be surmised from certain other pieces of evidence :

An inscription of the Kambuja king Jayavarman contains a direct reference to

the Pallava king of Kanchi in an eulogy of the king in a context which unfortunately is

not easy to make out, because of a break in the stone. The actual expression is

a-kanci ptira nripa. The earliest known date of this king is 657 A.D.,^® while the latest

is 674.^® One of the predecessors, some two or three generations earlier, Chitrasena by

name, took the name Mahendravarman at the time of his coronation and after having

conquered the entire country set up a Linga of Girisa (Siva) on the mountain in com-
memoration of his victory.-® The following apposite remarks of K. A. Nilakanta Sastri

are worthy of note here ; ‘It will be recalled that about the same time, another

Mahendravarman the first of this name and the most talented among the Pallava rulers

of South India erected a shrine to a Linga on the rock of Tiruchirapalli overlooking the^

Kdverl river. Considering the very close resemblance in the lettering of the inscriptions

of the two Mahendravarmans, one is tempted to ask whether this is not more than a

17. Briggs, Lawrance. T/ic Ancicnl K/imer Enipiic,p. 55.

18. Coedes, Inscription du Cc/rbodge 1, p. 55,

19. Ibid.

ckhtkn C‘idc<y}elnlliHlji,l,iganiincio^tinmsaJayaci!maninat-nai’ab, See BEFEO,
aXII, p. 58.

j
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mere coincidence. Separated by many hundreds of miles of land and sea, the records of

these two rulers are evidence of exactly the same type of culture; same in almost every

detail that can be thought of.=i

In Champa, the Myson inscription engraved on a circular pedestal has the

following verse.

SihapUo rajasimhem SrTimd Vikranta Varmam

Vapw^’arasya Koloayam Stheyauabbmanasthilali

“This KoSa (linga) of Vamesvara (!§iva) installed by Srimad Vikrantavarma, other-

wise known as Rajasimha, will endure as long as the world exists.” There were two kings

with the name Vikrantavarma, the first one usually assigned to the period cf A.D, 655-

690 and the second to the period A.D. 710-730. It is not possible to say who among the

two kings is referred to in the record. But it is to be noted that both of them fall

within the reign of the Pallava king Rajasimha.--

The following item also occurs among the references to the Pallava king.

Narasimhavarman in the Chinese records :

“In the eighth year K‘ai-yuen (720), the eighth month, the day ting-tch’eon, a

decree was addressed to tclung-chow-men-hia to inform him that the king of South India

having sent from a far (an ambassador) to render homage and pay tribute, and this

ambassador being due to return, he must look after him with the greatest care till his

departure and act in such a way that his desires might be fulfilled. This ambassador

was therefore given a robe of flowered silk, a golden girdle, a purse with an emblem in

the form of a fish and the seven objects; then he was sent away”.“’

It is interesting that the Chinese Emperor should present the Pallava ambassador
with a purse having the emblem of a fish. One would have expected on the purse the

emblem either of the Chinese Emperor or the Pallava monarch. But neither of them
had the fish emblem, which we know from other sources pertained to the Pandyas.
Among the coins attributed to the Pallavas, there are a few bearing the legend Srlbhara

or Srmidbi and a bull on the obverse with a single fish or double fish on the reverse.-^

Srlbhara and SrTindhi are the titles of the Pallava king Narasimhavarman 11, otherwise

known as Rajasimha, and these coins have been attributed to him. The occurrence of
the fish or double fish on the coins of Rajasimha has been taken to suggest ‘the recog-
nition of the Pallava supremacy by the Pandyas’ then. On this evidence it is thought

21. Sastri, K. A. Nilkanta, South Indian Influence in the Far East, p . 37.

22. It is curious that we also find a king having the Vikranta title in south India. The Buddhist
scholar Buddhadatta is said to have been attached to the court of the Kalabhra (Kalappra) king
Achyuta-Vikranta (or Vikranta). There are also some Tamil verses eulogising a king Achuta
(Acyuta). See Iyengar, P. T. Srinivasa, History of the Tamils, p. 529; JOE., II, pp. 112-13; for
identification of Achuta, see JIH, Vm, pt. I; also Sastri, K. A. Nilakanta, The Colas, (Revised Edn.),
pp. 102 and 107.

23. Sastri, Foreign Notices, p. 116.

24. Desikachari. T., South Indian Coins, p. 140, Nos. 1, 2, 14, etc,, II list.



PALLAVA RAJASiMHA ’Af^D SOUTH EAST ASlA 21’

that ‘it seems probable that the (Chinese) Emperor purposely presented to the ambassador

the purse with a fish emblem in order' to honour the Pallava king by the recognition of

the fact that the powerful Pandyas acknowledged the Pallava supremacy in South India.’“®

This is drawing too much on the evidence. It does not seem probable that the Chinese

Emperor would have acted' as suggested above. Evidently the fish emblem was known to

them otherwise; and they were also probably well-aware of the fact that the Pallavas had

acquired a title to that emblem by their conquest of those who were using such fish

emblem. Just like the Pandyas of south India, the Sailendras of Sri 'Vijaya'also were
’

using the emblem. And this is borne but by the reference to them as such, as for

instance, in the Larger Leiden Plates of Rajaraja I,
'

(Makaradhvaja)."'^ ' >

Another reference to south India in the Chinese Annals is as follows :

*

j. J
-

“In the third month of the third year t'kn~cheou (692), the king of the kingdom

of Eastern India Mo-lo-pa-mo, the king of the kingdom of Western India Che-lo-ito

(Siladitya), the king of the kingdom of the South India Tche-leou-k’i-pa-lo (Calukya

Vallabha), the king of the kingdom of Northern India Na-na, the king of the

kingdom of Central India Ti-mo-si-na'and the king of the kingdom Kieon-tse (Koutcha)

Yen-yao-pa' all came to render homage and make presents”.^'' It is interesting to note

that the Chalukya king, evidently of Vatapi; was one among those who sent embassies to

China in A.D. 692 and that he was referred' to there as the king of the kingdom of

south India. The Chalukya king in "Vatapi at that time was "Vinayaditya. He is described

in one inscription as' arresting, 'at’ the fcommand of his father CVikramaditya 1), the-'

excessively exalted pow'er of the three kings of Chola, Pandya and Kerala and oLthe

Pallavas and so gratifying his father’s mind by bringing all the provinces to a state of

peace and quiet.-® In another he is described as rendering the Pallavas, Kalabhras,

Keralas, Haihayas, 'Vilas, Malavas, Cholas, Pandyas and other peoples to similar state

of servitude with his hereditary servants, the Aluvas, the Gangas and others.-® In a

third inscription it is said that he levied tribute from the rulers of the Kaveras (Kameras?)'

the Parasikas and of Simhala.®® The Kameras conquered by Vinayaditya could have been

no other that the Khmers of South-East Asia if the reference to them is studied along

with the Chinese reference. This claim of the Chalukyan prince to have levied tribute

from the Khmers of Kambuja may look incredible at first sight. But we know that the

Chalukyas had overrun the Pallava Empire and even occupied it for sometime.' If the

Pallavas had political supremacy over Kambuja at that time, then it would have, auto-
matically passed on to the Chalukyas, nominally at least, unless the Kambujas resisted

such an advance. The Chinese annals mention that the Chalukya embassy to the Chinese

court W'as in 692. If that had been the outcome of the Chalukya victory over Kambuja

25. Minakshi, C.. Atfniinistration and Social Life under t/ie Paf/avas, p. 90, '
, ,

26. Epi. hid., Vol. XXII, 'pp. 222, 230, 242. 257 and 284.

27. Sastri, K. A.’ Nilalcanta, Foreign Notices, p. 116;

28. hid. Ant., Vol. VI, pp. 87-88.

29. /6iU, VII, p. 303. .! '

. ...
30. Ibid., IX, pp. 229; Fleet, Bombay Gazetteer, 1, p. 368. It is not Inown if the original reading was

Kameras and was corrected by Fleet into Kaveras.
t
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deSa, though indirect it must have taken place earlier than that year. - It was precisely

during that period that we find the political expansion of §ri Vijaya. Is it possible that

these were inter-related ?

It is also possible that the Pallavas at that time had conquered the maritime king-

dom of Sri Vijaya in Sumatra and acquired for themselves the fish emblem. The kingdom

had been in existence for some decades at least, and in the course of the last thirties of

the seventh century it developed into a powerful empire. It wanted to have contacts

with China and hence in the period 670-73 it sent an embassy to China. The earliest

four inscriptions of the kingdom engraved within an interval of four years (683-86)

give us an idea of the expansion of the new kingdom. The first two of the four

inscriptions are found respectively at Kedukan Bukit on the bank of Sungai Tatang and

Talang Tuwo five miles north-west of the above place, both in Palembang in Sumatra.

The third and the fourth which are copies of the same inscription with slight variations

are found at Karang Brahi on a tributary of the River Jambi. They unmistakably show

that during that period Sri Vijaya conquered Malaya in Sumatra and Taruma in Western

Java. The conquest of Malaya is further borne out by the evidence of I-tsing, the

Chinese pilgrim t\ho visited Malaya in 671 on his way to India and stayed in Sii Vijaya

till his final return to China in 695 except for a brief voyage to Canton in the mean-

while.®^ The new kingdom must have gained in importance and influence particularly

after the dissolution o( the maritime empire of Funan probably even in the countries

of South-East Asia, namely Cambodia and Champa. It was probably then

that the Pallavas by their overseas expedition brought under them the Sri Vijaya

kingdom.

It must be said here that we have no idea of the emblem of the 5ri Vijaya kings in

the seventh and eighth centuries. The emblem of the carp or vtakara was that of the

Sailendras, the political fortunes of which dynasty started from middle Java probably in

the eighth century. In the course of the second half of the century they appear to have
made themselves masters of west and central Java and even of the Malay Peninsulae. The
early rulers of the new dynasty were known by the title Maharaja. The Nalanda Copper
Plate inscription of the thirty-ninth year of the Pala king Devapaladeva which fell

roughly at the commencement of the second half of the ninth century records the grant of
some villages to the vihara at Nalanda erected by Balaputradeva ruler of Suvarnadvipa

(Stmniadvipadhipamaharaja

)

According to that inscription Balaputradeva was the grandson of a Dharmasetu of
the lunar line through his mother Tara and of Yavabhumipala Sailendra vc.pila tilaka l§ri

Viravairi-mathananugatabhidhana through his father Sangramavira. Yavabhumipala
Sailendravamsa tilaka §rl Vlravairi malhananugatabhidhana was probably the same as

Vairi-varaviravimardana mentioned in the Kclurak inscription®^ of A.D. 782 and his son
Samaragravira was probably the same as Samarottunga mentioned in the stone inscription

31. See Hall, D. G. E., A History ofSouth-East Asia, pp. 37-38.

32. Epi. Ind., Vol. XVII, pp. 322-24.

33. TBG, 1928, pp. 58-60.
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from Kedu.®‘ Thus he was descended from the Sailendra family on his father’s

side. With regard to Dharmasetu there is some difference of opinion among scholars.

Some have tried to identify him with Dharmapala of Bengal ‘vvhich name in poetry could

be regarded as a synonym for Dharmasetu’. It has been suggested that on account of

the marriage alliance Mahayana Buddhism had great influence in Java. But he was of

the lunar line and ‘if the king of Bengal was meant, this would have been set forth in

unmistakable manner in the Nalanda_ charter issued by his son and if Varmasetu is the

correct reading of the name, all talk of Bengal must necessarily fall to the ground’. The

latest position is to take Dharmasetu to be a king of §rl Vijaya and Sangramavira, the

^ailendra ruler married his daughter Tara. Balaputradeva, the issue of this marriage,

came later to rule in Sri Vijaya Suvarnadvipa—apparently because there was no male

heir”to succeed to the throne after Dharmasetu. Thus' it is taken that a Sailendra prince

began to rule over Sri Vijaya from about the middle of the ninth century. When he

succeeded to the Sri Vijaya throne he must have adopted that Sri Vijaya crest of emblem.

Since the Leiden grant referred to above mentions the Sailendras of Sri Vijaya as the

users of the makaradhmja, it may be' taken that the crest of §ri Vijaya was the first.®“

It is to be noted in this connection that the name Dharmasetu which is not found

in any other inscription in South-East Asia was accordirig to the labels in the

Kailasanatha temple at Kanchipuram a surname or title borne by the Pallava king Raja-

simha.®“ Is it not possible to take this name borne by the ‘father of Tara according to

the Nalanda Plates as having originated from the surname of Rajasimha as’a token of

acknowledgement of the suzerainty of the Pallava s ?
^

^

Among the other titles of Rajasimha engraved on the walls of the Kailasanatha
temple at Kanchi Srinagapriyah is one.®' It has been taken to mean “he who^is fond
of elephants. He is also referred to as bearing several similar titles, such as Sn-ibha-

vidyadharcP^ Sri ibba-vatsarQjaIi,*° Srigandha hasti^^, etc., which are all taken to indicate his

love of and proficiency in the science of elephants. The surnames may be interpreted

also as ‘one who is dear to the Naga people’, in which case it may be taken that he
was fair and good to the Nagas of South-East Asia, of whom also the population was
composed.

Some of the coins having the bull along with the legend Sri bhara or Srinidhi on
the obverse and ascribed to the Pallava king Rajasimha contain on the reverse side any

34. TBG, 1928, tr. in Dutch by Bosch.; also Sastri, K. A. Nilakanta, Foreign Notices, pp. 122 to 128 for
all the tliree.

35. With this makaradinaja may be compared the title Minartkita Sailendran applied to the Pandya king
Rajasimha 11, in the Sinnamannur Copper Plates (SIl, Vol. Ill, p. 455. ii.i40_4l).

36. Sn, Vol. I, p. 17. 4lst niche 4th item.

37. Ibid., p. 18, 50th niche, 4th item.

38. Ibid., p. 30.

39. Ibid., p. 15, 10th niche, 4th item.

40. Ibid,, p. 16, 29th niche, 4th item.

41 * Ibid., p. 18, 48th niche, 1st item.
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one of the symbols, chakra, crescent, chaurie, chaiiya, a state umbrella, tortoise and a

crab.^^ < )

“It is curious why Rajasimba introduced the figure of crab in his coins”.^^ It

was thought that ‘perhaps it indicated the commercial activities of the period,the home
of the crab being the sea shore’ The suggested explanation does not seem to sound

reasonable. Very probably the crab was the crest of a ruling family. It may also be

mentioned in this connection that Adityavarman who was ruling in Central Sumatra in

A.D. 1350 claims to have belonged to the KiiUiadbaravatnSa. Nilakanta Sastri takes the

term to indicate that the king belonged to the family of Indra, apparently taking the

world ktiliSa to mean the vajrayitdha or thunderbolt of Indra.^® But the term also means

crab; and very likely the term indicates that the family had the crab as its crest. It was

the crest of the ^ailendra rulers
,
Sri Vijaya; and possibly Adityavarman had Sailendra

connections. This is further indicated by his rpyal title. Maharajadhiraja Udaya-

dityavarma (or Adityavarmodaya) Pratapaparakrama Maulimani Varmadeva^® which

reminds one of the Sailendras.

All the above pieces of evidence, taken as a whole, though each of them by itself

may not be considered sufficiently significant, will lead to the conclusion that the

Pallavas have during the time of^Rajasimha or Narasimhavarman II an overseas empire.

According to the Vayalur inscriptions^^ referred to earlier, he seems to have inherited

this kingdom of ‘thousand islands’ from his predecessors. The question then naturally

arises when the Pallavas acquired such a vast colonial empire. The .inscription of the

Kainbuja king Mahendravarman setting up a Imga on the top of a hill as mentioned
earlier would naturally suggest that political ties between the two countries had
existed even then. But the history of the Pallavas becomes clear from the days of

Mahendravarman. Our knowledge of their history prior to his period is still very

uncertain and vague and hence it is not possible to determine at this stage the exact

period when the Pallavas acquired such a big colonial empire.
,

But south India appears to have had connections with those lands from a much
earlier period. The Vo-chanh Rock Sanskrit inscription in south Annam written in a

definitely south Indian alphabet of the second or third century A.D. registers the

donations by a king who belonged to the SrJ Mara Raja kula The inscription belongs

to a period when lower Champa formed part of the Fu-nan kingdom, one of the

earliest kingdoms of Indo-China of which we have any knowledge. The royal family of

Sri Mara to which the king belonged can only mean the Pandyan family in south India,

the word Maran in Tamil being the synonym for Pandya. It is well-known that many
Pandyan kings were known by the title Maran.

The Pallavas, of whose colonial empire we have some knowledge from the days

of Rajasimha II, appear to have' maintained political relations with their colonies right

up to the end of their rule.

42. Desikachari, T., op.cit., I list; Minakshi, C. op.cit

,

p. 91.
43. Elliot’s list, I. No. 36
44. Minakshi, C., op ci7., p. 91.

,

45. Sastn, K. A. Nilakanta, Foreign Notices, p. 100.
46. Ibid.

47. Epi. Ind., Vol. XYHI, p. 152.

48. Majumdar, R. C., History of the Far East, Vol. I, Champa, List of Inscriptions, No. 1,
'
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The Accession of Nandivarman Pallavamalla

The Pattattalmangalam Plates of the sixty-first regnal year of the Pallava king

Nandivarman Pallavamalla say that he was the son of Hiranyavarman and came to the

throne when he was quite young (yuvaivaY while the Kasakkudi Plates dated in the

twenty-second year of his reign give the additional particulars that he belonged to the

branch (varga) of Bhimavarman, his sixth ancestor and the younger brother of Simha-

vishnu of the main line, that he was “chosen—by his subjects” as king,® and that he

“was engaged in ruling the kingdom of Paramesvara Potaraja”.® The circumstances

under which this young boy-prince of a junior branch of the Pallava family, six

generations removed came to occupy the throne after Paramesvaravarman* would make

an interesting study and these are narrated in the descriptive labels incised below the

panels of the historical sculptures found on the walls of the Vaikuntha Perumal temple

at Kanchipuram.
i ,

These sculptures which cover all the four walls of the raised varandah running

round the central shi ine of the temple and are arranged ^in two rows separated by a

narrow horizontal band depict the entire history of the Pallavas from their mythical pro-

genitor Brahma upto the time of the construction of the temple. Though the sculptures

commence from the northern side of the west wall and run clock wise in a pradakslma
manner, there are only thirteen explanatory labels, all of them found on the south wall,

where the events leading to and following the coronation of Nandivarman Pallavamalla

are sculptured. The labels constitute as it were the official version of the events relating

to the selection and coronation of Nandivarman Pallavamalla and so are important and
t

1. Epi. Ind., Vol. XVIII, pp. 120 and 123, verse 7.

2. SII, Vol. 11, pp. 349 and 357, verse 27, \rtah prajubbth.

3. Ibid , p. 350, 1.72. ParniSixara PotarTijapada—praSTisana paic/ia', also p. 356.

4. The Uda>endiram grant dated in the twenty-first year of his reign mentions him as the son of
Paramcsvaravarma II c\ idently to denote that he succeeded the latter or less probably he was the
adopted son. (Ibid., p. 363; also 11.19 and 37 on pp, 366, 367 and 371).
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require careful study and interpretation. Among the thirteen labels four are unfortuna-
tely very much damaged, only a few letters here and there being decipherable. Some
portions of the others are also damaged to a certain extent.®

The first label (Section A) contains the following : In the Pallava family descend-
ed in this was from (the originator) Brahma Paramesvarap-Pottaraiyar becoming a
resident of Heaven (srarggaslar) and the kingdom being reduced to a state of anarchy
(iitsamia), the Madras, the ghatakayar and the AfiVaprakrilis approached Hiranyavarmma
Maharaja of the family of the Kiidava lords {Katmeia kula) to request him to become
king, being one able to bear the burden of the kingdom {rajabharam grahakka-samarttar)
and of pure descent on both sides (tibhayaknla-parihiddhar). The facts that the kingdom
was then without a king, and the throne was vacant are indicated by the blank space
which occupies the wall following the coronation of the previous monarch Paramesvara
and preceding these labelled panels.

The next label (Section B) has :

When the members of the deputation came and saw Hiranyavarmma—Maharaja,
he asked them about the object of theif visit. They replied, “Ihc kingdom has fallen
in chaos (utsaiwa) (we are) unable to manage. You being of pure descent on both
sides (please) do come as king.”

,
(Section C) : Hearing this Hiranyavarmma Maharaja sent for all

p
(diallas ot the family) and enquired (if they were willing to accept the

n
willing to go, he asked his sons grimalla,

namalla, Sangramamalla and Pallavamalla. Each of the first three in turn excusednimself saying, “you had better go to rule as king; we will not go”; while Pallavamallaanas Paramesvara bowed to his father and supplicated, ‘I shall go’.

f fi

Hiranyavarmma was tossed between two conflicting feelings. Theour 1 label (Section D) says ; Hearing this (Hiranyavarmma) feeling happy (barsba) at
lie thought that the good and truthful son {satyamita siipntran) born to enhance
lie glory of the Khataka kula {Khataka knlavi Hrakka tonriya) was going to rule

grieving (with the thought) of separation (from him) and his heart
ambrosia and poison at the same time,® said, “my son who is

nJ,, 7
^ Whereupon Tarandi-Kondaposar, an old

assured, (and consoled) him that “this (Pallavamalla) had previously worshipped
a lavishnu and would therefore become emperor (or is destined to become emperor)

•L'O not grieve”. ^ '

The fifth label (Section E) is unfortunately very much damaged. Being very
ragmentary we can make out only very little of it. Apparently Hiranvavarmanaw something resembling a black elephant’s head (kariyakalirinralai) and asks

5.

6.

Minakshi, C. The Historical Sculptures of the Vaihmtha PerumUl
ntpie, Kanchi, MAS!., No. 63. Appendix I, pp. 54-55.

Dr. Minakshi reads the portion as amrtamnunareripip da hridaystan meaning filled as if with ambrosia and fire at the same time",
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something which we cannot make out. Probably the reply for it is given by Tarandi-

Kondapcsar as contained in the next label (Section F). Showing the thing presented by

the soldier (ievakan) of the retinue, Tarandi-Kondaposar said to Hiranyavarmma

Maharaja “This is not an elephant’s head; but the crown (and other royal insignia) of

your son”, whereupon the fear (of the latter) was dispelled.

The seventh label (Section G) says : This is the place where (Pallavamalla) having

been given permission^ by Hiranyavarmma Maharaja and Tarandi-Kondaposar to go got

do\vn from the Hvakai {sibika ; vehicle) worshipped, prostrated (to them) and took

leave (of them).

The next label (Section H) is read as follows :

—

1. Augn-iiinrum pdiidti pala giri-nadi—vana-gahana [»;] galaik-kaUndn vantginramai

kcUn Pallmadi-Araiyar edirey.

2. maha bahttdduvi raiidti ydnal errtkondu Kanchipiira mahdmgarattu ga

marindn ponda idam?

This label inscriprion has been taken to mean : starting from there Pallavamalla

was coming (to Kanchipuram) passing through on the way many mountains, rivers and

thick forests; hearing these Pallavadi-Araiyar welcomed him with a big army and placing

him on an elephant proceeded towards the great city of Kanchipuram. But the correct ^

reading and meaning of this label will be discussed more fully later. :I

:ij/

The ninth label (Section I) says ; Hearing that his (Pallavamalla’s) elephant was

coming, the Mnliasamantar the Nagarattdr, merchants, the Midaprakriti and the Kadakka
Mnttarayar went forward to meet him and all of them entered the palace {koyil). .o i '

The tenth label (Section J) records ; After entering the palace, the body of ‘

ministers {inantriimudalcmi'), the mahasamantar, the men of the two ganas {xibhayagdnai-^

taydr) and the ghatakayar, all combined together and anointed him (the prince) under '

the name of Nandivanman and (investing him) with all the insignia of royalty, ' such'"'

as the royal umbrella (to his chariot) known as karivai, the "sajnudraglioslia (conch ^

blowing with the sound of the roaring sea) the khaiyanga flag and the risliabha-lancficfmnd'i

(the bull crest) proclaimed his authority by issuing commands under the royal seal ; of
vidSI vidugii.

i ^ 's

The explanatory labels do not stop with the coronation of Pallavamalla. Three i

more are found. The eleventh one (Section K) is damaged in important places, butn
enlightens some crucial points. It says ; “When here (mge) he became Perumanadiga}

7. The actual term is \Ulai kodukka. Originally it was read as padaikodttkka and translated as “having
•teen given weapons. The latter n is clear and the correct reading is as above. '

8. The concluding portion of the second line was originally read as follows :

KSnchipiira MahTmagaratUtrugi marindn ponda iVanj.
,
It may probably bestead, as 'Kanchipiira

MaliTinagaraltiikkariigi (1) marindn ponda idam.
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(i.e. His Majesty the King) and had been ruling the kingdom—the ministers {jnantrigalum)

the imlaprakritis {imllaprakritiyum) and Jinikaytifu .... Chain who was zealous in

prowess (parakraino-tsaham xtdaya)

The last two labels are still more damaged. The phrase awagaiya inmdii pom

durdhukkaiudga (in such manner the great calamity having come (existed) and

gone ) is decipherable in the twelfth label t Section L), while the expression jvorcni

gaudcir kituiya nipuiwrgal (the experts assembled by some person or persons) is found in

the last label (Section M). The last two labels begin with the word mragaiyS (in such

manner) while, as has been said earlier, the first label begins with the word inagaiye (in

this way). It is possible to conclude that the two expressions ivvagaiye and avvagaiys

mark the beginning and end of the explanations of the scries of sculptures relating to the

accession and coronation of Pallavamalla, and thus the thirteen labels contain the offidal

account of the same.

The eleventh label mentioned above begins with the clause “(when) Peru-

manadigal was ruling here (iiigc) as king”. With regard to expression Sri Chain in the

label after which some letters arc lost. Dr. C. Minakshi supplies the missing letters and

reads the word as ‘Chalukki Vikramfidilta.” Though the Editor of the Memoir says

that “it is difficult to read these words from the existing traces” the suggestion of

Dr. Minakshi appears to be acceptable in view of the fact that the expression Sri Chain

is prefixed by the qualification parakrani-otsahamudaiya (who was zealous in prowess).

It may be taken that the monarch referred to hear was the Chalukyan king who was

very likely Vikramaditya II.

The Narwan Plates dated in Saka 664 (exp) nltrayaija kala and the eighth regnal

year of the Western Chalukya king Vikramaditya II (A.D. 741 or 42) describe the

achievements of Chalukya Vikramaditya II. The details contained in them are practically

the same as those in the Vakkaleri and Kendtir Plates of Kirtivarman II. It is said in

all of them that “immediately on coronation, being resolved to uproot completely his

natural enemy (prakriiyaiiutra—lc. the Pallava) he reached Tnnddka\ishaya in great haste,

beat and put to flight at the opening of the campaign, the opposing Pallava king named
Nandi-Potavarmman, took possession of particular musical instruments many
elephants and a heap of rubies; he then entered the city of Kanchi but did not destroy
it, and acquired, great merit by granting heaps of gold to the stone temple of
Rajasimhesvara and other gods which have been caused to be built by Narasimha
Potavarman.® This statement finds corroboration in the much obliterated short Kannada
inscription of Vikramaditya found on- one of the pillars of the Rajasimhesvara shrine
in the Kailasanatha temple at Kanchipuram mentioning that the king having captured
Kanchi (and) having .inspected the riches (belonging to the temple of) Rajasimhesvara
gave (them) again to the God.^®

This expedition of Vikramaditya against the Pallava took place according to the

9. Ind. Ant., VIH. p. 23 and Ibid., XXVII, p. 129.

10. Epi. Ind., Ill, p. 360.
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Chalukyan records immediately after his coranation and was carried out in great haste.

He ascended the Chalukyan throne in A.D. 733-34 and we may not be far wrong if we

take that the expedition took place in A.D. 734. His Pallava adversary at that time was

the young Nandivarman Pallavamalla.^^ But this was not the first expedition of

Vikramaditya against Kanchi. A Kannada inscription on a slab broken into two and

lying near the dilapidated Trimurti temple at Ulchala in the Kumool Taluk, dated in the

35th regnal year of the Western Chalukya King Vijayaditya corresponding to A.D. 731

records that Yuvaraja Vikramaditya went on an expedition to Kanchi; levied tribute from

Paramesvara-Pallava, and while returning presented Ulchahi and Pariyalu to Durvinita

Ereyappa who granted certain concessions.^- It will be clear from the above that

Paramesvaravarman II was ruling the Pallava kingdom in A.D. 73 1 and that tribute was

levied from him by the Western Chalukya. It is not known how long he ruled after

that. Since no inscription bearing a 'date later than his third regnal year has been found

so far, it may be taken that he died soon after and Nandivarman' Pallavamalla ascended

the throne by 733 or 734 A.D. Immediately thereafter Vikramaditya invaded the

Pallava kingdom as shown above. The question naturally arises as to why he should

have directed his wrath on this boy-king just twelve years oid, especially when the pre-

vious Pallava kind had submitted to the Chalukya and paid tribute earlier.

It appears that the eighth label (Section H) of the Vaikuntha Peruma} temple

contains an indirect answer to the above. It records that a certain Pailavadi Araiyan

who came to meet Pallavamalla on his way to Kanchipuram to assume that Pallava

crown died {luariiidu poitda) probably near the outskirts of Kanchi. This point has

unfortunately not been noticed so far. Why should the death of a person be mentioned

while narrating the events connected with an auspicious function like the coronation of

a king, unless it has a bearing directly on it, very likely a conquest ?

But the label as construed at present does not envisage any such thing. It is taken

as recording the homage paid by the feudatories to the king-elect on his way to assume

the crown. Further the Pailavadi Araiyar, mentioned in it is taken as a feudatory chief

of the Pallavas like the Muttaraij'ar and Peraraiyar. But we have to take the word

Pailavadi Araiyar to mean a junior member of the Pallava ruling family on the analogy

of the word Gangadiaraiyar which means Ganga princes ruling over provinces. Such

usages are found in some inscriptions. For instance the Kiiram Plates of Paramesvara-

varman I mention the construction of temple Vidyavinita Pallava Paramechchuragriham
and the gift of the village of Paramesvaramanagalam by Vidyavinita Pallavadhiraja

(Sanskrit portion 1.54).^® Again the Hellegeri Copper Plate grant dated in Saka 635
(713-714 A.D.) corresponding to the thirty-fourth regnal year of the Western Ganga king
Sivamara mentions two persons Jayapallvadhiraja and Vriddhi Pallavadhiraja the two-
year sons of the Pallava Ytmraja}'^

• t

tl. Both Chalukya VikTamaditya and Nandivarman Pallavamalla came to the throne almost at the
same time.

12. ARSIE, 1943-44 and 1944-45. App. E. No. 22 of the collection in the year 1941-42: also Al.,
No. 5, p. 34.

13. SII, I, p. 154.

14. EC, Vol. Ill, Md. 113.
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Really the label appears to record a different tale. It says that Pallavadi Araiyar

came to meet the newly elected ruler with his great force or large army (mahabalam). It

would seem incongruous for a feudatory chief to take his large army (vwhabalam) with

him when proceeding to meet and pay his homage to the king-elect on the latter s

journey to the capital for his coronation. The wording of the label and the use of the

word jnaliabalajii have to be taken to mean military action.

The sculptures depicting the scene do not also show the prince on the back of an

elephant. The relative panels are described as follows :

Panel VII which is divided horizontally into two sections contains in the upper

row a seated royal figure, sad and dejected, with two attendants to his right. The rest

of the panel illustrates one scene. A number of.mcn on the right side are cheering a

person, evidently Pallava-malla, as he is proceeding on horse back. A man with a

kirita on his head is meeting him. Evidently this is the Pallavadi Araiyar. His army

of elephants is represented in the next panel (i.c. Panel VllI) which is again divided as

before into two sections. The upper is filled with the army of elephants and the lower

contains the marching soldiers and horsemen. In the next panel (i.e. Panel IX). the

officials, the townsmen, the feudatories and the Mulaprakritis are all seen in the lower

half of the panel going towards Paramesvara Pallavamalla to welcome him. He is seen

on horse back.^^ Nowhere is the king-elect is seen sealed on the back of an elephant as

the inscribed label is said to narrate. On the other hand the disposition of the elephants

and of the marching soldiers and horsemen, nay, of the whole scene, seems to illustrate

some military activity.

Further the expression which has been read as erriuk-kondii meaning raising or

placing the prince on the back of the elephant is not also supported by sculpture. The

word may better be read as errik-koudu with a short e. The word crrudal means to attack,

to kick, to strike, to kill. With this suggested reading the label may be translated as

follows ; “Starting from there, he (Pallavamalla) was coming on the way leaving behind

many mountains, rivers, and dense forests; and hearing this Pallavadi Araiyar came

opposite to him with a big or great army {imhabalam). struck and killed elephants and

died— (near) the great city of Kanchipuram.

Thus it will be seen that the selection of the boy P.allavamalla was not unanimous
or without opposition as it has been supposed to be. The label clearly states that the

boy’s progress towards Kanchipuram was opposed by Pallavadi Araiyar who however
died in the skirmish though he killed some elephants.

Who the Pallava Prince was that opposed Pallavamalla on his way to his

ccronation and died is not clear. It is possible he was one of the two Pallavadhirajas

mentioned as the sons of a Pallava Yttraraja in the Hellegere grant dated in 713-14 A.D.
mentioned above. The name of the Pallava Yttraraja is not given in the inscription.

The then Pallava king was Rajasimha also known as Narasimhavaram II. He had two

15. Minakshi, op. cit., pp. 36-37.
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sons Mahehdravarnian III and Paramesvaravarnian II. We have an inscription of

Mahendra in the Kailasanatha temple at Kanchipuram.^® But he does not seem to have

succeeded to the throne. Evidently he predeceased his father.” But when that happened

is not known. Anyway the Ytivaraja mentioned in the Hellegeri inscription must be

" either Mahendra III or Paramcsvara II.

If the Pallava Araiyar who opposed Pallavamalla before his coronation was

possibly one ofIhe two grandsons of Rajasim ha, then naturally the question arises as

to what became of the other. The Udayendiram Plates dated in the twenty-first regnal

year of Nandivarman Pallavamalla give a graphic account of his long and difficult

campaign against the southern powers and the services rendered by Udyachandra, the

Lord of Vilvalapura, and the general of Nandivarman to his royal master.^® The

grant says : “When he (Udayachandra) perceived that Pallavamalla was besieged in

Nandipura by the Dravida princes, unable to bear this, like the visible death of the

cloud of the enemies of Pallavamalla, slew with his sharp sword which glittered like

the petal of a water-lily, the Pallava king Chitramaya and others”^® (Chitramdya

Pallavarajam)

.

Chitramaya was one of the titles of Paramesvaravarman I.®" Possibly

the Pallava prince Chitramaya killed by Udayachandra was the great-grandson of

Paramesvaravarman and bore his name. Thus even after his coronation Pallavamalla

had a Pallava claimant to the throne to oppose him. It is possible to surmise from the

Udayendiram grant that Chitramaya who is mentioned there as king was not prepared

to accept Pallavamalla as the Pallava king and probably was able to wrest a part of the

Pallava kingdom from Pallavamalla and was ruling it as its king.

When there were thus at least two princes coming in regular Pallava line and
claiming right to succeed to the Pallava throne, it will appear strange that the Mattras,

the Ghatikaydr and the Mulaprakritis of the Pallava kingdom should approach Hiranya-

varma and request him to accept the crown. The two requisite qualifications which
were necessary to rule the kingdom, and which, they thought, Hiranyavarman possessed

and so was eligible for being chosen as king, were ability to bear the burden of the

kingdom and purity of descent on both sides {raja [Ww] ram grabakka samarlhar—
tibhayiikiila parUitddhar). But one wonders if the first requisite for the kingdom could
have been satisfied by the selection of Pallavamalla as king since he was only a boy of
twelve years and was living at a place far away from Kanchipuram and separated from
it by hills, rivers and forests.®'- In the early years of his reign at least he must have

been a king only in name, the actual powers being in the hands of some others. But

16. OT, I, No. 27. p. 22.

17. Minakshi, op. cit., p. 32; descriptions of panels XVII and XVIII. The wounded chief being carried

in a cloth hammock to the presence of the king and his queen and the two Brahmanas seated on the

floor below the king’s seat as if in the act of prayer may well be taken as representing the death of
Mahendra III.

18. SlI, Vol. n. Ft. ni. No. 74, pp. 367-374.

19. Ibid., p. 312.

20. Epi. Ind., Vol. X, p. 9; SII, Vol. XII, p. 10.

21 . It is not even known whether the place where the junior family of the Pallavas to which Hiranya-
yannan belonged had been then residing was within the Pallava kingdom itself or outside it.
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with the present available evidence it is not possible to say who the dc facto ruler of the

Pallava kingdom was during the early years of the reign of Pallavamalla or if he had the

support of any foreign power. But it is certain that there was a strong party that stood

for him and supported him successfully against the other Pallava princes who opposed

him. But from the point of view of ability to bear the burden of the kingdom the Pal-

lavadi Araiyar who opposed Pallavamalla with inahabalam was probably a better person.

He had possibly some support from inside and outside the Pallava kingdom. And even

after his death we find that another, Chitramaya, put forth his claim to the Pallava

throne and partially succeeded in his attempt.

Thus there appears to have been two strong opposing parties in the Pallava

kingdom. The expedition undertaken by the Western Chalukya, king Vikramaditya II,

in great haste immediately after his coronation agamst Pallavamalla svould suggest that

the Pallavadi Araiyar who fought against Nandivarman before his coronation and died

had the support of the Chalukyas, and the expedition of Vikramaditya against Kanchi

was undertaken to avenge the death of his protege. The Kannada inscription of the

Chalukya king in the Kailasanatha temple at Kanehipuram testifies to the fact that the

expedition was successful, and that the Pallava kingdom was conquerred by him. Probably

he installed Chitramaya on the Pallava throne and made grants to the Kailasanatha

temple, without destroying the city. All the above discussion would show that the

first requisite thought to be essential for ruling over the Pallava kingdom docs not seem

to have been satisfied by the selection of Pallavamalla to the Pallava throne.

Much is not known about the purity of decent on both sides mentioned as the

second requisite. From the information available it is seen that the rival princes were of

the same Pallava family. As such the purity of their descent on the male side is beyond
question. If at all any claim is to be made of purity it could be only on the female side.

The Kasakudi Plates describe Nandivarman as one “who is able to support the race of

the Pallavas’ (Pallavamm kula bharm patuh) and “who is descended from a pure

mother” (hiddha matramen'dyah) With this has to be compared what is stated in the

Vaikuntha PerumaJ temple label, namely nbliayaktda pariSiiddha. Thus more than the

ability to rule, family purity was considered important, and from that point of view

Nandivarman Pallavamalla had obviously a belter claim to the Pallava throne than

Pallavadi Araiyar who was probably an illegitimate son of Paramesvarman II. Hence
his choice.

Thus a careful examination of the contents of the label inscription in the

Vaikuntha Perumal temle and other pieces of evidence would show that the accession of
Nandivarman Pallavamalla to the throne was not so peaceful as is supposed. Since the
available material bearing on the subject does not give the entire information it is not
possible to determine in detail the exact course of events. But one thing is clear. There
were other Pallava princes evidently of the main line itself who had good support from
one section of the people and they strongly opposed Pallavamalla from the very
beginning.

22. 5'//, II, p. 350, 1. 70.
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Pallava Skandasisliya II

Scholars who have studied the history of the Pallavas have so far consistently

ignored the Rayakota Plates of Skandasishya i This is probably due mainly to the fact

thft the donor of the grant, Skandasishya could not be conveniently accommodated in the

history of the Pallavas. His exact position in their genealogy and chronology cannot be

easily settled, ' Even the dynasty to which the king belonged is not mentioned in the

inscription.

The Plates said to have been obtained 'from' Rayalcota in the Krishnagiri taluk,

Salem District (now in Dharmapuri District) belonged to the collection of Sir Walter

Elliot. They were three in number and were secured by a ring with a seal bearing the

emblem of a kneeling bull facing proper left and _a few other emblems not identified.

The seal is also said to have had a line of writing, which was not, however deciphered.

As is usual with the copper-plate grants obtained, from the Tamil country, it

consists of two parts, one in Sanskrit and the other in Tamil. -The Sanskrit portion

which is in verse gives particulars about .the king. After invocation to Vishnu, the"

mythical genealogy of the family to which Skandasishya belonged is given in it. The
genealogy commences with Brahma, born of the lotus from'^ the navel of Vishnu and

mentions the following in order ; Angiras, Brihaspati, Samyu, Bharadvaja, Dronaand
Asvatthaman. Adhiraja Skandasishya was born to the last of them by a Naga woman.
In the family was born another Skandasishya who is described as resembling the pitcher-

born Agastya, who drank the sea. The Tamil portion which is in prose says that in the’

fourteenth year of the reign of Kovijaya Skandasishya Vrkramavarman the king*

granted on the request of Mahabali Vaijarajar, Mahesvara Bhatta being the executor

{anatti), the village of Saragur in Mel-Adaiyartinadu, a subdivision of Paduvur-kot tarn,

renaming it Skandasishyamangalam to Madhava Sarma Bhatta of the Vatsa gotra and
Pravachana snfra with several exemptions and immunities (pariliaras) evidently as a
brabtmdeya. No other particulars are furnished in the inscription.

1. Epi. Iml., V, pp. 49-53.
'

'
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As said above the record does not mention the dynasty to which the donor-king

belonged. But the mythical genealogy attributed to him in it is the one usually found

in the records of the Pallavas of Kancbi, especially their copper-plate grants found in

the Tamil country from the time of the Ktiram Plates of Paramesvaravarman onwards-

and also in the VayalQr Pillar inscription of Rajasimha.®

According to the Velarpfijaiyam Plates^ of Mandivarinan 111, Pallava was the son

of Asvatthaman; and after many kings like Asokavarman and others born -in the family

had passed away, was born Kajabhartru. It is said that Vlraktlrcha, son of Chnta

Pallava and grandson of Kalabhartru obtained the sovereignty along with the hands of

the daughter of the chief of serpents (p/iaijTiidrasiita) and Skandasishya was bom of this

union. The Rayakota Plates also mention that Skandasishya was born of a Naga

woman (dvijihrnigiiii). The Tirukkalukkunram inscriptions® of Rajakesarivarman Aditya I

registering a land grant to the god of the midasthana in the Siva temple at the place states

that the grant was originally made by Skandasishya, and later on ratified by'Narasimha-

varman I, the conqueror of Vatapi.® These will show that Skandasishya the first of

that name, was not a mythical person, but actually ruled the kingdom of Kancht.

The Rayakota grant is the only inscription of Skandasishya, the second ruler

of that name so far recovered. Nor is the ruler mentioned or referred to in any other

record, and therefore we have to depend ' on the palaeographical and other available

extraneous evidence for fixing his place in the Pallava history and chronology.

The name Skandasishya is interesting. Literally it means the 'disciple of the

war-god’.’ It is not however known ifit.was only a title by which the king was called.

It does not appear to have been borne by any other known Pallava king; and obviously

it was taken by the ruler who is the subject of this paper in remembrance of the first

2. Kiiram Plates of Paramesvaravarman, SII, Vol. I, pp. 144 ff ; Kailasanalha temple inscription of

Rajasimha SII, Vol I, p. 9; Udayendiram Plates of Nandivarman II, SII, Vol. II, pp. 361 ft;

Kasakkudi Plates of Nandivarman II, SII, Vol. II, pp, 342 ff
;
Patlatta|mangalam Plates of Nandi-

varman II, Epi. Ind., Vol. XVIII, pp. 115 IT; ' VelDrpalaiyam Plates of Vijaya Nandivarman III, SII,

Vol. II, pp, 501 if; Bahur Plates of Nrpatunga, Epi. Ind., Vol. XVIII, pp, 5 IT.

3. £>/. /nrf.. Vol. XVHI, pp. 145 ff. It is also to be noted that the Hira Kogilur Plates of the

Chalukya prince Rajaditya who was a feudatory of the Rashtrakuta king, Krishna HI and was

ruling over the Kadambaliga kingdom give the same mythical ancestry of Rajaditya MAR,
1936 pp. 177 ff. But this is in complete variance with the mythical ancestry given in the

various Chalukyan grants. As such an explanation for this anamoly has to be sought elsewhere,

and he cannot be taken as a Pallava. Similarly it is also not possible to take that Skandasishya of

the Rayakota Plates was a Chalukya for the reasons discussed further in this paper.

4. SII, Vol. II, pp. 501 ff.

5. Epi. Ind., Vol. m. pp, 277-80.

6. The inscription of Narasimhavarman I making the gift to the god of midasthana at the place has

since been found. ARSIE, 65 of 1909; also Ibid., 1933 pt. ii. para 5. But it docs not mention that

the grant had been previously made by Skandasishya.

7. Is it possible that the ward Skandasishya has anything to do with the Tamil word ATwrfe/i ? It is

known that occasionally.the Sanskrit letter y/ra is equated with the Tamil la. cf. Skt. Usha—Tamil

tflai; Skt, meSsha (gold)—^Tamil niTiia; Skt. KashXiiya—Tamil Kiyalam. (Also Tamil tiniriia becom-

ing tiruvisha among rustics and Iiisnaal—isiidal).
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ruler of that name and to show that he was a ‘reviver of the past’.® It might be that .

he assumed this name to infuse confidence in the minds of his subjects that difficult and

hard times At ere over and that golden age had dawned.

Dr. Hultzsch who edited the Plates in the pages of the Epigraphia Indica was of

the opinion that palaegraphically the alphabet in them is more developed than that in

the Ktlram and Kasakkudi Plates but archaic when compared with that in the Udayendi-

ram Plates of Hastimalla.® Thus the age of the plates must be in the period roughly

between A.D. 700 and 900. This period can be narrowed further down. The Rayakota

Plates are written in the ordinary free flowing hand and the Kuram Plates are in similar

hand. But the Kasakkudi and Tandantottam Plates are written in an ornamental way.

It is well-known that some archaic forms used to occur in ornamental writing. But still

we find some letters more developed in the Kasakkudi and Tandantottam Plates. than

in the Kuram and Rayakota Plates. For instance the initial vowel i of the Tandan-

tottam Plates (occurring twice in line 12) has almost attained the modern shape while

that found in the KUram Plates (lines 26 and 37) retain the older form. The Rayakota

Plates which are in the ordinary flowing hand give the older form for the letter (line 10).

It would thus appear that the Rayakota Plates have to be assigned to a period anterior

to the date of the Tapdantottam Plates. They may, therefore, be assigned roughly

to middle of the eighth century, i.e., circa A.D. 750.

During that period the Pallava kingdom was ruled by Nandivarman Pallavamalla.

It is known that he did not succeed the Pallava throne in the regular line of succession.

He belonged to the junior branch of the family, being the sixth in descent from Bhima-

varman, younger brother of Simhavishnu of the main line. The Kasakkudi Plates state

that he was chosen by his subjects as king.^® The descriptive labels incised below the

penals of the historical sculptures found on the walls of the Vaikuntha perumal temple

at Kanchipuram narrate that the kingdom being reduced to a state of anarchy on

the death of Paramesvaravarman II, the ministers and others approached Hiranya-

varman, father of Nandivarman Pallavamalla, with a request to become the king, he

being one able to bear the burden of kingdom and was ofpure descent on both sides. They

further say that Hiranyavarman enquired all the members of his family whether anyone

8. Such a practice is not unknown in south Indian history. It is well-known that Aditya 11 son of
Sundarachola had the title Karikala and another Rajakesarivarman of the period Was known as
Perunap kiUr, OT Vol. XIII, Nos. 15 and 2J. A recent writer hasidentifiedthisPerunar-
kijji with Rajaraja I himself; T. Subramanajan, South Indian Temple Inscriptions, Vol. HI, pt. 1,

Historical Survey, pp. LXXXIV, XCIV. The significance of these Chola rulers bearing names
likely to canjurc up the minds of people will be evident if it is remembered that at that time the

’

Chola dominions were in the throes of revolution and strife consequent on the invasion and occu-
pation of a portion of the kingdom by the Rashtrakuta king Krishna m.

9. Epi. Ind., Vol. V, p. 49; for the Udayendiram Plates of Hastimalla SII, Vol. II, pp. 375 if.

Dr. Hultzsch further says : “If it is admissible to compare the characters of stone inscriptions,

which sometime retain older forms, I would'say that the alphabet of the Rayakota Pla‘es lies bet-

ween the two Kilmuljugur inscriptions of Narasimhavarman as the upper limit and the two
Ambur inscriptions of Nripatrunga—Viktamat-arman as the lower one”. Epi. Ind., Vol. V.
pp. 49-50. For the stone inscriptions see ibid., Vol; IV, pp. 182 and 360 and plates.^

10. SII, Vol. II, pp. 349 and 357, v. 27. .
>
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among them was willing to take up the Pallava kingship, that while the others declined

to accept it, Pallavamalla, whose real name was Paramesvara, the youngest of the

four sons of Hiranyavarman, then only twelve years of age, consented to accept the

kingship, and that finally the boy was brought to Ii.anchipuram and crowned king under

the name of Nandivarman.^^ '

The selection of this boy of the junior branch to assume the Pallava_ crown was

not unanimous and without opposition. It is clear from the Vaikuntha perumal temple

label inscriptions that Nandivarman even before his coronation, while he was still on

his way to the capital for the ceremony, was opposfd by a certain Pallavadi-araiyar with

his large army. The rival Pallava prince did not succeed in his attempt and was killed in

battle on the outskrits of the capital city. The very fact that he came with a large

army (jmhabalam) would show that he was already ruling over a portion of the kingdom

and that he had the backing of at least a section of the people. But Nandivarman had

no peace even after his coronation.

The coronation of Nandivarman Pallavaipalla took place in circa A.D. 733.

Immediately after that he had to face an invasion of hiS kingdom by the Western

Chalukya king Vikramaditya II who also came to the throne almost at the same time.

This expedition is described in the Chalukyan records in the following terms : Imme-

diately on coronation being resolved to uproot completely his natural enemy {prakritya-

jnitra i.e. the Pallava) he (Vikramaditya 11) reached Timdakarisliaya in great haste, beat

and put to flight at the opening of the campaign the opposing Pallava king named

Nandipotavarman, took possession of particular musical instruments— many elephants

and a heap of rubies; he then entered the city of Kanchi, but did not destroy it and

acquired great merit by granting heaps of gold to the stone temple of Rajasimhesvara and

other gods which had been caused to be built by >Jarasimha Potavarman.^® This state-

ment finds corroboration in the much obliterated short Kannada inscription of Vikrama-

ditya found on one of the pillars of the Rajasimhesvara shrine in the Kailasanatha temple

at Kanchipuram which mentions that the king having captured Kanchi (and) having

inspected the riches (belonging) to (the temple of) Rajasimhesvara gave (them) again to

the God.^^

It will be evident from the above that the Chalukyan victory was complete and

that Vikramaditya had captured the Pallava capital Kanchi; but what became of Nandi-

varman is not clear. It would appear rather strange that Vikramaditya who had led an

expedition to Kanchi only some two years earlier (A.D. 731) when he was yi/iwu/n

during the reign of his father and levied tribute from the Pallava king Paramesvara-

varman II should have rushed again against the pallava kingdom immediately after his

own coronation, especially when the new Pallava king was only a boy of twelve. But if

we remember that Nandivarman on his way to Kanchi for his coronation was opposed

11. Ibid., Vol. IV, No. 135.

12. Jnd. Ant., Vol. VDI, pp. 23 ff; SII, Vol. I, p. 146.

13. Epi. Ind., Vol. m, p. 360.
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by another Pallava prince who lost his life in the encounter, it may be surmised that the

rival Pallava prince had the support of the Western Chalukya king who did not approve

of the selection of Nandivarman and therefore was inimical to him, and that the expedi-

tion of Vikramaditya against Kanchi was undertaken obviously to avenge the death of

his protege. The Kannada inscription of Vikramadity II in the Kailasanatha temple

mentioned earlier would show that he himself conducted the expedition personally and

that he was present at Kanchi when the victorious army occupied the city.

t

The Chalukya records mention that Nandivarman was put to flight. Evidently

he fled the capital and the country to a place of safety. What became of him after that

is not known. It would be natural to expect that Vikramaditya would not have rein-

stated him on the Pallava throne; nor would he have returned to Vatapi abandoning the

Pallava kingdom after obtaining a signal victory and avenging the death of his protege.

He would certainly have placed on the Pallava throne some one of his choice.

The Pallavadi-araiyar who opposed Nandivarman on his way to Kanchi for his

coronation and lost his life appears to be one of the two princes, Jaya Pallavadhiraja and

Vriddhi Pallavadhiraja. “the two dear sons of the Pallava Ytcvaraja” mentioned as

donors in the Hallegare Copper Plate grant dated in Saka 635 (A.D, 713-14) correspon-

ding to the thirty-fourth regnal year of the Western Ganga ruler ;§ivamara I. These two

princes appear to be the grandsons of Rajasimha who was the reigning Pallava monarch

when the above grant was made.^'* It is possible that the other prince or the son of the

one who lost his life in the battle with Nandivarman was installed on the Pallava throne

by Vikramaditya. Very likely these cordial relations which these princes had with the

Western Gangas, and through them with the Western Chalukyas, the family foes of the

Pallavas, made them unpopular with a section of the people and drove that section to

select the boy-prince Nandivarman to the throne overlooking the claims of those princes,

though another reason for not considering them as fit to succeed to the throne was that

they had doubts about the purity of their descent on both sides.

This position is in a way confirmed by the Udayendiram Plates dated in the

twenty-first regnal year of Nandivarman Pallavamalla. The Plates give a graphic account

of his long drawn and difficult compaign against southern powers and the services

rendered to the Pallava king by his general Udayachandra, the lord of Vilvalapura. The
grant says : “When he (Udayachandra) perceived that Pallavamalla was besieged in

Nandipura by the Dramila princes, unable to bear this, like the visible death to the

cloud of the enemies of Pallavamalla, slew with (his) sharp sword which glittered like

the petal of a water-lily, the Pallava king Chitramaya and others (ChUramaya Pallavaraja-

miikhan nihatya 1.48)” and also that he “defeated the hostile army on the battle fields of
Nimba [vana] Chutavana, Sankaragrama, NellOr, Nelveli, Snravalundnr and so forth,

and thus bestowed the whole kingdom many times on the Pallava.”^®

It is clear from the above that within twenty years of his reign; (1) Nandivarman

14. EC, Vol. m, Md. 113.

15. SII, Vol. II, pp. 367 and 372.
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lost his throne and kingdom presumably on more occasions than one; (2) another

Pallava king Chitramaya by name and who was inimical to him was ruling over the’

whole of the Pallava kingdom or at least a portion of it; and (3) Nandivarman was once

besieged by the Dramila princes in the fort of Nandipura wherefrom he was rescued by

Udayachandra after killing Chitramaya and others.

The fact that Nandivarman was besieged by his enemies is also referred to in the

inscriptions of the Western Chalukya king Kirtivarman II. Both his copper plate

grants, the Vakkaleri and KendUr Plates, say that while he was still the heir-apparent

{Yiivaraja) Kirtivarman having asked for and obtained an order (from his father) to put

down the lord of Kanchi, the enemy of his family, led an expedition, defeated the

Pallava king in every quarter, drove him back into the fort from which he emerged,

made him powerless, took possession of many ruttish elephants, gold and crores of

rubies and delivered them to his father.*® This campaign of Kirtivarman against

Nandivarman Pallavamalla in the reign of his father Vikramaditya II was different from

the expedition which Vikramaditya undertook immediately after his coronation, and

should have happened only after §aka 664 (A.D. 741-42), the eighth regnal year of

Vikramaditya II as the Narwan Plates issued in that year mention only the first encoun-

ter and not the second. The Plates further state that on account of this victory, Kirti-

varman "thus gradually attained to the position of emperor”. It is very likely that the*

second campaign led by Kirtivarman II was conducted just before his accession to the

throne, in the last days of the reign of his father. The Chalukyan records describing'

this expedition narrate only one phase of it, and the other phase is evidently that which

is contained in the Udayendiram Plates of Nandivarman.

Chitramaya said to have been killed by Udayachandra the trusted general of

Nandivarman in the siege of Nandipuram is described therein as Pallavaraja. It is

known that Chitramaya was one of the titles of Paramesvaravarman I.*’ Possibly the

Pallava prince of that name who was killed by Udayachandra was a great-grandson of

Paramesvaravarman I and bore his name. His being described in the Udayendiram
Plates as the Pallava king (Pallarariija) clearly testifies to the fact that he was actually

ruling as king over the Pallava country. If he had been the prince placed on the Pallava

throne by Vikramaditya II in the course of his first expedition, then Chitramaya would
have ruled the kingdom for a period of at least ten to fifteen years. Any attempt to

dislodge him from that position would have evoked and brought in immediate protest

and retaliation from his protector Vikramaditya II. Probably such attempts were made
and hence the invasion of Kirtivarman. In this connection the statement in the Udayen-

,

diram Plates of Nandivarman th.U Udayachandra, his general bestowed the kingdom
many times on his master is also to be noted.

The Rayakota Plates of Skandasishya (dated in the fourteenth year of his reign)

palaeographically assignable to this period have to be accommodated only in the interval.

16. hid. Ant., Vol. VIII, pp. 23; Epi. hid., Vol. V, p. 204.

17. ARSIE, 531 of 1907; SIl. Vol. XTI, No. 20.
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The history of the Paliavas both before and after this short period of confusion is clear

and well-founded. The next possible period in which the reign of Skandasishya could

be accommodated is at the very end of the Pallava rule when the Cholas had become

powerful and occupied the Tondaimandalam. But as remarked earlier, the script in

which the Rayakota Plates are incised is archaic for that period. Under the circum-

stances the reign of Skandasishya has to be accomodated in the earlier period. But we

do not know of any other claimant to the Pallava throne who had more successfully

established his claim than Chitramaya, which was probably more a title or a surname

than the official name of the ruler. Evidently Skandasishya was the name with which he

ruled, and Chitramaya was the surname or title which he took.

This position is corroborated by a few other pieces of evidence. The gift village

Sarugur was according to the grant situated in the Mel-.Adaiyaru mdu of Paduvur

Kottem. The Udayachandra-mangalam granted as a brahinadeya to several Brahmanas

according to the Udayendiram Plates was also' situated in the same sub-division. Not

only that. Tiruvejiijamudi figures as one of the boundaries of the gift village Sarugur

and this is only the Taniil equivalent of the hill named Velalasikhara mentioned as one

of the boundaries of Udayachandramangalam. Tt will be clear from these that

Skandasishyamangalam and Udayachandramangalam, the two bralumdeyas newly

created by Skandasishya and Nandivarman Pallavamalla respectively were situated side

by side with a common boundry between them.
^

The gift of the brahmadeya village mentioned in the Rayakota Plates was made
by Skandasishya at the request of a MahavalivSnarayar. This Bapa chief, whoever he
might have been, should have therefore been a subordinate of Skandasishya, acknow-

ledging his suzerainty and thus inimical to or at least not accepting the overlordship of

Nandivarman. Later inscriptions found in the region clearly attest to theTact that the

Bana chiefs ruling in this region were loyal to Nandivarman Pallavamalla and his succes-

sors and that an early ruler of the dynasty about whom we get some definite knowledge

bore the name Nandivarman or Vijaya Nandivarman,evidently to mark his subordina-

tion to Pallavamalla. But the PujlQr Plates dated in the thirty-third year of Nandivar-
man indicate that the Pallava fought with and obtained a victory over the Banas, and it

should also be noted that the successors of the Bana chief Vijaya Nandivarman bore
names like Vijayaditya and Vikramaditya, names not known to have been borne by
members of the Pallava family, but frequently met with among the Chalukyas. ' Evi-

.dently these names were borne by earlier rulers of the Bana family when they were the

subordinates of the Western Chalukyas and later on were borne by their successors.

Then it would appear that these Mahabali Vanarayars were planted in the region by the

Western Chalukyas when they set up their own candidate on the Pallava throne as a
link between the Pallava on one’ side and the Western Ganga on the other. The period
of rule of Vijaya Nandivarman, the first ruler with whose name the history of the
mediaeval Banas commences is placed towards the closing years or at least the latter half
of the long region of sixty five years of Pallavamalla. But his Udayendiram and PullQr
Plates dated respectively in the twenty-first and thirty-third years of his region reveal
that prior to the period of the Bana chief Vijaya Nandivarman, the region was fojr some
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time at least under the control of the Pflchan family of Vilvalapura to which Udaya-

chandra and Avanichandra belonged. It is possible that mainly with a view to wean

the people of the area from the influence of Skandasishya and his supporters that this

region which was in the nature of a buffer between the Pallava and the Western

Ganga kingdoms was placed by Pallavamalla in charge of his loyal lieutenant Udaya-

chandra and new brahimdeya villages colonised by Brahmins supporting him were created

in the area.

Skandasishya, the rival of Pallavamalla, placed on the Pallava throne by Vikrama-

dltya II, should have commenced his rule in A.D. 733 or 734, the date of the Western

Chalukya expedition in to the Pallava country. It is even possible that, not recognising

the claim or the interlude of Nandivarman, Skandasishya could have counted the com-

mencement of his reign from the death of Pallavadharaiyar in the battle field on the

outskirts of Kanchi before the coronation of Nandivarman. Anyway the difference will

not be much. His Rayakota Plates dated in the foufteenteenth year of his reign should

have been issued in A.D. 746-47. Then we have to take that he was ruling over the

Pallava kingdom almost through out the reign of the Western Chalukyas monarch

Vikramaditya II, and it was only after the death of the latter and the accession of Kirti-

varman II on the Western Chalukya throne when the disintegration of the Chalukya

kingdom set in that Nandivarman Pallavamalla was able to regain his throne.

If all the possibiltiies are accepted the question naturally arses as to what Pallava-

malla himself was doing all the years, say from A.D. 733 to 746-47. Considering the

prevailing political condition in south India and the Deccan during the period, it would

have been very difficult for Nandivarman to get any good support in his own kingdom.
The subsequent events only prove it.

The Udayendiram Plates mention that Nandivarman obtained victories over the

Sahara king Udayana, the Nishada chief called Prithivivyagra of the north -who tried to

perform an aivamedlia to celebrate his might, conquered Vishnuraja and annexed his

kingdom to his own in addition to inflicting a crushing defeat on the princes of the

Draraila country.^* All these are said to have happened in the first twenty years of his

reign. It has been seen earlier that for' nearly~fiftecn years after his coronation he had

to live practically outside’the Pallava kingdom and was not able even to set foot in it.’'’

During this period he appears to have had the support and backing of some foreign

power and this could have been none other than the Rashtrakutas who were just then'

emerging into political power in the Deccan and were within the ne.\t few years able to''

overthrow the Western Chaluk-yas (the common enemy both of themselves and the

Pallavas) and occupy their country. It is known that Dantidu-ga, the first king of the

Rashtrakuta dynasty also gained a victory over Udayana, who could be no other than the

Sahara chief conquered by Nandivarman. This Pallava prince married the Rashtrakuta
princess Reva, who was pi esumable a daughter of Dantidurga; and it was their son

18. SII, Vol. II, p. 368 and 372.

19. This would show that there was also a powerful section of the people in the kingdom who were
t strongly opposed to him.
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Dantivarman that succeeded Nandivarman on the Pallava throne. The Raslitrakuta

Danti is credited in the Begumara Plates of Govinda III with having reduced first the

lower most (i.e. the southern) country, then turned his attention to Madhyadesa and

finally conquered the city of Kanchi.-® The presence of Vairamegha who is again no

other than Dantidurga along with Nandivarman according to the Kadaba Plates^i

alluded to by the Vaishnava saint Tirumangai Alvar in his hymns on the deity of the

Ashta bhuja temple.-- The relationship of the Rashtrakutas with Nandivarman

throughout his long reign appears to have been cordial. We may not, therefore, be

wrong if we surmise that when Nandivarman immediately after his coronation was put to

flight by Vikramaditya II, he repaired to the court of the Rashtrakuta Dantidurga where

he lived for some years probably receiving training in statecraft and military sciences

and later regained the Pallava throne with the Rashtrakuta help. During the ^period

Skandasishya appears to have been in occupation of the Pallava throne and kingdom

with the help of Chalukya Vikramaditya II, though there could have been some internal

opposition to him.

20. Epi. Ind., Vol. IX. p. 24 v. 6.

21. Ibid.. Vol. IV, p. 334.

22. Mannman toridaiyar kon \apangiim nin mit^i niUlai vayirqmegau—Periya Tirumoii, II, ?. 10,



The Nolainba Pallavas : Their Origin

6

The Nolambas who figure largely in the inscriptions of south India of the ninth

and tenth centuries A.D. played, like the Banas, a very important, though subordinate

role in the history of the period. They claim descent from the Pallavas of Kanchi; but

the area over which they ruled does not lie in the Tondaimandalam or the Pallava

dominion proper in the Tamil country. They ruled over the Kannada region near the

border-land where the three languages of Kannada, Tamil and Tclugu meet. This area

known later on variously as Nojambapadi, Nojambarashtra, Nujambavadi, etc., a thirty-

two thousand country, comprised portions of the Anantapur District of the Andhra

Pradesh and of the Chitradruga and Tumkur Districts of the Karnataka State. This

area gradually expanded so as to include a major portion of the Bellary, Bangalore and

Kolar Districts also. Portions of the Salem and North Arcot Districts of Tamil

Nadu also appear to have been for some time under the rule of the Nojambas. But

originally the Nojambas appear to have started with a small tract of land known as

Nojambalge, a thousand country, situated in the modern Challakere taluk of the Chitra-

druga District, on the borders of the Rashtrakuta and Ganga territories. Like the other

names, Gangavadi, Rattapadi etc., this area also appears to have got its name
Nojambalge and Nojambapadi later on, as the country ruled over by the Nojambas.
But how the rulers who claimed descent from the Pallavas came to be known as the

Najambas is not clear. The origin of the name itself, which was variously written as

Nojamba, Nonamba, Nujamba, etc., is still a matter of conjecture and speculation.

One of the inscriptions^ recovered from Hemavati in the Sira taluk of the Tumkur
District in the Karnataka State dated in Saka 864 (A.D. 942) in the reign of the Nojamba
ruler Diliparasa contains the genealogy ol the rulers of his family. They are described

therein as belonging to the Isvara ramfa and as descended from Trinayana from whom
was bom Pallava, the king of Kanchi."

1. HC..Vol.xn.,Si.28.
2. Trinayana (lit. he with three eyes) is synonymous with Trilochana or Mukkanfi, the mythical

Pallava king, figuring in many Telugu inscriptions. But the Isvara-vomfu to which Trinayana
Pallava belonged is not mentioned elsewhere. One record from Nandalur (ARSIE,- No. 580 of 190^
actually traces Mukkanti-Kaduvetfi to the third eye of Siva (Isvara). The Pallavas of Kanchi
traced their descent from Vishnu, through Brahma and other puranic sages 'and persdniges likf

Bharadvaja, Droha, the MaJiqbliSrata hero ASvgthamanj ete,



Me nolAmba pallaVaS 43

' < ' Tlie,first icing of this family who is named therein as Mangala or Nolambadhiraja

is said to be a worshipper of the Goddess Chandika and to have conquered a Kirata

king, thus earning the praise of the Karnatas. No other details are known about him.

He was the sixth ancestor fgreat-grand-father’s great-grand-father) of Diliparasa to

whose time the inscription belongs Working backwards from the known date of Dilipa,

the first king Mangala may be assigned to the second half of the eighth century A.D.

No record has so far been recovered either on stone or copper which can definitely be

attributed to king Mangala. But records of his son and grandson who figure in the

inscriptions of the Western Gangas and Rashtrakutas are available.

The Hemavati inscription referred to above mentions Simhapota as the son and

successor of Mangala Nolambadhiraja. A herostone^ from Dodda Ulvarte in the Chal-

lakere taluk of the Chitradruga District records that when Permmanadigal was ruling

a new kingdom (tiavarajycm) Duggamara rose up and suddenly established himself by

force, on which Permmanadiga] ordered Singapota Kali Nojambadhiarasa to fight with

him (Duggamara), and that in tl.e battle which ensued a hero in the army of ^ingapota

felh Apparently Singapota Kali Nojambadhiarasa of the record is the same Singapota

mentioned as the son of Mangala in the Hemavati record, and Duggamara is the same
as Duggamara Ereyappa, one of the sons of the Western Ganga ruler Sripurusha. Even

during his father’s time Duggamara was ruling as governor under his lather over

Kuvalala nad Three hundred, Gangarusasira (Ganga six Thousand), Belattur nad,

Pulavakinad Thousand, etc. in the eastern part of the Ganga territory.^

'I

The identity of Perumanadigal on whose behalf and under whose orders Singa-

pota fought with Duggamara has not been satisfactorily settled. He is generally taken

as Sivamara II, surnamed Saigotta, another son of Sripurusha, who seems to have
succeeded his father on the Ganga throne as may be inferred on the authority of a stone

record® from Humcha which states that Sripurusha slew the valiant Kaduvetti of Kanchi
and appropriated to himself, from the Pallavas, the title Perminanadi. It is generally

considered that this title was from this time onwards exclusively used to denote the

Ganga kings and that the use of this title after the time of Sripurusha invariably denoted

the Ganga kings.®

The term Pemmdnadigal is an honorific title applied to the Divine Being especially

to Siva both in literature’^ and epigraphy® {Tiruvadigal being a similar title applied to

Vishnu). In inscriptions the teim is also used to denote kings. This term was used
by the Pallavas;® and the Cholas also were referred tb in their inscriptions as

3.

4.

5.

6 .

7.

8 .

9.

EC., Vol. XI , Ck. 8.

Ibid., VI, Kadur 145; Srinivasapur, 65, 57, etc.

Ibid.. Vm, Nagar 35.

Epi. Ind., Vol. XXII, p. 110 and n. 3, and p. 112. nrvY OV
Tevdram, Sambandhar, TU ukkadTivur Maydnant Piriya vidainiel

niSnadigale. Sec also commentary on the Takkaydga-p-parani, verse 323.

SII, Vol. Ill, No. 44; Vallatlii-t-timttikkdli-p-Perumdnadigalukku.

ARSIE, 17 of 1899; SII, Vol. VI, No. 453.

ii!*'a.anv

varm’di ararem Peru-
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SoXappcruinanadigalP The Humcha stone record slating that the Western Ganga king

Sripurusha snatched this title from the Pallavas is a very late one, nearly three centuries

later than the date of that ruler and contains many wrong statements. While many

other statements made in it are not accepted as correct for want of reliable evidence in

support of them, the statement regarding the appropriation of this title by him has,

however, been accepted without such evidence to support it. On the other hand there is

sufficient evidence to show that the title continued to be borne by the Pallavas even after

the days of Sripurusha. Pattattalmangalam Plates’^ dated in the sixty-first regnal year of

Nandivarman Pallavamalia (dren A.D. 794-95) bear clear evidence of the title having

been used by him then.

There is also one other valid objection to identify the Perumanadigal of the

Dodda Ulvarte record, the suzerain of the Nojamba chief Singapota, with the Western

Ganga king Sivamara Saigotta. The Manne^^ and Alnr>“ Plates of Marasimha I, the

son of Sivamara Saigotta issued while he was ymaraja, state that his father Sivamara

was invested with the crown by the two crowned kings, Pallava Nandivarman and

Rashtrakuta Govinda. The Pallava king was Nandivarman Pallavamalla and the

Rashtrakuta king was Govinda II, the latter of whom ascended the throne after his

father Krishna I, immediately after 772 A.D. and was reigning till he was set aside and

superseded by his younger brother Dhruva about 780 A.D. Thus the coronation of the

Western Ganga Sivamara II by the Pallava and Rashtrakuta kings should have been

performed between 772 and 780 A.D, Thus event would show that the Ganga ruler

owed some sort of allegiance to both of them. It has been seen earlier that Nandivar-

man Pallavamalla was using the title even after such coronation. It is very doubtful if

he would have allowed one who was his subordinate to use the title, said to have been

exclusively used by him earlier and was snatched from him in the meantime by the

father of the present subordinate. The Dodda Ulvarte record mentions the ruler merely

by the title Pernvnanadigal which may be taken as signifying simply His Majesty, without

the addition of his name.^'*

A record from Hemmigc*^ in the T. Narasipur Taluk of the Mysore District

registers a grant made during the period when Kongurii-Marajar (who has been identi-

fied with Sripurusa) was ruling the world {prithitvirajyajn keye) and Permmanadigal was
governing at Pemoge (i.e. Pemmoge or Hemmigc). This would show that Permma-
nadigal was different from Sripurusha and that he was his (Sripurusha’s) subordinate.

Another fragmentary record^' found in the Patalesvara temple at Talakad in the same

10. SII, Vol. m. No. 96.

11. Epi. Ind., Vol. XVni, p. 121, 11. 27-28.

12. EC, Vol. IX, Nl. 60.

13. MAR, 1924 . “By the ornaments of the Pallava and the Rashjrakula, the crowned Icings named
Govmdaraja and Nandivarma was his head wound round with a white piece of cloth (a symbol
of coronation) with their own hands".

14. Some later rules of the Ganga family are known to have borne the title along with their official

names like Satyavakya PernimPnadi . This title corrupted as Permadi and even as Paramadi was also

home by some later rulers of the Kannada country, like Vikramaditya VI of Kalyana, etc.
15. EC, Vol. XIV., Tn. 234; also MAR, 1912, p. 36
16. Ibid., Tn. 202.
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taluk inscribed in old Kannada characters makes one think that Permmanadi was the

name or title of Nolambadhiraja. Since the Nolambas also claimed Pallava descent it

is possible that they also were entitled to the use of the title Pemmamdigal.

Further the Dodda Ulvarte inscriptions states that Permmanadigal in whose time

it was issued was ruling the mxarajycnn. The term navarajyam would ordinarily mean a

new kingdom. It would not he appropriate if the ruler is identified with !§ivamara

Saigotta who is said to have succeeded his father on the Ganga throne. It may also be

that the term can only mean the rule of a person over an area which originally did not

form part of his kingdom or the rule of one who was not entitled to such a distinction,

but got it by force of circumstances.

One other instance of the use of this expression in inscriptions is known. A short

Kannada record^’ of four lines, of which the first three lines are highly damaged found

engraved in the temple locally known as the Ravana temple near the Brahmanical cave

at Aihole in the Bijapur district contains in the fourth line the expression Sri Amogha-

varsham navarajyain geye. This was originally translated by Fleet as “when the illustrious

Amoghavarsha was ruling again”. The concluding verse of the work Pra^mttararatna-

jnald or RatnamaUka, the authorship^® of which has been ascribed to the Rashtrakuta

king Amoghavarsha I says “that he laid aside the sovereignty through discrimination”

i.e. abdicated the throne and kingdom. It is well-known that Amoghavarsha, who
succeeded his father, when he was only a boy, had a very hard time in the early part of

bis reign in which he lost both his crown and country, and that he was able to regain

his throne only after the lapse of some time.^® The Rashtrakuta records say that he

reconquered his kingdom which had fallen off or tottered.-"

These historical events would show that Fleet’s rendering of the expression nma-

rajyam geye as ‘ruling again’ (after reconquest) suits the context."^

Under the circumstances the expression voYa-rajyam geye occurring in the Dodda
Ulvarte record would mean “ruling over the new kingdom” or “ruling over the king-

17. Ind. Ant., Vol. XX, pp. 113-14.

18. On the authorship of the book see JBBRAS, Vol. XXII, pp. 80ff.

19. Altekar A.S.. The Raslitrakutas and their Times, pp. 72-73.

20. £pi./Krf..Vol.I,pp. 53-54.

21. But subsequently on reconsideration he gave it up and revised his interpretation; see Bomb.Gaz.,
Vol, I, Pt. ii, p. 403, n. 3. He thought that the term navarajyam might be the same as nava-khanda-

prithivi i e. the earth as composed of nine parts But he was not sure what the nine parts were.

He was doubtful whether they could be ‘the eight principal points of the compass and the macihyama
khanda or central division, but was more inclined to take it as "referring to some nine kingdoms,
which it was customary to group together” even though he was not able to determine what those
nine kingdoms were. Anyway he was inclined to take the expression nava'-ajyain geya as simply
equivalent to the ordinary expression pr///n’/rayramg'e^’fl though he realised at the same time that
the expression in this meaning would be an exceptional one B V. Krishna Rao equates na\a-
ktmn{la-rrt]}a or simply im\ar(}jya with the Konkan, cf. Early Dynasties ofAndhradesa, p. 171.
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dom again”. Either way it is appropriate only ,to the contemporary Pallava ruler,

Nandivarman II and not to the Western Ganga Sivamara 11 “ This is further proved

by the Udayendiram Plates dated in the twenty-first regnal year of Napdivarman

Pallavamalla which gave a graphic account of his long and difficult campaign against his

enemies and the services rendered to him by his general Udayachandra,
, the ,lord of

Vilvalapura. The Plates say that Udayachandra slew with his sharp sword the Pallava

king Chitaramaya and others, defeated the hostile army on the battle field and “thus

bestowed the whole kingdom many times on the Pallava”, proving thereby that the rule

of Nandivarman II was elipsed for a time in the early part of his reign. , But after he

was firmly established on the throne, he seems to have taken revenge on his erstwhile

enemies and expanded his kingdom and thus increased his reputation. The Tapdantol-

tam Plates"® dated in his fifty-eighth regnal year state that he inflicted a crushing defeat

on the Ganga king and took from him a neck ornament which contained
^
in

,
it a gem

called ugrodaya. It has been seen earlier that Sivaraara II was a protege of the Pallava.

As sueh the Ganga king conquered by Nandivarman II could only be Sripurusha, father

of Sivamara. Sripurusha, who came to the Ganga throne earlier than Nandivarman II

and also had a very long reign, is known to have fought with the Pallavas and gained

victory in the early part of the reign of Nandivarman. But the incident mentioned in

the Tandantottam Plates should have taken place later. It is very likely that at the end

of the battle Sripurusha had, in addition to acknowledging tha suzerainty of the Pallavas,-

also to cede to the Pallava king a portion of his territory in the eastern province and

contiguous to the western part of the Pallava dominion. This was probably how the

Pallava might have come to rule over a portion of the Ganga country.

This would show that Singapota Kali Nojambadhiraja was a subordinate of the

Pallava ruler Nandivarman II Pallavamalla. This surmise is strengthened and corrobo-

rated by some other pieces of epigraphical evidence. Singapota is mentioned in an

inscription®* found on a stone pillar at Chikkamadhurc in the Challakere taluk dated in

the reign of the Rashtrakuta king Prabhutavarsha Jagattunga Pratapavaloka. Both
Govinda II and Govinda III had the title Prabhutavarsha; but since another inscription®®

mentions the Rashtrakuta as the son of Akala (varsha) Prilhivivallabha (i.c.) Krishna I

we have to identify the Prabhutavarsha Jagattunga of these records wth Govinda II as

we know that Govinda III was the son of Dharavarsha Dhruva. This is quite in

keeping with the known information that Rashtrakuta Govinda II and Pallava Nandi-
varman II were friends and both of them joined together and crowned Ganga
Sivamara II Saigotta. The two Chikkamadhure records register gifts to a §iva temple
constructed by the queen of ^ingapota, one by Paramesvara Pallavadhiraja, the_ son of
Singapota and the other by Pallavamalla, the son of the above Paramesvara Pallavadhi-
raja and grandson of Singapota. The records mention the prince as ruling over some
provinces or districts as governor. Nolambalige Thousand and Nirgunda Three Hundred
were under the rule of Pallavadhiraja.

22. sn, Vol, n, pt. HI, No. 74.

23. IbitL. Vol. II, pt. V. No. 99.

24. fC, Vol. XI, Ck. 33.

25. JAM., Cl. 34. The actual words used are : Anala .pnthimallabha S^arasya putreja.
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The historical inscription^® explaining the sculptured panels in the Vaikuntha

Perumal temple at Kanchipuram depicting the coronation of Nandivarman Pallavamalla

mentions Paramesvara as the personal name of Nandivarman 11 who had also the

distinguishing epithet of Pallavamalla. The son and grandson of Singapota bearing the

names of Paramesvara and Pallavamalla respectively testify that they owed allegiance to

the Pallava king Nandivarman II Pallavamalla. Again the undated Ganjam Plates-’ of

the time of Sri Marasimha-ereyappa-Lokatrinetra, son of Sivamara II Saigotta which

has been assigned to circa 800 A.D. registers the grant of the village of Tipperur to a

Brahmana by the Nolamba ruler Kali Nolambadhiraja Kolliarasa along with his son

who is named therein as a true Rama and a Nayadhira. It is well-known that

Nayadliira was one of the titles of Nandivarman Pallavamalla. The Kasakkudi Plates^®

dated in his twenty-second regnal year mentions nayadhira as one of his titles and the

Pullur Plates®® dated in his thirty-third regnal year register the grant to one hundred and

eight Brahmanas of four villages clubbed together and renamed Nayadhiramangalam

after his own name. It will be evident that the son of the Nolamba ruler Kali Nojamba
Kolliarasa was named Nayadhira after the Pallava ruler Nandivarman II.

The Ghikkamadhure inscriptions referred to above show that Singapota had then

a grandson old enough to be in administrative charge and was ruling over a portion of

the territory as governor, and also a daughter who was the mother of the queen of Perm-

manadigal (i.e., one of his daughter’s daughter, grand-daughter). So Singapota should

have been an aged man by that time. It may therefore be presumed that Mangala

Nolambadhiraja, the father of Singapota and the first ruler of the Nblamba Pallava

line should have begun his rule round about 750 A.D.
*•**'!*'

,
>

These Pallava princes of the Nolamba line bearing the name and titles of Pallava-

malla' of the main line could not be regarded as due to mere family connection between

them but due to their subordinationHb,' and acknowledgement of, the suzerainty of

Pallavamalla also.
• r j

When we hear of the Nolamba Pallavas for the first time, the ruler of the main

tine of the Pallavas at Kanchipuram was Nandivarman II. He was not the direct heir

to' his immediate predecessor Paramesvaravarman II but belonged to a collateral branch

and was six generations removed from him. He was chosen king by an influential

section of the people and at that time he was only twelve years of age. According to

the label inscriptions in the Vaikuntha Perumal temple mentioned above he was then

living in a place far away from Kanchi and came to the capital for his installation as

king, passing through on the way many mountains, rivers and thick forests. It is not

even known whether the place where this junior branch of the Pallava line was residing

26.

' SU, Vol. IV. No. 135; Minakshi, Historical Sculptures of the Vaikuntaperumal temple, Kanchi, MASI
No. 63, by C. Minakshi, Ap. I, pp. 54-55.

27. EC, Vol. rV, Sr. l60.

28. OT, Vol. n, No. 73. '
- -

29. C.P. No. 9 of 1939^0; 1939-40 to 1942-43 para 59 . .
-
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was within the Pallava kingdom itself or outside it. Any way it could not have been the

Nolamba country, as the Nojambas appear to have come into existence and begun the

rule over the territory only in the reign of Nandivarman IT.

Nandivarman Pallavamalla was the youngest of the four sons Hiranyavarman, the

three brothers elder to him being ^rimalla, Ranamalla and Sangramamalla. According

to the Vaikuntha Perumal temple inscriptions each of the three brothers excused himself

when the father offered to them the Pallava crown on behalf of tlie visiting represen-

tatives of the kingdom and when the youngest of them Paramesvaravarman was crowned

Pallava king as Nandivarman. It is not known what happened to the father and the

brothers though it is possible that the father also could have followed his son and ruled

over it obviously as regent during his minority as may be surmised from the tenor of the

Pattattalmangalam PJates. Any way the Nojambas do not appear to have been in any

manner directly related to them by blood, for in such a case they would not have

traced their genealogy from Mangala, or their first ruler, but would have carried it back

by at least a few moie generations and would have tried to link it up with Nandivarman

Pallavamalla or his father Hiranyavarman. Nor can it be taken that Mangala was a son

or grandson of one of the three brothers of Nandivarman Pallavamalla. If that be so,

Pallavamalla figuring in the Chikkamadhure inscription of the time of Rashtrakuta

Govinda II referred to earlier as the grandson Singapota would have to be taken as the

grandson’s grandson of a brother of Nandivarman Pallavamalla. This cannot be possible,

for in that case, it would create chronological difficulties. The other statement contained
in those inscriptions that the daughter’s daughter of ^ingapota was a queen of Permma-
nadigal has been referred to obovc. This also would be impossible in such a case. •

Besides, the position of Nandivarman Pallavamalla in the early years of his reign

has also to be taken into account. He had much difficulty in maintaining his position

against heavy odds, being opposed both within his kingdom as also from outside; and
he seems to have lost his hold on the kingdom for some time. The Western Chalukyas
of Vatapi were the inveterate enemies of Nandivarman and opposed him from the very

beginning of his reign. Kirttivarman II who, even as Yuvaraja conducted an expedition
against Kanchi and drove out Pallavamalla was on the Chalukya throne. Under such
circumstances the Pallava king would not have made aggressions on the neighbouring
kingdoms, appropriated a portion of their territory and appointed a protege of his to

rule over the area. ,

On the other hand, Mangala the first Nolamba king is said to have conquered a
Kirata king and earned the praise of the Kamatas. This would show that he was a

subordinate of the Karnatas, who were obviously the Western Chalukyas of Vatapi, and
was made ruler of the area by them. This establishment of a small principality under a
branch of the Pallavas on the outskirts of the Pallava kingdom by the Kamatakas was
apparently made only as a countermove and in rivalry to the accession and rule of
Nandivarman Pallavamalla at Kanchi.

I

One of the label inscriptions in the Vaikunthaperumal temple states tliat a Palla-

vadi Araiyan opposed with a large army Pallavamalla \vhile on his way to Kanchipuram
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for his coronation, and in the course of the fight on the outskirts of the capital he

died, after killing many elephants.^® Evidently he was already in the occupation of a

portion, if not the whole of the Pallava kingdom and possibly also of its capital. On

hearing of the victory and coronation of Pallavamalla the Western Chalukya Vikrama-

ditya II,who had just then succeeded his father on the throne, immediately invaded Kanchi

to avenge the death of his protege, captured it and forced Pallavamalla to flee the capital.

Chitramaya, another Pallava prince became king, probably installed on the throne by

the Western Chalukya king; but later while besieging Pallavamalla in the fort of

Nandipura was killed by the Pallava general Udayachandra. These two Pallava princes

jvho apparently belonged to the main line of Simhavishnu, were probably grandsons of

Rajasimha II and thus natural claimants to the throne. The existence of some princes

of the Pallava lineage is evident from the Hellegere grant dated §aka 635 (713—14 A.D.)

corresponding to the thirty-fourth regnal year of the Western Ganga King iSivamara I

,
which mentions two Princes Jaya Pallavadhiraja and Vriddhi Pallavadhiraja, the two dear

sons of Pallava Yitvaraja?^ The Pallava king of the time was Narasimha, and the

Ynmraja mentioned in the inscription was obviously one of his two sons, Mahendra-

varman III and Paramesvaravarman JI.

Again the DevarahalU Plates dated in §aka 698 (A.D. 766) and in the fiftieth year

of Sripurusha registers a grant for a .Jaina temple erected by a Kandachchi, grand-

daughter of Pallavadhiraja and wife of Paramagula, the Nirggundaraja who appears to

have belonged to a junior branch of (he Gangas.®* From these it becomes evident that

there were a few Pallava- princes outside the Pallava kingdom itself and were designated

;Pallavadhirajas. They were friendly with the Western Gangas, and through them with

the Western Chalukyas. They appear to have had the sympathy and support of the

Western Chalukyas as against the Nandivarman Pallavamalla. Foiled in their attempt

to prevent the accession of Nandivarman they apparently retired to the Karnataka area

to bide their time.

Mention has been made earlier that according to the Tandantottam Plates Nandi-
varman Pallavamalla defeated the Ganga king who was obviously Sripurusha and took
from him a neck ornament which contained in it the gem called Ugrodaya. Sripurusha
would then, besides acknowledging the supremacy of the Pallava king have ceded to

him a portion of the eastern part of his empire which was probably ruled over by the
Nojambas; and the Nolamba ruler became a subordinate of the Pallava king. Singapota
the Nojamba feudatory of Nandivarman Pallavamalla, began to owe allegiance to his

new master and in proof ot that named his son and grandson after his master. It was
probably under such conditions that the Nojamba Pallavas in whose vein was running
Pallava blood originated as a dynasty of rulers.

30. Sn, Vol. IV, No. 135.

-31. £C. Vol. m, Md. 113.

32. /Wrf., IV, No. 55.



Problems in Later Pallava Chronology and Genealogy

The period between the exit of Paramesvaravarman II of the main line of the

Pallavas from the political scene and the accession of Chola Parantaka in the ninth

century, running roughly to about two hundred and twenty-five years, witnessed the

spectacle of a relatively little known collateral branch of the Pallavas attempting to

uphold the hegemony of the main branch and continue their work in war and peace.

Apart from the coming to power of this family in Tondaimandalam the period also saw

the ushering in of a new political climate in the whole of south India. It was during

this period that the Western Chalukyas of Vatapi disappeared from the scene yielding

place to the emerging Rashtrakutas. It was again during this period that the Pandyas

of the first empire rose into prominence in the extreme south of the peninsula and the

Nolambas who claimed descent from the Pallava family established themselves in parts

of the present Karnataka State. The rise of such new powers with the common ambi-

tion of expansion among them inevitably necessitated frequent wars in which they were

amply assisted by their feudatories and subordinates. In such enterprises the Pallavas

of Kanchi naturally played a conspicuous part not only because they occupied a central

position in the geography of the Peninsula but they had also a hoary tradition and a

great part which they had to uphold and continue The history of the later Pallavas is

thus really a story of challenges and responses and they, barring a few occasional phases

of showdowns, have to their credit a commendable work. The first among the later

Pallavas, Nandivarman II Pallavamalla, revived the practice of giving regnal years in

inscriptions, a practice that had been given up by his immediate predecessors and this

helps considerably in working out their chronology; and yet their chronology is still

not finally settled. An attempt is made here to examine the later Pallava chronology

and genealogy against the background of which the political and cultural achievements

of the dynasty alone can be appreciably recounted.

Till the discovery of the Ulcala Stone Inscription^ dated in the thirty-fifth regnal

year of the Chalukya ruler Vijayaditya corresponding to 730-31 A.D. testifying to the

1. Ancient India, No. 5, p. 54,
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defeat of the Pallava ruler Paramesvaravarman II at the hands of the former, the date

of the accession of Nandivarman II Pallavamalla was unsettled.^ The above inscription

makes it obvious that the earliest possible date for Nandivarman’s accession is 731 A.D.

The Narwan Plates® dated in Saka 664 (expired) and the eighth regnal year of the

Chalukya king Vikramaditya II corresponding to A.D. 741-42 and thereby indicating

that he ascended the throne in 733-34 A.D. aver that immediately on his coronation,

being resolved to uproot completely his natural enemy (prakrtyamiti'a i.e., the Pallava)

he invaded the Tundakavishaya and defeated the opposing Pallava king Nandipottavarman.

The same details are referred to in the Vakkaleri* and Kendur® Plates of his successor

Kirlivarman 11. It is thus clear from these pieces of Chalukya evidence that the Pallava

king in 733-34 A.D. was Nandivarman II Pallavamalla. The upper and lower limits for

the date of the accession of Nandivarman 11, i.e. between 731 and 733-34 A.D. is thus

clearly obtained. As the exact reign period of Paramesvaravarman JI is unknown and

as no inscription bearing a date later than his third regnal year has so far been found it

does not seem to be unreasonable to take that 731 A.D., the year of his subjugation by

the Chalukyas, was his last year and in the same year Nandivarman II succeedeci him.®

That his reign extended to atleast sixty-five years is evident from his Mamallapuram
inscription’' and in the absence of any of his records beyond that it is generally taken

that his reign terminated in 796 A.D.
, ,

His son Dantivarman who succeeded him in the same year has inscriptions ’dated

up to his fifty-first year®, thus yielding 846 A.D. as the probable last year of that ruler

and the initial year of his successor Nandivarman III. The last regnal year of Nandi-

varman III, in the absence of any positive evidence has to be determined by the date of

the accession of his son and successor, Nripatunga. An inscription from Tiruchchin-

nampundi in the Thanjavur district dated in the twenty-second year of Nripatunga men-

tions some astronomical details, viz., Dliamis, Jyestha and Friday® the equivalent of which

has been found by the editor of the inscription to be 867 A.D. yielding 845 A.D. as the

date of Nripatunga’s accession.^" But subsequent studies have proved that in 845 A D.

2. J. Dubreuil, after considering various factors and known events concluded thai his accession must
have taken place in 717 A D. (The Pallmas, pp. 60-66); Gopalan thought that it was in 710 A D.
{The PaUa\as of Kanchi, p. 119); N. Venkatramanayya felt that it could not have been earlier than
725 A.D. {JOR, 1934, p. I); M S. Sarma suggested 727 A.D. {Ibid., DC, p. 219); K.V. Subramania
Aiyar pushed it back to 695 A D, {Historical Sketches'ofAncient Deccan)-, and R. Satyanatheir gives

, 710 A.D. for his accession. (History and Culture of the Indian People, Vol. Ill, The Classical

^

Age, p. 282). ‘

3.

'
Epi. Ind., XXVII, p. 125 ff.

‘

4. Ibid., V. pp. 200 £f.

5. 7Wd„ IX, pp. 200-207. ' •

6. ARSIE, 666 ol mZ. ' '

7. On the authority of his interpretation of the Mallam inscription of Nandipottarasar, D C. Sircar

fixes the date of the accession of Nandivarman II in 730 A.D. (History and Culture of the Indian'

People, The Classical Age, Vol. HI, p. 282). But his interpretation faf the contents of the inscription,

requires revision; also TASSI, 1959-60, pp. 17-27.
,

8.

' ARSIE, 262 of 1940; SII, XII, No. 43. ...
9. SH, VII, No. 528.

10. Ibid,, Introduction
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the Pallava ruler was Dantivarman and therefore Nripatunga must have succeeded to the

throne only later. Recently K.R. Srinivasan has suggested that as the astronomical

details mentioned above also work out correctly to 881 A.D. the year 859 A.D. must be

the date of his accession.^^ Srinivasan’s scheme of chronology depends on his scheme

of geneology for he believes that Nandivarman III, son and successor of Dantivarman

was different from Tejjarrerinda Nandivarman, hero of the Tamil work Nandikkalomba-

kam and this latter must be a Nandivarman IV and flourished in the tenth ccntury.*-

This could not have been so and Nandivarman III and Tejjarrerinda Nandivarman must

be identical. As we have seen above Nandivarman II must have started his reign in 846

A.D. and hence Srinivasan’s contention that his successor Nripatunga ascended the

throne in 859 A.D. is untenable because the regnal years furnished in the inscriptions of

Nandivarman III (Tellarrerinda Nandi) indicate that he should have reigned at least

upto 869 A.D. It is interesting to note that the astronomieal details given in the Tiru-

chchinnampundi inscription work out correctly also to 891 A.D. yielding 869 A.D. as

the date of Nripatunga’s accession. As 869 A.D. is also the last known year of Nandi-

vafman III it is quite probable that he died in that year and was succeeded by

Nripatunga.

The problem of the chronology of the last three Pallava rulers—Nripatunga,

Aparajita and Kampavarman—is a vexed and knotty one. From the Bahur Plates of

Nripatunga it is clear that he was the son of Nandivarman III while two lithic records,

one from Solavaram’* and the other from Paliikopda'^* in the North Arcot district

respectively mention Nandikampe^vara and Nandikampachaturvedimangalam from which

it is possible to infer that Kampavarman was also a son of Nandivarman III (The

analogy of Danti-NandP® and Arinjaya-Pirantaka*' may be recalled here*’). While

Nripatunga appears to have succeeded Nandivarman III at his death Kampavarman had

probably a sort of joint suzerainty over the kingdom. Aparajitavarman whose inscrip-

tions range till his eighteenth regnal year was probably a step brother of Nripatunga
and born to Nandivarman by his queen Marambavai who is mentioned as the wife of

Nandivarman Kadupattigal in more than one inscription. He appears to have struck at

the reigning king by about 895 A.D. in the battle of Sripurambiyam and brought the

kingdom under himself with Ganga and possibly also Chola help. Nothing is heard of

Nripatunga after this battle until his forty-first year.

Among other things the Bahur Plates refer to Nripatunga’s triumph over the

confederation of enemies on the banks of the river Arichit. This river is identified with

11. Cave Temples ofthe Pallavas, p. 13.

12. /6W., pp. ]l-12and 18.

13. ARSIE, ol mi.
14. Ibid., 463 and 473 of 1925.

15. Ibid., 88 of 1910 and 529 of 1905; SII, XII, No. 48.

16. /5W., 572 of 1920.

17. Epi.Ind., XX, pp. 148-49. K.V. Subrahmanya Aiyar has even postulated that Nandivarman III
might have married a daughter of Kambha {Stambhd), the eldest son of Rashtrakuta Dhruva and
that the name Kampavarman might have been derived from Kambha, the maternal grand-father of

'

Kampavarman, as in the case of Nripatunga who was named after his maternal grand-father.
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Arisilj a branch of the Kaveri which enters tlie sea near Karaikkal. The enemies whom
Nfipatunga faced on its banks could only have been the Cholas because the battle field

was in the heart of the Chola country and other powers in south India were on

amicable terms with him. The Chola ruler could only have been Vijayalaya or Aditya.

Epigraphs of Nripatunga dated in his second year at Lalgudi^® and seventh year at

NarltamalaE® indicate that his sway extended as far south as the Pudukkottai area in

876 A.D. It is not unlikely that the Cholas were subjugated by the Pallavas and Pandyas

allied together and that their country was occupied by both. Inscriptions of

Maranjadaiyan identifiable with Varaguna II have been found at Aduturai”” (870 A.D.)

Kumbakonam^i (870 A.D.), Tiruchchirrambalam- (878 A.D.), etc. pointing to this. It

is, however, noteworthy that no inscription of Nripatunga ranging between his seventh

and twenty-first years have been found in the Chola country. It is, therefore, likely that

after 878 A.D., the date of the Tiruchchirrambalam inscription of Varaguna II, Aditya

might have recovered and slowly become powerful.

The years immediately following 890 A.D. formed a crucial spoch in |the history

of both the Pallava and Chola dynasties. Inscriptions of Nripatunga dated in his twenty-

first year at Kandiyur-^ twenty-second year at Tiruchchinnampundi,^'* twenty-third year

at Lalgudi-® and twenty-second and twenty-fourth years at TirukkodikkavaP® have been

found and these reveal his renewed sway over the Chola country after an interval of

ab'out fourteen years. Surprisingly an inscription refers to the presence of Aditya in the

Pallava kingdom during the same period. A record of Uttamachola from Tirumalpuram
in the North Arcot district mentions a grant made in the twenty-first year of

Tondaimanarrurttunjina Udaiyar, i.e. Aditya®’. The date of the accession of Aditya has

been unequivocally fixed at 871 A.D. on the basis of the astronomical details provided

in an inscription from Takkolam dated in the twenty-fourth year of Aditya®®. Hence the

twenty-first year of Aditya must be 892 A.D. Again another inscription from Takkolam
dated in the twent5'-first year of Aditya, i.e. 892 A.D. calls that place Aparajitachaturvedi-

mangalam®® and this may be taken to indicate that Aparajita has also become powerful

by this time and probably allied himself with Aditya in his bid for the Pallaya throne.

But inscriptions of Nripatunga are to be found till 894 A.D. in the Chola country and
895 A.D. in Tondaimandalam. This clearly indicates that the times were not quite

peaceful and that there were frequent instructions by both the Pallavas and Cholas in

each other’s territories.

18. ARSIE, 122 of 1928-29; SIT, XII, No. 61.

19. Ibid., 365 of 1904; SII, XII, No. 63.

20. /iW., 358 of 1907.

21. /6W., 413 of 1908.

22.

' Ibid., 185 of 1926.

23. OT.V.No. 572.

24. Ibid., VII, Nos. 521 and 522.

25. /6/rf.,IV, Nos. 531.

26. Ibid., XII, Nos. 74 and 76.

27. Ibid., Ill, No. 142.

28. Ibid., V, No. 1368; also Epi. Ind., XIX, p. 85.

29. Ibid

,

XIII, No. 294.
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Two herostoiie inscriptions from Ambur in the North Arcot district dated in the

twenty-sixth year of Nripatunga (i e. 895 A.D.) refer to a Nolamba attack on that place’”

in which a Prithivigangaraiyai’^ fought on the side of the Pallava. The Nolamba attack

on the Pallava kingdom in the last year of Nripatunga prior to his re-emergence in

about his forty-first year seems to be significant. It is known that the Nolambas aided

the Gangas in their attack on the Pallava kingdom during the reign ot Nandivarman HI

and a Nolamba chief claims to have extended his conquest as far as Kanchipuram.”” It

is quite probable that the Nolamba disturbance was not an isolated event and they aided

Aparajita along with the Cholas in his attempt to obtain the crown. That the Gangas'

were also on the side of Aparajita is clear from the Udayendiram Plates of Prithivipati II.’”

A verse in the piaSasti portion of the Plates states that ‘At the head of the great

battle of Sripurambiyam, this hero (i.e., Prithivipati I) quickly defeated Varaguna, the

Lord of the Pandyas; and having, at the expense of his own life secured that his friend

was Aparajita (unconqueredj in fact as in name he ascended to heaven.®*

The first regnal year of Aparajita must be the very year in which the battle of.

Sripurambiyam was fought. It must have been fought only during the year 895 A.D.

as we know from the Ambur inscriptions that in that year Nripatunga was the reigning

king and not Aparajita. An inscription of Prithvipati II, the grandson of Prithvipati I,

from Takkolam is dated in the twenty-fourth year of Aditya corresponding to 895 A.D.

and this points to the fact that Prithivipati I was no more then and Prithivipati II was the

reigning king. It is, therefore, certain that the battle of Sripurambiyam in which

Prithivipati I died took place in 895 A.D.

From the Udayendiram Plates it is clear that Aparajita and Prithivipati I fought

against Pandya Varaguna. Varaguna was always in league with Nripatunga and his

defeat at Sripurambiyam by Aparajita make us infer that the very battle was fought to

dethrone Nripatunga who was naturally assisted by Varaguna or more likely Nripatunga

was dethroned in 895 A.D. and this was resisted by Varaguna who was vanquished in

the battle. Much about this battle is not known and it is mentioned only in the

Udayendiram Plates of Prithivipati II. Nothing is known of Nripatunga after the battle

till his forty-first year. Probably he was taking shelter under a favourable king or

had reconciled himself to the position of a subordinate to Aparajita.

Aparajita, who must have become the master of the Pallava kingdom in 895 A.D.
ruled for at least eighteen years, i.e.. till 913 A.D. But his sway does not appear to have >

30. Epi. Ind., IV, pp. 180 fif.

31. The Prithivigangaraiyar who is said in the Ambur records to have fought on the side of the Pallava

is generally identified with Prithivipati I, a Ganga ruler of a collateral branch. Recent studies Iiave

shown that the Prithivigangaraiyar was borne by all the chiefs of Pangalanadu in succession (See^

Epi. Ind., XXXIII, pp 23-26). Pangalanadu comprised parts of the modern North Arcot district

and inscriptions found in this area mentioning Pritbivigangaraiyars may be taken to be those of the

chiefs of Pangalanadu rather than Prithivipatis of the Ganga line.

32. ARSIE, 5SS of mz.
33. S'//, II, pp. 375 fir.

34. ARS/E, 337 of 1912; also SI/. No. 76, v. 18.
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"extended beyond the southern fringes of Tondaimandalam as his inscriptions are found

mostly only in the northern parts of the Chingleput district. That the Chola power and

influence were considerable in Tondaimandalam during the reign of Aparajita is apparent

from several inscriptions of Aditya dated in his own regnal years.

The Kanyakumari inscription of Virarajendra®^ states that the Chola king Aditya

'killed a Pallava ruler in battle and the Tiruvalangadu Plates of Rajendra Chola^® state

tliat Aditya fought against Aparajita. These two statements have been reconciled by

scholars holding that Aditya killed Aparajita in battle. There is no evidence to the last

"year of Adilya except the fact that the initial year of his successor Parantaka was

907 A.D.®’ This, however, does not necessarily mean that Aditya must have died in that

year.. In Chola history joint rule by father and son are not infrequent. The gilding of

the Chidambaram temple, the conquest ' of the Kongu country, the success over the

Pallava king are some of the achievements claimed for both Aditya and Parantaka both

in epigraphy and literature. It is, therefore, not unlikely that they ruled together for

sometime and that Adilya’s last year might not have been before 913 A.D., the last year

of Aparajita who is said to have been killed by him.

Nripatunga probably took advantage of the difflculties of Aparajita in his last

years and started slowly regaining power again. His Mathavalam inscription®® points

to his presence in 910 A.D. But he must have died soon after as he was already old and
nothing about him is known further.

Inscriptions of Kampavarman range from his second to thirty-second years and
it has been seen above that he was one of the sonj of Nandivarman HI and a brother of
Nripatunga. Obviously, therefore, he must have flourished only in the later half of the

ninth century. A recent writer, however, has attempted to show that he ascended the

.throne in 948 A.D. and
^

his reign extended .till 980 A.D.®” This would make him a

contemporary of the Chola rulers from Parantaka to Ultama Chola and it is very doubtful
whether the Pallavas continued to rule till late in the tenth century. The basic arguments
on which the whole theory that Kampavarman ascended the throne in 948 A.D. stands

may be stated before being examined.
1

The Madras Museum Plates of Uttama Chola dated in his sixteenth year equi-

valent to 984-85 A.D. mention a gift made in the nineth year of Kampavarman and this

is preceded by the mention of another gift made in the twenty-second year of
Parakesarivarman identified with Parantaka^®. It has been taken that these are in chro-

• nological order and hence held that the nineth year of Kampavarman should be after

35. i>/./,<XVIir,p.'42, 1'.49.
^

36. Sri, III, No. 205, V. 49.

37. Epi. Inc)., VIII, p. 260.

38. ARSrE, 138 of 1943-44.

39. South Indian Temple Inscriptions, Vol. Ill, Part-I, pp. IxXxvi to Ixxxix.

40. SIT, in. No. 128,
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•the twenty-second year of Parantaka, viz., 928-29 A.D. This would mean that. the

accession of Kampavarman must have taken place after 928-29 A.D. and before .the

date of the issue of the Madras Museum Plates, viz., 984-85 A.D. This has been

narrowed further by a study of a few inscription from Solavaram. An inscription from

that place dated in the eighth year of Kampavarman mentions the construction of a

Siva temple and sepulchral shring by Rajaditya Mahadeva as a memorial to Jiis father

Prithivigangaraiyar.« The mutilated Sanskrit portion of this inscription gives the

genealogy of this family and mentions an Attivarman. Another inscription from the

same place dated §aka 871 (949 A.D.) mentions the construction of a tank in memory of

a certain Kalli-Nangai, daughter of Attimalla alias Kannaradeva Prithivigangaraiyar, son

of Vayiri Adigan of Pangalanadu.^= It has been taken that Attivarman and Attimalla

referred to in the above two inscriptions are identical. Another record from the same

place reveals that Attimalla alias Prithivigangaraiyar was alive at least till 9-3 A.D. As

he was dead by the eighth year of Kampavarman as is evident from Rajaditya

Maliadeva’s construction of a Paljippadai for him it may be inferred that the accession

of Kampavarman must have taken place between 945 A.D. and 953 A.D. The inscription

from Solavaram dated Saka 871 (949 A.D.) referred to above is also dated in the second

year of an unspecified king This unspecified king was probably Kampavarman as the

date of the other contemporary kings do not tally with this. Consequently he must have

ascended the throne in 948 A.D.'*^

This date for Kampavarman arrived at by a painstaking study of several

inscriptions is however unsatisfactory because we know that he was the son of

Nandivarman and no Nandivarman is heard of in the first half of the tenth century.

Therefore he must have been only the son of Nandivarman III, the victor at Tellaru.

Further the above arguments suggesting 948 A.D. as the date of his accession are also

not very convincing. In the first place the transactions mentioned in the Madras
Museum Plates of Uttama Chola are “confusing and it is difilcult to take them in

chronological order”. Again the identification of Attivarman who is simply mentioned
as born in the line of Madhava with Attimalla the son of Vayiri Adiyan and a

subordinate of Kannaradeva on which the whole theory is based is very doubtful.

Mention may be made in this connection of an inscription from Tippasamudram
in the Vellore taluk of the North Arcot district dated in the seventeenth year of

Kampavarman mentioning the digging of a channel called Vilupperaraiyan at

Valivalakkamangalam by Prithivigangaraiyar who is called innaduejaiya meaning the

‘chief of this Jiadu'.*^ This nadu could only refer to the nadu in which findspot of the

inscription was. The modern Polur and Vellore taluks of the North Arcot District are

referred to in several inscriptions as Pangalanadu and therefore Prithivigangaraiyar of

the Tippasamudram inscription could only the chief of Pangajanadu.

41. Epi. Ind., VII, p. 193.

42. Ibid., p. 195.

43. South Indian Temple Inscriptions, III, PI. I, pp. Ixxxvi-lxxxix.

44 . ARSIE, 174 of 1939-40; Epi. Ind., XXXIII, pp. 23-26,
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Wo have seen above that one of the inscriptions from Solavaram dated in the

eighth year of Kampavarman mentions the consti notion of a §:v'a temple and a sepvlchra)

shrine by Rajaditya Mahadeva in memory of his
,
father. Hultzch who edited this

inscription has taken Rajaditya to be the name of the person and Mahadeva to mean

'the great king’. But instances like Danti-Nandi, Nandi-Kampa, Arinjigai-

Pirantakadeva, etc., indicating that the son prefixed his father’s name to that of his own

warrant the conclusion that Mahadeva who built the sepulchral .shrine for his father wa.s

the son of Rajadilyan who is called Prithivigangaraiyan. The chief in theTippasamudram

inscription is also called Prithivigangaraiyar and considering the fact that there was only

a short interval of nine years between the dates of the Solavaram and Tippasamudram.

inscriptions, both dated in the years of Kampavarman, it is possible to identify

Mahadeva of the Solavaram record with Prithivigangaraiyar of the Tippasamudram

record.^'’ Prithivigangaraiyar of the Tippasamudram record could not be Rajaditya who
was already dead in the eiglith year of Kampavarman. It then follows that Prithivigan-

garaiyar was a dynastic title and was borne by all the members of the family. This is

proved by a few other inscriptions also.

An inscription from Tiruppallanam in the Thanjavur district dated in the twenty-

second year of a Rajakesarivarman identified with Aditya mentions a Mahadeva as the

father of Gangamarttandar alias Sembiyan Prithivigangaraiyar.^** Another inscription

from Mappalur in the North Arcot district dated in the eighth year of Parakesarivarman

identified with Parantaka refers to one Kamadigal the son of Madevar of Pangalanadu.^’

Yet another record from Tiruppallanam dated in Parantaka’s eleventh year, another

son of Mahadeva is mentioned as Prithivigangaraiyar.^® This Mahadeva who is

explicitly called the chief of Pangalanadu must therefore be identical with Mahadeva, son

of Rajaditya of the Solavaram inscription and Prithivigangaraiyar of Tippasamudram
record. It then follows that Kampavarman who was the overlord of Mahadeva was a

predecessor or at least an elder contemporary of Aditya and could not be assigned to the

middle of the tenth century.

It will be of interest to note in this connection three inscriptions engraved on a

slab at Tiruvorriyur.^** These are engraved in continuation of one another. The name
of the king in the first record is lost while the second is dated in the seventh year of
Kampavarman and the third in the sixth year of Aparajita. It is possible to infer from
this that the seventh year of Kampavarman must have preceded the sixth year of

Aparajita. Again in an inscription of Kampavarman dated in his fifteenth year an
Aparajita Perumanadigal figures as donor and it is tempting to identify him with

Aparajita Pallava.®** These stray evidences unanimously indicate that Kampavarman
must have reigned only in the second half of the ninth centuiy.

45. /AW., p. 24.

46. ARSIE, 177 of 1928; SI/, XUl, No. 319.

47. Ibid., 283 of 1938-39.

48. Ibid., m 0/1928.

49. Ibid., 189 and 190 of 1912; also SII, XIII, Nos. 90 and 99.

50. /AW.. 42 of 1898; also 5/7. VI, No. 325.
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If that be so, he might have ruled the kingdom jointly first with Nripatunga and
later with Aparajita. The policy pursued by him vis-a-vis Nripatunga-Aparajita clash is

indeterminable. Probably he was ccntent to have joint suzerainty, with no other designs
and was prepared to rule with either of his brothers. An inscription of his has been
found in Mallam in the Gudur taluk of the Ncllore district and this may be taken to
indicate the northern limit of the area under his control.”^

5J. ARSm, 498 of 1908; SII, XII, No. 105,
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An Interregnum in Pallava History

There are two interesting inscriptions, ore in Sanskrit 'written in Pallava grantha

script, and the other in the Tamil language and script incised on the tier of the base of

the central shrine in the Vaikuntha Perumaj temple at Kanchipuram.
.
They were copied

more than seventy years ago in 1888 and their texts made available more than thirty-

eight years ago, having been published in the South Indian Inscriptions (Texts), Volume

IV (Nos. 130 and 131). But they have not received due attention from scholars all

these years.
^ d '•

< T

Both the records are damaged, having gaps at the most crucial points; but still

their contents may be understooQ from the available portions. Both of them seem to be

related to each other, probably referring to the same transaction viz., the gift of some

gold to the temple by a Pallava named Abhimana Siddhi. The texts of the two as

published are as follows ;

—

No. 130

1. Srasti Srilifll] . . . takah . . . yiitarbhuddam pratito

Gum bushana ityadhipa [(ij Paramelvara

Vishnu grahe ha

2. rati, dayah tasya . . . prainade [na]

dadaii Manodhirasyaya [o] Sloka[h]

No. 131

ayul sTrppa [ra] inelvara vimagarattavark-

korayircm pon paUttalcm padimcmukuduttanenra jnimingak I

ayiram ieinpon .

.

. yirappatterunmnap pon Abimdnasidhiyayi[na]

Pailavanra [nej II.
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From the Sanskrit record, which is in verse it is learnt that a ruler (adhipab),

whose name cannot be made out, gave or presented something, the nature of which is not

dear, to the Paramesvara Vishnugriha and that the verse was composed by a poet, a

certain Manodhira, which name, as is evident, he probably got from his patron.

The Tamil record also seems to be in verse. But its exact form cannot be made

out. Very likely, the beginning of both the lines in it has been lost. It states that a

certain Abhimana Sidhi who was a Pallava gave one thousand poii for a golden plate for

offering bait and also for an image. The wording of the record would suggest that the

donor Abhimana Siddhi was a ruling king and that he was also a Pallava. His name is

not known otherwise and it does not find a place in Pallava history.

There is a third inscription written on the same tier by the side of the two records

and dated in the seventeenth regnal year of the Pallava king, Dantivarman, registering

the gift of some gold to the temple, by Avanichandra, presumably the son of Udaya-

chandra, the chief of Villivalam and the famous general of Nandivarman Pallavamalla.*

All these three records are incised in the same script," probably by the same hand. Thus

all the three would belong to the same period and may be taken to be more or less

contemporary.

The Vaikuntha Perumal temple, known as Paramesvara Vippagaram in olden

days, owes its origin to Nandivarman II Pallavamalla, whose personal name was

Paramesvaravarman. The events leading to his coronation arc portrayed in seulpturcs

with explanatory labels on the walls of the central shrine in this temple. There arc a

number of sculptured panels both before and after the above and they arc without expla-

natory labels. They trace the history of the dynasty from Vishnu and portray some of

the leading events of Nandivarman It’s reign and round off with recording the construc-

tion of the temple by him. But they cannot be satisfactorily explained since the political

activities of the king in this period are not fully known.

Nandivarman II was crowned as the Pallava king in c. 733 A.D. when he was

twelve years old. The first fifteen or twenty years of his reign witnessed several reverses

and his position in the kingdom was stabilised only w'ith the downfall of the Western

Chalukyas of Vatapi and the emergence of the Rashtrakutas in their place, which events

must be placed in the period c. 750-760 A.D. Nandivarman could have constructed the

ternple only after that and the date of its construction-might be taken as c. 750 A.D.
This date furnishes the earlier limit for the inscriptions of Abhimana Siddhi. Nandi-
varman II ruled for sixty-five years i.e. till c. 798 A.D.; when he W'as succeeded by his

1. Avanichandra was the yuvaraja in the thirty-third regnal year of Nandivarman Pallavamalla when
the Pullur Plates were issued. The interval between these two records, i.e., the PullGr grant and the
Vaikuntha Perumal temple inscription would by 49 years,

2. The position on stone of the two related records of Abhimana Siddhi to that of tlie time of Danti-
varman would indicate that the’first two are earlier in time than the third. Tlien Abhimana Siddhi
has to be assigned to the period after the construction of the temple and befoa- the seventeenth
regnal year of Dantivarman
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son Dantivarman. The seventeenth regnal year of the tatter, when his record in the

Vaikuntha Perumal temple was issued, would be c. 815 A.D. Then Abhimana Siddhi

would have to be assigned to some date after 760 A.D., probably in the beginning of the

ninth centur}'. The palaeography of the records also supports this date. As such he

cannot be placed towards the end of the Pallava rule, when the country was overrun by

the Chola of the Vijayalaya line.

The name Abhimana Siddhi is not known to Pallava history and is not found in

any Pallava inscription. But the two component parts, Abhimana and Siddhi, of which

the name is made up, are found used by some other kings.

The Pandya king Rajasimha III, the donor of the Larger SinnamanQr Plates is

known to have borne the surname Abhimana mern^. Rajendra Chola I also appears to

have had that name.^ A record of Vikrama Chola mentions a donor named Abhimana

meru Pallavaraiyan.^ It is also known that one of the early kings of the Telugil Choias

of Renadu had borne the name Abhimana Chola.

The names Tammu Siddhi, Malla Siddhi, Manma Siddhi, Erasiddhi and the like

borne by members of the Telugu Choias of Nellore in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries

are well-known. The names are sometimes written with the suffix in the form of

siddha, but siddhi seems to be the correct form. The kings are generally referred to in

inscriptions as the Siddhiyaraiyar of Nelluru® and also as Madurantaka Pottapi-Chola alias

Siddhi.’ The Eastern Chalukyas of Vengi are also known to have borne titles ending in

siddhi. Of the eight kings who ruled over Vengi prior to the downfall of the Western

Chalukyas of Vatapi, with the exception of Indra Bhattaraka who ruled only for a

period of seven days, all the other seven are known to have borne such - names. Each of

the three Vishnuvardhanas had the title Vishamasiddhi and the two Jayasimhas had
each the title Sarvasiddhi, while Mangili and his son Kokkilli had the surname
Vijayasiddhi. With the downfall of the Western Chalukyas of Vatapi and emergence of

the Rashtrakutas in their stead, the eastern Chalukyas of Vengi dropped off their siddhi

surnames and began to assume imperial titles like Mahardjddhiraja, Parameivara and
Bhattaraka which were conspicuous by their absence in the case of the earlier members
of the dynasty. The first king to bear such high-sounding titles was Vijayaditya I whose
date of accession is placed in 753 A.D. His predecessor Vishnuvardhana III, who had
the surname Vishamasiddhi was known according to the Udayendiram Grant of
Nandivarman Pallavamalla to have been conquered by the Pallava general Udayachandra
and the Vengi kingdom annexed to that of the Pallavas. This completely deprived them
of their hold on the Telugu Chola dominion which they held previously and • therefoie

the Ea stern Chalukyas had to confine their rule to the coastal regions of the Sircars.

3. SII, III, pp. 443 and 459; also Epi. Ind., XXI, pp. 241 and 250 where another chief is mentioned
^\ith the title.

4. SI!, Ill, p. 428.

5. ARSIB, 1933, No. 33; pt. ii, para 24.

6. ARSIE, 105 of 1922.

7. Butterworth and Ver.ugopaul Chelty, Xello'. inscriptions. Fart 1 1. No. 40 of Nelloir T.ahik,

pp. 807-8.
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Earlier still, we know of a Siva temple called Siddlsvarara. The temple at

Tirumaraiyur in the Thanjavur district is referred to by that name even in the Devaram of

Sambandha. It is one of the seventy temples of the type of Afadakkoyil, i.e., temple at

the top of artificial hillocks, constructed by the Chola king Sengannan (one with the

beautiful eye) or Kochchhengapnan. It would thus appear that the term siddhi was borne

as a title by the Cholas, more particularly by the Telugu Chola branch.

From the above it will be evident that the name Abhimana Siddhi borne by the

donor of the abo\e records sounds very much like that of Chola. But from the Tamil

record it is clearly seen that he was a Pallava. From this it may be surmised that he

was a Pallava ruling over Kanchi with the help of or under the aegis of the Cholas in

the early ninth century.

From the recently discovered Dalavaypuram Copper Plate grant of the Pandya

king Parantaka Viranarayana, the younger brother of Varaguna II and the son of

Srimara Sri Vallabha, issued in the forty-fifth year of his reign, it is seen that his mother

was Akkalanimmati, the daughter of Sri Kantha, the Chola ruler of the Pottapi line.

The actual passage is as follows :

Aravaraiian pallidi ayirama yimttaUiiyal

peritaritin porukkinra penim por.ai man /nogalai tlaii

todittdlil inriilangiya toijdiyarkdn tulakkijli

fcdippcdai vwvdbliorarian tirumagan tnayilaiyar k on

Pottappi hdachokn pugaltamUn Kandarajan

mattama malai \cdal manUmgafakklanmmidi

tim'ayiru karuniyirtta Sri Parantakamagardjan

From this we learn that Sri Kantha Chola of the Pottappi line who gave his

daughter Akkalanimmiti in marriage to Sri Mfira Srivallabha was himself a nephew

(sister’s son) of the Pandya Manabharana and that he was also a ruler of the Toridainadu

(Tondaiyar kon). The titles Toijdaiyark on and Afoyilniyar kdn, which arc characteristic

ones of the Pallava kings would indicate that he was occupying the place of the Pallavas

or was ruling the country as their deputy.

The passage mentions that he bore lightly on his (bejewelled) shoulders adorned

with bracelets the goddess of earth whose heavy burden had been borne on the thousand
heads of the king of serpents i.e. Adisesha. He is also described as Afatlamdinalairalm'an,

the leader of great elephants. These point to the fact that Sri Kantha Chola of the

Pottapi line was ruling over Tondai country or the Pallava territory as an independent
king. The use of the word tangiya in the past tense clearly points out that Sri Kantha
was not then living, but dead. The tenor of the whole passage occurring incidentally not

in Chola grant, but in Pandya grant, while describing the donor who was the daughter of

this Sri Kantha, leaves the impression that he was an important king. The very fact

that the Pandya Parantaka Viranarayana, himself a great king, takes pride in describing

himself as the daughter's son of this Sri Kantha only tor firms this surmise.
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The only ruler of tlie Telugu Choda braneh with the name of §rl Kantha known

to us so far is the donor of the Madras Museum Plates. That grant, however, does not

specifically mention "the achievements of the donor, particularly his conquest of or rule

over Tondainadu. It is only helpful in tracing the genealogy of the donor to Simha-

vishnu, one of the three sons of Chola Nandivarman. It has to be noted also that the

Madras Museum Plates describe the donor §rl Kantha as the Choladhiraja (the adhiraja

of the Cholas), which • position he is credited to have obtained with the strength

of his arm.

The Anbil Plates of Sundara Chola, the earliest of the available copper plate

grants of the Cholas of Thanjavur giving the genealogy of the family, mentions

§ri[ Kantha among the predecessors of Vijayalaya, the founder of the line. In that

record §ri Kantha is said to’ have been the great-great-grandfather of the donor. After

mentioning Senkannan (Ko-chchengannan) and his son Nalladikkon the grant has the

following verse :

—

' Srlkantha-graha [najrudha kwnkumanika-bhnjaiitarah [1]*

Srikantha itUrajendras iat-hili sam-ajayata //®

In his family was bom the chief of kings called Sr! Kantha on whose chest were impres-

sed marks of saffron from Lakshml (§rl)’s embracing his neck.

It will be evident from this that Sri Kantha was not the immediate successor of

Nalladikkon, but was a descendant of his, born in the family long after. The next verse

introduces Vijayalaya, the founder of the Thanjavur line. But the relationship he bore

to Sri Kantha mentioned in the immediately preceding verse is not clearly stated. It

will be tempting from the wording of the record to treat Vijayalaya as the son and
successor of Sri Kantha. But all the subsequent grants of the family and historical

poems as well like the KaUngattiipparam, Vikratmcho\an via, Kulottimga Cho\an tila and
Rajarajacholan uid trace the genealogy only from Vijayalaya, and do not mention
Sri Kantha; probably this was due to the fact Sri Kantha was not a direct ancestor of
Vijayalaya, and the first ruler of the line of the Thanjavur Cholas was Vijayalaya. Also
there was some interval between the periods of the two. However the fact that

Sri Kantha is mentioned in the Anbil Plates referred to above would show that he
was a great ruler.®

8. Epi. Ind., Vol. XV, p. 60, v. 15.

9. The possibility that Vijayalaya also belonged to the Pottappi line of Cholas may be surmised from
another source. A fragmentary Tamil inscription from Kudalur in the Bangalore District
(Karnataka State) consisting of a single line, without either the beginning or the end. mentions a
Chola king Vijayalaya. It is learnt from the inscription that "he had long arms and sword worthy

.

of (?) PattinipparanTidan and resided in the city of Kudal. Though it is more than half a century
since this inscription was discovered neither its text nor its impression has been published so far.

It has however, been ascribed by R. Narasimhachar to Vijayalaya of Thanjavur, {Mysore Archaeo-
logical Report, 1909, p. 17, para 6S; also T. N. Subrahmanyam, South Indian Temple Inscriptions

Vol. Ill, pt. i, Historial Survey, P. LXIl). Probably he based his conclusion on the support of the
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As the reign of Vijayalaya is usually placed in the period between 850 and 870

A.D., the reign of Sri Kantha has to be placed earlier, say in the first half of the ninth

century, when Dantivarman, the son and successor of Nandivarman Pallavamalla was

ruling over the Pallava dominion. Pallavamalla who became king in circa 733 A.D.

is known to have reigned for at least sixty-five years i e. till 797 or 798 A.D after

which his son Dantivarman became king. In the early part of his reign Dantivarman

had to face an encounter with the Rashtrakuta king, Govind III. The British Museum
Plates of his, dated Thursday the fifth tithi of the dark fortnight in the month
of Vaiiakha of the year Stibhami §aka 726 expired, corresponding to 4th April

804 A.D. registering a grant by the king to a Saiva priest when the king was staying

at the Ramesvara Tirtha on the banks of the River Tungabhadra mention that

Govinda had conquered Dantiga, the ruler of Kanchi and levied tribute from him.

Evidently he was then returning from his victorious campaign in the'south. Then
the date of his victory over the Pallava may be taken as 803 A.D. It appears that this

was the reprisal for the help given by Dantivarman to Sthambha or Kamba, the

elder brother of Govinda III in his bid for gaining the Rashtrakuta throne.^® An
inscription on a pillar set up at Hulividu in the Alur taluk of the former Bellary district

(now in the Kumool district, Andhra Pradesh) dated in the fourth year records the

death of a hero, Siriguppa when he opposed the army of Danti which attacked the

village of Chikurambravi.'^ The region at the time was under the Rattas, the

subordinates of the R ishtr.ikutas. It will be tempting to identify this Danti with the

Pallava Dantivarman whose fourth regnal year would be 801 or 802 A.D. This well

supports the view that the conflict between the Rashtrakutas and the Pallavas was raging

at that time.

According to the Sanjan Plates of Amoghavarsha, the son and successor of

Govinda III, it appears that Govinda III had again to lead an expedition on the Pallava

dominion in the latter part of his reign. This v.'as directed against the Dravida kings

who had formed themselves into a confederation. . . “He terrified the Kerala, Pandya

and Chaulikya kings; caused the sprouting Pallava to wither; was the afflictor who
caused the Kalinga and the Magadha to sit and fast themselves to death”. He is also

said to have made his camp ground free of dirt through the lords mandalas by

compensating them, if they were friendly and by subjecting them to forced labour if

they were otherwise.^- This will imply that his victory over the Pallavas was complete

and that the Pallava dominion vVas, for sometime at least, a part of the Rashtrakuta

Empire. This is confirmed in a way by other evidences.

palaeography of the record The epithet PaUinappara-rCSdan ascribed to Vijayalaya in the record

has been given with a question mark. Probably the reading was doubtful. Very likely, it may be

PottappmTiclan. In that case Vijayalaya also must belong to the Pottappi line. Then the mention

of Sri Kantha in the Anbil Plates as a predecessor of his is significant and it can refer only to .^ri

Kantha, the maternal grand-father of the Pandya Parantaka 3'ira Narayana of the Da]avaypuram

Plates and also the same as the donor of the Madras Museum Plates.

10. Ind. Ant., Vol XI, pp. 125 ff.

11. 1915,No. 562.

12. Epl. Ind., Vol. XVIII, pp. 235 ff.
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The Manne Plates of the Rashtrakuta king Govinda IIP® dated the full moon tithi

of the month oT Pattslia in ^aka 732 which was his eighteenth regnal year (810 A.D.)

show that the king granted, on the occasion of a lunar eclipse under the asterism

pitshya at the request of Dantivarman along with Chakiraja, the village of Sangami

as a brahmadeya to one Damodara who was proficient in the Vedas and Vedangas and

who was an ornament of the Padangili Bharavi family. The petitioner Dantivarman is

introduced in the grant as Svcisti Satn^idhigata PaTichamalidiabdamahasamatadhipati Sriinad

Dantivarman, i.e. the obtainer of the band of five great musical instruments

and mahasamaniadhipati. He is also said to have had another name Kandarppagidiga

{Kandarppagidig aparanamadhiyenal) while Chakiraja is introduced as the possessor of

liberality, self respect, truth, purity, good conduct and character, the renowned

Chakiraja (tyagabhimdna satya sancharaSila sampanna, mahdvikhyata klrttiganda

sampunnia irimat chikirajendra sahitena). It is known from the Kadada Plates^*

that this Chakiraja was the ruler of the entire Ganga territory in 812 A.D.,

when at his request king Govinda III made a grant to a Jaina temple. It may be

surmised that he was the Viceroy under Govinda ruling over the Ganga province in

A.D. 810. Prior to that we know that Sthambha was ruling over the area even during

the days of Prabhutavarsha Srivallabha i.e. his father Dhruva^® He seems to have

continued in that position even after the accession of Govinda III. A copper plate

grant from the Nelamangala taluk, Mysore dated in 802 A.D..^® mentions Ranavaloka

Sancha Kambadeva as the elder brother of PrithivivallabhaPrabhutavarasha Govindaraja-

deva and registers a grant made by Sthambha with the permission of his brother,

Govinda. Still later we find him in 807 A.D. encamped at Talakad and making a

grant to a Jaina temple at the place at the request of his son, Sankaraganna.” Then

Chakiraja must have been made Governor over Gangavadi, replacing Sthambha either

on his death or removal otherwise sometime between 807 A.D and 810, exactly the

period of the second expedition of Govinda against the Pallava and the Dravida kings.

Judging from the titles attributed to both Dantivarman and Chakiraja in the

plates, it will be seen that the former should have ocbupied a higher status and

position and that he was also a member of a royal family. This can be no other than

Dantivarman, the Pallava king. This may be surmised in a way from the details about

the donee given in the grant. He was Damodara of the Padangili Bharavi family, a

student of the Rig Veda and of the Bharadvaja gotra, and a son of Svamikuara and

grandson of Damodara.

Damodara Hi kliydto Damodara samdyuiih dvijeivadhipah

SrTman Bharavi vamsato abhavat

Vedamurttis dvijarli sevyali saptimdn Sivasambliavah

13. Q/Af5’, Vol. XIV, p. 81. Mysore Archaeological Report, \92A.

14. Epi. Ind., IV, pp. 332 ff; also EC, XII, Gh. 61.

15. £C,IV,Hg.93.

16. /6;rf..IX,N1.61.

17. Mysore Archaeological Report, 1920, p. 31.
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From the names, Damodara and Bharavi, one may even conclude Bharavi, the

author the KiralUrJumya.^^ Probably ic was this association that made the Pallava

king Dantivarman make the grant of Damodara. His being described as a mahasaman-

tadhipati clearly, indicates that he was a subordinate, a lord of madnala under

Govinda III.

The Plates mention that the request for the gift was made by Dantivarman

along with Chakiraja which implies that the latter was in a privileged position and

perhaps acted as the intermediary between Dantivarman and Govinda. This might

have become necessary as the gift village was situated in the Ganga territory over

which Chakiraja was ruling and thus stood more or less in the position of ajmpti or

executor. But it looks more likely that he stood in the position of a peace maker

introducing an erstwhile adversary since turned subordinate to the permanent ruler.

Any way the record indicates that the annexation of the Pallava kingdom to the Rashtra-

kuta Empire was complete and that Dantivarman had in a way reconciled himself to

that position.

But this state of affairs did not continue for a long time. Soon after the death

of Govinda sometime early in 814 A.D. his son Amoghavarsha who was a mere boy

succeeded to the throne. This was the signal for all the recalcitrant elements to revolt

and break away from the central administration. Many parts of the Rashtrakuta

Empire which had been previously subjugated forcibly threw off the yoke and declared

their independence. It appears that Amoghavarsha even lost his crown for a short

time. The setting of the Rashtrakuta sun (Amoghavarsa) and then his subsequent rise

are well described in the Sanjan Plates.**’ The Surat Plates of Karka of the Gujarat

branch of the Rashtrakutas who appears to have acted as the guardian and regent of

the boy king dated in 821 A.D. describe the restoration of Amoghavarsha to the throne.

The rebellion should have occurred sometime between 816 A.D. and 821 and lasted

probably for three or four years since the description given thereof by the Sanjan record

makes it clear that it was a very serious and prolonged affair.*”’ The -Pallavas also

should have obtained their release during that period; but this is nowhere mentioned.

All these are obtained from the Rashtrakuta side. Let us see what evidence is

available on the Pallava side. Inscriptions of Dantivarman have been recorded so far

as follows:

18. R. Narasirahacharya took the name Damodara and another name of Bharavi basing himself on the

publication of M. Ramakrishna Kavi and thought that the fact that Bharavi was of the Kauiika

gotra and the donee of the Bharadvaja gotra militates against this conclusion. But the printed texts

of the prose work Arnnatisiimfnri Katha in the Trivandrum Sanskrit Series and of the poetical sum-

mary Avanatisimdari Katha sVra published in the Journal of Oriental Research clearly mention

Damodara as a friend of Bharavi and it was Damodara who belonged to the Kauiika gotra. We do

not know the go/M of Bharavi. As such it does not militate. Most probably Bharavi was of the

Bharadvaja gotra.

19. Epi. hid., Vol. XVIII, pp. 254-55; vv. 40 and 41.

20. Altekar, A.S., Rashtrakutas ami their Times, p. 74.
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2nd year—Vayalaikkavur near Uttiramerur.-^

5th year—Tiruvellarai near Tiruchchirapalli.^

5th year—Kunnandar Koyil (Pudukkottai).-^

6th year—Tondur near Gingee.-^

7th year— Uttiraraerur.-^

9th year— Uttiramerur.-®

10th year—Uttiramerur.""

12th year— Triplicane Madras.-®

12th year—Kuram.®®

Idthyear—Malaiyadipatli Pudukkottai,®® (Muttaraiyar).

17th year—Vaikuntha Perumal temple, Kanchipuram.®^

21st year—Uttiramerur.®®

49th year— Gudimallam.®®

51st year—^Tiruchchanur.®*

As Jouveau-Dubreuil has pointed out “it is in fact very remarkable that

there is no inscription dated between the 21st and the 49th years of the reign”.®® From

the fact that the inscriptions of Dantivarman from the sixteenth year to the very end of

his reign do not occur in any of the monuments in the Kaveri region while a dozen

inscriptions of the Pandya king Maran ^adaiyan are found in the same region, he

concludes that Dantivarman had lost a portion of his kingdom in the south owing to

the incursions of the Pandyas.®® According to him the Pandya was Varaguna Maharaja.

But he does not explain the absence of Pandya inscriptions in the entire Pallava kingdom

for a period of about 27 or 28 years from the 2lst to the 49th year of Dantivarman’s

reign. Even the two inscriptions of the 49th and 51 st year recovered are on the borders

21. 256 of 1922.

22. Epi. Ind., Vol. XI, pp. I54-5S.

23. ARSIE, 34S of 1914; Inscriptions of the Pudukkottai State, No. 17.

24. /6W., 283 of 1916.
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of the kingdom. The Velurpalaiyam Plates of Nandivarman III, his son and successor,

issued in the sixth year of his reign mention that the donor had to obtain his kingdom

with the prowess of his arms killing many enemies in the battle field. In the picturesque

words of the record, “This (Nandivarman) puffed up with the prowess of his arms
acquired the prosperity of the (Pallava) kingdom not easy for others to obtain by killing

(his) enemies on the battle field which was laughing (as it were) with the pearls dropping

from the frontal globes of elephants slain by (his) unsheathed sword”,^' It will thus be

clear that the Pallava kingdom was in alien hands at least for sometime immediately

before the accession of Nandivarman III who had to wrest bis ancestral kingdom from
them by waging war and killing the enemies in the battlefield. Very likely, this took
place in the closing years of the reign of Dantivarman who was very old then and that

his son Nandivarman was the principal figure in the bid for recovery. This alien

occupation of the Pallava kingdom in this period was perhaps the reason for the absence

of the inscriptions of Dantivarman. This foreign occupation of the Pallava kingdom
in this period was perhaps none other than that of §ri Kantha Chola of the Pottapi line.

This occupation could not have been that of the Rashtrakutas. It has been seen

earlier that during the latter part of the reign of Govinda III, he had won a victory over

Dantivarman and annexed the Pallava kingdom to the Rashtrakuta empire. But the

Pallava was allowed to rule as before. This is well borne out by the inscriptions of

Danti in the Toqdai country during that period. But the absence of his records in the.

Tamil country during the 27 years between his 21st and 49th regnal years avould suggest

that he was away from his kingdom then. If the Rashtrakutas had been in the occupa-

tion of the Pallava territory during this period, we should have found at least a few of

their inscriptions in the region. The absence of Danti could not have been similar to

that of the western Ganga ruler Sivamara from his kingdom. The latter’s absence was
due to his imprisonment. If Dantivarman had also been imprisoned, the Rashtrakutas

would have mentioned the same; but no such mention is made by them. Under the

circumstance the occupation of the Pallava kingdom should have been by somebody

else. Very likely it was by Sri Kantha Chola of the Pottapi line. This is supported by

a record from Tillaisthanam in the Thanjavur District.^* It registers the gifts of one

hundred sheep for burning perpetual lamp in front of the God Tiruneyttanamudaiya

Mahadeva by Kadambamadevi, wife of Vikki-Annan, on whom was bestowed the

hereditary title Sembiyan Tamilm'el with other marks of dignity by the Chola. This is

described in the inscription as “Tondaiuadu parim (parminal) Solan Palyanaik-ko-kandan

ayiiia Rajakesari vervian. This Chola king Rajakesari varman is usually identified with

Aditya I. Here the Chola is called Kandan or Kantha i.e. Sri Kantha. It is not known
if Aditya I ever bore the name of Kantha or Sri Kantha. At least there is no specific

evidence to show that. As such the word Kandan of this record has been taken as

the Tamil form of the Sanskrit word Ganda meaning a warrior and the expression

palyanai-k-ko-kandan translated as “the warrior who conquered many kings possessing

elephants”. The language of the record clearly shows that the name of the king was

37. .S7/,n,p. 5II.

38. Ibid.
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Kandan alias Rajakesarivarman having the attributes Tondainadu pdviija (who spread or

stabilised the Tondainadu) and palydnaikkd (possessor of many elephants), these very

attributes are given to §ri Kantha (the illustrious Kantha) in the Dalavaypuram Plates,

mentioned earlier. 1 hat a certain Sri Kantha had ruled in the Kaveri delta is clearly

borne by some of the records of Rajakesarivarman found at Tiruverumbur in the

Tiruchirapalli District wherein the place is referred to as Sri Kantha chaturvedi-

mangalam.®'* This shows that the village was named after Sri Kantha who could have

been only this monarch.

The daughter of Sri Kantha of the Pottapi line who was married to the Pandya

king Sri Mara Sri Vallabha was named Aggalanimmati. This name is very peculiar. It

is Kannada in form. Such names ending with uimmati were m use in the Karnataka

region in those days, e.g. the daughter ofAmoghavarsha III and elder sister of Krishna III

who was married to the Western Chalukya ruler Bhutuga II had the name Revaka-

nimmati. It might be that Aggalanimmati, the daughter of l§rl Kantha, was named

after her grandmother, paternal or maternal thus indicating that either' the wife or

mother of §ri Kantha Chola should have hailed from the Karnataka country. It is

known that the queen of Pallava Danti bore the same name. Verse eighteen of the

Velurpalaiyam plates states that she was the daughter of the Kadamba king, the crest

jewel of the Kadamba family, whose name, however, is not given. In the Tillaisthanam

record, the wife of Vikkiappan, who was the recipient of honours from the Chola and

Chera kings is referred to as Kadambamadevi. From this it may be surmised that she

was a Kadamba queen and that Vikkiappan was a Kadamba.

It will be rather tempting to suggest that Aggalanimmati, the daughter of

Sri Kantha, got her name from the queen of Pallava Danti and thus was her grand-

daughter. It cannot be said that this is impossible; but the conditions of the times and

the course of events would make us hesitate in accepting the suggestion. Therefore, it

would be better to leave the question open for the present. But one thing is clear. She
had connections in the Karnataka country and particularly with the Kadambas. Then it

is likely that the Vikkiappan, the Kadamba chief on whom was bestowed the hereditary

title Sembiyan Tainilavel was related to Sri Kantha apparently as brother-in-law.

Probably he was placed by the Chola to be in charge of the Chola country as the title

would indicate. From the above discussion it will be seen that Sri Kantha had also the
epithet Rajakesari Varman and that his sway extended not only over the Tondainadu but
also over the Kaveri delta, the traditional home of the Cholas. Then it is very likely

that some of the inscriptions of Rajakesari Varman in the archaic script found in the
areas really belong to Sri Kantha.

In the temple of Bhaktavatsala at Tirukkalukunram there is an inscription of
Rajakesarivarman dated in the 27th yeai of his reign. It states on being petitioned by
Puttan, son of Kunavan, the king renewed a gift of land to Tirukkalukkunram
^ri Mnlasthanattu perumanadigaj, originally made by Skandasishya and continued by

39. AXSIE, 103, 114 ,123, 127, 130 and 131 of 1914; also SII, Vol. IV; No. 549.
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Vatavikonda Narasinga Pottaraiyar.^" This record is usually assigned to the Chola king

Aditya 1, as he was the earliest of the Chola kings, then known to have had the title

Rajakesari and nothing was then known of §ri Kantha. Venkayya who edited this

record pointed out that its script was older than that of the inscriptions of Kannaradeva,

but later than that of the Kasakkudi Plates. The plate of the record given along with

the article shows that the script closely resembles that of the Tandantottam plates of

Nandivarman Pallavamalla. It is possible that Rajakesarivarman of this record is this

Sri Kantha Chola.

This record is taken as an illustration of a conqueror reissuing the grants of the

former rulers. Such instances became necessary only where the grant lands had been

expropriated previously. The conquest of Tondainadu by Aditya from the Pallavas had

been rather smooth. There would not have been any occasion for any expropriation by.

the State especially of the lands given to a Siva temple. As such, there would not have

been any need for Aditya to reissue the grant. In the case of Sri Kantha the situation

was quite different. The Rashtrakutas in whose empire the Pallava kingdom was

included for a short period were ardent Jains. Amoghavarsha was a zealous follower of

that faith and his court was also filled with persons of the same faith. It is possible that

during the short period of their control over the Pallava country some lands of the Hindu
temples might have been taken away by them; and thus probably arose the necessity for

the conquering Hindu king to reissue the same.

According to ancient Hindu tradition kings in ancient limes embarked on exten-

sive conquests more as a digvijaya in the course of which the rulers of the conquered

countries were reinstated in their original position on the acceptance of the over-lordship

of the conqueror and promise of tribute . In mc’dieval times too this tradition generally

continued; and even when the conqueror appointed his own viceroy over the conquered

country, he exercised only general supervision, the actual administration being left in the

hands of the local chiefs as before. In some cases, even if the local ruler was dislodged

for some reason or other, some other member of the family, more submissive and

dependable was made to take his place. The intervention of the Rashtrakuta kings

Dhruva and Govinda III in the affairs of the Western Ganga kingdom, the imprison-

ment of Sivamara II and his removal for the Ganga territory when Vijayaditya, brother

of the deposed ruler, ruled over the kingdom may be cited as an example.

From the inscription in the Vaikuntha Perunial temple mentioned above it is seen

that a Pallava hitherto unknown, whose position in the family is not clear and whose

name indicates close association with the Cholas probably of the Telugu country was
ruling in the area during the period. It may be that he assumed the name to express his

subordination to the Cholas. This may have been due to the subordinate bearing the

name of his suzerian. It is not known whether he belonged to the line of Simhavishnu
which had been displaced nearly a century earlier or to the line of Nandivarman
Pallavamalla, of whose sons we know only the name of Danti. We have also an

40. 167 of 1894; Epi. hid., m, p. 279.
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inscription containing two Tamil verses in the venba metre at Tandalam near Arkonam

dated in the 10th year of a Pallava Satti. There are indications that the two verses may
belong to this period.*^ From the Sri Pundi Plates of the Eastern Chalukya Taila II in the

middle of the 10th century it is seen that some of the descendants of Pallavamalla

{PallavamaUa anvaya) had by that time sought service under the neighbouring kingSj and

that one of them Kuppanayya, the son of Mahasinatamalya Makariyaraja and grandson

of Kalivarma, received a grant of a village.^- It is possible that Abhimana Siddhi was

one such member.

In the light of the foregoing discussion, the course of events relating to the

occupation of Tondainadu by §rl Kantha Chola may be reconstructed as follows: On
the accession of the boy king Amoghavarsha to the Rashtrakuta throne, several of his

feudatories, taking advantage of his tender age rebelled against his authority and asserted

their independence. In the south the Eastern Chalukyas of Vengi and the Western

Gangas acted likewise. Nothing is known of the Pallavas. Probably Dantivarman was

involved in the palace intrigues at Malkhed, trying to get an upper hand against Marka
of the Gujarat branch of the Rashtrakutas, and probably even assisted Amoghavarsha in

firmly establishing his authority. This was resented in the Pallava country. Sri Kantha

Chola of the Pottappi line thought it best to intervene and establish the glory and inde-

pendence of Toridainadu. He assumed the government of the country, setting aside Danti-

varman and appointing his own nominee Abhimana Siddhi, probably a junior member of

the Pallava family on the throne at Kanchi. Danti who could not brook this came with

the Rashtrakuta army to re-estabh‘sh his authority. But the Rashtrakuta army was defea-

ted by Sri Kantha with the help of his grandson, the Pandya king Vira Narayana. Pallava

Danti did not take this meekly. He gathered his forces and with the help of his son

Nandivarman III came against the Topdainadu at the suitable time, probably after the

death of iSrl Kantha and occupied it once more. This should have taken place during

the closing years of the reign of Dantivarman.

41. £-p;. 7/irf., VII, p. 25.

42. Venkataramanayya, N., The Eastern Chnlukyas of Vengi; p. 189; Epi. Ind., XIX, p. 148.
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The kingdom of the Western Chalukyas of Vatapi was at the height of its power

and glory under Pulakesin II (A.D. 609-642). Even Harshavardhana of Kanyakubja who
had subjugated practically tlie whole of north India to deserve the title of UttarapatheS-

vara had to suffer defeat at his hands. The Chinese pilgrim Hicun Tsang who visited

the Chalukya kingdom and its capital during the reign of this monarch has recorded the

prosperous conditions that prevailed in it.

But the reign of this great king ended in a terrible disaster. Narasimhavarman 1

otherwise known Mamalla, the Pallava king of Kanchipuram invaded the Chalukya

territory, defeated in battle Pulakesin II and captured his kingdom. Even the capital

city of Vatapi was occupied by the Pallavas as may be seen from an inscription in

beautiful Pallava grantha characters found at the place.^

This event seems to have taken place in circa A.D. 642." It also appears that the

Chalukya kingdom was under the occupation of the Pallavas for some time thereafter till

the Chalukya power was restored by Vikramaditya I, a son of Pulakesin II.

Vikramaditya counts the commencement of his reign from §. 577 equivalent to

A.D. 655, as is evident from the Gadval Plates® dated in the twentieth year of his reign

1. SIl, Vol. XI, Bombay-Karnatak, No. 1.

2. /fcirf.. Introduction, p. 1.

3. £/>/. /m/., Vol. X, p. 101. The actual date has been calculated as Tuesday, 25th April 674 A D.

The Savnur Plates issued on the same day, fuH-moon iithi in the month of VaiiMia in the twentieth

regnal year from the same camp at Uragapura in the Cholika vishaya, gives the corresponding ^aka

year as 597, (Epi. Ind., Vol. XXVII, No. 20). where it is taken as the ‘current’ one while the year

quoted in the Gadval Plates is taken as the ‘expired’ one. But it is to be noted thal both these

documents were written by the same person. The Talamanchi Plates (Epi. hid., Vol. IX, pp. 98,

102) dated in Vikramaditya's sixth regnal year, without, however quoting the corresponding ^aka

year registers a gift of land made at the time of a solar eclipse in the month of The date

has beep calculated to the 13th of July, A.D. 660.
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corresponding to Saka 596. This inscription and his SavnUr Plates^ dated in the same

year, the undated Hyderabad Plates® as also the spurious Kurta koti Plates® mention that

he defeated the three successive Pallava kings, Narasimhavarman I, Mahendravarman II

and Paramesvaravarman I. The last named king Paramesvaravarman I was the Pallava

adversary of Vikramaditya I in his southern expedition in the course of which he was

encamped at Magapura in the Chola country in A.D. 674. It will be seen therefrom that

he had to fight hard with the Pallavas over a fairly long period.
,

He was not the eldest son of Pulakesin II. He had at least two brothers

Chandraditya and Ranaraghavarman elder to him. This becomes clear from the Nerur

and Kochre Plates of Vijayamahadevi, his queen. Both of them relate to, the time after

the restoration of Chalukya rule by Vikramaditya I. The Nerur grant’ registers the gift

of some land to a Brahmaria by Vijaya Bhattaraka, the priyamahislwo^ Chandraditya. In

the geneological portion, after Pulakesin II, his dear son {priyatamyah) Vikramaditya is

introduced and referred to in connection with his re-establishment of Chalukya rule. Then
his elder brother SrJ Chamlraditya-PrithivT-VaJIabha-Maharaja is mentioned, as also his

queen who made the grant in her. own regnal year (sva-raj'yavarshe). The other, the

Kochre grant,® which follows closely the Nerur grant in other respects, registers a land

gift made by her to a Brahmana on the twelfth tiilii of the bright fortnight in the month

'of in her region. The year or the other astronomical details with which the

corresponding date in the Christian era can be calculated are not given. In this.inscrip-

tion Chandraditya is given the title Frithirivallabha Maharajadluraja, jvhile his queen is

called §ri Vijaya Mahadevi.
, ,

- The Honntir Plates of the sixteenth year of Vikramaditya® mention another elder'

brother of his, by name Ranaraghavaraman, whose daughter dear to him as life [prana

samadtlUta) was the wife of the Ganga Prince Madhava who was the Vigmpti for the

grant recorded in the Plates. ,

^
‘

,

Vikramaditya had also a brother. called Jayasimha, younger to him. This is clear

from the Navsari Copper Plate grant of Jayasimha^® dated in . the (Kalachuri) year 421
corresponding to A.D. 671. It registers the grant of a village to some Brahmanas by
.his son Ytn’araja Siladitya. The genealogical portion of the grant begins with Pulakesin H
of the Chalukj’a family, mentions another son of Pulakesin, named Dharasraya
Jayasimhavarman “whose (dignity or) prosperity was augmented (or brought about) by
his elder brother Vikramaditya [Jyayasa bhratra samabhi varddhila vibJmtili). In the

reign of this Jayasimha his son Srayasraya Siladitya Yuvaraja made the grant.

4. Epi. Ind., Vol. XXVII, No. 20.

5. Ind. Ant., Vol. VI, pp. 76 ff.

6. Ibid., Vol. vn, pp. 219 ff.

7. Ibid., Vol. vn, p. 163.

8. Ibid., Vol. Vm, p. 44.

9. MAR. 1939, No. 30.

10. Vol.XVI.p. 1.
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We thus come to know of four sons of Pulakesin 11, Chandraditya, Ranaraghavar-

man, Vikramaditya and J.iyasimha in the order of their birth. A copper plate giant'^

obtained in the Kurnool District mentions an Adityavarman as a son of Pulakesin II.

It records a gift of land made to a Brahmana in the first year of his reign on the

full moonday in the month of Kartlika at the great festival of Paitamahi and

HUanyagarbha. The §aka year is not given in the inscription; nor does it contain other

astronomical details with the help of which the equavalent date in Christian era could

be determined. The inscription does not mention Vikramaditya. And there is no

information in it to show his order of birth among the sons of Pulakesin.
' f .

This Adityavarman is not mentioned in the other records. But he is described in

this inscription as “possessing the supreme rule over the whole ' circuit of earth which

had been o\ercome by the strength of his arm and prowess” > {s^a bhujabala-parakkram-

akiianta sakalc-matmandal-adbiiajynJi) and also having the title prithhi-raUabha-

nialidrajadhiiaja-paramch'arah. So he has to be assigned to the period after the

restoration of sovereignty by the Chalukyas. But there is no indication whether the

recovery of the Chalukyas under Adityavarman took place before or after its restoration

by Vikramaditya.

' t

Dr. Fleet*- was inclined to think that “Adityavarman was the eldest son of
Pulakesin 11” and that he endeavoured to wrfest succession from his younger brother

“after the Chalukya restoration by Vikramaditya”. The omission of the name of
Adityavarman in all the subsequent records of the family was the main reason which led

him to that conclusion. The wording in the grant of Adityavirraan would show,
according to Dr. Fleet, either that he made the ‘first attempt to restore ‘the sovereignty

and failed, or else thatj after restoration by Vikramaditya I, he endeavoured to wrest

the succession from ’his younger brother’. He however felt that the former supposition

was less probable than the latter one. ‘

The Kantheru grant of A.D. 1009*® issued more than three and a half centuries

later after the restoration b'y Tailapa 11 of the later Chalukya dynasty of Kalyani as also

a few other records that follow the ^ same draft introduces tv/o generations in the

genealogy between Pulakesin II and Vikramaditya I, thus making the latter the great-

grandson of the former instead of his son. It mentions one Nedamari as the son of

Pulakesin, and an Adityavarman as Nedamari’s son. Vikramaditya has been made the

son of Adityavarman. Fleet thinks that the name of Adityavarman as the supposed

father of Vikramaditya I very possibly owed its existence to his really having had a

brother of that name.*^ But it should be noted that this late record contains also some
misstatements based on imperfect tradition, and as such too, much reliance cannot be

placed on such late records.
» i

11. ftW., pp. 223, 233. Also /nrf. /Inf., Vol. XT, p 66.

12. Bombay Gazetteer, Vol. I, pt. ii, p. 367.

13. Ind. Ant., XVI. p. 17.

14. Bombay Gazetteer, op. cit., p. 361, n, 3.
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A comparison of the record of Adityavarman with those of Vikramaditya

would show that there are some common features jjin the contents -and phraseology,

among them.

' The grant of Adityavarman describes the royal donor and records .the issue, of his

order in the following words: sva-blmjabala-parakrajna-krmta-sqkala mahlmandaladhirqjyah

Srmad-Adityavawia-prithm-vaUabha maharajadhiraja-parameh'arch krUqli saman-ajna-

payati(}\. 12-14). The Gadval Plates after narrating the victories of Vikramaditya

mention the issue of the Older by him in the following words : sa parakram akkrmta

sakala viahmandala-adhirdjyo Vikrawaditya Satyairaya Sri Prithmy'allabha Maharajadhi-

raja Paromeivaro-sarwdn-evam ajTiapayati (11. 22-23).

Adityavarman is said to have made the grant for the merit of his mother and

father and also of himself : matapitrdr-dtvwnaichapwjya avaptaye udakapurwcm dattam

(1. 18). The specific mention in the grant of the niother and faither as the persons for

whose merit also the gift was made is rather exceptional 'arid not usually found in the

inscriptions of this dynasty. But this is found in many of the copper plates of

Vikramaditya e.g., his Kurnool Plates of the third year^® as also -the 'undated Kumool
Plates of his.i® In the Navsari Plates of the Gujarat Chalukya Jayasimha referred to

earlier Vikramaditya is described as meditating on the feet of his mother and father and

another Nagavardhana {watapitr Sri Nagamrdhana padamudhyata)d~ Similar expres-

sions are not found elsewhere.
'

•

'While editing the “Five copper-plate grants of the Western Chalukya dynasty from

the Kurntil District” Fleet opines that the Kumul grants of Vikramaditya I (Nos. II and

III) and the Nerur and Kochre grants of Chandraditya’s wife give some indication of

being amplified in their concluding portions from the version of the Kurnul grant of

Adityavarman (No. I) which he considers as the standard draft.^®

All the grants of Vikramaditya as also those of others like Chandraditya of the

family issued after the restoration of the Chalukya sovereignty by him contain a verse

describing how he obtained the paramount power.

raua-Sirasi ripxi nareudran-diH diii

jityd sva-\avtSajam Lakshniim

prapyacha ParcmieSvarataiu-Amrarita Vikramadityah.

“Anivarita Vikramaditya, who, having recovered at the head of battle the royalty

belonging to his family from the hostile kings of every quarter acquired the title of
‘Supreme Lord’ Paranieivarali)"

15. JBRAS, Vol. XVI, p. 237 (No. II), line 21.

16. Ibid., p. 239 (No. Ill), line 19.

17. Ibid., p. 2, line 7.

18. Ibid.,\o\. XVI, pp. 181-82, fn.

19. £fi. hid., Vol. X, p. 103, verse 2.
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The title Pararneirara which Vikramaditya is said to have acquired in this manner

is found applied to Adityavarman in his grant.

The expression Aniyarita-Vikramadifyli occurring in this verse is generally taken

as the name of the ruler. It is true anivarita w'as borne as a title by Vikramaditya 11,^”

as will be evident from the names of some of his officers, e.g. Amvaritacliari-' Aitivarita-

punyavaUabhap etc. It is likely that it was also a title of Vikramaditya I. But it is also-

to be taken in the literal or true sense of the word as will be evident from the expression

sananivarit-ajna, ‘'whose orders as unopposed by alt men”, occurring in verse 10 of the

Gadval Plates. Thus the expression Anh'antmikrainaditya is better teanslated as “Aditya"

of unopposed (or unrepulsed) valour (or prowess).”

This would make Aditya as the original name and Vikramaditya or Aditya of

(unequal) valour as the title, thus making it possible that Adityavarman was the same as

Vikramaditya. It is not therefore necessary to take Adityavarman as another son of

Pulakesin II different from Vikramaditya. They may be taken as the names of one and

the same person. Adityavarman was perhaps the original name and when he became

renowned on account of his victories, by gaming for himself the estate of his father

which had been hidden (or obstructed) by three kings (who were probably Chandraditya

Ranaraghavarman and Narasimhavarman Pallava) he assumed the title of Vikramaditya.

The analogy of Kuloltunga I the Chola Emperor of a later period may be cited as an

example. In the early years of his reign he was known only as Rajendra, but only later

as Kulottunga, which name he is known to have assumed in his fourth regnal year.

20. Jbid., Vol. X, p. 15, p. 101, fn. 4.

21. Ind. Ant., Vol. X, p. 164.

22. Epi. Ind., Vol. IH, p. 360.



Bana Nandivarman

From the Yappanmkahvimtii

I
• J

j

A stray verse in Tamil contains important and Interesting information about the

Bana king, Nandivarman. It has not, however, received the attention it deserves, at

thehands'of scholars who have worked on the history of south India.

The commentary on the YapparunkclaTn, a work on Tamil prosody, cites the

following verse as an illustration :

vandivani jmlan'etchi inalai marpan

mal \enda immalitta malitol valjal

mndivarm taupadappai nalaU imldur

mrapatikkn rankodutta nagaive nandi

tandivartm tadavaraittot Chayantan vadacli

chatitvudmiaic chayaTi cheyda Chankapalan

tendiraWdyt tiruniagalddainirtau kondan

chTrparavach chmrakalun chella ram^

‘He whose chest is adorned with a garland of vetchi flowers wherein bees crawl;

[he is] the benevolent person with broad shoulders who bestowed [the earth] land on

Vislmu {Mal) at his request
;
[he is] Nandi with brilliant [or resplendent] spear,' who

gave heaven to [i.e. killed] the ruler {narapati] of the ancient totvn of Nalal on the cool

foreshore of which crabs crawl; [he is] Sankhapala who gained a victory over chatur-

muklia, [thus making] Jayanta with broad rock-like shoulders whereon the club [or*

mace] rolls wither; [he who has] obtained the Goddess Sri [i.e. Lakshmi] and ambrosia

1. Ynppanmkalam, commentary on Sutra 53.
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(aiiirita) by churning [the sea of] high and rolling waves; if [his] qualities [eulogies]

are praised all the difficulties [or hardships] will themselves disappear [or vanish].’

The verse is full of puzzles. The names of places and kings and the events

mentioned are not easy of identification. The first three lines of the verse compare

the hero with each of the Gods of the Hindu Trinity, and make him superior to each

one of them. The first line says that he gave earth to Vishnu who appeared before him

in supplication; in the second line he is said to have killed the king of the ancient

place Nalal which means konrai or a variety of it, the flowers of which are considered

sacred and dear to the God Siva ; while in the third line he is said to have conquered

Chaturmukha or Brahma.

The verse indicates that the hero, named Nandi, belonged to the family of

Mahabali who gave earth to Vishnu. Hence he must have belonged to the Bana line

of kings. He is referred to as Sankhapala. This may be the Tamil form of the Sanskrit

word Sanghapala or Sankhapala. The former name is known to have been borne by

some of the Buddhist teachers. If this name was intended, it should have been his

personal name. But the verse shows that his name was Nandi.® If the other form

Sankhapala were intended, it must refer to one of the eight great Nagas, the other

seven being Ananta. Vasuki, Takshaka, Karkkota, Kulika, Padma and Mahapadma.

Then the Nandi mentioned in the verse must have been a king of the Naga family,

claiming descent from Sankhapala. This would indicate that the Bapas also were of

Naga origin.

The story of the Trivikramavatara is well-known. Vishnu in his Vamanavatara

supplicated Mahabali, the asura king, for three feet of earth to be measured by his

feet, and when the request was granted Vishnu grew to gigantic stature, measured the

earth and heaven with two steps, and wanted Mahabali to show him the space for the

third. The asura king recognized him as God and offered him his head, on which
Vishnu stepped with his foot pushing him to the nether world, where Bali and his

descendants ruled ever after. Bana was his grandson. According to Puranic accounts

he ruled over the Nagas in the nether world with Sonitapura as his capital. This also

supports the surmise that the Bapas who ruled in south India claiming descent from

Mahabali were also Nagas.

The verse quoted above claims three victories for Nandi : (o) killing the king of

the old city of Nalal on the sea-coast; {b) victory over Chaturmukha who was a'friend

and ally of Jayanta and (c) victory in a naval war which resulted in his obtaining a'

wife comparable to Lakshmi and a kingdom. It is very difficult to interpret the three

achievements of the ruler. As said above the word Na\al in Tamil means konrai, a

flower considered very sacred to God Siva. It is not clear which place in the Tamil

country is referred to here as having that name. The Devaram hymns mention the Siva

2. M. Raghava Aiyangar has, however, taken this as the personal name of the chief as may be inferred

irom his classification of the verse in the Peruntogai.
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temple at Vilanagar on the banks of the R. Arisil (in the Nannilam taluk of the

Thanjavur District) as Nalakkoyil. But this could not have been the place referred to

in the verse, as Vilanagar is not"known to have been the seat of a king and only the

temple at the place is called Nalakkoyil. The Siva of the temple at Tiruppadirippuliyur

(the modem Cuddalore New Town, the headquarters of the South Arcot District) is

referred to in inscriptions as timkkadai-inaXal tidaiya penmidj, timkkadaijnSlal alvar, etc.

This place is also of great antiquity and the Jaina monastery which was presided over

by Appar before his reconversion to Saivism was known to have been situated there.

From the Periyaptiramm it appears that the ruling chief of that- area Nwas' living close

to it. It was included in those days in the Tirumunaippadinadu, the chieftain of which

place was usually known as Munaiyataraiyan. It continued to be the seat of local chiefs

in the medieval period also. Besides, the place is on the sea-coast. • From these pieces

of evidence it is possible to conclude that Nalal oh the coast mentioned in the verse was

Tiruppadirippuliyur, and the ruler of the city killed by Nandi was a Munaiyataraiya

chief.
'

' '

' . •

The second victory is really more important. Nandi is said to have conquered

a certain Chaturmukha who was a friend of Jayanta. Evidently the poet is punning

upon the word Chaturmukha which means Brahma. The- word also refers to a king

having that name. It is known that Hiranyagarbha is one of the names- of Brahma.

It may be that a king called Hiranya is referred to here. This surmise islsupported by

some other verses quoted in the same commentary. There are four such 'verses in the

A'fll/ppa metre in praise of Nandi "

'

^

‘

/

karaiporunirk kadal kalangak kanmraimat tatuvagat

tirai poriiiu pudai peyarat tinddldr kadaintonaiye

' mtigilpom Uidal kalanga mulaviiUdJ pudai peyara
' '

'

, .
yagalvUufiibi namararkkti maramudam padaittcmaiye ,

varai periya mattaga vajaravan kayiragat ’
. ;

Hraiyiriyak kadal kadaindu Tiripnagalaip padaittanaiyeP

These td\Uai-s make the same reference to Nandi churning the ocean and
obtaining thereform the annita (ambrosia) and Sri Lakshmi and thus compare him to

Vishnu.

' In another verse we have the following iaravu : ,

kedalarn mamunivar kilanidtidan roludettak

kadal keVxi kanai htdarir. kalantolihim yarulai i
'

yalalviri Mai ienka mrmdvdi mdlaintanait

tdroda mndipldirat tamaniyap podi ponga
.

•
-

3. YUppenmkalamf commentary on Sutra 86.
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varpunah mUkuriich 'pagalida imldamnmppak

Kurugiian matpidanda kolai mali fadakkaiydy.^

In this the king is compared to Vishnu who in his incarnation as Narasimha

killed the asura Hiranyakasipu.

The next section of the inlisni has the following as the first verse r >

jnurakalira viyawmUirai muhiratu tin talaipanippap
^ . ,

puraitodit tiradiijidt pdnnalainda inaramcillar i

adiyodti imidiyirtippnn dayarnlava nilnnceiap ‘

podiyela veiigalatUip pndmtiadn iiin ptigalanid^
^

In this section the king is compared to Krishna who vanquished the viallar

(wrestlers) in the court of Kamsa at Mathura. In the third verse of this section he is

compared to the same Krishna who vanquished the bull. It will be clear from these

verses that the comparisons are only veiled references in double entendre tc the victory

of the Baria chief over the Pallavas. The mallar were the Pallavas and the bull was

their emblem. Likewise the victory over Hiranya must be taken as that of Bana over

Hiranya, i.e., Hiranyavarman, the father of Nandivarman Pallavamalla. The
Pattattalmapgalam Plates of Pallavamalla and the VclOrpajaiyam * Plates mention

Hiranyavarman, father of Pallavamalla, as a king and he must have reigned over the

Pailava kingdom during the minority of his son, the boy-king. As such the bferen’ce

in the above verse to Chaturmukha (i.e. Brahma or Hiranyagarbha) having been

conquered by the Bana may be taken to be a reference to Hiranyavarman.

It is not possible to discuss in this short paper all the new information brought

to light by the Tamil verse. But one thing may be said here. Recent discoveries have

given us information about a Pandya king named Jayanta, who can be assigned to this

period.

It is well-known that the Banas who played a minor role earlier revived their

power in the eighth century A.D. and since then ruled semi-independently for nearly

eight generations over the tract of land to the north of Tondaimandalam, comprising

portions of the present-day districts of North Arcot, Chittoor, Cuddappa and Nellore.

The first ruler who revived the past glories of the family is variously named Nandi-

varman or Jaya-Nandivarman. The Gudimallam Plates of the Bana ruler Vikramaditya II

describe this Nandivarman as follows® :

tasyauvaye saimidbhutali prithm(rTjpalasatlamah

Nandivarnnm iti khydiah praSanisifa-jna/idbalali (v. LO)

4. Ibid
, Siitra ^1.

5. Ibid.

6. Epi. hid

,

XVir, pp. 4 and 6,
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In his [Bai’s lineage] was bom the best of kings, called Nandivarnian, whose

great power was praised

.

jayati sa Nandivarmma

mrapatmani-7nakutd-U(li)dha-pdda-yilgali

teua nirakrta-kalind

sampratl rajanvati(ti) prithivi (v. 11)

‘Victorious is that Nandivarnian, whose pair of feet was kissed by the diadems

(set) with jewels of princes. Through him, who drove away (the sins of) the Kali (age)

the earth is now (!) provided with a just king.’

The expression rdjamati used in this record to indicate the Baija kingdom under

the rule of Nandivarman is rather strange. Panini has given a special rule to explain

the significance of this term. It indicates a kingdom having a just and valorous ruler

protecting his subjects properly according to the Sastras.’’

It makes an exception to the general rule about the elision of the final n before

the consonant in the word, rajanvdn, in the sense of ‘having a good king’, the ordinary

form rajanvdn meaning only ‘having a king’.

The Bapa chief referred to in the above verse is evidently this ruler. While

studying the Rayakotta Plates of Skandasishya II it was pointed out by me that Mava-

livanarayar who figured in that record was a subordinate of the donor Skandasishya II

and that he was inimical to Pallavamalla ® That surmise is well supported by this

verse. Obviously he joined hands with the Chalukyas of the north and the Pandyas

of the south in opposing Nandivarman Pallavamalla and he was successful! for a time.

7. iTlJamTln sattrVjyd (Panini, Vni. 2. 14)

?. Transactions of the Archaeological Society of South India, 1957-58, pp. 56-67,



A Baua Chieftain of the Thirteenth Century

Among the impoitant feudatory dynasties which ruled over different parts of the
Tamil country under the Imperial Cholas, mention may be made of the Ba^jas, a family

of chieftains who ruled after the 1 0th century over Magadai mandalam covered by parts of
the South Arcot, Salem and North Arcot Districts.^ The most distinguished among them
was a Rajarajamagadai nadaj\>an, a contemporary of the Chola emperor Kulotunga III.

He was usually known as Magadcim (Lord of the Magadha country) and Ponparappinan

on account of his having gilded the temple at Tiruvannmalai In this paper "an attem'pt

is made to describe his relations with the Cholas and the Pandyas.
7 * '

In the early years of his reign he was a loyal feudatory of his suzerain overlord,

and helped him in his war against the Pandyan king by serving as the Chola general. If

the contents of a Sanskrit inscription at Tiruvannamalai may be believed the Bajia

chieftain captured from the Pandyas as six crowns. It says ; “Oh ! King of the Barias 1

Previously five and now one (thus six) crowns did you capture in battle from the Pandya
who was intolerant of the pride of the devas ; of these, one you gave away to the Chola
king and now the rest have been offered to the great hill shrine of Arunachala; what is

there to be given by you to the supplicant ?”- We are not concerned here with all the

wars that the Bana chieftain waged with the Pandyan king, but only with the one after

which he is said to have given the Pandyan crown to the Chola king. Kulottunga III

the overlord of the Baria chieftain himself waged wars against the Pandyas. The first of

1. For a connected history of the Banas see my monograph on them published in the /ounin/ £>//nrfian

History, Vol. XXIX, parts i and ii.

2 Pur\am paiichakamadhya chaikammarak liTim prdagari adi tdiah

PandyTin (f) samyati samlirUTlm makutTmyeteshii Banciiataj
Yekam cliolaknie vttiriiamaparTmya eh}tlriinTik/i}a le

^

'

SaitendrVya samrrptt'Sni blimatp kirn \'drtltine dasyalej^
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them was in 1182 when he installed -Vikrama, Pandya on the Pandyan throne after

driving Vira Pandya into exile. The exiled ruler attempted to get back his power, but

was defeated at Netttir after which he submitted to the Chola emperor in an open durbar

at Madurai in 1189. On the death of Vikrama Pandya in 1190 Jata.varma Kulasekhara

succeeded to the Pandyan throne, and a few years thereafter he became not only insub-

ordinate to the Chola king, but also hostile to him, as may be seen from his elaborate

praiastis. Hence after his vijayabliislieka in Karuvur Kulottunga started on an expedition

again against the Madurai country and defeated the Pandyan ruler at Mattiytlr and

Kalikkottai with all his large army consisting of 'the Maravas and the Elagappadai. Then

when Kulasekhara fled into the forests Kulottunga marched into . Madurai, demolished

^e'Pandyan coronation-hall in the palace, and sowed castor seeds in the^plate. To
commemorate his victory he took the title of Sola-Pdudya, performed his virabhisbekct

and planted a pillar of victory.® Since by that time Kulottunga III had' ’made himself

the lord of the three kingdoms, Chola, Chera and Pandya, he 'called himself TriWm-

vaimJra also.'^ This final Chola cohquest of Madurai must have taken place just before

the.tvventy-fourth year of Kulottunga 'III, ‘the’inscription which mentions him with the

above title being dated in that year (1202 A.D.).' - •
' ' ' '[

U !
’

1
_

. J , , j ' '
<

') ’• In his conquest of the Pandyan country Kulottunga III was ably helped by the

Bapa chieftain about whom tliis paper deals," and Hence in recognition of his services the

Chola* king gave him the name Pandya,' and crowned him as the ruler of the* conquered

country.® This incident is further supported by an account ^ we have of (He Baija

chieftain. ' He had a court* minstrel*whom he 'patronised much. One night he went to

the minstrel’s hbuse and tapped the front door ,"and when accosted as to who he wasi

without giving out his own name, he gave out some other name. But the ministrel who
was able tojecogtiize his voice Ipleased his master saying that he was his patron ®

From the above references it is possible to infer that the Bapa_ chieftain helped

Kulpttunga III in his successful war against the Pandya king Kulasekhaia and in

recognition of that he was honoured by his master by placing the Pandyan crown over

his head. Subsequently he must have returned the crown to the Chola king who on
submission of the defeated Pandyan king, gave it back to him. What is said in the

Sanskrit inscription'at Tiruvannamalai above mentioned is apparently a reference to

this incident.

, . . It is interesting to note^ that; a number of pther inscriptions also mention the

Bapa chieftain as having defeated the Pandyan king and struck terror in his mind. One
of-them says that when Magadar Roman got angry the Pandya king was driven out of

Ws kingdom. jAnother mentions some statues presented to the Pandya by the king of
Ceylon which the Magadan wanted to be handed over to him with the threat that if it

.^as not-done so immediately,- the Chola monarch would order his head to be crushed-

3. Inscriptions of the Pudukkottai State,'i^os. \66, \69, 176 and 178. • -

4. >47?5'/£', 554 of 1904. - . . • ^

^ Inscriptionsof the Piidiikkottai State, No.- 163: . . , . ,

6. Pandiyanaip per marrip pTipar Karasalitha Andakai lyeurrunnai yariyeno—nmndelunda kar ‘inarrary

chengai katakari \'ii(iTiitinathii per tnarrn 'ontfio peSu '
• (Pernntogai, 1188)

.
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under the feet of elephants. A third one refers to the deputation of the Bana chieftain'

to the Pandyan ruler from the Chola court for' the collection of tribute from'

him and his fear on that account. A fourth inscription says that the Pandyas were"

afraid of the very name Bapa. A fifth says that the prestige gained by the Pandya by
’

inscribing the fish emblem on the Mcru, defeating the sea and chaining the clouds were

all lost on account of his defeat at the hands of Magade^an. A still another inscription

mentions the shame of the Pandya, who, though worshipped by others, was then '

prostrating himself at the feet of the Ba^ia Magadesan.’

But such a loyal feudatory appears to have turned against his master Kulottunga III-,,

soon after the conquest of Madurai by the latter.
,

Probably he took advantage of.

the growing power and influence of the Kadavarayas and himself to defy imperial

authority. Hence to counteract his new policy some eleven chieftains
i
formed a con-i

federacy among themselves in 1205 under the leadership of a Chedirayan. They decided

to refrain from having any communication with Magadainadalvan alias Vana Kovaraiyan

and Kulottunga Chola 'Vapa Kovaraiyan either by sending men or letters to them. They
further decided that if the two Bapa chieftains and the Kadavaraya chieftain should do
anything the members of the confederacy would march against them, and took the vow
that if they did not act so they would bear the sandals of the Yapa Kovaraiyan.® . Thus
it is evident that the attitude of the Bapa chieftain towards the- Chola emperor became

hostile about 1205. An undated verse inscription records the conquest of the Kadava,-

Magadha and Ganga by one Vidugadalagiya Perumal.® Obviously Magadha in the

inscription is the same as the Magadai territory over which the Bapas were ruling. i ;

J ,.

f

Towards the close of his reign Kulottunga III had to taste the bitter fruits of his

policy against the Pandyas. On the death of Jatavarman Kula^ekhara in 1216 his

brother Maravarman Sundara Pandya succeeded to the Pandyan throne; and immediately

thereafter he invaded the Chola country to take revenge on the Chola emperor for the

excesses he had committed in his kingdom during the reign of his predecessor, set fire to

the Chola cities of Uraiyur and Thanjavur, pulled down a number of buildings, per-

formed his vJrabhishekam in the Chola abhisheka imndapa at Ayirattaji and after

worshipping Lord Ponnambalanatha at Tillai (Chidambaram) way staying at Pon
Amaravati. Then, when Rajaraja III who had been deprived of his kingdom appealed

to Maravarman Sundara Pandya to return back to him his kingdom he restored it to

him.i® Two inscriptions mention that the Pandya king restored the Chola country to

Kulottunga III.^^ The inscription of Maravarman Sundara Pandya I mentioned above

says that before performing his own virabbisheka in the anointing hall at Syirattali he

7. Virar Vadimbalamba nin/’iln ntalardigal Chori vadimbalanibach chulnde—viradaran yindH ianikoijkan

relvcliian niSgadarkdn chendSmaraikaf chhappa.

8. ARSIE, 516 of 1902; SII, Vm, No. 106.

9. 552 of 1906.

10. iSW., 140 of 1894; Epi. /nrf., XXn, p. 42; also 549 of 1926; /6W., 322 of 1927-28; /fiiU, 47 of

1937-38; para 44 and Epi. Ind., XXTV, p. 161.

11. .47JS'/£', 72 of 1924; /Wrf., 9 of 1926.
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bestowed the golden crown of the Cholas on a Bana.*- Doubt has been expressed

regarding the meaning of the term bamn as it may refer to both a bard and a

Bana chieftain.^® But there is nothing improbable in the crown having been placed on

the head of the Bana chieftain. There is every possibility of the Ba^ia ruler who had

taken up a hostile attitude against Kulottunga III, having gone over to the side of the

Pandya king by 1216. What was left to our guess in the Tirunelveli inscription of

Sundara Pandya I regarding the Bania has been made explicit in two other inscriptions,

both of them from Jambukesvaram. One of them records the gift of the Chola country

by Sundara Pandya to the Baria king (Bmapati). The other is in praise of the Baga

ruler evidently called VTra Magadan as indicated by the single Tamil line at the top of

the inscription The possibility of Bana help to Sundara Pandya is definitely borne

out by an inscription of a Ba^a chieftain in which he claims credit for the Pandyan

success against the Chola emperor in 1216.^® It was this anti-Chola policy of his that

drew upon him all the anger of Hoysaia Narasimha II who even before- playing his part

in the restoration of Chola authority punished the Bana ruler for his contumacy and

imprudence.^®

12. Epi. hid

,

XXII, pp. 46 and 51.

13. Ibid., XXII, p. 51, n. 6.

14. ARSIE,, 481 and 482 of 1908.

15. 507 of 1902; also OT, Vin, No. 97.

16. For an account of the Hoysaia activity against the BanaTuler, see JIB, XXIX, pp. 296-298.
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The Battle of Ura^tti

One of the major factors that contributed to the decline and disruption of many
kingdoms that flourished in the ancient and medieval periods in India was the existence

of a number of over-grown feudatories, who, taking advantage of the growing weakness

of the central government, tried to increase their power and influence not only by indulg-

ing in local quarrels among themselves, but also by raising their banner of revolt against

their suzerains. One such feudatory family in south India which was to a large extent

responsible for weakening of the Chola empire in the thirteenth century was the

Kadavariiya dynasty which grew from humble beginnings to a great political power and

influence. The most famous of this dynasty was one Kopperunjingadeva who revolted

against his master Rajaraja III (A.D. 1216-1257), defeating him at Tcjlartl in A.D. 1230,

captured and kept him prisoner at his own capital Sendamahgalam in the South Arcot

district, till his release was secured through the intervention of the Hoysala King Vira

Narasimha II in A.D. 1231. But before A.D. 1229-30 the Kadavarayas had just increased

their power and influence in the north, by bringing under their control territories which

appear to have been ruled by another feudatory family, the Yadavarayas.

In the eastern portions of the Chola empire there were two feudatory families,

the Kadavarayas who ruled over what is now the South Arcot district from their head-

quarters at Sendamangalam near modern Cuddalore, and the Yadavarayas who ruled

from Kalahasti roughly over the Tondamandalam region now comprising parts of the

districts of North Arcot, Chingleput, Chittoor and Nellore. There was one striking

diflference between the two. While the Kadavaraya chieftains aimed at their own
independence at the expense of the waning power of the Cholas, the Yadavarayas

remained loyal to their overlords and tried to curb the growing power -of the

Kadavas.

The Kadavarayas progressed into an important political power during the days

of Kulottunga III and Rajaraja 111. A member of the family was one Arasanarayanan
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AJappirandan Virasekaran alias Kadavarayan who is credited with the destruction of

KBdal which belonged to a chieftain called Karkadamarayan and thence his successors

took the tittle of Kadal Ajappirandan.^ The growing political importance of the

Kadavaraya chieftain is further borne out by the fact that a compact was made between

him and one Sengeni Vjra Solan AttimalJan alias Kulottunga Sola Sambiivarayan, where-

•by both swore to protect the interests of one another.^

This Kildal AJappirandan alias Kadavarayan had a distinguished son called

Pallavandar alias Kadavarayan or Viraviran Kadavarayan. From inscriptional evedence

we come to know that he followed the policy of his father, waged wars with his

neighbours in the north and became the lord of the Tondaimapdalam country.^

. The fifth and sixth years of the reign of Rajaraja III were years of great troubles

in the Chola empire, which are characterised as duritangaj (troubles) and kshobham

(agitation).^ Though it is not possible to get any clear idea of the nature of the troubles

and agitation that prevailed in the empire it is clear that taking advantage of the general

disorder, the Kadavaraya chieftain engaged himself in local wars and extended his

power over the Tondaimandalam. According to the inscriptions he killed a very large

number of his enemies at Sevur and created “mountains of dead bodies and swelling

rivers of blood”. The place Of battle may probably be identified with Melsevur in the

Tindivanam taluk in the South Arcot district. Probably as a result of his successful

war against the ruler of Tondaimapdalam he became the master of the Pennai nadu and

the Vada-Vengada hills (Tirupati), and the Protector of Mallai.®

V ^ j

. But we are not able to know from the Kadavaraya inscriptions who the ruler

of the Tondaimandalam who was defeated by the Kadava ruler. The clue is however,

supplied by a cryptic statement contained in a Yadavaraya inscription. The inscription

which is found at Yogi Mallavaram near Tirupati refers to a fight that took place at

Uratti (modem Oratti) near Madurantakam in the Chingleput district between Vira

•Nairasin'gadeva Yadavaraya and the Kadavaraya in which a soldier called Narayana
Pillai died and mentions that in order to commemorate his heroism a grant was made in

favour of Udaiyar Tiruppaladrsvaram Udaiya Nayanar of TiruchukanOr in the Timk-
kadavnr nadu in the district of Tiruvenkatakottam in the Jayankonda solamandalam.®
'

‘ t ^
,

*

1. AkSlE, 588 of 1908. The identification of Kudal has puzzled many scholors. It was once thought
- that it might be modern Cuddalore {ARSIE, 1913, para 66)7 But since the chief is said to have

proceeded westwards and captured Kudal after which he conquered the land of Adhigaman identi-

fiable with the area round about Dharmapuri, it is reasonable to assume that Kudal was on the way
’ to the Salem district from Sendamangalam. Probably it may be identified with the place called Kudal
‘or Kudalur in the Kil Amur nadu {ARSIE, 73 of 1918) comprising of parts of the Kallakurichchi
and Tirukkoyilur taluks of the South Arcot Dist. ' !

2. Ibid., 75^ of 1919; Rep. para 21.

3. Ibid., Monijonai inscription. Ibid., 178 of 1921, also Ibid., 296 of 1912, Atti Prasasti and 187 of
1932-33 Tirukkalukunram inscription.

4. Ibid., 141 of 1926; 213 of 1925; 309 of 1927.

5. Ibid.. 1913, Rep. para 66.

§. Ibid.^ 271 of lp04; qlso Tiriimalat Tirupati Devasthqnam Inscriptions

^

Vol. 1^ No, 35, ‘j
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Thus the ruler of the Toridatnandalam, area during the time was the Yadavaraya

chieftain Vira Narasingadeva. From the provenance of his inscriptions it appears that

he ruled over parts of the Tondamandalam which included important religious centres

like Kalahasti, Tirupati, Tiruvorriyur, and Tiruppasur. He was a feudal vassal of the

Chola King Kulottunga III and Rajaraja III owing allegiance to them. He appears to

have enjoyed large administrative powers and therefore he was called a Mahamandale-
svara and one inscription credits him with the title of Tribhuvanachakravartin.^ His

distinction in war is commemorated by his title Tanininru veiiran (one who conquered

unaided) a term by which he is referred to in a few inscriptions.® He is said to have

conquered his enemis in war, extended his fame, wedded the goddess of prosperity and

bore the insignia of royalty namely a garlanded elephant, a white umbrella. He is also

reported to have performed a tulabhara ceremony, and to have presented gold for the

gilding of the vimana of the temple of Venkatesvara. Though he was in the enjoyment

of large political poweis he continued to be loyal to his overlord. This is well-borne

out by the evidence of the above-mentioned inscription at Yogi Mallavaram which

mentions Tribhuvana Chakravartigal Sri Rajarajadevar.

The Kadava chieftain Vlra-Vlran Kadavarayar, apparently thought that before

establishing his independence he must become master of the Topdaimandalam country,

whose ruler was a strong supporter of the Chola power. Therefore, he invaded the

country and fought its ruler Vira Narasingadeva Yadavaraya in various battles, the most

Important of which was Sevur, probably on account of which it finds mention in the

Kadavaraya inscription Though the battle of Uratti is not mentioned in the Kadavaraya
epigraphs it may be assumed as one of those which enabled Kadavarayar to become
master over the Topdaimandalam. But-in the nature of the things that obtained then,

the Kadavaraya-Yadavaraya conflict may be taken only localized one for Rajaraja HI
did not have anything to do with it directly, because if the war had been directed

against the imperial authority either the Chola King himself or any of his commanders

would have tried to resist the military activities of the rebel vassal. But Kadava’s success

in different-battles in the Tondaimapdalam and his ultimate conquest of the region was

a necessary preliminary step in the aggressively forward progress of the dynasty.

1

But the defeat of the Yadavarayas was definite and the death of Narayapa Pijlal

a brother-in-law of Yira Narasingadeva, was a distinact loss to them. He was the son

of Papdyadaraiyar, the manager and treasurer of the Siva temple 'of TippaladlsVarm

Udaiyar Mahadevar in TiruchchanUr, and father-in-law of the Yadavariija ruler Vira

Narasingadeva. When Narayana Pillai lost his life in the battle of Uratti it was'natur-

ally thought by Pandyaraiyar that religious services should be instituted in the temple

of Tippaladlsvaram Udaiya Nayanar of TiruchhantJr for the spiritual benefit of Narayana

Piljai, his own son, and hence the grant. '
'

7. Ibid., 710 of 1889.

8. Ibid., 640 of 1904; 96 of 1922,
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An Odda Invasion of South India

The closing years of the reign of the Chola King Kulottunga III and the early

years of the reign of his son and successor Rajaraja III constituted a stirring and trying

period in the history of the Chola country marked by internal troubles and external

aggressions. The political condition of the region during the period A.D. 1216 to 1225

was as follows. On the death of Jatavarman Kula^ekhara Pandya in 121 6 his son*

Maravarman Sundara Pandya succeeded to the Pandyan Kingdom and inaugurated a

period of revival and expansion. In the Chola country Kulottunga III who had become
worn out with age and a long perid of active life began to associate his son, the ill;

starred Rajaraja III with the administration from A.D. 1216; and the Jatter ruled over/

the Chola empire in his individual capacity after the death of his father in A.D. 1218.

In the Hoysala Kingdom Narasimha II who had been associated with the administration

of his father Ballala II succeeded to the throne in A.D. 1218 after the death of the latter.

To the north of the Chola empire lay the Kakatiya kingdom with Ganapati as its king.

Further, north was the Eastern Ganga Kingdom in the Kalinga country with Ananga
Bhima (A.D. 121M238) as its king. Within the Chola empire itself, there were a

number of overgrown feudatory families which were trying to increase their power at the

expense of the Central Government. Among them were the Kadavarayas in the present

South Arcot District and the Banas ruling in the Magadaimandalam covered by parts of

the South Arcot, Salem and North Arcot Districts. According to a few Pandyan
inscriptions, Maravarman Sundara Pandya I, immediately after his accession, conquered
the Chola country, apparently as a measure of vengeance on Kulottunga III for the

many excesses he had committed in the Pandyan Kingdom during the reign of

Jattlvarman Kulasekhara, set lire to (he Chola capitals of Uraiyur and Thanjavur, razed

to the ground a number of buildings there performed his vTrabhishekcmi in the Chola
abhishekamandapa at Ayirattali and after worshipping Lord Ponnambalanathan at Til'ai

'

(Chidambaram) was staying at Pon Amaravati. At that time he invited the Chola kingii

(o l]is court and retum;d back the Chola Kingdom to him and his son with a tinimu^an}
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and the title of ChoJapati.^ Though the above account gives the impression that the

Chola Kingdom was returned to Kulottunga III by the Pandyan king as a matter of

grace, the evidence of a few Hoysala inscriptions bears out that it was done a result of

intervention of Hoysala Narasimha II. An inscription in the Nagamangala Taluk in

Mysore dated A.D. 1218 refers to Ballala II as Cliojarajya pralishijiapamcfiarya (establisher

of the Chola Kindora), Pandyagaja kesari (the lion to the elephant Pandya) and to

Narasimha 11 as Chola Ktilaikarakshaka (the sole protector of the Chola family).- Another

inscription of the same year while recording the achievements of Narasimha II mentions

him as Kahchikanchma Kadarar ktilantaka, Magararajya iiirmiilaim, Chojaraj'ya pratish-

thacharya, Pandyarajya kolahala, Kadavaraya diiapatta. etc.® From these inscriptions it is

clear that in A D. 1216 or 1217 the Hoysalas interferred in the politics of the Tamil

country, defeated the Pandyan king and restored the Chola Kingdom to Kulottunga III,

probably at his request. There is nothing improbable in it for one of the queens of

Ballala II was a Chola princess, and there existed good political relationship between the

Hoysalas and the Cholas.

But Kulottunga III did not live long to rule over his restored empire. He died

in A.D. 1218 and was succeeded by his son Rajaraja III. The early years of the rule of

Rajaraja were marked by great internal troubles. The fifth year was particularly so.

Three inscriptions in the Thanjavur district bear evidence to that. As a result of the

troubles, a temple had to be temporarily deserted, the images and movable property in

it had to be carried elsewhere for safety, the records and title deeds of two villages were

permanently destroyed and fresh records had to be supplied to them after due enquiry.

An inscription of the seventeenth year of the king at Tiruvilakkudi records the re-conscc-

ration of a few images in the local temple by a Svetavanapperumanar alias Tondaimanar

wlio instituted a search for them and found out that they had been carried away and

deposited in the temple of Tiruchcharrimurram by the followers of the chief Vanako-
varaiyar in troubled times in the fifth year of the King. He redeemed the images by
payriient of money, and after consecration made provision for offerings and worship.'*

An inscription at Talaichchangadu in the nineteenth year of the same king registers

the renewal of the title deeds {anubhogaparralugu} through the village assembly
I '

s

1. The above details are contained in an inscription of Maravarman'Sundara Pandya (ARS[E,49of
1890; /AW., 140 of 1894; /AW.. 362 of 1926; /AW., para 32; /AW.I 322 of 1928; and para 18). In a’

recent publication of the Annamalai University in Tamil on the history of the Cholas Sadasiva'

.Pandarathar doubts very much if Kulottunga III would have sustained any defeat at the hands of

Maravarman Sundara Pandya. He gives two reasons for it
:

(I) Kulottunga was too great and
experienced a king to haVe' been defeated by the young Pandyan king; (2) The Pandya does not

mention his restoration of the Chola kingdom to Kulottunga III in any of his inscription except in

one of the I5th year of his reign (y4R5’/£', 9 of 1926). But the defeat of the old Chola king at the

hands of the Pandyas is borne out not only by the above inscription which says that he gave back
'

to Kulottunga III his crown and Mudikonda'.olapuram but also by the defads contained in the

inscription mentioned earlier. It is obvious that the Chola king and his son Rajaraja III were both

.

defeated by Sundara Pandya immediately after his succession.

2.
_
EC, IV; Ng. 29.

3. /AW., IX. Kn. 87.

4. ARSiE., 141 of 1926. . . .



A^I Ot)DA INVASIOt^ OF SOUTH iNOlA 91

to all ' the residents who ‘had been in the enjoyment of lands in several hamlets

of the villages upto the eighteenth year of the king by two persons, who were apparently

officers of the king as the old registers (potlagam) and document (koiam) had been lost

in the disturbed state in the country {dtiritangal) in the fifth, eleventh and seventeenth

years of the King.® An inscription of the fifth year again of the same king says that as

certain documents of the temple were lost on account of some mishap fresh ones

were made.®

The circumstances under which the disturbances took place in the fifth year of

Chola Rajaraja III have not so far received proper appreciation. On the other hand it

has been said of them : “These disturbances might have been purely local; at any

rate there is no clear evidence of their being due to war or foreign jnvasion’”.

But really the disturbances appear to have taken place on account of the unsettled

conditions created in the area closely following foreign invasions of the region. Probably

these disturbances synchronised with the invasion 'of the Tamil country as

far as Srirangam by the Oddas, who were no other than the Eastern Gangas of the

periodj ruling over the Kahnga country followed by the invasion of the same region by

Hoysala Narasimha II, probably to save the region from the northern invaders. These

events are suggested by a few inscriptions of the period. One of them found in the

Srirangam temple belongs to Maravarman Sundara Pandya and is dated in his ninth

regnal year i.e. A.D. 1225. It says :

“By order of Maravarman Sundara Paijdva ‘who was pleased to present the

Chola country’, in his ninth regnal year, we, Jiyar Narayana Dasar, Alagiya Sola

Brahmarayar in charge of the temple and its surrounding region, Periya Tiruppati

Srivaishnavas, the temple servants, 5/iflgara/a iiawto, members of the snfe//5 ofTiruva-

rangam, the Viuuappani Seyrar, Srlpadotn (aiigum iiambimdr, the various uimattaLaras,

the Aryas, the Bhattas the devotees of Emberumanar or Ramanuja and the Sri

Vaishpavas of the eighteen imudalas who had come to witness the great festival met

together in the Raja Maheudran enclosure and came to the following settlement :

I ‘The ten persons (the heads of the ten groups of temple servants) who were

governing the temple from ancient times joined with Oddas and collected Oddakahi from

the temple and the nimantakdras. They also gave the Oddas paddy from the temple

lands and in various other ways destroyed the property of the temple. Consequently

temple worship suffered for about 300 days in the last two years. The ten -persons took

to themselves the temple lands and shared the yield and income from them with the

Oddas. Consequently there were loud complaints and protests. Now the regime of the

Oddas has come to an end and our savmntamr have taken possession of temple as

belonging to the rightful government. The landed properties were all restored and all

services in the temple were regularly conducted. The persons responsible for the above
I

~ f i
-

: V <
f

5. /6W, 21 3 of 1925.

6. Ibid.. 309 of 1927.

7. Saslri, Nilantanta K.A., The Colas II, pp. 176-77. ,
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wrongs were dismissed from the temple. Now the temple servants belonging to different

•groups {Tiruppati Kotin) are to be chosen by lot. At the close of each year they are to

be replaced by election.”®

The above inscription clearly shows that some two years before its date the

Srirangam area was in the hands of the Oddas. So they must have invaded the Tamil

country about A.D. 1222. This is further supported by two Hoysala inscriptions one

from the Chikmagalur and the other from the Chennarayapatnam taluks dated respec-

tively in A.D. 1222 and 1223. The former of the two says that Hoysala Narasimha II

marched in A D. 1222 to Srirangam®. The view has been expressed that this march had

nothing to do with the disturbances in the Thanjavur district mentioned above “which’

might have been the result of a Pandyan invasion”, and that “if that was so it is some

whdt strange that we hear notHihg more of this invasion from either the Chola or the

Papdyan side’’^® But really the Hoysala march to Srirangam appears to h; ve had

something to do with the Odda invasion of the Tamil country as is borne out by the

inscription from the Chennarayapatnam taluk mentioned above. Referring to Hoysala

Narasimha II it says : “His forcible capture of Adiyama, Chera, Paridya, Makara and

the powerful Kadavas, why should I describe how he lifted up Chola, brought

under his order the land as far as Setu, and pursuing after the TrikaVmga King

their trend of elephants displaying unequalled valour.’^ The inscription is of particular

significance on account of its mention of the pursuit of the Trikalinga King by the

Hoysala king. In view of the mention of this pursuit and the statement that he brought

under his order all the land as far as Setu (though the latter may be too tall a claim for

him) it may be presumed that when the Kalinga King invaded the Tamil country in

A.D. 1222 Hoysala Narasimha opposed him on the way. It is certain that he did not

undertake an invasion of the Kalinga country for in that case the inscription may be

expected to say so. It only mentions Narasimha’s pursuit of the Kalinga army in the

south. It is difficult to find out the rea 1 reason for the Eastern Kalinga King’s invasion

of the distant Tamil country which provoked opposition from Narasimha After all he

might have wanted to take advantage of the political confusion in the Chola country and

make the best out of it.

It is interesting to find that this invasion of the Tamil country by the Oddas and

their occupation of Srirangam is mentioned in the Kdyilo\ugti, a work dealing with the

history of the temple of Srirangam. According to it the Oddas invaded the country

during the period of Uyyakandar and Manakkal Nambi (10th century ?) and that the

God was taken for safety to TirumalinifijSlai (A (agarkoil near Madurai) and kept there for

a year. During the period Vaikhanasa priests had taken over worship in temple and

non-Vaishnavas began to live in large numbers at Srirangam. Later A}avandar expelled

the non-Vaish^avas and restored the proper administration of the temple^-.
s

8. sn. IV, No. 500.

9. EC, VI. Cm. 56. Once it was thought that the inscription could be assigned to A.D. 1217 (JIH, VI,

p. 205). But as Hultzsch has pointed out it is really dated in A.D. 1222, El, VII. p. 162.

10. Sastri, Nilakantha K.A., op. cit„ p. 177, fn. 15.

H. £C.V,Cn.203.

12. Rao, V.N. Hari, (Ed.) KSUoiugu, p. 39.
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Though the Oddas were driven away from the Tamil country by about A.D. 1225

by Maravarman Sundara Pandya we find them once again in the Tamil country by about

A.D. 1235-36, this time near Kanchi as may be seen from two Eastern Ganga inscrip-

tions at the place belonging to the nineteenth and twentieth years of the Chola king

Rajaraja. The Kanchipuram area was then a cockpit of the contemporary powers of

south India and the Deccan and we find the inscriptions of many dynasties there during

that period. The political events of south India during the period were as follows.

About A.D, 1230 Rajaraja withheld payment of tribute to Maravarman Sundara Pandya

and so he tvas defeated in battle and driven out of his kingdom. When the fugitive king

proceeded to seek the support of Hoysala Narasimha II he was defeated by his over-

grown Kadava feudatory Kopperunjinga at the battle of Tellaru and inprisoned at

Sendamangalam. his own capital. When Narasimha II came to know of the incidents,

he' marched to Srirangam and defeated Sundara Pandya at Mahendramangalam on the

banks of the Kaveri. Another army sent by hirn marched to Sendamangalam devastat-

ing the country on the way„and laid seige to the fortress. Kopperunjinga submitted and

liberated Rajaraja III and Sundara Pandya restored to him his kingdom. As a result of

this the influence of Narasimha II in the Chola country increased as may be seen from

the provenance of Hoysala inscriptions in Kanchi. According to an inscription he is

said to have stationed
j

there a body of |R/;eri«;rf£r^, (probably a regiment of soldiers)^®.

Besides there are a few inscriptions at Kanchi which record gifts made by certain

important mohapradhauas and saimiitas of the contemporary Hoysala Narasimha 11 and

datedjin the regnal years of Chola Rajaraja III.^^

'i i’
'

.
’

I
'

As said above there are also two Eastern Ganga inscriptions at Kanchi dated in

the nineteenth and twentieth .years of Rijaraja in. Th'e former of the two mentions

Srimat Ananthavarma Raluttadeva c f the^Ganga family as camping at Abhinavavarajiasi

(Kanchi) and records the grant of a village by Somaladevi Mahadevi apparently his wife

for offerings and worship to the God in the temple.^® The latter records the gift of 128

cows and 4 bulls by Kalingesvara A'niyanga Bhiniadeva Rahutta for four perpetual lamps

in the temple.'^® It is interesting to note that the second inscription mentions that the

gift was made jn the twentieth year of Chola Rajaraja III. Since the first inscription

says that the Kalinga king was camping at Abhinavavaranasi at the time of the gift of

his wife and the second inscription mentions Rajaraja III as the reigning King it may be

taken that there was no hostility between the Cbolas and the Kalingas then, and that

the visit of the Kalingas king, and queen to Kanchi had nothing more than a religious

significance. They could have undertaken a pilgrimage tour to the city.'

13. EC, V, n. 2l I a; also Ibid., XII, pp. 9-10.

14. ARSIE, 40S, 611, 6l2, 615 and 617 of 1919 and Ibid., 39 of 1920.

15. 444 of 1919.

16 76W.. 445 of 1919.



14

Village Conimimities in South India

The foundation of any stale edifice in Indian Administration must necessarily be

the village not merly on account of its great antiquity but also because of the fact that

people living there are known to one another intimately and have interests Avhich con-

verge on well-recognised objects. Even so late as the early nineteenth century

British administrators in our country were so much impressed with the vitality

and usefulness of the Indian village communities that they have showered encomiums

on them. Elphinstone thought that the secret of the good things achieved in India in

the past is to be sought in the stability and continuity of the Indian village life and

organization. Sir Charles Metcalfe observes in one of his latters that, “The village

communities are village lepublics, having nearly everything they want within themselves

and almost independent of any foreign relations. They seem to last where nothing else

lasts. Dynasty after dynasty crumbles down. Revolution succeeds revolution

(But) the union of village communities—each one forming a separate state—by itself—

has I conceive, contributed more than any other cause to the preservation of the people

of India through all revolutions and changes which they have suffered and it is in a high

degree conducive to their happiness and to the enjoyment of a great portion of freedom

and independence.”^

Therefore, it is no surprise that the subject of the Indian village communities has

attracted a number of scholars particularly after the publication in 1871 by Sir Henry

Mane of his stimulating lectures on “Village Communities East and West.” Scholars

like Baden Powell, Mookerjee, Altekar and Ghoshal, to mention only a few, have made
suggestive contributions on the subject. The value of a study of the subject can hardly

be exaggerated, for in many cases the foundations of the political and administrative

institutions of later times have been traced to the ancient village communities. Even

1. Kaye, John William, The Life and Coi respondence ofLord Charles Metcalfe, II, p. 191.
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the idea of the corporate personality of a group of people is considered to be a develop-

ment from them. The word community is the same as the French word comvvme

which is derived from the Latin word communalis or comnnuiis. The Latin term itself is

a compound made up of two words com (together) mmis (bound) i.e., bound together.

The word community signifies a fellowship or joint personality i.e., a body of persons

organised for political, economic, social, religious and professional purpose. The

village community was, therefore, not distinct from the village organization which

existed in some form from very early times. Though such institutions were not peculiar

to south India, yet they had certain characteristics with regard to their comprehensiveness

and functions on account of which they may be considered unique. They formed a

definite part of the administrative machinery in the country and each of them had a

homogeneous, individual and continuous personality. But it must be admitted that an

integrated study of this fascinating subject has not so far received the attention it

deserves, though we are indebted to scholars like Venkayya, Prof. Nilakanta

Sastriand Dr. Appadorai who hive approached the subject from specific points of

view-

The village communities in south India belonged to a general pattern, bore some

common characteristics and served some common purposes and ends. Maine’s descrip-

tion of the English township “as an organised self acting group of Teutonic families

exercising a common proprietorship over a definite tract of land, its mark, cultivating its

domain on a common system and sustaining itself by the produce” may be taken to

be equally applicable to the village communities in south India in its early stages. It

was an organism born out of the consciousness among its members of a kinship among
them. Its growth was gradual, slow and spointaneous; the community often adapting

itself to changing conditions. There were three types of such village organizations

namely the ur, sabha, and the nadu which were essentially agrarian units.

r i 1

The humble and often unnoticed origins of even the mighty institutions are

generally shrouded in mystery; those of the village community of south India are no
exception.

,
We get glimpses of rural administration in the Tamil country from the literature

of the Sangam Age where we get reference to two terms, mauran and podiyil. The
marnam has been explained to by Nachchinarkiniyar as the open place in the centre of
the village where people met together. It was the common or public place also called

podiyil or poditvil, usually with the tree of the region or the banyan in the centre. Social

festivities and sacrifices to the Gods were conducted there. It was also used for discusion
of public affairs, and transaction of public business like administration of justice^ etc.

In spite of its wide prevalence and popularity we do not know its exact relationship with
the village community. But it is from some early inscriptions of south India that we
came to know something about the rise of a community feeling in the region. Some
of the early inscriptions of the Eastern Gangas and the Pallavas indicate the existence of
a leeling of collective recognition of their common Interests by residents in villages, the
pecessary basis for the rise of a community feeling among them and the evolution of q
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township. Each village was a community of land-holdks and land was the' primary
'

factor that made the people connected with it to com i together for common purposes..:

Lands were usually held under three distinct types of tenure; (1) dirdctly from the St&fe;

(2) under service tenure by the servants of the government ' or persons cha'rged.,with ,

the specific duties, like the recitation of the Bharata in the temfile or ’the ‘maintenance .

of an ambalam] and (3) under elemosynary tenure by groups'Of people or an- institution

like the tenple. To the last group belonged for instance the Brahnlanas who were,

-

granted the m^atchi rights over land or the right of the oVerlordship of a share of

produce. The tenure under which land were held by groups of persons was kno\vnA’

ai ganabhogam as distinct from ekabhogam by whicli term severality-tenure was ' known.

The co-sharers of land in a joint village where they enjoyed all the 'eight rights.' of’

possessions were the absolute owners of land. Such o-vner’ship rights consisted “in the.

exclusive use and absolute disposal of the powers of thd soil in'perpetuity, together with

the right to alter or destroy the soil itself where such an operation is possible. • These •

privileges combined, form the abstract idea ‘

o'f' property' Which ‘does 'not represent any -

substance distinct from these elements. Where they are found united there is property-,
''

and nowhere else.” Even in the severality-villages ownership of land appears to have

rested only with the citizens unless the Ihnds were Unoccujjied ahd tlie states’ share of the

income from land was due to the protection it gave to the people:. Wilson’s description

of the limitations of the titles of (he king over land is classical and 'deierves reproduc-'^

tion. He says that the king is not lord of the ‘soil’; he'is lord' o'f the earih, 'of thc'wholc

earth or kingdom ; not of any parcel or allotment of it ; he m'ay
,

punish a'cuttivator for
;

negleet of the crop ; and when he gives away lands and villages, he gives, asVay the share
‘

of the revenue. No donee would ever think 'of following ' such' a donation' by a'ctual;'

occupancy, he would be resisted if he did. The truth is that the rights of 'the king are 'a'

theory, an abstraction. Poetically and politically speaking he is ’the' lord; the mastdf,

the protector of the earth, pnV/mpnl/ W;(7/;i/pn) just as he' is the lord; '"the''

master, the protector of the earth {narapaii, narehara and nripa). Such js the common
title of a king, but he is no more the actual proprietbr ‘of th'd feoil'than hV'is’bf his

subjects ; they need not have his' permission to buy or sell it or fO’give it away and

-

would be much surprised and grieved if the king or his officers were to buy or sell-o'r-

give away the ground which they cultivated.” The recognition of private ownership of

property in south India is borne out by both literary 'an'd epigraphical evidence of a con-

temporary nature. Vijnanesvara in his celebrated work, the Mitakishara observes thatj

'

“Itjis settled, 'that ownership in the father’s or grandfather’s estat'eis by birth...the father';’

is subject to the control of his sons and (he rest in regard to" the imrfiovable estate;^

whether acquired by‘himself or inherited from diis father’ or other predecessor, and',

thereby suggests that for the disposal of lands son’s consent waS"* necessary. ‘ This eon--

dition heed not have been insisted upon if private ownership of land had not been reCog-

nf^ed. With regard to the King’s control over it'the iaine authority says that,- “True it

is that this man first got it by 'gift and also was'in possession, but life king gave this Very

field to me after purchasing from this very man or this man' feave it to' me after having '

obtained by gift, etc.,” thereby suggesting that the king, if he' wanted to acquire land, had ->

to purchase it as any other private individual. The views 6f Madhavacharya on this^-

interesting question may also be referred to- here. ‘ Comnienting oh the text of the '
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Jaimimya Nyaycaiiala vistara Tcgavding “tht maliabhumi, the public land, (which) is an
object of gift the king may give it away because he possesses it ; the kingdom is the
king s only for the sake of protection, and hence it should not be given away”,
Madhavacharya observes • Hut doubts may arise. When an all-powerful king gives

away everything he possesses at the commencement of the ViJvaJit sacrifice, is he to give

away the mahabhumi which is inclusive of paths for cattle, highways and tanks ? (The
doubt arises because the earth is wealth vide the smriti which says : ‘The king may claim
the property of all except that of the Brahmanas.’)

“We reply : smritis enjoin that the king’s sovereingty is meant to punish the

wicked and to protect the good. No, the earth is not the king’s property. But it is the

common property of all the living beings for them to enjoy the fruit of their labour.

Therefbre, though he (the king) has right to give away that portion of the land that is

riot common (public - asadharam), he cannot give away the mahabhumi”. Thus owner-

ship of land rested only with the people. This is further supported by inscriptional

evidence according to which in a number of cases, lands which were in’the enjoyment of

private individuals were purchased by the king and granted to others. .The recognition

of private property is^ further indicated by the use of the term Kaniyatchi to indicate it.

It means hereditary right to land or property and is synonymous with the Sanskrit term

h^shetrasvdi^iya. Private ownership of property could noi rest either in the,individuals or

in a group of people, jointly. In the brahmadeya ot agrahara or chaturvedanangalam

villages the owners of lands held them jointly and
,

created the necessary basis for the

evolution of the ‘village organization on the community basis.'
jt ( j '

> As a predominently agricultural community enjoying their lands un'der a joiiit tenure

the residents of the brahmadeya village looked to the cultivation in common. In this ope-’

ration three' different types appear to have been adopted : (1) The members of the village

community cultivated and in common and shared the profits'among themselves in propor-

tion to the number of shares (vrittis) each possessed, (2) a particular portion of the village

could have been enjoyed individually by the shareliolders for "cultivation' purposes, the

rest being held by them jointly as under the first type; and (3) ‘lands could have been

divided into ' different' grades in accordance with their ' fertility and every individual

tneiriber of the joint community given a portion of each of the thre'^ ‘classes' of lands for

a definite period, and after the expiry of that' period ‘the lands could be redistributed

among the members. This system of periodical distribution ‘ of land was for instance

known'in ,the present Thanjavur district as'the .karaiyWit. An important feature of the

organization of the joint villages was the extreme exclusiveness of the village communities

in them, and their anxiety not to allow outsiders to get any right or share in'such villages

either by purchase or gift.
‘

I i f

For discussing and deciding upon matters connected with agriculture and their

obligations to the government the landholders in the joint village had to meet on certain

occasions, though in a very informal way. But with advance of time and growing com-

plexity of the social and economic organization of the village, the meeting became

frecjuent leading to the gradual development of , custon) and precedent in the dealings.



98 READlfJGS IN SOUTH INDIAN HISTORY

With further passage of time such customs and procedures crystaliscd themselves m such

a way that the organization looking after the affairs of the village community became

so natural and strong that it was almost impossible to think of a place without a well-

recognised and active organization with a well-established and growing, tradition behind

it. It was such an organization that developed into the perfected self-governing

institution during the days of the Pallavas and the Cholas in south India. TJie institution

came to be variously called, the sablia, the mahasabha, inahasabhaiyoiu, luabajams,

kiirlj pemngtiri, etc.

By the days of the Pallavas in the north and the Pandyas in the south the organi-

zation in the brahmadeya villages had taken a definite shape and was known usually as

the sabha. Its emergence as a perfected institution is seen first in the Tondaimandalam
area in the days of the Pallavas. It appears that it functioned at least in twenty

different places in the area in the eighth and ninth centuries. However, details regarding

their constitution and working are not available. Almost simultaneously the sabha,

had developed in, the Pandyan country also, as may be gleaned from an inscription of

Maranjadaiyan at ManUr. At a general body meeting of the mahasabhaiyar of the

village summoned by beat of drum rules were made fixing the qualifications of properly

and learning besides the high character required of its members to participate in the

proceedings of the assembly, and particularly in its executive work. Failure to observe

the new rules and wilful obstruction to the work of the sabha were made punishable.

But more details are available about the constitution and working of the sabha

at Uttiramertir, which has become justly famous in tl c history of local self-government

in south Jndia. Though the two inscriptions relating to the constitution and working

of the jflWm at the place dated 919 and 921 repectively are considered important on

account of the lurid light they throw on its organization and working, it had a long

anterior history going back to the days of the Pallavas when it discharged .many executive

functions through its individual officers or groups of officers known as variyams. From
a study of the inscriptions bearing on the subject it is seen that the rariyam system was

an important feature of the sabha organization. But its origin and history are not

clearly known nor the import of the word. Some scholars think that the word is

derived from the Tamil word varajrt which means a share or pangtt, and hence the term

variyar means shareholder; and variyam a committee of variyars. Since the variyam

discharged the executive functions of the sabha it may be taken to be its committee.

There were different such committees, each of which was entrusted with a specified

branch of work. A second suggestion made is that the word may be derived from the

Sanskrit word vara which means a collection (sanudid) or group (gana). A third sugges-

tion is that it may be derived from vara (meaning income in Tamil and rigorous demand

in Kannada). A fourth suggestion and probably the most acceptable is that it is the

Tamilized form of the Sanskrit word varjn meaning ‘selected’ or ‘chosen’ [v/ri (vnr) to

select or choose]. This interpretation is supported by a Tamil inscription of the twelfth

year of Kulottunga III in which the expressions varanam seydal for the act of choosing

and varanam for the executive body of the sabha are used. The term variyar would there-

fore mean a person or a body of persons employed to do a specific work. The Manffr



VILLAGE COMMUNITIES IN SOUTH INDIA 99

inscription referred to above shows that even so early as the ninth century high qualifica-

tion and integrity were expected of the variyars. But in the early phases of the history of

the, institution, it appears that the variyam was only a temporarily constituted ad hoc body

or committee for the discharge of some specific duties. In course of time, apparently on

account -of its usefulness in local administration the variyaiti became a regular and integral

part of the sabha: Though it is possible that the method of the appointment of the

variyam could have been the same everywhere our knowledge of it is meagre. But from

the two celebrated Uttaramertlr inscriptions it may be presumed that each sabha could

change the method of the appointment to the variyam probably taking into account

local conditions and requirements. The sabha of Uttaramertlr which had a long history

going back to the Pallava period adopted a resolution in 919 with regard to the method

of appointment to its executive committees. But for some reason it did not work well, and

so two years later, the method of election to the committee underwent another change.

According to the second reform the Kudtmbtis came to be directly represented on the

committees. Each of the thirty into which the village was divided was to

nominate for the selection to the committees persons possessing the prescribed qualifica-

tions relating to learning, property age and character. Persons who had served on the

committees for the previous three years, those who had served on the committee, but

had failed to submit accounts as also their specified relations and men of bad character

were excluded from the committees. From among the persons duly nominated one was

to be chosen from each ktidumbti by the kiida olai or lot system in the prescribed

manner. Apart from the qualifications specified in the above inscription for membership

in the different committees the real importance of the record lies in the fact that the lot

system was adopted by the sabha for purposes of election to the standing committees.

The system was not however new. In direct democracies worked in ancient Athens for

instance, the lot system was employed. It was quite popular though there was a chance

in it for any person getting elected irrespective of his fitness and qualification. But the

UttiramerQr inscription by fixing a minimum qualification for the variyam avoided the

pitfalls of the lot system.

The committee system which had grown gradually in the course of the previous

centuries reached its highest watermark during the period. The Uttiramertir inscription

of 921 mentions five distinct variyams namely the tottavariyam in charge of gardens and
public places, the 'erivariyam in charge of tanks and other irrigation sources, the

samvatsara variyam or the annual committee of twelve members membership in which
required not only experience in the first two committees mentioned above but also pre-

eminence in learning and age, the paiichavara variycim connected apparently with the
assessment and collection of the tax and the ponvariyam obviously engaged in examining
the fineness and weight of the gold that was invested with the sabha for specific purposes.
Ah the variyams except the samvaisaravariyam consisted of six persons. In 922 the sabha
at Uttiramertir brought into existence,by a resolution a new committee consisting of
nine persons for thepurpose of assaying gold. Probably without supplanting the old
poiivarjygm it was intended to help it in its work.

Many other sabhas in south India also adopted the variyam system, but the number
of'committees under them appear to have differed from place to place, depending probably
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on local needs. Among the other committees mentioned in inscriptions yverelhekudtmibu

variyam (wards committee),A'olmiharywn (fields committee), A'a;!flA'Aj/vari>wn (accountscom-
‘

mittee), kalingJi variycmi (sluice committee), the tidasTna variyani (committee in charge oT ’

foreigners?) dliarma variyam (committee in charge of religious endowments), etc. Probably ’

there were a few others also, of which, however, we have no idea now. The method of

election to the variyam, the number of such variyams, the qualifications of their members i

and such other details must have been decided by the local sablias themselves without

interference by the Central Government. Even when the assembly of Uttaramemr made '

changes in 919 and 921 with regard to the electoral procedure to be followed by it, it did

so of its own accord, and the presence of the royal official on both the occasions appears ‘

to have been only for enabling the imembers of the to settle their constitution and

electoral procedure amicably. But interference of the government was not impossible if
‘

the working of the Village assemblies was not satisfactory. According to an inscription

at Talainayar in the Thanjavur district a royal letter was addressed to the sablia and

collector {tandman) of the place at the instance of two officers of King Kulottunga III.
’

The document which was written by the Tirumandira dlai and attested by nine others, all

officers of government, contained rules for the election of the executive body {kuitam) of

the assembly of the village sanctioned by the king. The new rules said that only those'

Brahmapas who had not been in the’ assembly during the ten years previous 'to i

the year in which the election was held were eligible, the candidates were to ' be

above forty years of age, learned (yidvan) and impartial (samar). Certain classes of

persons were disqualified from serving on the executive of the assembly, for instance’

those that were guilty of wicked deeds, had defaulted in the payment of land revenue,

oppressed docile brahmapas and respectable tenants, accepted bribes,’ and had done such’

other questionable things. Probably all was not well with the working of the sablia at

the place, its work was hampered by the rise of a factious spirit among its members and

hence the government’s interference and insistence. In another place it was ordered by

the Government that only persons above forty years of age and who had not served on

the executive for the previous ten years were alone eligible for service. Similar rules

regarding age and interval between two periods of service were made also at Ayyampettai

in the Thanjavur district in 1 190. In such cases the age limit of forty must have obviously

served as a check against inexperienced and young men getting into the assembly. The
interval of ten years between the period of the first election of a member and his second

election was probably intended to give an opportunity for all adults in the village to take

part in local administration. However, when the village assemblies were not able to

decide about such important matters they were referred to any other local body like the

mCdaparishat of the temple of the place, particularly when the rules were not respected

and fresh persons who did not possess the requisite qualifications entered the assembly.

Actually such an incident is recorded to have taken place at a village in the reign
i
of

Rajaraja III and hence when the matter was referred to muhparishat of the temple

of the place it made certain rules with regard to the elections and tenure of the

members of the executive, as for instance that members should be elected every year and

those who tried to extend their tenure of office for longer periods were liable to

punishment as grdmadrdhins and those who in violation of the rules got into the assembly

by some covert means in collusion with the officers of government or by any other
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means, were to be treated as traitors and all their property confiscated. But it must be

said that on the whole the village assemblies carried on their work in the Chola period

without interference either by the central' government or by any other agency. The

sabhas continued to function in the Vijayanagara period also. ' Some of them consisted of

a very large number of members, even 4,000 and were known as mahasabha or vtahajams.

'
1 ' 1 't I

Another body that functioned simultaneously with the sabhay/as the iJr. It appears

to,have been prevalent only in the non-prahpiadeya villages in which the proprietors of

land were, not exclusively Brahmanas, though instances are not wanting to show that it

functioned alongside of the ^abha either by itself or jointly with it according to the nature

of the work to be done. The Hr probably consisted of all persons who belonged to, the

village including agriculturists and professionals, and there is no clear, evidence to support

the suggestion that “it is Jiot unlikely that all the conditions-pertaining to membership in

the Brahmanical sabhas prevailed except probably ^knowledge,of the Vedas”. If there were

Uyo religious groups in a village it appears that there were two urs at the places,

probably one representing each of them. From such, expressions as iiraga iJainda iiroin

it,may be .assumed that all the people in’ the village made the, r7r. What the varfyam

was in ,the sabha, the ganam, also called ahmigaiwm and miySltiftiganam, iiraltimganam

seems, to have been in the ur. It appears to have been a general executive committee of

the severality village in .which, members belonging to different communities ,could serve.

The ganam had under it officers like the (andal (tax collector) and the niyayattar (Judge).

Another type of territorial assembly \vas the nadn which functioned in the territorial

unit known by the same name. It is not clearly known how it was constituted, T^'e

exprjession used to denote the nadu is nadaga iSaiuda mttom or naltavardm, but obviously

all the residents in a nadu could not have been its members. The larger Leyden grant

seems to suggest that the villages were represented on the nadu on some principles.

The agricultural community in the country known as the Vellalas formed them-

selves into a corportation called chitrameU (tneU in Tamil meaning ploughshare). They
were also known as bhumiputtirar and nattumakka, apparently on account of their depen-

dence on land. Groups of villages under this organization were called chitrameli

periyanadu, while some individual villages had the suffix chitramelinallOr, chitramelivit-

ankar and chitramelichaturvedimangalam. A number of professionals were attached to

-them like the goldsmiths, dancing girls etc. Very probably ,the chitrameU organization

had control over the production and distribution of the produce from .land. It was
{patronised by the rulers of the time and hence

,
themselves' were Itnown

,
by ^ the name

« ... -1 . i r ' ’•'r

of chitramelu
^ fjf ^ 0 1 ^

^Though the members of these different bodies acted
^

jointly still it appears that

none of the rural organizations was a corporate body haying a single indivigual person-
lity, but it constituted only a collective body. This is borne out by the evidence of two
inscriptions. According to one of them the members of the sabha of a village received
an investment of 120 kahis from^a Varaguna Maharaja and promised to measure out to
the local temple ghee from the interest from the amount. If they failed to do so they
undertook to pay individually and as a body double the quantity m default besides a fine



102 READINGS IN SOUTH INDIAN HISTORY

to the royal officers. Likwise the sabha of another village undertook to supply ghee to

the temple in lieu of interest on money received. If it failed to do so, the Pamnaheharas

of the temple could ask for a dbuble sum of the dues besides a fine from the sabhaiyar

both as a body and as individual persons.

The important functions discharged by these assemblies may now be reviewed

in brief. The first among them was the control and regulation of land holdings, for as

has been said above the members of the village community were a body of land holders

either jointly or severally. It was equally interested in the creation and maintenance of

facilities for irrigation. This is well-borne out by the organization of the erivariyant or

tank committee working under the sabha. It had much to do with the taxation system

in the country. Taxes were of two kinds, one levied and colleted by the local organiza-

tions themselves apparently for being spent on local purposes and the other levied by the

government. With regard to the former the local assembly which had absolute control

over it had the right of granting remissions of them without any reference to the

Government. This is by the assignment in perpetuity made by a sabha to the local

temple of the proceeds from a local cess on shops (angadikOli) in lieu of the interest on
a loan ‘which it had taken from the temfiic. In another case the sabha of a chaturvedi-

mangalam decided not to levy any kind of dues on the properties of the temple.

Mormally the village community could not remit the taxes payable by it to the govern-

ment, for if it did so it would be a loser to the extent to which the remission was made,

for the Government would not accept any reduction in the amount of tax payable to it

by the assembly. Hence if such remissions were made on particular pieces of land, the

loss was sought to be made good by the distribution of the amount on other lands in the

village. But the assembly at times made remission of taxes in consideration of money
received {kasukolla iraiyili) which was the capital sum and the tax money {\ilai portil

and itaiporul) and thereby made good their obligations to the central government. Such

arrangements were made when for instance individuals made provison for charities by

setting apart rent-free land and the lands so exempted from the payment of taxes were

known as t'lr k Tl iraiyili The iraidra\<yam was really in the nature of a trust fund for

the periodical payment of the irai which the local bodies usually directed towards some

productive capital expenditure, like the provision of irrigation facilities.

A natural right which it enjoyed related to the sale of lands of the people in the

village who defaulted in the payment of the taxes. It could decide upon the nature of

the land on which taxes were to be levied. Lands for which there was no claimants and

hence were not cultivated escheated to the assembly and the taxes kadamai and kudimai

levied on such lands by the government were paid by it. The sabha could also sell or

transfer its right of collection of taxes to a body like a temple. The village organiza-

tion also influenced the taxation policy of the Government by suggesting what lands

could be taxed and probably also what lands could not be taxed.

Apart from its rights relating to lands and their management and taxation it dis-

charged certain other important, ministrant functions. One of them was the supervision
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of all charitable endowments in the village ; and in some places the com-

mittee called the dliarma variyam appears to have been in charge of it. On some

occasions it exercised control over the administration ' of temples as well. It provided

for the maintenance of peace in the area under its jurisdiction as also administered civil

and criminal justice. It also co-operated with the government in the punishment of

criminals as for instance by confiscating and selling in public lands that belonged to

traitors. Besides it served as a deposit bank and took deposits from people on specified

rates of interest. It also patronised scholars by granting - them land to be enjoyed

by them.

The assembly had under its employ a number of people each of whom was

charged with a specific iunction associated with the administrations of the village.

Among them were the karamttan or kanakkan (accountant), and the madhyastha who

noted down the proceedings of the sabhd. They were appointed either annually or for

definite longer periods and remunerated by either gift of land or payment in kind

like paddy.

The numerous village communities and their organization which flourished in south

India and worked with great success from about 700 A.D. to 1400 A.D. showed signs of

decay and disruption in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries and finally disappeared by

the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Though referen«es to the local organizations

like the sabha and the iir are found in the late Vijayanagara period these bodies appear to

have lost by that time much of their vitality and capacity for initiative. The type of

local administrative institutions in south India that attracted the attention of the Anglo-

Indian administrators of the last century were entirely different from the type that

obtained earlier in the area.

It is not however so easy to enumerate the factors that were responsible for the

decline of tlie old organizations. Probably the most potent cause for it was the growing

consciousness among the people of the individual’s right as opposed to that of the

community. Sir Henry Maine shrewedly observes “If I had to state what for the

moment is the greatest change which has come over the people of India and the change
which has added most seriously to the difficulty of governing them. I should say it was
the growth on all sides of the sense of individual legal right ; of a right not vested in the

total group but in the particular number of it aggrieved, who has become conscious

that he may call in the arm of the state to force his neighbours to obey the ascertained

rule.” In the course of the fifteenth century the old community feeling among the

group of people in a village which was really at the basis of the active functioning of the
village assemblies in south India began to decline. Since much of the feeling was due
to the joint ownership of land by the community it was its natural anxiety to prevent its

own disintegration and hence made rules for preventing for instance the sale of lands of
outsiders or the gift of land to women as strTdbmia. Local troubles and factions deve-
loped to such an extent that those who created such difficulties were branded as
gramadrohins and grama kantakans. gut still the conflict between the individual and th?
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community appears to have developed in the course of the fifteenth and ..sixteenth

centuries* resulting ultimately however in the success.,of the.,.latter., ;The irksome

interference of the royal officials , in . their, activities,, and, ;the, bad influence exercised

by them could also, have partly , contributed , to the .decline i of village assemblies.

Again the local organizations .failed to receive much encouragement at the hands
,
of, the

Vijayanagara kings,the administration under.whom was. based partly on feudal and pardy

on military principles. The paternal solicitude of the earlier rulers was now replaced .by

the various forces which was spontaneously, working in the village communities. Thus
conditions in the country were not conducive to the active functioning of the old .village

republics. Further the evolution of the ayagar system, according to which a number of

hereditary functionaries came to look after the administration of . the villages and

supplied the needs of the people in them brought about the gradual disiritegratiori of the

ancient village communities in south India.
^

, .
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The Chitrameli Periyanattar

Among the many guild organisations that existed in medieval south India parti-

cularly in the rural areas about which, however, not much is known was the organisation

known as the Chitrajrie\iperiyanattar. They are referred,to at times in inscriptions simply

as Periyanattavar or Periyanadu?- The members of this^ organisation appear to have

comprised mainly of agricultrists as may be understood from’ the term me\i which is an

integarl part of their name. The terms meli (ntedi in Telugu) meaning plough and

chittirameli meaning beautiful plough would suggest that their origin may be associated

with the plough and that,' therefore, the members of this organisation were essentially

agriculturists probably known as Vellalas. Their connection with land and villages is

turther borne out by a few other names by which they were known, such as Bhumiputlirar

and Natjvmakkal.
,

It is of interest to note that some of the slabs or stones or plates on

which their inscriptions are inscribed contain the sketches of the plough along with other

figures such as the bull, serpent, dram, ptlrnaktmbha, etc.^ Besides, some villages also came

to be named either after the plough or the Chitranieli organisation itself. For instance, the

village of Mcdikurti is referred to as Medikuru in Tamil as also iii Telugu.®

The fact that it was essentially a rural organisation which depended on land and its

production is further borne out by,a few inscriptions which give their praSasti. For instance,

a praiasti In verse relating to this organisation in the Tamil country runs aslollows ;

SrTmatam BhUml—putranam srimad—go-kshlra-jlvinam

,
sarvaloka-hitam-nyayyam chitramejaya sasanam

i
t

,

, <,
jlyatam jogatam etat palanam rashtra poshanam
sasanam bhtlrai putranam chaturvarna-kul-odbhavam

I. I have said in my book Sou/A /nrf/cTi Po/icj’ (p. 386) that groups of villages under this organisation
were known as Chiirameli PeriyanUdu, Probably the term was used to denote the corporate body of
the Cfiitrameli organisation itself or its members.

Z ARlE,l953-SA,p.6. ‘

J
f&irf.j also No. 6, 18 and ARIE, 26 of 1953-54,
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Jlyatam jagatam etat

palanam rashtra poshaUam

sasanam bhnmi putrana[m] n

chatur(r)vvarnna kulotPhavam^

l§rlmat bhnmisuputrasya

chaturvamya kulotbhaVam

sarva loka hitarthaya

cbitramelasya sasanam,®

Sri Bhbmidevi pulranam

ksharakshiroda pOrvinSm

jayanti chitralokanam

rajyaparipalakanam -

sarva loka hitarthaya

chitramelisa sasanam®
,

s.
*•

^rImat,BhUdevi putrasya .1' !

chaturvafna kulotbhhva
'

sarvaloka hitarthaya
.

’*

chitramelisya ^asanam.^ 1

t
, ,

_

I •
r’.

;
-

,

” liiV)

The Tamil inscription from Timkkoyilur which ^contains
,

their.prdioJ/i in .•Tan^ij.

,, , ' I/’ -.f’

1

'

reads as follows :

I.

2 .

3 .

Hari [:] Svasti Sri fti*] SrTihatambhnmiputfaiiiam 'Sriffiad 'golcs^rraii'tyi'] liam

sarvalokahitanyayam chittrameja(m) sya 'sasanam [n*] [Ji] yatain .i®.ES|t',

ametad 'pfilanam rashtraposhana
'

‘
' ’ ’

'
.

m []*] sasanam bhamiputrana(m)nchaturvarnhakulotbhcivam|-Sri- Bhpmi^

devikku makkalagi nigalach chehtam'il a vada kaTai tenndun^fnau‘’'nitii Iketth^

nipuijaraki narumalar vadada ti
.

. .
_ j,

ruma’gai pudalvar ettisaikkum vilakkaka ihsoUa linidajiftu Va'iisollar’ihhr'anka-'

dindu ichchahadussagara [pari] "mandalattu 'chandra'ditta 'Varai‘'inilt6n^a‘

vadarasan Karra , . , . r,
•

; '•rj." •,— rrjj t'-'i'.nr.

saippa varujTiarasan ' nirreUpp'a devaf^san
'

'tisaivaja^kh
'

’pftisai makaliru

minidu virriruppat tengum' 'palavuii'' temanjbkiyum vajaiyumkamugum

valarkodi.
' k ! ,

4. Sir, Vol. Vir, No.' 129.

5. Ibid., Vcl. Vlir, No. 291

.

6. Ibid., Vol. vnr. No. 442.

7. Ibid., Vol. V, No. 496,
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5. inullaiyum[pn]vaiyun kli]jlai]yurn polivodun kelumi vattaminrikktltlam

perugi yaram valara kali meliya pugal perugi pu [rai].paruyattisaiyanaittunj

[e] vidupada r

6. mal sengole munnakavunj chitra[ta] meliya deivamajklavunjelm] porp pasum-

paiya veliyakavum kshmaiyinodun karujjai echidich-cliamaiya tahina minidu

nadatti kalamin

7. ra uttamanidi yuyarperunk klrti muttamil malai muluvadu muparnda

chitrameIipperiyan[a]ttom vaittukudutta parisavadu miladakiya Jananatha

valanattukkurukkai
* *

*
J ' •

8. KoWrattu Tirukkovalnir] elupattonpadunSttup padinepbhamich chitrameli-

vippagarana Tiruividaikalininrulinaperumaj koil anadiyaga melit tirutto[ra]-

pamum sribhnmidevi

9. yum pratisht^epanni munbe nam dh [aripma] maip podugaiyil innayanarkku

munbu nam vaittakodutta vaippunj cliamippunj chediyum mukhamumj

10. le kaidappugaiyil munbti vaktukoduttapadiye attaikku erukku padakku

nellum ajukkuk kufpi nellum verra lutapadap p'era vaittukkuduttom elupa

Besides having its o\vn distinctive emblem and other paraphernalia as befitting its

position and influence it had a praSasti or meykJrti of its owm, particularly from the days

of the ,ChoIa king Kuiottunga III. Some of their inscriptions open with the expression

piiyahaytlu and then begin their regular inscriptions. Two examples, both found in

the temple of Jayangopdanatha at Mannarkudi in the Thanjavur district and belonging

to the period of the Pandya King Tnbhuvana Chakravartigal Jatavarman Sundara-

pandya may be cited here. The first of them reads as follows ;
®

1 . Svasti Sri [//*] puyalval.ttu [//*] suva
—

'

2. sti sri [//*] samsta sagara param (e) na

—

3. lattu kshamaivinodum karu—

4. pai eiyidich chamaiyatanmai

5. yinidu nadatti nigalapinra sari—

6. kaikkottaiyil Bhuvaneka—

7. vlranmadikaiyil nagarattomum

8. [na] ngutisaip padinen vishaya—

9. ttomum suddvallivalanattut

10. tainyOr Irajidhirajachaturvedima

—

11. ngala ....... yar Jayankb- * ' -

.

8. ARSm, 1 17 of 1900: SJI, Vol. Vn, No. 129.

9. SIT. Vol VI, No. 40.
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12. nda (choli) svaramudaiyar liru [k]

13. koi pa^idya

14. . .fpattu (niraivara) nirain [du] . .

.

15
16

(ya) pdu pannira^da—

17. vadu makaranayariu pUrvapakshattu sapta

18. miyum ve [llik] kilamaiya [u] m perra irave

19. di (ii)a]adaiyapesi i [saya] ch cbaida lanma

20. samiyak (ari) yamavadu udayar Jayan

21. konda [cho]jisvara mudayarkku ichcha

22. rikaikou.aiyil [pu]kudum pakkup

23. podi yonrukku ulakkaka vandap

24. akku eduttu amudupadikku venduva

25. [li] ruppapik kudalavudaga (vudaga) vum u—
26. ljup pukade pura [va]H pom pakkup

27. adik[ku]mippadi kol[Ia]k [kadayu] daka

—

28. vumippadi c[handradi] tlavar s[e] Ilakkada i

29. vu dakavum ipppadi [sam] madittul Tirumalai

—

30. yile kalvetti kodu(t)om nagrat—

31. tomum padinep vi[shaya]t tomum [//*]

It begins with the expression puyahaUtu at the beginning. Then after the words

Svasti sri a short introduction of the Chitranie\J Periyanatlmar commencing with the

words semasta sagara is introduced. In the other, the next record, also we find that it

begins with the same expression and is followed by the regular inscription commencing

with the ords srasti iri sajnaStasagara.^'^

1. Svasti Sri [//*] puya! valttu [//*J

2. Svasti Sri [//*] [sama] ri—

3. mapdalattu Kshamaivinodu

4. karupai ei [ya*] tisa samayatanmai [yi]

5. nidu nadatti nikalaninra sari

6. kaikkoitaiyil Vikramapa—

7. tjdiyan madikaiyil nankuti

8. saip padinep vishe [yet] om
9. suddavallivalanattut taniyttr Rajadhira—

10. jachhaturvedimang [galat] tu udayar

11. jaya [n] koitda chollsvara mudaiyar tiru

12. mu [n] Vikramapapdyan Tirumapda

lO. Ibid, Yol. VI, No. 41.
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13. pattu niraivara niraindu kurai vark kn

14. di srikochhadapan marana Tribhubana chchak

15. kravartikal sri Sundarapandya de

—

16. varku yandu pannirandavadu kan

17. ni [d] a yarru pUrvapaishalti trayodasiyum

18. [ve] llikilamaiyum perra sodinal amaya[p]

19. pe [si] yisaiyacb cheida tansamaya kariya

—

20. tnavadu [u] daiyar Jayankonda cho

—

21. llsvaramu [da] yarku ichcharigaikk k ot.

22. taiyil [p] [pu] kudum milakupodikkup

23. podi yonrukku ulakku milakum puda

24. vaikat [tu] onrukku pana makaniyum

25. ippadiyal ulladu eduttuk kariyamudukku

26. vepduvadkopdu nikkiul [la] du tiruppa—

27. pikku udalavudakavm ulluppukade pura—

28. vaH pomavaiyum ippadi koilakkadava

29. dakavum ippadi chandra (ditya] var sellakkada—

30. vudakach charamadittu Tirimalaiyile kalve

31. [t] tik koduttom nankidisai padinen

—

32. ...‘

It is of interest to note that the meykiritis of King Kulottunga III begin with the

expression pnyahayUu^ which is the same as the puyaV/aUtu of the inscriptions mentioned

above. K.V. Subramanya Aiyar while discussing these records says, “the significance

of this is not apparent
:
perhaps it was intended to incise an inscription of Kulottunga III

and was given up”^*. His suggestions, it may be pointed out, might have been

possible if the occurrence is noticed in a stray case. Even then the latter record would

not have been incised in continuation of what might have been written more than half-a-

century earlier. The normal thing would have been to leave that line blank and begin

the new inscription separately. It may be noted further that the succeeding record on
the wall has also a similar beginning. This will make it clear that the ChitrameXi

organisation claimed proprietary right for using the expression piiyalvalttu or piiyalvayttu.

It is generally found that if owing to the exigencies of space or otherwise it was not pos-

sible to incise the meykirti in full only its opening words are written or it is simply said

himeykirtikkn mel i.e. after the illustrious meykirti. An inscription at Kovilvenni in the

Thanjavur District dated in the ninth regnal year of Kulottunga III begins with the

expression piiyalvayttu timvaykkeXyi eludi Triblncvatia Chakravartigal, eteP

Therefore it may be persumed that the meykriti commencing with the words
piiyalvayttu or piiyaXyaittii was later adopted by the ChitrameXi organisation as their own.
It shows really that the organisation received much encouragement at ‘ the hands of
Kulottunga III.

11. 76/4.. Vol. m. No. 86.

12. eJM5,Vol. 45, p.34.

13. SH, Vol. Vn, No. 1031.



Hoysala Vira NarasimLall and ihe Magara Kingdom

Kulottunga 111 (1178— 1218) was the last great ruler of the line of the Iinperial

Cholas ; and even during the closing years of his vigorous and eventful reign, signs of

weakness and decay becjtme visible in the Chola empire. The growing weakness of the

central government was seen in a two-fold way from the beginning of the thifteenth

century. One was the increasing intervention and frequent invasion of the Chola

country by the rising powers like the Pandyas, Hoysalas and the Kakatiyas respectively

from the south, west and north of the Chola empire. The other was the coming into

prominence of hereditary feudatories like the Kadarayas who ruled over parts pf the

South Arcot and North Arcot districts, the Sambuvarayas who ruled over parts of the

Noth Arcot, Chittoor and Chingleput districts, the Yadavarayas who ruled over parts of

the Chittoor and Chingleput districts and the Telugu Cholas who ruled over the Ndlore

and Cuddapah districts tind extended their power over parts of the Chittoor and Chingle*

put districts. Some ot them became so over-grown in power and influence that nPt only^

did they openly defy the imperial authority of the Cholas, but also created conditions

for the invasion of the country by outside powers.
,

• ,

One of such overgrown feudatory principalities was the Magararajya to which \Ye

get reference in some of the inscriptions of the Hoysalas. We do not know really why

the Chola inscription or those of any contemporary dynasty of rulers in the Tamil

country have not made any prominent, reference to the kingdom. Nor do we know

exactly what the term Mngara indicates, whether a people, a territory or a city. The

very location of the kingdom is a great problem.

A number of Hoysala inscriptions mention the destruction of the Magara rajya

by Hoysala Narasimha H (1216—1236) along with three other achievements of his,

namely the destruction of the Kadavarayas and the Pandyas and the re-establishnient or

restoration of the Chola kingdom ; and such records as mention these range beU\een
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1218 and 1237.1 -Naturally the question as to where exactly the Magara kingdom lay

arises. Its identification, however, is a problem. Two facts must be remembered in

this connection ; (1) The Magara kingdom must have been situated outside the Hoysala

territories on the eastern side as indicated by an inscription of Narasimha II which says

that he “first went to the east, and being surrounded, uprooted the Magara kingdom”^;

(2) It was most probably a friendly neighbour of the Kadavas and very likely was in full

sympathy with Maravarman Sundara Pandya who invaded the Chola empire towards

fhfe closing -years of the reign of Kulottunga III and hence all the three had to be defeated

by the Hoysala king before he coul I restore the Chola to his empire. Since the Magara

kingdom lay on the way into the Tamil country from the Hoysala territory it had to be

dealt with first and then only the Kadava chieftain. This geographical contiguity of the

Magara kingdom to that of the Xadavas has led scholars to locate it either to the west

i)r the' north of that of the Kadavas. Lewis Rice identifies the Magara kingdom with the

Maharajavadi.® His conclusions are based on the following piece of evidence. Hoysala

Narasimha when marching against Magara encamped at Chudavadi and held a.festival

on adding to his necklace an emerald given by Munivaraditya.^ Chudavadi has been

sought to be identified by him with Chudagrama (Mudiyanur in Mulbagal taluq") and it

IS suggested by him that the word Munivaraditya was an old title belonging apparently

to 'a landed chief in Melai (western) Marayapadi.® On the evidence of the Tiruvendi-

puram inscription of Rajaraja III which mentions the conquest of the Magara kingdom

by Hoysala Narasimha II before his generals secured the release of the Chola emperor

from imprisonment at Sendmangalam by the Kadava chieftain, Hultzsch has sought to

locate the Magara kingdom either in the Coimbatore or the Salem district. He says

'•'Pdchchor where he (Narasimha II) halted on his expedition against Kopperinjinga is

perhaps identical with a village of that name in the Trichinopoly taluka opposite to the

island of Srlrangam two miles north of the Coleroon river and 9-1/2 miles (15 Km.) west

by south of Kannanur, the southern capital of Narasimha’s successor, Somcsvara. If this

identification of Pachchur is correct it would follow that Narasimha II left his dominions
by way of the Gajalhatti pass and that the Mahara (Makara or Magara) kingdom has
to be looked for in the Coimbatore or the Salem district”.® Venkayya has expressed the
view that the Magara kingdom could have been the same as the Magadai mandalam
mentioned in inscriptions. It has been located by him the South Arcot district and by
Dr. S.K. Aiyengar in the Attur division of the Salem district.'' After examining the
question at some length H. Krishna Sastri came to the conclusion that “‘it'is very likely

'therefore that Magara comprised part of the old Maharajavadi district as Mr. Rice
suggests and portions also of the modern Salem and South Arcot districts.”®

1. EC, IV Ng 29, IX Kn. 87; XI Dv. 25; VII Cl. 72, V Cn 197 and 203; XII Ck. 42; V BI. 151; Ak,
1507 Ag. 6\ III Nj. 36; MAR, 1916 para 82, EC, Cn. 21 la; XII Gb. 45, HI Md. I2l; MAR, lOlo’para
80; EC, rV .vg. 98.

^

2. /6(rf.,V,Cn. 21la.

3. Lewis, Mysore anti Coorgfrom Inscriptions, p. 104
4. EC, V, Ch 203.

5. Ibid., Vir, Ci. 162 .

6. Epi. Tnd^yu.p 161.

7. Soiidt India and Her Muhammadan Invaders, p. 47,
8. QJ?.fS.ll,pp.l2l-22n.
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During the period under study the Kakatiyas were an independent power ruling over

a considerable part of the Telugu country; and in the region to the south of the Kakatiya

kingdom there was then ruling a dynasty of chieftains known as the Telugu Cliodas or the

Pottappi Chodas. The territory over which they ruled covered the present districts of

Nellore, Cuddapah, Chittoor and a part of the Chingleput, and Salem districts, besides

at times a part of the Kolar district of the Mysore State. This chieftaincy lay to the

east of the Hoysala kingdom and the north and northwest of the Kadava principality^

and therefore on the route to the latter from the Hoysala country. According to a

Hoysala inscription of 1228 the Hoysala kingdom covered a wide area and had for its

boundaries the Nangali ghat in the east (leading into the present North Arcot District)

Kongu in the south, Alvakheda in the west and the Peddore (the big river i.e.

Krishna) in the north.® Another Hoysala inscription which is however dated eight years

earlier says that King Narasimha marched from his capital without stopping for 100

gmidas (200 miles ?—320 km) overthrew formidable enemies in the east, captured the

100 elephants with which the Magara came against him and brought them in -with his

horses.i® Geographically a good slice of the Telugu Choda kingdom lay to the east of

the Hoysala kingdom. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the Magara kingdom

was the same as the Telugu Choda kingdom. The Telugu Chodas appear to have been

in the' occupation of Kanchipuram for sometime and owed allegiance to the Chola kings

(though it was only nominal) as is borne out by a number of their inseription^^ which

make reference to the Chola kings like Kulottunga III and Rajaraja III.

But it is difficult to explain why or how the Telugu Choda kingdom or at least

the southern part of it came to be called the Magara kingdom in the Hoysala inscriptions.

In the Madhiiravijayam of Gangudevi Kanchipuram is described as Marakatanagara

or the city of gold or gems. We have again a description of a city called Marhatpuri

or Barmatpuri with many rich temples, a city that was occupied by Malik Naib the

general of ‘Ala-ud-din Khalji who undertook an invasion of south India. It has been

suggested that the Marhatpuri was the same as the Marakatanagara of Gangadevi or

Kanchipuram.’® Probably the term Magara is a corruption of the term Marakatanagara.

Most likely the southern part of the Telugu Choda kingdom was an administrative unit

by itself with Marakatanagara as the administrative headquarters. It is probably on
account of that it was called the Magararajya.’®a The imperial instincts of the Hoysalas

9. EC. V, Cn. 204.
10. /6W..vn, Cl 72.
11. ARSIE. 578 of l907; Ibid., 35 of 1893; Epi. Tnd., VII, pp. 119 and 151; ARSIE. 8 of 1893; Ibid., 363

of 1919; Nellore Inscriptions, R. 38 etc.

12. XIII.p. 15.

I2a. It is probable that the Banas who were one of the rebellious elements in the Chola empire were in

co-operation with the Kaejavarayhs and the Telugu Chodas. They owed allegiance to the Chola
emperors till the commencement of the thirteenth century but from about that time they appear to

have shown themselves to be disloyal to the imperial house by throwing in their lot with the Pandyan
king and the Ka(Javaraya chieftain, as is indicated by the fact that in 1205 some eleven chieftains

loyal to Kulottunga III swore allegiance to the Chola emperor and undertook to have no communi-
cation with the Bana and Ka<Java chiefs {ARSIE, 516 of 1902, SIl, VIII. No. 106).- It was possibly

on account of the reason that the Bana chieftain had come over to the side of the Pandyas that when
Maravarman Sundara Pandya I defeated Kulottunga III and conquered the Chola empire he first

offered the Chola crown to the Bana and later performed his own anointment at Ayirattaji (See Eph
fnd., XXII, p. 42; 47 of 1937-38; /Wrf., para 44; also £p/. 7nd., XXIV, p. 161). Though th?



HOYSALA VIRA NARASIMHA II AND THE MAGARA KINGDOM 113

would have made them desire the addition of ihc Kanchipuram area to their empire.

Added .to it the political condition of the region from about 1 190 must have encouraged

them to undertake the invasions and conquest of the territory.

The Telugu Chodas who were the feudatories of the Cholas appear to have taken

advantage of the pre-occupations of the Chola kings, Kulottunga III and Rajaraja III

and acted in an independent capacity in certain periods of their history ignoring all

feud.ll obligations to their overlords. In fact a few inscriptions of the Telugu Chodas

suggest that a hostile attitude was taken by some of the chieftains of the line against

Kulottunga III and later against Rajaraja III. For instance a Kanarese record of

§.1114 (A.D. 1192-93) says that one Bhujabalavira Nallasiddanadeva Chola- maharaja

was ruling from Vallurapura (situated near Cuddapah and the capital of the Maharaja-

padi-7G00) as levying tribute from Kanchi.^® Again an inscription of §. 1.05 (1105?) of

a Telugu Choda king contains the expression Kappam Konna, apparently a reference to

the achievement of the king mentioned above.^* It was probably to make the Telugu

Choda ruler realise his subordinate position that Kulottunga III is said, in an inscription

of his 19th year, to have “despatched matchless elephants, pjrformed herioc deeds,

prostrated to the ground the kings of the north, entered Kachchi wiih (his) anger abated

and levied tribute from the whole northern region.”^^ Obviously the reference is to the

bringing under subjection the whole of the Telugu Choda kingdom. As a natural result

of it, the overlordship of Kulottunga III appears to have been once again accepted by
the Telugu Choda chieftain as is borne out by some records of the latter which are

dated in the regnal years of the Chola king. But two inscriptions of later dates, namely

A.D. 1214 and 1217, suggest the taking up once again of a hostile attitude by the.Telugu

Chodas against the Chola empire. They mention the levying of tribute from Kanchi
by the chieftain.^® It appears that the Telugu Choda chieftain received some help at

that time from the Kakatiyas as is suggested by an inscription which mentions a Prola

Bhima Nayudu, the Mahapradhana of Ganapatideva as Kanchipura kara.^’ It was a

stirring and trying period in Chola history, when apparently owing to the weakness of

the central government, the Chola empire witnessed interference and invasion from
different outside powers, and internal rebellio.as, particularly those of the Kadavaraya
chieftain and the ruler of the Magara country.

The general course of events in the Chola kingdom during the period under study

appears to have been as follows. Towards the closing years of the reign of Kulottunga III

Banas were originally ruling over the Magadaimandalam they appear' to have become associated in

later times with the North Arcot and Chingleput districts, and worked in subordinate co-operation
with the Telugu Chodas. In that light the rulers of Kanchipuram might have been called the,

Magaras (a corruption of the word Magadas) and the Kanchipuram territory itself .as the

Magara rajya.

13’. 483 of 1906.

14. Nellorc Inscriptions, G. 1; See also Epi. Ind., VII, p. 150.

15.

’ AESIE, 66 of 1892; Sfl, III, 8'8.

16. Neilorc Inscriptions, KV, 13 and R. 36.

}7, ARSIE, 47 of 1929-30; Pt. H, para 29.
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the Pandyan king'Maravarman Sundara Pandya I (1216-1238) who wanted to take

vengeance on the Chola emperor for the excesses he committed in the Pandyan kingdom

during the rule of his predecessor Jatavarman Kulasekhara, conquered the Chola

country, set fire to the Chola cities of Uraiyur and Thanjavur, razed to the ground a

number of buildings, performed vtrabltishekain in the Chola abhislukamantapa at

Ayirattali and after worshipp’mg Lord Ponnamba'anatha at Tillai (Chidambaram) was

staying in Pon Amaravati. According to the Pandyan inscription which gives the above

details Rajaraja (the successor of KuloUunga 111) who had been deprived of his kingdom

appeared before Maravarman Sundara Pandya and requested that his kingdom might be

returned to him and was given back his territories But the details contained in the

Hoyasala inscriptions about the restoration of Rajaraja III to the Chola throne makes

one suspect the truth of every statement made in the Pandyan inscription referred to

above. They also throw some light on the otherwise little known Magara kingdom.

According to them the Hoysala king Narasimha II who had just then succeded to the

throne after the retirement of Ballala II invaded the Chola country, destroyed the

Magararajya, dispersed the Kadavas, served as the lion to the elephant of the Pandyas

and restored the Chola power.^“ This would show that Maravarman Sundara Pandya I

who had penetrated into the Chola kingdom and driven out Rajaraja III was himself

defeated by Narasimha II and therefore Rajaraja III was not restored to his throne by

Sundara Pandya on the former’s request to him but the Chola kingdom was wrested

from Maravarman Sundara Pandya and given over to the Chola king. We do not know
however if Vira Narasimha interfered in Chola politics of his own accord or did so on
appeal by the fugitive emperor for help. Whatever that may be, on account of his suc-

cessful intervention the importance of Narasimha in the politics of the Tamil country

increased enormously as also the dependence of the Chola on the Hoysala king. It was

at the time when the Hoysala king invaded the Tamil country to effect the restora-

tion of Rajaraja to the throne that we hear of the Magara kingdom, for the

first time. Probably taking advantage of the political confussion in the Chola

empire the Telugu Choda chieftain Nallasiddha withheld his tribute to Kulo'.tunga. Not
only that; he was probably in full sympathy with Maravarman Sundara Pandya when
he invaded the Chola empire. It was under those ‘circumstances that the Magara
kingdom was invaded and destroyed for the first time. But the Hoysala invasion of

the Magara kingdom in 1218 was not an end in itself though it was a necessary

preliminary to the success of the arras of Narasimha II in the Tamil country.

A study of the Hoysala inscriptions relating to the Magara kingdom makes us

think that it was invaded and conquered at least thrice by Narasimha II within a period

of about 13 or 14 years. Of these three the first and third formed part of the general

invasion of the Tamil'country by the Hoysala kingAvhile the second was an invasion of

the Magara country alone. An inscription of 1218 which describes the ,achievements of-

18 ARSIE, 49 of 1890; Ibid., 140 of 1894; Ibid., 362 of 1906; Ibid., 99 of 1926; Ibid., Rep. para 32; Ibid.,

322 of 1928; Ibid.. Rep. para_18.

19. £C,IV,N5. 29,
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Narasimha in the Tamil country mentions him as Ka/jcliTkanma, Kadavarayakiilaniaka,

magaramjyaninmlana, chalarajya pratishthacharya, pandyarajya kolaliala,^ etc.^® while

another dated two years later says that overthrowing formidable enemies in the east he

captured the 100 elephants with which Magara came against him and brought them

with his horses.^
^

The second expedition appears to ‘have been Undertaken by Narasimha solely

against the Magara king. Reference has been made earlier to a lithic record of 1223

which says that king Narasimha marching upon Magara stopped at Chudavaditya Koppa
and held a festival adding to his necklace an emerald which came from Munivaraditya.^-

Anoiher inscription of the same year credits Narasimha with having pursued after the

Trikalinga kings, penetrated their train of elephants and displayed unequalled valour,

obviously,a reference to the driving away ‘of the Telugu choda chief from the Kanchi

region. Since there is no mention in theabove two inscriptions of the invasion of any

other region or territory, it is reasonable to take the view that the invasion was under-

taken only against the Magara kingdom ; and as a result of that successful expedition

to the east he was in “the enjoyment of a wealth of elephants, horses, jewels and articles

never before acquired.’’-^ Probably as a result of that invasion the Magararajya was
incorporated within the Hoysala kingdom and one Kesava Dandanayaka was appointed

its governor. From an epigraph of A.D. 1226-27 we learn that when ruling over the

Magara 300 in peace and wisdom he made the grant of a village “having gained the

favour of Narasimha.’"^ But very probably the Hoysala king lost hold over the

Magararajya in or just before A.D. 1228 for according loan inscription of that year

mentioned earlier, the Nangali ghat (loading into the North Arcot district) served as the

eastern boundary of the Hoysala kingdom.®® Having apparently regained his hold over

that region the Magara or the Telugu Choda ruler seems to have co-operated with the

Kadavaraya chieftain in bringing about the imprisonment of the ChoJa king Rajaraja 111.

It was to punish both of them and effect the release of the Chola king from imprison-

ment that Narasimha I[ undertook an expedition against the Chola country, a graphic

account of which is given in the unique Tiruvendipuram insciiption. According to it

when Narasimha II heard of the imprisonment of the Chola king and the excesses

committed by Kopperunjinga he said “this trumpet shall not be blown unless (I shall)

have maintained (my) reputation of being the establisher of the Chola country’, he
started from Dorasamudra, uprooted the Maha (ga) ra kingdom, seized him (the Magara
king), his women and treasures and halting at Pachchur, he ordered the destruction of
the country of Kopperunjinga and the liberation of the Chola emperor.®® Naiasimha’s
achievement of the destruction of the Magara kingdom on this occasion is contained

20. Jbid.,lX,Kxi.S7.

21. Ibid., Vll, Cl. 72.

22. /6/W., V, Cn. 203.

23. Ibid., V, Cn. 197.

24. 76iU, XJI, Ck. 42.

25. Ibid., V, Cn. 204.

26. Epi. Ind., VII, p. l6l.
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also in a Hoysala inscription of 1230. It says : “first lie (Narasimha) went to the east

and being surrounded uprooted the Magara king, set up the Chola king, who sought

refuge with him and having seen the God Alalanatha stationed there a body of

Bherundas®^ to uproot the evil, returned and entering the Ratnakuta capital was at peace.

Then the body of Bherundas according to his order remained for some time in Kanchi-

pura.”2® It ts evident that Kanchipuram was an important and strategical place in the

Magararajya and hence an army was stationed by Narasimha at that place. But we do

not know how long the region continued to be within the Hoysala kingdom. Probably

a few years after 1230 even during the life time of Narasimha it regained its independence

and hence his successor Vira Somesvara had to reconquer it within a short time after

his accession to the throne in 1236 ; for referring to the military achievements of the new
Hoysala king an inscription says ; “Bounded in the east by Kanchi west by the shining

Velavura, north by the Peddore (R. Krishna) south by the beautiful Bayalnad, within

these limits the whole land did he bring under his control”.

27. Probably it was the name of a regiment,

28. £C, V,Cn.211a.
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Vijayanagara and Ceylon

Vijayanagara, the last of the great Hindu empires in south India, was from the

point of view of its size, the biggest of the many that south India had seen. Among the

foreign countries with which it came into close contact and at least parts of which it

actually brought under its subjection was Ceylon.^ This pear-shaped island which is

rightly called “thepeail-drop on the brow of India” has a continuous history of politi-

cal, cultural and social contact with India in general and more particularly south India

ever since very early times.

Vijayanagara's relations with Ceylon began subsequent to this period. The Ceylo-

nese ruler at the time was Bhuvanaika Bahu V (1372-1406). According to Ferishta

who gives a descriptive account of the kingdom of Vijayanagara about A.D. 1378, the

ruler of Ceylon, besides others kept ambassadors at the Vijayanagara court and sent rich

presents to the king annually." This is evidently a reference to the friendly embassies

sent by the Ceylonese ruler to the Vijayanagara sovereign.

After the death of Kampana the Vijayanagara Viceroy in south India, the area

seems to have got out of control. Hence Virupaksba the son of Harihara II reconque-

red the Tundira, Chola and Pandya countries and settled down as the Viceroy of the

area. He led an expedition even to Ceylon portions of which he appears to have con-

quered. In the Narayanmlasam he claims to have set up a pillar of victory in the island

of Ceylon.® The Alampundi Plates of Virupaksha refer not only to his conquest of the

Tundira, Chola and Pandya countries, but also mention that he conquered the people

of Ceylon and brought booty to his father which were in the shape of the crystals and

other jewels.'^

1. Since renamed Sri Lanka.

2. SewlI, A Forgotten Empire, p. 46.

3. Aiyangar, S.K., Sources of Vijayanagara History, p. 53.

4. Epi. Tnd., ni, p. 228.
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The conquest of parts of Ceylon during the days of Harihara II is also mentioned

by Nuniz. Referring to one "Ajarao,” which appears to be a corrupt form of the full

name Virupaksha Raya (11) he says that “he took Goa, and Chaul, and Dabull, and

Ceillao, and all the country of Charamamdell, which had also rebelled after the first des-

truction of this kingdom.” ® Ceillao is a reference to Ceylon. It appears however that

the conquest of Ceylon by the Vijayanagara king was largely an exaggerated account of

the conquest of the small kingdom of Jaffna, which abets on the northern part of

Ceylon, for in the next century we notice that this kingdom was one of the tributaries of

the Vijayanagara Empire.® The assumption of such grandiloquent titles such as Piirvapa-

schwiadakshinaiaDuidradisrara (lord of the western, eastern and southern ocean) by

Harihara II also indicates that the Vijayanagara Empire had during his time reached

the natural frontiers of south India, and perhaps included parts of Ceylon also.

About the revenues of the Vijayanagara Empire during the time of Deva Raya II,

Nuniz says : “In his (Deva Raya’s) time the king of Coullao (Quilon). and Ceyllao,

and Paleacate (Pulicat), and Peguu, and Tanacary (Tenasserim) and many other coun-

tries paid tribute to him.” According to Abdur Razak the Danaik of Vijayanagara

went on a voyage to the frontier of Ceylon and was away from the capital between

November 1442 and April 1443, and hence he was recalled by Deva Raya 11.’ This

Danaik has been identified with Lakshmana Dandanayaka the Mahapradhani of Deva

Raya II. The visit of Lakkanna to the frontier of Ceylon was in all probability in con-

,

nection with the reconquest of parts of Ceylon which had been conquered by Virupa-

ksha II in 1385, but had apparently gone out of control subsequent to his days..

Besides an inscription at Nagar in the Chingleput district credits Deva Raya with

having levied tribute from Ceylon (Ifam tirai kondii) ® The ruling king of the [island at

that time was. Parakrama Bahu II (1412-68) of the Kotte dynasty. Contemporary

poems speak of the people of Jaffna as Kanarese; and this is corroborated by the

evidence of Valentyn who refers to an invasion of Ceylon by the Kanarese.® Since

Abdur Razak mentions that the Danaik's voyage was to the ‘frontier’ of Ceylon it is

possible that he reconquered only Jaffna and parts of the north of Ceylon and did not

go into the heart of the island; perhaps the call from the imperial headquarters preven-

ted him from pursuing his successes into the interior. But there can be no doubt about

the statement of Nuniz that tribute was levied by the Vijayanagara king from Ceylon.

It-is interesting to note that Valentyn mentions a Ceylonese expedition to Adriampet

(Adhirampattinam) in south India, since a Ceylon ship laden with cinnamon had been
'

captured by the south Indians.’® It is not apparent, however, if the invasion of Ceylon
by Lakkanna Dandanayaka was a result of the Ceylonese expedition to south Indial'

5. Sewell, o/>. c//., p. 301; the suggestion of Sewell that by ‘Ajarao’ Nuniz means two kings, Bukka II

and his successor Deva Raya 1 is a mistake. See Ibid., 51.

6. CoiT'mgion, A Short History of Ceylon,

7. Sewell, op. cit., p. 74; ARSIE, 1904-05, para 58.

8. ARSIE, 144 of 1916; Rep., para 60.

9. Codrington, op. cit., p. 92.

10. Ibid., p. 84.
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During the close of the reign of Deva Raya II the Vijayanagara Empire “extended from

the borders of Sarandip to those of Gulburga and from Bengal to Malabar, a space of

more than 1000 parasangs.”^^

We do not know if Ceylon continued to be under the control of Vijayanagara

subsequent to the days of Deva Raya 11. It is possible that distant Ceylon must have

asserted its independence and stopped paying tribute to Vijayanagara during the period

covered by the reigns of Mallikarjuna and Virupaksha.

In the next century Ceylon itself was passing through political vicissitudes. About

the beginning of the sixteenth century the dynasty of Jayavardhanapurakotte slowly

rose into prominence, and continued in power for about two centuries. About 1521

Vijaya Bahu VII (1509-21), the ruler of Ceylon, was at war with the Portuguese, who

were giving the people much trouble. “The report of their iron was louder than thunder

when it burst upon the rock Yugandhara. Their cannon balls flew many a mile and

shattered fortresses of granite.” Hence he enlisted the support of the Zamorin of

Calicut who was a tributary of Vijayanagara.^® The war, however, ended in what is

known as the 'sucking of Vijaya Bahu’ by his sons, and his dethronement. His three

sons divided the realm into three kingdoms. The eldest was Bhuvanaika Bahu (1521-50)

who ruled from Kotte as the suzerain. Among the other two one was at Rayigama

and the other at Sitawaka. The last brother at Sitawaka who wanted to deprive the

eldest at Kotte of his suzerainty of the island was very frequently at war with him.

According to Lungi Barthema, the whole of Ceylon or at least some little part of

it acknowledged the sovereignty of Vijayanagara.^® But two inscriptions of Krishna-

deva Raya mention his conquest of Ham (Ceylon). An epigraph at Maniambalam in

the Pudukkottai State (now a separate district Tamilnadu) S. 1433 states that Srimat

Narasingarayar Kittanarayar ‘was pleased to take Ham and all countries’. An epigraph

at Piranmalai in the Ramanathapuram district dated A.D. 1522-23 claims for Krishna-

deva Raya the conquest of Ceylon.^* It is difficult to say if the two inscriptions ascrib-

ing the feat to Krishnadeva Raya are historically quite reliable. It may be doubted if

Krishnadeva Raya could have found time to march to the southern extremity of the

empire at that time. It was not unusual in those days for the kings to take credit for

the achievements of one of their subordinates. In 1521 one of the brothers of Vijaya-

Bahu of Ceylon requested the Zamorin of Calicut for help, which was apparently given.

Evidently the help given by the ruler of Calicut to the Ceylonese prince was considered

to be the help given by Krishnadeva Raya himself.

Similarly Achyuta Raya has been credited with the conquest of Ceylon. An
epigraph A.D. 1539 refers to his conquest of I|am.^® Further a record at Ennayiram

11. Elliot and Daivson, History of India as told by Her own Historians. TV, p. 105.

12. Sewell, op. cit., p. 374.

13.

~ Heras, Ara\indii Dynasty, I, p. 57 n.

14. ARSIE, 146 of 1903; Rep., para 23.

15. Ibid., 40 of 1897; Ibid., 222 of 1924, Rep., para 49.
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in the south Arcot district dated in the same year states that he exacted tribute from
Ceylon.J® Since Achyuta Raya invaded the Travancore country it is considered that

this alleged conquest of Ceylon by the Vijayanagara emperor "cannot be absolutely

false.” The war between the two brothers one at Kotte and the other at Sitawaka in

Ceylon went on unabated, the Zamorin of Calicut espousing the cause of the younger
brother. From the different references by contemporary inscriptions it is not unlikely

that Achyuta Raya might have helped one of the parties. Such a possibility is sup-

ported by the fact that he invaded the Travancore country a little prior to the date of

the epigraph.

According to Nagam Aiyah the ruler of Ceylon was a subordinate of Bhutala

Sri Vira Udaya Marthanda Varma (1494-1535) and paid tribute to him.^’ It appears

that he stopped sending his usual tribute. Hence Ramaraja Vithala after his conquest

of the Travancore country appears to have sent an expedition into Ceylon and levied

tribute from its ruler.i® It is doubtful if he actually went to Ceylon, but in all likelihood

he sent his army to Kandy. Probably it is this event which is referred to in a letter of

6th December, 1546 which the Governor of Goa Joao de Castro wrote to king Joas III

w herein it is stated that the Nayaka of Madurai, Visvanatha. waged a war against the

king of Conde (Kandy). Castro helped the Ceylonese ruler by sending 40 soldiers to

protect the ruler.^®

About A.D. 1565 Ceylon appears to have been invaded by Krishnappa Nayaka

of Madurai for the reason that the king of Kandy failed to pay his annual tribute to

the Vijayanagara king. According to the account contained in the Singla Dvipa Katha

Krishnappa Nayaka invaded Ceylon with an army of 20,000 soldiers, and defeated the

recalcitrant ruler at Puttalam. In spite of the advice of his ministers to the contrary

the Kandiyan ruler gathered an army of 60,000 Ceylonese and 10,000 Kattars (Portu-

guese?)and gave battle to the invaders. Not only was his army defeated, but he himself

was slain in the battle. The family of the deceased king was sent to Auiangam the old

capital of Ceylon, and treated with respect and consideration. Krishnappa Nayaka

himself remained in Ceylon for three days and returned to head-quarters after appoint-

ing his brother-in-law Vijaya Gopala Nayaka as the Viceroy in Ceylon and

making arrangements for the regular remittance of tribute.^^® This is confirnled by

independent epigraphical evidence, though of an indirect nature. Credit for such a

conquest is taken by the Vijayanagara emperor Sadasiva Raya since Krishnappa

Nayaka undertook the expedition perhaps only as a Vijayanagara Governor. An
inscription at Tiruttani dated in 1564-65 credits Sadasiva with having looted

Ceylon.®^ Then an epigraph at Taramangalam dated in 1567 refers to a Vira Vasanta

16. Ibid., 331 of 1917; Ibid., Rep., ]918, para 73.

17. Travancore Slate Manual, Vol. 1, p. 297.

18. Ibid., 129 of 1905; Ibid., Rep., para 60; the date 1536 given for the epigraph is evidently a mistake.

19. Heras, op. cit., p. 169 and 170,/;;.

20. Aiyar, R. Satyanatha, o/l/;c ATflynkj of Madura, pp. 70-72; Heras, op. cit., pp. 169-71

Taylor, Catalogue Raissone ofMackenzie Mss., Ill, pp. 183-86.

2). ARSIE, 451 of 1905; Rep., l906, para 49,
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Raya who conquered Ceylon, and records the grant of Ilatnsamudra,(IIam is Ceylon) to

the Kailasam and Ilamisvara temples named apparently after Lanka.^- The triumphs

of Sadasiva in the extreme south appear to have been so complete and thorough that

the Vellangudi Plates of Venkata II credit Sadasiva with the overlordship of the south.-^

Sadasiva was therefore able to summon all his dependents and rajas from the banks of

the Krishna as far as the island of Ceylon for the battle of Rakshsas Tangdi.-*

The appointment of Vijaya Gopala Nayaka as the Viceroy in Ceylon appears to

have been only a temporary arrangement for we do not hear of any subsequent Vicero-

yalty of Ceylon. Perhaps his appointment was only to receive and remit the tribute

due from Ceylon. •

_

' ,
r

Ceylon appears to have stopped the regular payment during the time of Sriranga II.

Hence tribute was again forced to be paid by the king of that island. Sriranga II

claims to have levied tribute from Ceylon.-^ An epigraph at Tindivanam states that he

levied tribute from all countries and from Ilam.^® But it appears he was too busy in

the north to have found time to lead an expedition to distant Ceylon. During the

period of his rule Venkata who was in charge of the Chandragiri Viceroyalty also claims,

credit for the conquest of Ceylon. Evidently it was this invasion and conquest of

Venkata that is meant by Sriranga’s boast in which he takes that credit to himself as

many other sovereigns of Vijayanagara did earlier.

A good deal of the subsequent relations of Ceylon with Vijayanagar is shrouded

in mystery. As the central government weakened the Nayaks of Ginji, Thanjavur and^

Madurai not to speak of the Odeyars of Mysore grew into prominence and power.^

Among them the Nayaks of Thanjavur continued to be loyal to the imperial house till

very late in its own history, while Madurai perhaps on account of its comparative

distance from the head-quarters rebelled as often as it could, sided as many times as

possible with the rebels and enemies of Vijayanagara and gave immense trouble to the

royal house. All the while the Thanjavur Nayaks claimed suzerainty over Ceylon. The
coming of the Portuguese to south India and Ceylon and their settlement in them proved

a source of trouble to the countay. They interfered as often as they could in the civil

wars in south India siding generally with the Nayaks of Thanjavur. Likewise they inter-

fered in the confused politics of Ceylon and Jaffna supporting one or other of the rival

claimants to the suzerainty of the island. According to the Sahityaratnakaravi oTYaj-

nanarayana Dikshita the Portuguese had to be dislodged from Negapattinam during the

time of Achyutappa Nayaka of Thanjavur and as a result of that they went away to Jaffna

and Ceylan. They interfered in the politics of Jaffna, supported a rival to the throne

and after driving away the ruler of the island occupied it themselves. The dethroned

ruler reached Thanjavur and represented his woeful plight to Achyutappa who promised
him help. But we do not know if any assistance was given then.^'

22. Ibid., 19 of 1900; Rep., p. 82.

23. Epi. Ind., XVI, p. 220.

24. Ferishta, III, p. 413.

25. ARSIE, 190S, para 35.

26. Arch. Sur. Rep., 1911-12, p. 183.

27. Aiyangar, S K.. op. ciL, p. 271; seealsoDanverse,T/(e /m/m, II, ch. vii.
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In 1591 (he Portuguese undertook an invasion of Jaffna on hearing that the

Christians were being persecuted both by the rulers of Kandy and Jaffna. Andrew

Fustado the Commander occupied Jaffna after killing the king and his eldest son. The

younger son Pararajasekhara Pandara a minor was placed on the throne with an uncle of

his as regent till he should come of age. The regent himself died in 1617 leaving a*

young son and a regent, the latter of whom was killed by one Sangili Kumara who
usurped the throne subsequently. His pretensions to the throne were not recognised by

the people and hence he was driven away.

But with the help'of Raghunatha Nayaka of Thanjavur he got himself reinstated

on the throne and the Portuguese recognised him as b'ng. But they soon dethroned

him and occupied the island. Sangili Kumara was therefore obliged to flee, to,

Thanjavur to seek refuge at the court of Raghunatha. According to the Ilaglnmatha-

WijWojwn of Ramabhadramba Raghunatha crossed over to the island with his army

after constructing a bridge of boats over the sea, and offered battle to the Portuguese, who
however fled through the sea leaving behind them what all they had. Raghunatha
having come out victorious reinstated Sangili Kumara on the throne of Jaffna and left a

garrison for his support.-* The Portuguese again interfered, reduced the kingdom of

Jaffna to subjection, deposed the native dynasty and at last captured Sangili Kumara
and sent him to Goa, where he was tried and executed.^*

Local disputes continued to exist in Jaffna and at the request of one Arche Dom
Liz Raghunatha again interfered in its affairs and fried to fake possession of it. The

first invasion under Khen Nayak proved futile ; but the next and a more elaborate one

met with no better result ; the prince who was opposed
.
to Sangili Kumara himself

embraced Christianity in 1620 and made over his kingdom to the Portuguese.**

From the available evidence we hear of an embassy from Ceylon during the

time of Vijayaranga Chokkanatha Nayaka of Madurai. It was by the king of Ceylon

who made a proposal for a matrimonial alliance between the two families. Vijaya

Ranga^Chokkanatha being a conservative in religious and social matters turned down
the proposal'with scant courtesy, since the Ceylonese ruler was considered to be of an

inferior caste.*^

28. Aiyangar S.K., op. c!i., pp. 287 and 289; Danvers, op. cit., Ch. viii.

29. Codrington, op. cit., p. 112.

30. Danvers, op. cit., 11, ch. viii.

31. Aiyar, Satyanatha, op. cit., pp. 230 apd 256; Taylor, Or. fti^t. Mss. II, Appendix, pp. 46-47,



Tiruinalaideva Maharaya

Though from the points of view of the expansion of the empire and the systemati-

sation of the administration, the reign! of Krishnadeva Raya, the great Vijayanagara

emperor was one of dazzling brilliance, yet his domestic life like that of Akbar, the great

Mughal emperor, was not happy. According to the Portuguese chronicler Paes,

Krishnadeva Raya had twelve lawful wives. Of them, four appear to have been the

-principal ones, namely Tirumaladevi, Chinnadevi, Jaganmohim and Annapumadevi.

It is difScult to say who among them was the chief queen. If however, the inscriptions

can give us any definite idea about that question,- it was probably Tirumaladevi who was

the chief queen for an epigraph specifically mentions that Krishnadeva Raya ascended

the Karnataka throne with his queen Tirumalambika.^

Though Krishna Raya had so many wives, he had no issue tilt very late in his

regin, and this fact was not only the cause of anxiety to the emperor himself but also

was the cause of concern for many in the kingdom. In 1517 Rayasam Kondamarasayya,

one of the trusted lieutenants of Krishna Raya made a gift to the temple of Chowdesvari

at Cholasamudram (Anantapur) “in order that the king may be blessed with children.”^

It appears that the prayers of the Raysam were heard and Krishna Raya was blessed with

a child in the next year by his queen Tirumaladevi. We have to infer this from the

details contained in a record dated Saturday, Kartika 12, Bahiidhanya (expired) Saka 1440

(A.D. 1519) coming from Kamalapuram, near modem Hospet. The inscription registers a

gift of land made by the king and the queen Tiiumaladevi to the God Tiruvengalanatha

of Anjanagiri (Tirumalai at Tirupati) for the merit of Tirumadairaya Maharaya.® If a

conjecture is possible the gift was perhaps made on the day on which Tirumala Raya

1. ARSIE, 191 p. 55. See also 87 of 1912.

2. Ibid.

3. ARSIE, 697 of 1923.
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completed his first year. But it is difficult to explain how the prince came to be called a

Maharaya even in 1519. Perhaps the epigraph was inscribed on the walls of the temple

some five years later when he came to be called a Maharaya and was associated with

the administration of the empire.

After 1519 for about 5 years we do not hear of prince Tirumalai Raya. But he comes

into prominence in 1524 both in the epigraphs of the year and the account of Nuniz

the Portuguese chronicler who came to Vijayanagara during the time of Achyutaraya

Maharaya. The Portuguese cronicler says : “The King (Krishnadeva Raya) perceiv-

ing that he was already advanced in years desiring to rest in his old age and wishing his

'son to become king when he died, he determined to make him king during his life time

the boy being six years old and the king not knowing what would happen after his death

wherefore he abdicated his throne and all his power and name and gave it all to his son

and himself became his minister.”^ Though Nuniz_does not give the name of the prince

who was six years old in A.D. 1524 it was evidently Tirumala who according to the

epigraphs was aged exactly so many years then. According to Nuniz the reason for the

so-called abdication of Krishnadeva Raya and the installation of his son on the throne

_was the fact, that he was afraid that there might be a,dispute as to the succession to the

throne after his own death which fear.after all turned out to be well-founded.

T£ is worth examining here if this literary evidence afforded by the chronicle of

Nuniz is supported by the evidence of epigraphy. The inscriptions do not refer to the

abdication of the father in favour of his son. The insciiptions of Tirumalaideva

Maharaya which are about thirteen in number and arc all dated § 1446 (A.D.

1524-25) mention him as-ruling over the empire with all imperial titles and arc scattered

throughout the different parts of the Vijayanagara Empire. The following is the

list of the inscriptions of the prince ;

Reference. Date.
^

King. Details.

E. C. IV Taratm Triumalai Raya His minister...

Hs. 58 VaUaka *

Dannayaka made a

'•Slid. grant.

'
,

8. Friday

. r r W

EC.'IX . Tarana Do Timmanna Dannayaka

Mg.' 6
,
Vaisaka - made a grant far

. Sitdi 13'’ '

- the merit of the

king.

4. Sewell, A Forgotten Empire, p. 359.
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Reftrencd, .Date, JCing. Details.

AIVS/E, 683 of

1923.

Rep. Para 79

Anantasayana-

gudi,

(Hospet Taluk.)

Tarana,

Jyestha

Slid. 7

Sunday

TJnimalaideva

•Mahataya.

j

Krishna granted a <

number of villages

to the temple of

Anantapadmanabha

at Sale Tirumala

Maharaypura

founded in the
'

name of his son.
'

Z'

Ibid., 261 of

1929—30.

Srirangaiil,

(Tiruchii‘appalli)

S 1446,

Tarana

Swihd

Slid.

DvitTyd

Uttafam,

Wednesday

Do,

S

f

Records certain gra!nts

to the temple.

Ibid., 115 of

1918

Kugaiyur,

(Salem)

1§. 1446_

Taranal Till

Bahula,

Di, Hasta,

Monday

Do.

Ibid., 139 of

1896

SII, V, 1004

Damal (Chingleput)

§. 1446

Tarana,

Kartika

Su. Di. 12

Monday,
UttanadvadaH

Chitrai

Do.

ARSIE, 1 of

1913

Gorahtla

(Andhra Pradesh)

S. 1446

Tarana

Kart. Su Di 12

Monday
UttanadvadaH

(7-11-1524

Virapratapa

Tinimalaideva

Raya Maharaya.

Ibid., 605 of

1929—30.

Matpadi

(South Kanara)

'

S. 1446

Vyaya

Kdriika

Sn. Tuesday

Tirumalaideva
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Reference. .Date. King. Details. .

Ibid., 116 of

1918

.Kugaiyur

(South Arcot)

§. 1446

Tarana, Dhanus

Slid. Di Pur-

iiima Ardra,

Do.

Sunday

Ibid., ni of

1918.

Kugaiyur

(South Arcot)

§ 1446

Tarana, Dliunas

Sud. Di. 1

Ardra, Sunday.

Do.

EC. IX. S. 1446 Tirumalaideva Timmanna

Ma. 82 Tarana Maharaya Dannyaka

Marga ‘The moon to the makes a gram
. t

Sti. 2 ocean of Krishna

Raya’.

ARSIE., 91 of 1912, §. 1446 Virapratapa

1912, P. 55

Lepakshi

(Andhra Pradesh)

Tarana Tirumalaideva

Maharaya

Not even one of the above records refers to the abdication of Krishnadeva Raya

and the installation of Tirumala as the Maliaraya. It was the custom in the Hindu

courts for the reigning sovereigns to nominate their heirs apparent and bequeath their

empire to them ; and that was generally done to avoid unnecessary disputes on the

question of succession to the throne after their own death. It was in accordance with

that practice that Krishnadeva appears to have crowned young Tirumala as the Ymaraja

so that he could succeed to the throne on his own death and avoid unnecessary palace

feuds. This was misunderstood by Nuniz as the regular coronation of the son and the

abdication of the father. The fact that Krishnadeva Raya did not abdicate his throne in

favour of his son is proved by a large number of epigraphs of Krishna bearing the dates

from §aka 1446 Tarana, Vaiiaka to Marga of the same year, which arc found scattered

throughout the empire. Further much reliance cannot be placed on the evidence of

Nuniz for it is contradictory in nature. The Portuguese chronicler says that one of the

reasons why Krishnadeva abdicated his throne in favour of his son and became his

minister was that he wanted to take rest in his old age. In an earlier connection, the

same chronicler says that Krishna was a tittle over 20 when he ascended the throne in

1509, and if there can be any truth in that it is incredible to belie\e that within a period

of some 15 years he would have become “too old” to rule efficiently and hence was
anxious to retire. Even granting that Krishna became old and hence wanted retirement,

it is doubtful if he could have had any rest if, as Nuniz sajs, he had become the minister

of his son who was only six years old and therefore could not be expected to bear the
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burden of the administration of the empire. Besides we have a large number of

inscriptions belonging to Krishnadeva Raya bearing the dates between 1525 and 1530

and these clearly show that he continued to rule over the empire till five or six years

after the installation of Tiruraala as the Yuvaraja. It should have been a very inoppor-

tune time for Krishnadeva Raya to have thought of abdicating his throne in favour of

his son when the empire was just beginning to enjoy the fruits of peace after a hard

period of strenuous warfare with the refractory feudatories on the one hand,

the Gajapati ruler on another, and the ever troublesome Muhammadan Sultans

on the third. It was barely three years since Vijayanagara came out successful from the

battle of Raichur and Krishnadeva would not have thought of retiring at that time.

" But Tirumala does not appear to have reigned long. We do not hear of him in the

epigraphs after Saka 1446 (A. D. 1525), He died a premature death. Nuniz is specific on

the point and says that the“great festivals (connected with the installation of Tirumala as

Yuvaraja) lasted 8 months during which time the son of the king fell sick of a disease of

which he died.” Thus according to him Tirumala died about the middle of 1525. We
find the earliest inscription of Achyutaraya in 1526 which states that he was ruling from

Vijayanagara. This indicates that he was anointed crown prince after the death of

Tirumala and hence he appeared with all regal titles since then.
' '

' According to the Portuguese chronicler Tirumala died under suspicious circums-

tances
; and hence Krishnadeva learning that his son had died by poison given him by

Timmanna Dannayaka, the son of Saluva Timma sent for his minister, his brother and

two sons and put them into prison. Timmanna Dannayaka however escaped from the

prison, but was defeated and brought back. Subsequently, all the four were ordered to

be blinded and cast into prison where Timmanna died. The description of Nuniz is

too graphic and full of details to be cast aside. But it is extremely doubtful if Saluva

Timma who was on very cordial terms with his royal master was the Dharanivaraha .

of the empire and “Krishnadeva Raya’s own body” could have been punished in that

manner by the king, though it might have been, if there can be any truth in the charge,

due to the fact that he was subject to certain fits as observed by Paes.®

Towards the close of his reign the heart-broken Krislmadeva Raya was blessed,
with another son. He was barely 18 months old when Krishna died in 1530 and hence
not “of fit age to ascend the throne.” Therefore, Krishna at the time of his death
nominated his half-brother Achyutadeva Raya to succeed him.

?. Sewell, op. cil., p. 357.
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The Administrative value of the Amaktanialyada

The victories of peace are greater than the victories of war, and it is only periods

of peace that are marked by an outburst of religious and literary activity. Under the

benevolent administration of Krishnadeva Raya of Vijayanagara prosperity and plenty

reigned and a host of religious leaders and literary celebrities flourished in the land.

Among the scholars of his court were Allasani Peddanna, Mukku Timmanna, Dhurjati,

Suranna, Tenali Ramakrishna and others, while among the religious teachers who lived

during the period were Vyasaraya, Vallabhacharya and Krishnachaitanya.

But Krishnadeva Raya is justly famous as a man of letters, besides being a patron

of letters. He was a finished Sanskrit and Telugu scholar. Among his Sanskrit works,

according to his own statement, were the Afadalasacharitram, Satyavadhiiprenanain, Saka-

lakathasarasangraham, StiktinaiptuU, jnanachintemmi and the Rasaimnjari. The Jambavati-

kalyancnn was a Sanskrit drama written by him and it was enacted before the people

assembled to witness the Chaitra (Spring) festival of God Virupaksha at Vijayanagara.^

But his magnum opus was the Amuktamalyada, one of the mahakavyas in the Telugu

literature. It narrates the story of Periyaivar <?r Vishnuchitta the sixth Alvar, who is

said to have converted the Madurai king to the Sri Vaishnava faith. Besides, it gives

an account of the marriage of Stldikkoddltaj, the adopted daughter of

Vishnuchitta, with God Sri Ranganatha of Srirangam. Intertwined with*

this main theme is the story of Yamunacharya, "a Brahmana who after

converting the Pandya king to the Sri Vaishnava faith and marrying his daughter, ruled

over a part of the kingdom that was placed under his charge. He was then so much

immersed in mundane pleasures that Ramamisra, a disciple of Pundarikaksha who

himself was a disciple of Nathamuni, the grandfather of Yamunacharya, had to rescue

him from the worldly grihastha's life. Yamunacharya renounced his kingdom and the

life of a house-holder, became a sannyasin and spent the remaining portion of his life in

the service of God Ranganatha and the Sri Vaishnava faith. The dramatic introduction

] . Aiyangar, S.K., Sources of Vijayanagar History, p. 142,
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of the story of Yamunacharya marrying a Pandya princess and then donning the yellow

robes after some years, in the Anvtkiantalyada, can be justified by the occasion it

afforded to Krishnadeva Raya to express his political maxims when he makes Yamuna-

charya instruct his son on politics and administration. In the fourth canto of the work

there are about eighty-five verses in which Krishnadeva Raya gives ‘expression to his

views on such a subject.

The question has often been asked if the views expressed on politics and administ-

ration by Krishnadeva Raya in his Anvtktamalyada are those of a great king with good

experience in administration and contain “practical hints and information most impor-

tant to a reigning prince” or those copied from earlier works on Arthasastra, Dhawta-

sastra and Rajcmiti as by a learned Pandit. While it has been maintained by some that

the maxims are practical hints to good administration based on the experience of

Krishnadeva Raya it has been argued by some others that the principles enunciated by

the emperor were not his own, but were taken from earlier works on Rajaniti. It has

been pointed out for instance that, of the eighty verses devoted to an exposition of the

principles of administration, the ideas of seven of them have been borrowed from

previous works. But one is tempted to ask if references to episodes of classical times

made in the Amiiktaimlyada will make the work unoriginal, and indicate that it has

been based on previous works. Such seeming similarities between the political maxims

enunciated by Krishnadeva Raya in his work and those contained in ancient Indian

Rajcniiti literature cannot warrant the conclusion that the emperor-poet was in any way

wholly indebted to previous works on Rajaniti for he was substantialy original in his

ideas. If the ideas of any age have any relation to the conditions of the period, then

the political maxims of the emperor show that they were particularly intended for and

suited to the conditions of his day. They are comprehensive in nature, dealing with

politics as a normal science and giving practical advice on governmental organisation,

“It is neither a Gazetteer nor darsana (political philosophy); ...It gives a blend of theory

and practice which appeared soundest” to Krishnadeva Raya, and best illustrates the

brilliant sparks of salesmanship of the great emperor-poet of Vijayanagara.

The political maxims of Krishanadeva Raya, as enunciated in the Amuktamaiyada,

may be grouped under certain broad heads among which are Dharma, ministers, system

of espionage, management of public endowments poor relief, treatment of foreign

merchants. An examination of the emperor’s views on the above subjects and their

practical application to practical questions will definitely show that Krishnadeva Raya
was not only a talking theory, but also a silent practice.

The Amidctanialyada is orthodox in outlook, wherein stress is laid on the protec-

tio 1 of Dharma. The author says:
—“Manu, D.indadhara and others became known as

persons imbued with Dharma only by finding out the mistakes of the subjects and
punishing them for the same. The anointed king, who is equal to God and who is

created by God (Prajapati) in various forms for the purpose of ruling the subjects, is

known by various terms which are sanctioned by the Vedas, as Virat and Sdmrat and
sjiould put up with the trouble apd relieve the sufferings of the wprld.” As to why a
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king should rule according to ' Dliarma, he says: “In the krilayiiga the king Sahasra-

bahui the son of Kritavirya, who wtiS ruling the kingdom was able to make his authority

felt throughout the world in all countries, islands and provinces by means of his many

weapons. It is possible to rule (he country like that in this last
'
)’uga where the power'

of kings is limited. ..With great care and according to your poweriyou should attend to'

the work of protecting the good and punishing the wicked without neglecting anything

that you see or hear. In the case of impossibilities, you should throw the burden on

God Narayana -and do ' yoUr work without pride. Your endeavours will meet with

success. A king should'do everything with an eye towards Dlianna, The births of

Yaruna, Kubera, Agni,, Dhananjaya, Indra and other gods are the result of their

actions done in their previous births. The various worlds as the ' Bhii, SImvah and

Stmli owe their positions to Dliamia. So by performing your Dlianna you pay off

your three-fold debt, to the Rishis, the Gods and the Manes, and attain celebrity among
your equals.”- The emperor feels that to enforce the observance of si-aditarma by the

people the ruler must not desist from using danda, and he says : “the wife’s attach-

ment to her husband, the proper relations between men and women the ascetic subduing

his indriyas, the lower castes showing deference to the higher, the servant looking care-

fully to the interests of the master— all these are brought about by the fear of the king’s

punishment.” The titles Vaidikamirgapratisihapanacharya and Vedaniargapratisthapana-

charya taken by Krishnadeva Raya as by many other Vijayanagara kings and the

appointment of sainayacharyas or censors of morals by them prove that the king as many
others sought to translate his ideal into practice.

. 4

Krishnadeva Raya feels that much care must be taken in the choice of ministers.

He wants that the king must chiose as his minister a Brahmana who is a scholar with

knowledge of Rajaniti, is aged between 50 and 70 and physically healthy and had been

serving the king from previous generations, and remarks that if one had such a minister

the seven limbs of the government would be strengthened. As for the appointment of

governors of forts he wants well disposed Brahmana to be selected for them, and

strongly discourages the appointment of Kshatriyas Tor them lest they should attempt

to subvert the king himself.* In the Vijayamgara history we have abundint evidence

of Brahmana ministers having served under successive kings.* It seems though

Krishnadeva Rayi was describing the qualities of his minister, Saluva Timma, when he

specifies the characteristics to be expected of the ministers. The emperor warns against

the choice of bad ministers who would be a source of danger to the kingdom.

Krishnadeva Raya lays great emp’iasis on the orginisation of an efficient system

of espionage and says that spies must be employed to watch the movements of the

enemies, of the ministers and others in the kingii'm lest they shoili get conceited with

their position and advise the king to launch oh unnecessary enterprises. He -lays down

that the spy must reside in the capital, be conversant with languages, be acquainted

2. AmuktamaWyada, Canto IV, pp. 284-85. , . -

3. 7AW., p. 211. - • . '

'
'

4. fAahzlmgam, T.V Adminislralhn and Social Life under Vijayanagar, p. 24}. --I
^
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with the spies of other countries, he without special marks and be amply paid. Great

value was attached to the words of the spies 'and this is shown by the words of the

royal author who says : “Do not spurn away an informer at the very outset. Ponder
over and over again about what he says. If what he reported proves to be false, then

dispense with him, but see that he is in ho way disgraced.” By these words the emper-

or has described what actually happened in the empire for we know that espionage

under Vijayanagara was very efficient.

Krishnadeva Raya says in his “Do not entrust the temples of

your kingdom to an officer who is intent upon amassing wealth, lest, he should, in his

avarice divert the money of the temples to make up for the losses sustained by his pro-

vince. So it is necessary that a separate officer should be appointed to administer them,

for even if he misappropriated the property of the temple he alone would suffer for it

and the king would have nothing to do with it.” To avoid misapplication of one fund

from another, Krishnadeva Raya appears to have actually separated the administration

of religious and public charities from the administration of the ordinary revenue.®

Till about the time of Krishnadeva Raya, the Panipatyagar who was a local official in

those days exercised some control over the administration of the temple. But the

emperor ruled with regard to the management of a temple as follows : “All grants are

to be taken care of by Allappa, the agent of the temple of the god. He will take

possession of them, and, appointing such temple servants, as he wishes, will continue the

temple services from time to time; the Panipatyagar has no authority to enquire into the

affairs of the temple. Allappa will be the agent of the temple and no one else.”® We
do not know for certain if this order of Krishnadeva Raya was a single case of such a

policy or if it is the only known example of his new policy. But in the light of his

views on the subject contained in the Anwlctamalyada, it may be taken that this offers

an illustration of the new policy of the emperor with regard to the administration of

temple properties and other philanthropic endowments.

Krishnadeva Raya says in his Amiiktamalyada, that the prosperity of a kingdom

depends largely on its, size but if the state should be small, the tanks, channels and other

irrigation facilities in it should be increased and the poor cultivators helped with conces-

sions so that they could develop their resources and help the augmentation of the prospe-

rity and wealth of the State; the king will never be prosperous though he may conquer the

seven dvipas if there are officers in his employ who do not call back the subjects that leave

his state on account of suffering, but would, like the jackal in the battlefield, say that their

cattle and grain might be taken over, and the materials in their houses used as fuel.”’The

emperor improved the irrigation facilities in the State. He constructed a big lake near

Nagalapura, afforded irrigation facilities to the people,' and fixed graded rates of

assessment on the cultivators, Nuniz says that, by means of that water the people made
many improvements in the city and “in order that they might improve their lands he

5. Amuktamalyada, Canto IV, pp. 21f.

6 EC, IV, Cn 99.

7. Amuktamal}ada, IV, pp. 236-37.
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(Krislinadeva Raya) gave the people lands which are irrigated by this water free for nine

years until they had made their improvements, so that the revenue already amounts to

20000 The history of the Vijayanagara empire is replete with instances of

the oppressive taxation policy of the governors, the consequent migrations of the people

to places where taxation was less heavy, and the interference of the central government

to restore confidence in them and call them back. At the beginning of the sixteenth

century taxation in the South Arcot district was so heavy that one Trinetranatha Kachchi-

rayar who was then the local governor, had to revise the rates of taxes. But since the

new arrangements also pressed heavily on the people who began to leave the place in

consequence, the rates of assessment weie again revised favourable to the cultivators.

Tlius the emperor noted down as the political maxims of kings only 'what were being

done by the government of the day.®

The emperor’s view’s regarding forest tribes appear to be based on his practical

experience with many such in the empire, like the Kurumbars. He suggests that the

control over wild tribes inhabiting hills and forests must be entrusted to such chiefs as

had been driven away from their strongholds and consequently had immigrated into this

kingdom and that the aboriginals lest they should give trouble must be brought under

control by allaying their fear, because, being uncultivated people, their trust or distrust

and friendship or enmity might be aroused by very trivial causes. The emperor

suggests that the friendship of such wild forest tribes might be secured by truthfulness,

and says that by attaching them to himself by kind words and charity, he would be able

to enlist their support in his invasions against foreign territory.

With regard to the encouragement of trade and foreign merchants, Krislinadeva

Raya expresses certain views in his Aimtktamalyada which he actually translated into

practice. He says that the king should rule the empire in such a way that the harbours

in it are improved to facilitate the expansion of trade in horses, elephants, precious

stones, sandal w'ood besides sweet smelling substances, pearls and other articles. He
should afford protection to those immigrating into his kingdom on account of famine,

pestilence and war in other countries and that in a manner suitable to their nationa-

lities.^® The king must honour foreign merchants trading in valuable elephants and

horses by providing them with villages in the kingdom and dwelling-houses in the city

so that they might settle at the capital and wait in attendance on the king. He adds

that by so doing and by offering them presents and allowing them good profits, the

king would be able to see that tlie elephants and horses do not reach the enemy and that

the merchants would remain fast friends of the king.^=^ In these words Krislinadeva

Raya doubtless reflects his policy with regard to the Portuguese merchants who supplied

him horses, rather than to the Sultans of Bljapur and Golkonda. In fact the Portuguese

Viceroy at Goa promised to send to Krishnadeva Raya all the horses available at Goa

8. Sewell, A Forgotton Empire, p. 365.

9. ARSIE,7A6oi\9\6,pa.T&66.

10. Amuktamaiyada, IV, p. 245.

11. /6W.,p.258.
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in preference to others.^^ The policy was pursued by Achyuta Raya who purchased

thirteen thousand horses of Ormuz every year.^® Sadasiva concluded a treaty with the

Portuguese according to which the Governor of Goa “agreed to allow Arab and Persian

horses landed at Goa to be purchased by the king of Vijayanagara, none being permitted

to be sent to Bijapur, nor to any of its parts; and the king of Vijayanagara will be bound

to purchase all those that were brought to his ports in quick and proper payment”^^

Krishnadeva Raya induced the merchants from other cities to settle at Nagalapura.

Though the views of Krishnadeva Raya on government and administration were

eminently practical and wise he could not think of a polity which could stand the test

of time. An important department of administration about which he makes no mention

at ail is the naval department. Though he says that the harbours must be improved,

and Abdur Razaak vouchsafes that there were in the Vijayanagara empire more than

300 ports, many of them were minor ones for commercial purposes than for serving as

naval bases. This was a very weak point which the Vijayanagara kings did not care to

make up to their own advantage. As a result of this policy piracy became rampant in

the coastal regions and the Portuguese were able to settle in the country and give the

people immense trouble.

Before concluding, it may be of interest to note that, though Krishnadeva Raya’s

views on politics and administration were in many respects substantially original,

comprehensive and practical, there are certain features in it which in a remote manner

echo the Kautaliyan principles of administration. Though we cannot say on this account

that the Vijayanagara emperor borrowed his ideas from the Artliasastra of Kautilya yet

the similarity of the ideas is striking. Among such ideas are the following :

—

1. Kings should forment the jealousies among the lords and warriors under

them so that they would not prove treacherous to the king.

2. Kings must keep a watch over the actions of the councillors through their

spies.

3. If you think that the holder of a foreign fortress on your frontier can be

easily worsted then it is better he is overcome.

12. Heras, Aravidii Dynasty, p. 59.

13. Sewell, op. c/7., p. 381.

14. Heras, op. cit., p. 62



Social Legislation in Medieval South India

In the modern day with the growing complexity of society the State takes upon

itself legislation of a social character in the interests of the citizens. Such legislation

covers a wide field, socio-religious, social and economic and affects to some extent even

the private life of the citizen. In medieval south India, as in other parts of the country

and other periods of iis history, the ultimate end of the State was what Hegel would call

slttUcheit (morality) though the proximate end was the promotion of the material and

moral Well-being of the citizens. The State insisted and enforced on the people the

observance of svadhanna (one’s duty) based on immemorial custom and the authority of

the Hindu scriptures. The kings took such titles as the maintainers of the castes and

the upholders of the religion of the country. With a view to enforce the proper obser-

vance of svadhanna by the different communities in the kingdom, they appointed

samayacharyas or censors of morals who kept a watch over the activities of the

people. Particularly the Vijayanagara empire, the object of the foundation of which

was the preservation of Hindu religion, dharm.i and traditions, very rigidly enforced

svadhanna on the different communities. As a recent writer said ; ‘It is a recognised

element of national psychology that where a society is on the defence it cheri-

shes every inherited tradition and holds fast to all things good and bad which it has

inherited. Conservatism becomes a national virtue ; the maintenance of what has

been, a point of national honour. That is not the time for reforms for the raison

£?’ e/rc of the State is defence of what exists. The orthodoxy of the kings became

therefore, the central point in the State. Hence it is that the great States which stood

out the Mohammedan influence— like Vijayanagara—became the citadels of orthodoxy,

places where customs which in a free India never had universal acceptance, came to be

considered orthodox and unchangeable.’

The kings who were anxious to preserx'e the social solidarity of the empire strove

to maintain the good relations among the different communities and avoid any breach of

peace. Though equality never became a political necessity then, ample room was found
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for co-operation and progress. A composite rocial structure, with all its cultural or

occupational differences not to be easily obliterated, wrs ail they could look to and

strove for.

When questions affecting the different religious communities in the empire

assumed such serious proportions as warranted or necessitated the interference of the

Government, they did so to maintain peace in the realm. In 1368, for instance, a

serious dispute arose in the modern state of Mysore (no,v karnataka) between the

Vaishnavas and the Jainas regarding the right of the latter to use the five great musical

instruments and the carrying of the holy water-pot {kalasa) during ceremonial processions

and on ceremonial occasions. The question became so serious that the matter was

taken up to Vijayanagara from where Bukka I was ruling the Empire. The King convened

a conference of the leading Jainas and Vaishnavas from important places in the empire,'

investigated into the matter, and having made them agree, declared that there were no

differences between the Jaina and the Vaishnava darsams. He said : ‘The Jama creed

is as before entitled to the five great musical instruments and the kalasa or vase. If

loss or advancement should be caused to the Jaina creed through the Vaishnavas the

latter will kindly deem it as loss or advancement to their own creed—for as long as the

sun and moon endure the Vaishnava creed will continue to protect the Jaina creed.

Vaishnavas and Jainas are one body. They must not be viewed as different’. It

was declared that he who transgressed the decree was a traitor to the king, the sangha

and the samiidaya.

The problem of marriage reform is neither new nor peculiar to the modern day.

Marriages in India have very often been associated with some price paid either for the

bride or for the bride-groom. At times this practice assumed such protean forms that

the people suffered much. In medieval south India this system was widely prevalent'

and compulsory in character, on account of which many families felt it as a great

burden. It was not unusual for the parents of the middle-class girls to sell a

part or the whole of their property to meet the expense. In a particular case

a certain individual who was at his wit’s end on account of this problem decided

that under any circumstance he would not part with his land as stridhana (bride

price). We have an interesting instance in the days of Deva Raya II, the Vijayanagara

emperor, as to how the members of a few communities in parts of the modern North
Arcot District, which were then known as the Padaividu Rajya, decided to overcome
the economic difficulties created by the compulsory character of this pernicious system

by making among themselves an agreement which bears the stamp of a piece of social

legislation. The inscription which records this agreement states as follows : The
great men of all branches of studies of the kingdom of Padaividu drew up in the presence'

of the God Gopinatha of Arka Pushkarani a document which contains an agreement*
fixing the sacred law. According to this document if the Brahmans of Padaividu, that'

is Kannadigas, Tamils, Telugus, and Latas (Gujaratis) of all go/rris', sutras and sakhas,

conclude a marriage they shall from this day do it by Kanyadanain. Those who do not
adopt Kanydanatn, that is, both'those who give a girl after receiving gold or those who.
fOnclude a marriage after hawng given gold shall be liable to punishment by the king'
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and to excommunication’. Thus this was a voluntary agreement which the Brahmana

of the locality arrived at after due deliberation and which the government sanctioned

and enforced. Likewise, in the Mysore country, the Settis (merchants) made some

regulations with regard to women who lapsed from marriage. But unfortunately the

epigraph which mentions it is so fragramentary that we are not able to make much out

of it. But these instances show that the initiative for such reforms generally came from

the people themselves, and the government did not enforce any legislation on an

unwilling community. This must have very much facilitated the smooth working of

the legislation.

Though, in order to save and preserve the religion of the land, the medieval

State was obliged to enforce the strict observance of svadharma by the people, the period

was marked by some social unrest on account of the anxiety of the different communities

to rise in the social scale. The humbler among the people who constituted the majority

of the population clamoured for certain small privileges or honours, often customary in

nature but which were made much of by them. The government were, therefore, not

very infrequently called upon to interfere and adjust such social dilTcrcnces.

In the reign of Tribhuvana Chakravartin Kulottunga Chola Deva (Kulottunga

Chola I), there arose the question of what profession the amdoma class called the

Rathakaras must follow. Such a question as this assumed great importance in an age

when labour conditions were not fluid and freedom of movement was comparatively

limited. The religious tests such as those of Yajnavalkya, Gautama, Kautalya,

Baudhayana and other authorities were examined by the learned Brahmanas of the

locality and it was defined that a Mohishya was born of a Kshatriya father by a Vaisya

mother ; a Karani was a daughter of a Vaisya father and a Sndra mother ; a Rathakara

was a son of a Afaliishya father and a Karani mother and therefore was an amdoma to

the second degree.

It was further laid down that they were to adopt the following professions ;

(1) architecture (2) building coaches and chariots (3) erecting gopilras of temples svith

images on them, (4) preparation of instruments required by the Brahmanas in their

sacrificial ceremonies such as the ladle, etc., and (5) building of manelapas and making of
jewels for kings such as diadems, bracelets, etc....

Inter alia it was also stated that this amdoma sect of Rathakaras was superior in

point of caste and dignity to the pratiloma sect (those born of a Karani father and a

Mahishya mother). Among the authorities quoted, one permitted them to perform
upanayana and sacrifices and receive sacred fire. But according to another authority
these antdomas, though entitled to upanayana, are prohibited from the perpetual keeping
of the sacred fire (crg/H7;o/rfl), the worship of the fire thus kindled (aupasatia), the five

sacred methods of worship prescribed for the Brahmanas namely (1) dera yajha
(ceremonial worship of gods), (2) pitri yajna (ceremonial worship of manes), (3) brahma-
yajha (ceremonial warship of the rishis), (4) bhnta yajha (ceremonial worship of living

creatures other than men), (5) maniisliya yajha (ceremonial worship of men), anfl
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(6) adhyayana (chanting of Vedas). It may be of interest to note here that the last

authority quoted above also lays down that the upanayna referred to in respect of the

Rathakaras must not be performed by them by quoting the mantras (sacred hymns). This

interesting decision with regard to the rights of the Rathakaras affords a good illustra-

tion of the procedure adopted to decide such doubtful cases affecting the socio-religious

practices of the people. The decisions were based only on the sacred texts themselves

but also on their interpretation by jurists or renown.

The method by which social questions were decided is also indicated by an

inscription of A.D. 1379. It states that if a caste dispute arose, the rulers or .the

uayakas and gaudas would summon the parties between them and advise them and as

they had the power of punishment, the parties must act according to the given advice,

generally the proceedings being free of cost. It was not unusual, however, that at times

the elders of different communities also decided social questions.

Many of the humbler classes in the empire were grouped under two organisations,

the Valangai and Idangai classes or the Right-hand and Left-hand classes. According to

traditional belief each such division contained some ninety-eight sects. Though we meet

very frequent references to such groups, we are not able to know their exact origin.

There were frequent quarrels among these groups with regard to certain social rights

and privileges. As the Abbe Dubois aptly puts it, ‘Perhaps the sole cause of the contest

is the right to wear slippers or to ride through the streets in a palanquin or on horse-

back during marriage festivals. Sometimes it is the privilege of being escorted on

certain occasions by armed retainers, sometimes that of having a trumpet in front of a

procession, or of being accompanied by native musicians at public ceremonies. Perhaps

it is simply the particular kind of musical instrument suitable for such occasions that

is in dispute ; or it may be the right of carrying flags of certain colours or of

certain devices during these ceremonies’. Such quarrels
.
between the two

groups were pretty frequent in medieval south India, and each of them was tried to be

settled amicably. For instance the relations between the two groups reached at a time

such a high pitch on the northern bank of the river Kaveri that an agreement had to' be

"made as regards the social conduct among them.

The Kaikkolas or the weavers were, like other eommunities, anxious to secure

social privileges. In the middle of the fifteenth century, those among them that lived

at Kanchipuram and Virinchipuram enjoyed the privileges of the palanquin and the

conch. In 1485-86 the same privileges were extended to the Kaikkolas of the Valudilam-
battu Rajya by one Aramvalartta Nayanar, the local chief. It was specified that those
who objected were liable to be punished. A few years later ''the same privilege was
extended to other places in the empire.

Likewise, frequent quarrels between the Punchalas (artisans) and the cultivators

were settled by the Government. About the middle .of the sixteenth century for
instance, there arose a quarrel which was decided by the local chief with the help of
'eighty-eight Sri Vaishnava Rrahmanas : boundaries were fixed" for the fwo parties
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within which they were allowed to erect rows of houses, carry on their caste observances,

snake jewellery, and enjoy in the local temple the same privileges and positions which

were granted to and enjoyed by the Pancitalas at the car festival at Vidyanagara. It is

interesting to note here that this decision was based on a previous one. In the middle

of the sixteenth century, certain regulations were made by a local chief in the

modern Udayagiri Taluk in the Nellore Taluk, according to which when the

car of the local temple was passing along the streets with the nattiivas and servants

inside it, a member of the artisan community, wearing a cloth round the head and

another losely round the waist and having only a sandal mark between the eye-brows

and not chewing betel, should go round the car with a chisel, a mallet, a nail, and

a sickle in his hands.

The Government were anxious that there must be no breach of such social

privileges ; hence for instance in the third decade of the seventeenth century, the Natlar

of the village of Tiruvamattur, in the present South Arcot District, gave an undertaking

that they would not ill-treat or deprive the artisans of their privileges and promised to

grant them the privileges enjoyed by their community in a few other places. In

another case when it was found that the artisans of a few places enjoyed certain

privileges over and above those enjoyed by their community elsewhere, such privileges

were withdrawn so that all the artisans might enjoy the same privileges.

Differences among the artisans assumed such a serious magnitude, at Kalladakuri-

chchi in the modem Tirunelveli District, during the days of Yirnppa Nayaka of Madurai,
that the ruler thought it necessary to interfere, perhaps on the representation of the

leaders. Virappa Nayaka issued a writ to the five sub-sects of the community facilitating

their separation from each other and consequent dismemberment of the community.

The expansion of the fVijayanagara empire and the consequent colonisation of

Tamil India by the Kamatakas and Telugus brought in their train certain social

problems which occasionally grew extremely serious. As in the modem day, so in the

Vijayanagara period, there was much communal bitterness between the Vellalas and

Fe//<7/-77udarj who appear to have been respectively Tamils and Telugus. The relations

became at times so strained that occasions were not lost to ostracize the members of the

Vellai-mdar community. At the beginning of the fifteenth century, on the eharge that

a few Vellai-mdars had committed some unspecified offences in their capacity as

accountants, agents, etc., of the Vellalas, the leading members of the latter community
resolved after due deliberations not to employ the VeUai-nadar even for menial service

and to kill three specified offenders.^ Some years later, the regulations against them

were made still more stringent. They were not to take Tamil girls in marriage > neither

could they take up service in the Tamil country, not even enter Tamil districts. Some
twenty-three specified offenders of the community were to be killed when detected. It is

evident that the Government sanctioned such persecutions possibly owing to the serious

nature of the offences.

Then again, in Madurai, the Saurashtras who had settled in large numbers, tried

tp risp in the social scale by assuming Brahmana caste names and performing th?
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brahmanical ceremony upakauua or the annual renewal of sacred thread. They spread

certain legends to show that they were originally Brahmanas, but had degenerated. They

had frequent quarrels with Brahmanas and, during the regency of Queen Mangammal of

Madurai, as many as eighteen Sawashtras were arrested by the Governor of the city for

performing the iipakarim. The Queen took cognizance ofthe situation and convened a

conference of men learned in the Sastras to investigate the right of the Saurashiras to

such ceremonies. The learned men considered the question in detail and declared in

favour of the practice
;
Queen Mangammal gave the Saurashiras a palm leaf award

authorising them to practise the upakanna rites.

An interesting feature of village life in medieval south India was the anxiety of

the villagers to safeguard the exclusiveness of their villages. The residents of Mangadu,

a village in the Chingleput District, made an agreement that they would not sell their

lands to an outsider or even give them as stridhana (bride price) to an outsider. At a

certain place in the modern Karnataka State, the people agreed among themselves that

the share-holders in the village, who were in all probability Brahmanas, must not

mortgage their lands to Sudras and that, if any one among them violated the agreement,

he was to be put out of the Brahmana community. Likewise certain disabilities were

placed in tlie way of outside cultivators seeking lands in the village.

These instances clearly show that where legislation of a social character was made

by the Government, it was more in the nature of an official sanction to certain changes

that were inevitably coming over the religious, social and economic life of the people.

The initiative generally came from the people themselves and the Government did not

force legislation upon them. If they ever interfered of their own accord in such matters,

it was more a diplomatic move on the part of the rulers for bringing about compromises

between rival creeds and religions, as was done by Bukka I in 1368 when effecting a

compromise between the Vaishnavas and the Jainas in the modern Karnataka State.
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Rural development is very much in the air to-day. But India being a predomi-

nantly agricultural country, work in the direction of rural welfare cannot be considered

a new activity : though not altogether in the present form, it has been an important

function of the State in India through the ages. The Vijayanagara Empire, for instance,

did much for its rural population. Its services in this direction deserve serious study,

especially in relation to the present efforts at rural development.

A very important responsibility of a State is to enhance the economic well-being

of its people. This was realized by the Vijayanagara rulers. Since major proportion

of their subjects depended largely upon agriculture (as they do even now), they strained

every nerve to improve agricultural conditions ; and they adopted two means towards

tliis end. One was to bring fresh lands under cultivation by forming new villages in

places where there were none and by encouraging rehabilitation and reclamation of old

villages ; the other was to improve irrigation, thereby making it possible for the ryots to

grow larger quantities of agricultural produce on the old lands.

In a few cases the State cleared forests, formed new villages, brought fresh lands

under cultivation, and thereby increased the gross yield Irom the land. Though the

formation of such new settlemcnts in uninhabited places was prompted by religious

motives— for many such villages were formed and presented to Brahmanas as sarvaman-

yam in order to attain merit—it contributed towards the improvement of the economic

condition of the people. In a large number of cases the State encouraged reclamation

and cultivation of land. To these newly colonized lands, concessions, either partial or

full, in the amount of taxes payable to the Government were granted. The colonizers

of such lands were at times exempted from taxes for a specified period. In some ins-

tances graded rates of assessment were fixed : this was a means of encouraging the

people to reclaim land and form new settlements. For instance, early in the fifteenth

century, when lands in parts of the present district of Thanjavur were submerged by

floods of the Cauvery, people were induced to bring them again under cultivation

through concessions granted to them in the payment of taxes. The State also granted

land free of taxes in consideration of the trouble people had taken in reclamation work.
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But even more essential is the provision of irrigation facilities, 'and the Vijayana-

gara sovereigns understood the value of this work. Krislinadeva Raya, the greatest of

them, has expressed his views on this subject in his Avmktatmlyada, one of the best

works in Telugu. He says that if the empire of a ruler is too small for expansion, the

tanks and other sources of irrigation in the State should be improved, so that its pros-

perity may increase ; and this can be ensured only when tanks and canals are' construc-

ted and concessions are granted to the poor cultivators in regard to taxes and services.

;
The Vijayanagara emperors undertook a large number 'of irrigation schemes,

especially in areas which largely depended •upon'- a precarious irainfall. In 1368, for

instance, a large tank with sluices was constructed in the modern Cuddapah district,

one of the famine-stricken areas of the Madras Presidency (presently part of Andhra

Pradesh). In the last quarter of the 15th century, an extensive, valley in the Anantapur

district was converted into a tank and named Narasambudhi after the ruling sovereign.

Krislmadeva Raya himsfclf constructed a tank near his capital for irrigation and to supply

water to the new city of Nagalapuram which he had built. Since this tank was between

two valleys, much rain water collected in it. The king also provided it with sluices and

pipes to regulate its supply. He gave his subjects lands irrigated from this tank free of

taxes for nine years.

Neither was private effort lacking in this field. The temples and village assem-

blies also constructed tanks and provided irrigation works, though these were on a

small scale and for a small locality. The State encouraged such effort by the grant of

lands on what is known as dasavanda tenure. Provision was also made for the main-

tenance and repair of such works. Discussing the system of irrigation in Vijayanagara,

Crole, the author of the Chmglepnt District Gazetteer says, that, “Many of them (irriga-

tion works) now abandoned or in ruins evince the solicitude of those ancient monarchs

for the extension of cultivation even in tracts not favoured by natural position or the

quality of the soil. Almost every catchment basin, however small, still bears traces of

having been bunded across, and in many instances this was done in order to secure a

crop of paddy on a few acres of stony ungenerous soil to which all the fostering care of

the British administration has failed to induce cultivation to return. Large and more
expensive projects were not neglected. Even some of them bear witness to the enlighten-

ment of those Hindu Kings, while the absence of scientific instruments in those remote

times compels the astonishment... of the beholder.”- . -

In, regard to taxation, too, the interests of the agriculturists were cared for’by the

State. Where the monsoon was unfavourable or unforeseen circumstances affected the

normal yield of the land, the cultivators were granted concessions or relief from the

burden of assessment. It sometimes happened that when the ryots felt that taxes

were heavy they abandoned their lands and migrated ~to other places. The Government

was anxious to remove the cause of their suffering and mitigate their grievances.

Krishnadeva Raya observes, in the work already referred to, that the king cannot be

prosperous if he has an officer who even though' he may conquer that the seven dvipas

does not call the subjects back when they leave the State on account of suffering. In
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such cases of migration—which were, however, of a local character— the rulers interfer-

ed, removed the grievances of the people, and persuaded them to settle down again

on their lands. At times, when the people of a locality found the taxes excessive, the

State even went so far as to cancel the taxes or to revise the rates of taxes in a way

whieh satisfied the subjects. Then, again, in the methods of assessment the rulers consi-

dered the interests of the ryots and adopted a system of measuring lands whieh would

satisfy the people. In 1447, for instance, when the tyots of Magadaimandalam (in

South Arcot district) felt that the length of the rod for measuring wet and dry lands for

assessment was too small and hence caused much inconvenience to them, the Viceroy

introduced the necessary reforms in theimeasuring rod.

It is said that the best manure for land is the personal supervision of the land-

lord. And one of the main questions connected
^

with the movement lor rural uplift

to-day is absentee-landlordism. But in earlier times such a problem did not exist in

India. In the fifteenth century, for instance, the people of the village of Mangadu in

the Chingleput district made an agreement among themselves that any owner of land

in that village who desired to sell his land should do so only to a landowner within

that village and not to an outsider. They also decided that they should not give their

lands away to any outsider even as a dowry. They were equally anxious to see that

ownership of property should not pass from one community to another; the Brahmana
landlords of Malavalli in the Mysore district made an agreement among themselves in

the fifteenth century that they should not mortgage or sell their lands to sudras either as

a whole or in shares, and that those who did so should be put out of the Brahmana
community and such mortgaged or sold land should be considered as not forming part

of the village, so that it would lose its right to water and other common benefits.

Nor was this all. It was difficult for an outsider to get land of permission to

cultivate in a village, for then local cultivators would not get land to cultivate, and this

would lead to agricultural unemployment. Hence certain difficulties were placed by the

villagers in the way of outsiders taking up cultivation in their villages. Even the State

indirectly discouraged outsiders from taking up lands for cultivation in other villages by

discriminating between the local tenant and the outside cultivator in the matter of taxa-

tion The people in Vijayanagara days were thus anxious to avoid the dangers of absen-

tee-landlordism.

Another fact which was realized then is that good livestock is essential for agricul-

tural prosperity. The sanctity attached to the lives of cows and bulls explains this to some
extent ; pasture lands and grazing fields were set apart in each village for the use of

cattle ; there is evidence to show that stud ..bulls were reared. Contemporary writers,

prominent among them being Madhava, speak of the livestock in those days and
particularly mention the studs to which they attach great importance. Certain breeds
appear to have been available in certain parts of the empire just as they are at the

present day.

The ryots were able to obtain rural credit. The temple, which played an impor-
tant part in the economic life of the rural population, had a treasury of its own, and
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gave credit to the people on easy terms. Such loans were granted on personal security.

The temples at times purchased land from people who were forced to sell them either

to pay taxes to the Government or to meet other expenses. Thereby it not only helped

the sellers with ready money in time of need but also saw that the lands did not pass

into the hands of outsiders.

For any scheme of rural uplift work local self-government is essential. This

existed in Vijayanagara days. Though the village assemblies which had flourished

under the Cholas slowly decayed under the Vijayanagara Empire, their place was

taken by a body of village functionaries who were responsible for the administration

of the village, and were known by the collective name of ayagars, and consisted of the

Village Mtuisif, the Karnam. the Talayari, the Tliotti and a few other professional men
who supplied the needs of rural folk. With these officers and professionals each village

formed a separate community or republic. Local affairs were settled locally and very

rarely went to headquarters. Each village was generally a self-sufficient economic unit,

and contentment prevailed among its inhabitants.
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Sangaina Dynasty and Ceylon

The luxuriant and beautiful island of Ceylon, “the pearl-drop on the brow of

India,” has not been a mere appendage of India through the ages. It has a history of

its o^^’n, though it is one of the most unfortunate countries whose independence has

ever been at stake owing to frequent foreign invasions. On account of its proximity to

the mainland of India it has had a continuous history of political, cultural and social

contact with the latter in general and more particularly with south India from very' early

times. From the days of the Sangaraa period, the south Indian powers, the Cholas and
the Pandyas as well as the Cheras interfered with the affairs of Ceylon. It was not

infrequently that the Ceylonese Kings invited trouble to themselves by siding with one

or other of the south Indian powers who were frequently quarrelling among themselves.

Tamilian settlements were founded in Ceylon; south Indian systems of Government
influenced the administrative institutions of the island ; south Indian style of

architecture was introduced and thus the northern part of the island was practically

Tamilized.

In the early years of the second half of the fourteenth century Kumara Kampana,
the son of Bukka I conquered a good part of south India for the newly founded

kingdom of Vijayanagara. After taking the Sambuvaraya country in A.D. 1361-62, he

defeated the Muslims at Kannanur near Tiruchirappalli, came into conflct with Quarbat

Hasan Kangw, the Sultan of Madurai, defeated and killed him in battle in 1371,

captured the fort of Madurai, incorporated that region with the Vijayanagara dominions

and thereby put an end to the independent Sultanate of Madurai which lasted for about

48 years, having been founded in 1334. After the conquest of the Madurai country

Kampana ruled the area from Madurai itself, he being “pleased to conduct the rule of

the earth on a permanent throne.”^ On his death in 1374- he seems to have been

1. ARSIE, 18 of 1899.

2. Ibid., 573 of 1902.
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succeeded to the provincial governorship by his son Jammana Udaiyar, also known as

Empana and Yammana and himself by a nephew of his Porkasudaiyar.^ Of the two,

however, the former alone is known to epigraphy. Harihara IPs (1376-1404) supremacy

was recognized in south India. But about A.D. 1383 south India appears to have got

out of the control of Vijayanagara. Hence Virupaksha. a son of Harihara II, again

brought the Tundira, Chola and Pandaya countries under the control of Vijayanagara

and ruled over them.^ But we do not know the exact circumstances and the course of

the reconquest of south India by the Vijayanagara prince . ^

It was about this time that Vijayanagara came' into close contact with Ceylon,

whose ruler was then Bhuvanaika Bahu (1372-1406). While giving a descriptive account

of Vijayanagara the ^Muslim historian Ferishta observes that ‘‘The Rajas of Malabar,

Ceylon and other countries kept ambassadors aT his court an^ sent annually rich

presents”®. But this statement cannot be interpreted as indicating the subordina-,

tioh of Ceylon to .the supremacy of Vijayanagara for, firstly,' ,the maintenance of

permanent ambassadors by one couit in another pfas -not known in ancient and

medieval India,® and secondly there is no literary or epigrapjhical evidence to show that

Ceylon had actually been conquered by Vijayanagara by that time. Therefore, it

could have been only a friendly embassy, as the one sent in 1374 by Bukka I of

Vijayanagara to the court of Taitsu, the King-Emperor of China' with' tributes and

large presents.’ ’
. V

'

But the first actual invasion of Ceylon on behalf of Vijayanagara was undertaken

by Virupaksha the son of Harihara II in 1385. The Alampundi Plates of Virupaksha

mention that besides conquering the Chola, and Pandyan countries, he conquered the

people of Ceylon and brought booty to his father which were in the shape of crystals

and other jewels.®
‘ 0

I ^

This is corroborated by literary evidence. Prince Virupaksha, in his drama

Narayanf Vilasam, c\a.\ms to have set up a pillar, of victory in the island of Simhala

(Ceylon)®.

' Nuniz also refers to the conquest. Referring to one “Ajarao”,^ probably a cor-

ruption of the full name Virupaksha Raya, he says that he took ‘‘Goa, and Chaul, and

,.rt . '

3. Nelson, Madurai Country, HI, p. 82.
_ - .

4. Epi. lad.. Ill, p. 228; Ibid., VIII, pp. 298-306; Alampupdi and Soraikkavur Plates.'
'

5. Briggs, Ferishta, II, pp. 377-78.

6. Mahalingam, Administration and Social Life under Vijayanagar (Madras University), p. 172.

7. Bretachnedier, Mcdiaeial Researches, Vol. II, p. 211; Jnd. Ant., Vol. XL, p. 140.

8. Epi. bid., in, p. 228.

9. Ayyangar, S K , Sources of Vijayanagara History (Madras University), p. SJ.'
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Dabull and Ceillao, and all the country of Charmandell, which had also rebelled after

the first of destruction of this kingdom”^®.

Ceillao is certainly a reference to Ceylon. It may be noted, however, that the

mention of the conquest of Ceylon by the Vijayanagara King is only an exaggerated

account of the conquest of the small island of Jaffna lying close to the northern

part of Ceylon. But the island does not seem to have been retained by the

Vijayanagara sovereign. The Nallur grant of Harihara II of 1399 which credits him

with such imperial titles as PurvapaSchiwadakshina saimidi adhUvara does not make any

reference to Ceylon. This gives an indication of the possibility of the island conquered

in 1385 having gone out of the control of Vijayanagara by that time. Evidently the

conquest of Virupaksha was only a short-lived affair.

We do not hear of the relations between Vijayanagara and Ceylon again till we
come to the days of Devaraya II. According to Nuniz “in his (Deva Raya’s) time the

king of Coullao (Quilon) and Ceyllao (Ceylon) and Paleacate (Pulicat) and Pegu and
Tenacary (Tenasserim) and many other countries paid tribute to him”.^’^ When exactly

Ceylon was reconquered for Vijayanagara is difficult to explain unless we correlate

such an achievement claimed by Vijayanagara with a similar claim made simultaneously

by the Pandyan ruler of the period Arikesari Parakrama Pandya.

The then Ceylon King was Parakrama Bahu VI (1412-1468) of the Kotte dynasty.

An inscription of S 1357 (A.D. 1435) states that Lakkanna Dannayaka Udaiyar one of

the ministers of Deva Raya II fitted out a cavalry force for destroying Jyalpanam,

Napatamanam (Napattanam) and IJam and for the success of same an endowment was

made as Savmdraydtrddana}- The expedition seems to have met with success for we find

that in A.D. 1438 Lakkanna assumed the title of Daksbim SamudradbipatP^ and Deva
Raya II himself took the title of Illam Tirai Konda, (one who took tribute from

Ceylon).^^ Further comtemporary Ceylones; poems refer to the people of Jaffna as

Kanarese, and this is corroborated by the evidence of Valentyen who mentions an

invasion of Ceylon by the Kanarese.^®

The history of the later Pandyas is not clearly known, particularly after their

retirement to Tvwnelveli. “The history of the later Pandyas of Tinnevelly is the story

of a more or less steady decline, punctuated by a few feeble attempts at revival ending

in the final disappearance of the dynasty towards the close of the sixteenth or early in

the seventeenth century.”^®

10. Sewell, i=br^o//cn jErnpiVe, p. 301; the suggestion of Sewell that by "Aja Rao” Nuniz means two

kings, Bukka II and his brother Deva Raya I appears to be a mistake. See ib\d., p. 51.

11. Sewell, op. cit., p. 302.

12. SIT, VII, No. 778.

13. ARSIE. 141 of 1903; Sll, VIII, No. 427.

14. ARSIE, 144 of 1916; see also 128 of 1901.

15. Cordrington, A Short History of Ceylon, p. 92.

16. Sastri, K.A. Nilakgnta, The Pandyan Kingdom, p. 24?.
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But there appeared among them certain able rulers who in their linked sphere

distinguished themselves in war and peace. Among them Arikesari Parakrama Pandya

( 1422-63) was one. He ruled over the modern Tirunelveli district and some parts of the

Travancore State. He is credited with several victories over his enemies at various battle-

fields. An inscription of his in the Visvanathasvami temple at Tenkasi says that he saw

“the backs of his enemies (in the battles fought) at Singai, Anurai, Jrasai, ^epbai,

Vindai, Mudalai, Virai and Vaipparu.”

J

According to another epigraph of his he is said to have come out successful in

the battle at Vindai.^®

Senbai appears to have been a scene of action against, the Chera ruler.^®

Codrington identifies the two places ^ingai and Arunai with the capitals of Jaffna

and Ceylon.^" Thus Arikesari Parakrama seems to have been successful both against

the Kerala and Ceylonese rulers.

Such a claim to the conquest of the island made by two contemporary rulers can-

not have any significance unless we are able to correlate the relationship that existed at

the time between the Vijayanagara house and the crippled Pandyan dynasty. Though
some scholars think that the claim made by Arikesari Parakrama Pandya to success in

various battles is too boastful to be believed.®^ Yet there appears to be some truth in it.

After the conquest of Madura by Kumara Kampana the territory appears to have

continued to be ruled by the weakened Pandyas who recognised the supremacy of and

owed allegiance to the imperial house of Vijayanagara. We get only conflicting

accounts of a traditional nature about the reason for and the manner of the restoration

of the Pandyas to the rulership of the Madurai country. In spite of apparent contradic-

tions we may believe that the Pandyas were restored to their position subject of their

acceptance of the supremacy of Vijayanagara. The most powerful of the Pandyan rulers

of the 15 til century was Arikesari Parakrama Pandya, who appears to have taken part

in the Ceylonese campaigns of Lakkanna Dannayaka as a loyal feudatory of the

Vijayanagara house. Hence it is that he also records his achievements in battles in

Ceylon.

But the success of Vijayanagara over Ceylon gained about A.D. 1435 appears,

like the previous ones, to have been only a short-lived affair. It was probably after the

assertion of independence by the Ceylonese that, according to Valentyn, an expedition

was undertaken by the Ceylonese to Adirampet (Adhirampattinam, Thanjavur district)

apparently in retaliation of the capture by south Indians of Ceylonese ships laden with

17. TAS, SI, Vol. n; ARSIE, 4 of 1912.

18. /Wrf.,III,pp. 95-98.

19. Ibid.. XII, V. 10.

20. Codrington, op. cif.,p.i92.
i

21. Rasanayagam, C., Ancient Jaffna, p. 367.
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cinnamon.-^ Therefore, in order to assert the supremacy of Vijayanagara over Ceylon,

another expedition was called for, towards the close of the reign of Deva Raya II. Abdur

Razzak who visited Vijayanagara in 1442-43 says that the Danaik (Lakkanna Danda-

nayaka) had gone on a voyiige to the frontiers of Ceylon.-^ It is possible that, since Lak-

kanna Dannayaka is said to have gone on a voyage to the frontiers of Ceylon, he could

have recognised only the small island of Jaffna and the northern portions of Ceylon.

Perhaps before he could pursue his success into the interior he was called back to the

imperial headquarters. Describing the extent of the empire of Deva Raya II, in 1442-43

Abdul Razzak says that it extended “from the borders of Sarandi to those of Gulburga

and from Bengal to Malabar a space of more than 1,000 parasangs.”-^

From this dfescriptlOn’it^does not follow that during the time of Abdur Razzak’s

visit to the court of Deva Raya II Ceylon formed part of the Vijayanagara Empire.

But there can be no' doubt about the fact that Deva Raya II collected tribute from the

ruler of Ceylon at least for sometime during his reign.

We do not know anything about. the relations that existed between Vijayanagara

and Ceylon during the weak rule of Mallikaijuna and Virupaksha. It is quite possible

that Ceylon' continued to be independent of Vijayanagara during the period and paid no
tribute to her.

22. Codrington, op. cil., p 84 ' ‘

23. Elliot and Dawson, History of India as told by her onn Historians, IV, p 105; ARSIC, 1904-5, para 58;

Sewell, op. cit., p. 74
24. Elliot and Dawson, op. cit., p 105.
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Irrigation under the Vijayanagara Kings

One of the important duties of a State is to enhance the economic prosperity of

its people. In an agricultural country like India this can be done by helping the

people to increase their agricultural resources ; and that in its turn can be achieved by

two methods; one by deforestation and forming new villages in which virgin lands could

be brought under cultivation, and the other by affording greater facilities for increase

production in existing villages.

The Vijayanagara sovereigns realised the importance of improving irrigation

facilities for agricultural improvement, Krishnadeva Raya, the greatest of the

Vijayanagara Kings, says in his Telugu work, the AmiiklamalyMa, that, if

the empire of a ruler is too small to be, expanded, tanks and other irrigation works

within the State should be improved so that prosperity could increase.^ Such an im-

provement would also cause an increase in the yield from the land. The construction of

great irrigation works was generally undertaken by the Government. The Govern-

ment also encouraged private initiative, and at time? gave concessions and remissions in

the matter of taxation on the lands so irrigated. .1

Inscriptions of Vijayanagara kings are replete with instances of the in anxiety to"

give irrigational facilities to the people. According to an epigraph of 1368 A.D.

Bhaskara Bavadura, a prince of the first Vijayanagara dynasty, constructed a huge tank’

with many sluices in the modern Cuddapah district ; one of the famine-stricken areas of

the present Andhra Pradesh. The inscription describes the way in which it was cons-

tructed. It says that a thousand men were employed in the work, a hundred carts

were used for getting stones for the walls which formed part of the masonry work, and
that it took two years to finish the work. The dam was 5000 rekha dandas long, eight

1. Aimiktamal}uc}te-Can\.o , 4, st 236.
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rekha-dandas wide, and seven high.® The tank remains even to this day in sufficiently

good order and use and speaks well of the labour and money spent on it. In 1388,

under the orders of Bukka II, the Hydraulic Engineer (Jalasutra) Singa Bhatta by name

led the river Henne through a channel to the Siruvara lank apparently for affording

irrigation facilities.®

The Vijayanagara soverigns realized the value of converting valleys into tanks for

irrigation purposes Thus during the time of Narasingaraya Maharaya a valley in the

Anantapur district was converted into a tank and named Narasambudhi^. Similarly,

in A.D. 1533 a big tank was formed from the river Arkkavati, and it will be interesting

to note that this tank is now the source of water supply to Bangalore.®

When Paes visited Vijayanagara,Krishnadeva Raya was constructing a big tank

near his capital to provide irrigation to the fields and to supply water to the new city of

Nagalapura. The chronicler describes® that, “the King made a lank there which, as it

seems to me, has the width of a falcon shot and it is at the mouth of two hills so that

all the water that comes from either one side or the other collects there ; and besides

this, water comes to it from more than three leagues by pipes which run along the

lower parts of the range outside. This water is brought from a lake which itself over-

flows into a little river. The tank has three large pillars handsomely carved with figures;

these connect above with certain pipes by which they get water when they have to

irrigate their gardens and rice fields. In order to make this tank the said King broke

down a hill which enclosed the ground occupied by the said tank. In the tank I saw so

many people at work that there must have been 15 or 20,000 men looking like ants so that

you cannot sec the ground on which they walked so many there were ; this tank the

King portioned out among his captains, each of whom had the duty of seeing that the

people placed under him did their work and that the tank was finished and brought to

completion”. Nuniz also mentions the construction of the tank, and says that Krishna

Raya was assisted in the work by Paoa della Ponte, a great Portuguese worker in stone’.

He made many sluices in connection with the tank, and constructed many pipes by

which water was lec out when necessary. Nuniz further says that by means of tlu's

water he made many improvements in the city and many channels by which they

irrigated rice fields and gardens. Krishnadeva Raya also gave them lands free for a

term of nine years in the portions irrigated by that tank, so that they could make
improvements® on them.

2. Epi. rnd.,XlV,p.99.

3. EC, X.Q.T). 6. r

4. ARSIE, 710 of 1917.

5. i-C.IX, N.L. 31.

6. Sewell, A Fargotten Empire, pp. 244-45. ,
>

7. Ibid., pp. 364-^5; He says that Krishna Raya did not first succeed in his attempt and since he was
,

told by a few people that his failure was due to the fact that the ,Gods were not pleased with him
and suggested that he should appease them by offering sacrifices to them, he oflered a sacrifice of
those prisoners in his empire who, he thought, deserved death.

8. Ibid., p. 365.
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The State also encouraged private initiative in such irrigation works. This

encouragement generally took the form of Daiavanda grants to such public-spirited men.®

Thus when one Harinideva Vodayar constructed a tank in a particular place in

the Mysore district, he received a grant from Deva Raya, and when subsequently he

extended the tank, he was granted another village.^® In 1513, one Sovarya received a

Dafmwida grant in consideration of his having constructed a tank.^^ Similarly, the

Mahajauas of Bhupa-samudra made a kodege grant of wet land to a certain person for

his having executed some work in connexion with the big tank of the village.^®

The small common channels in the villages, however, appear to have been dug by

the local people themselves. In 1486-87, for instance, the residents in and around

Tiruvamattur (North Arcot) sold portions of their lands to the local Temple Treasury

for the purpose of digging a channel from the river leading to the irrigation tank of the

village.^®

Maintenance and repair of irrigation works are as important as their construction,

and great attention was paid by the Vijayanagara rulers to such works. The common
method of providing for them was the provision of servants and necessary materials

for such works. In 1367 provision was made in the following way for the mainten-

ance of a tank in the Arasikere Taluk. A man with his buffalo and cart was appointed

for it, and it was ordered that for oil, wheel, grease, crow-bar, pick-axe, etc.; for every

cart-load, the original tenants had to pay two tara and every load of areca-nut, betel

and oranges was to pay also t\vo taras.^'* In certain cases whole villages were granted

for the maintenance of tanks. When for instance in 1513 two tanks in the Chennapatna

Taluka of the Bangalore district went into disrepair; a village was granted for the main-

tenance of these tanks, and it was ordered that six carts were to be kept for their

maintenance, four for one and two for the other, that earth should be put on the bunds

every year imd the tanks kept in good condition.^® The State at times helped the people

in maintaining such irrigation works in proper condition, remitting certain taxes payable

to the palace, such as Vibimti-kanikai, Jodi, and Siila-variJ^ Concessions were also

shown to the people in the matter of taxation when they suffered from unforeseen

mishaps as from the effects of a devastating flood. Thus in 1402-03 A.D. yvhen some

villages near Valuvur were lying fallow since the time the river Cauveri overflowing its

banks had washed away the demarcation bounds, .silted up the irrigation channels

9. For an interpretation of the term Dasabanda in the different periods of Indian history see an article

by V. R. R. Dikshitar in J.I.H. 1934.

10. EC, in. My. 77.

11. 398 of 1896.

12. 782 of 1917.

13. 7h/d., 7 of 1922.

14. EC, V, A. K. 115.

15. Ibid., IX, C.P. 156; See also MAR, 1915, p. 93.

16. ARSIE, 8 of 1922, Rep. p. 49.
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and in consequence the tenants had abandoned the fields, the Government restored the

channels, repaired the boundary banks, and rehabilitated the villages with tenants on

,

certain favourable conditions and fixed graded rates of assessment.^’ At times the income

from the tanks was utilised for their maintenance. Thus the income from the lease of

the fishery from the tank at Kodungalur (North Arcot) was given away by Dalavay

Sevvappa Nayakar for deepening the tank at the place.’® In certain cases. Local Bodies

like the Village Assemblies consented to maintain a cart driver who was to look after the

upkeep of a tank.’® They also acted as the trustees of the endowments made for the

maintenance of the tanks and met the expenses of the same perhaps from the interest on

the capital.’”

The importance of maintaining tanks with drinking water was well realised

especially in areas depending on rain water only. In 15 18 for instance a grant of land

was made for the maintenance of an uram at^ Maravamadurai in the modern Puduk-'

kottai State.”

Tanks and other irrigation works were repaired whenever necessary. In 1396-97,

when an irrigation channel came to be blocked up it was soon restored under the orders

of Mallappa Vodayar.” In 1424 A.D., when the dam constructed across the river

Haridra by Bukka Raja gave way, Naganna Vodayar, the great minister of Deva Raya,

got the necessary money from Kama Nripala, the commandcr-in-chief of the army, and

reconstructed the dam.” In 1450 A.D. when three tanks in the village of Kiliyanur

(Sorth Arcot) had breached owing to a severe storm, a local chief repaired them and

built a sluice.” <

Private effort was not, however, lacking in the repair of irrigation works; and in

such cases also the Government, in recognition of such large-hearted private effort made
grants to the citizens undertaking such repairs. In 1541 A.D. the tank at the village of

Timmadihalli (Andhra Pradesh) breached in three places and the residents ol the

village, that is, Chennagauda and Timma Gauda, repaired the breaches at their own,

cost. They were granled one Konduga or Kaltukodege by the local chieftain.” In 1636

A.D, when the Lingannavadu breached, "Mekala BommU repaired it and got one-fourth

'

part of the wet lands near the breaches as Daiaxandar^ But it appears that private

individuals would not repair such tanlcs unless they received some benefit from the

17. /6((f.,422of 1912; (Rep 1913, p. 52); Tj. 710 in Madras Topographical List of Inscrips., where'

the author draws attention to the fiscal importance of the Record.

18. ARSIE, 145 of 1924; see also 424 of 1922, 118, 133 and 194 of 1921.

19. EC. IV, N.G. 39.

20. 474 011925.

21 . psi.ns.

22. Ibid., 66 of 1912.

23. EC, XI, D.y. 29.

24. ARSIE, 154 of 1919.

25. /W4., 49 of 1917.

26. £’C,X,B.G.71.
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Government. It was perhaps under such circumstances that, when a tank near

SidaIa3'anakote breached in 1554 A D. the Godas, Senabovas and subjects of the village

made petition to the Mahanayakacharya and offered to have the tank built if the lands

under the sluice were granted to them.^’

Irrigation disputes as regards the portion and turn of water supply to the ryots of

neighbouring villages do not appear to have been rare in the Vijayanagara days. When
a channel was dug near Tirumalai by the authorities, the residents of the locality

raised a serious objection to its completion on the ground that it was detrimental to the

best interest of the village. The locality in question was therefoie inspected by the Stlia-

nattar and AcJliikari, Yajnarasar, and the work was stopped on finding that the objections

were legitimate.^® In 1406-07 there arose an irrigation dispute between the villagers of

Alattur, a hamlet of Uttaramerur, and Attiparru, another village nearby, regarding the

supply of water from the local tank. It was settled among themselves m the presence of

Mahapradhani, Arasar (Tipparasar).®® According to another record at Chellur belonging

to the time of Viranarasingayya Maharaya, an agreement was made among the residents

of the three villages, Madaivilagam, Silaiyur (Chellur) and Kandidu, rcgaiding the right

of irrigation from the channel called Sadasivakona.®® Thus such disputes appear to

have been decided "amicably by the locdl residents themselves.

27. rc. XI. HR. 22.

28. TTDI.21A.

29. ARSIE, 357 of 1923.

20. 76irf., 419 of 1525



Randaula KJiaii aud the Karnatak

The Vijayanagara Empire received a rude shock at the battle of Raksas Tangadi in

1565 as a result of its defeat at the hands of the Muslim allies ; but it survived and

continued for another century with a fresh lease of life. However, the rulers of the

Vijayanagara dynasty removed their capital first to Penugonda and later to Chandragiri

and Vellore. In the course of the seventeenth century the hold of the Vijayanagara kings

over the outlying parts of the Empire weakened with the growing power of the provincial

governors who were generally called About 1640 the chief among them were

Virabhadra Nayaka of Ikkeri (Shimoga district in the Karnataka State), Kanthi-

rava Narasa Odeyar of Srirangapattanam, Kengu Nayaka in the Kongu or

Coimbatore country, Vijayaraghava Nayaka in Thanjavur and Tirumalai Nayaka

in distant Madurai. The growing weakness of the central organisation in the Empire

was taken advantage of by the Muslim Courts of Bijapur and Golkonda which wanted

to bring under their control as much of the Vijayanagara territories as possible to com-

pensate their territorial losses in the north on account of the pressure exerted by the

Mughals. In fact the two Muslim States made an agreement among themselves with

regard to the conquest of the Karnataka according to which the western portion of the

conquered region was to go to Bijapur and the eastern portion to Golkonda. The

attempts of the Vijayanagara emperors Venkatapati and Sriranga to organise united

resistance to the Muslim invaders did not prove successful on account of the mutual

jealousy and general disunity among the Nayakas In fact some of the southern

Nayakas are said to have rebelled against Venkata III in 1637 and fought against him.^

But details about it are lacking. Without realising the need for unity and concerted

action among them to save the country from Muslim aggression some of them actually

sought the Muslim help to settle their internal disputes. In this paper an account is

given of the course of the conquest of the Western Karnataka between 1637 and '1640

by the Bijapur general Randaula Khan ably assisted by Shahji the father of Sivaji.

J. Macleod, De Oost Indische Compa^nie, II, p. 17p
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. Randaula Khan appears to have carried out his conquest of the Karnataka in

different stages. But before the Muslim general undertook his expedition against

Western Karnataka he played the role of a diplomat to .strengthen his position. He
thought that since the semi-independent chieftains in the area were technically subordi-

nate to the Vijayanagara emperor Venkata III, his attack of any one of them might

involve him in a war against Venkata and therefore, he proposed an alliance with the

emperor to subjugate the recalcitrant chiefs of the Karnataka. According to the pro-

posal Randaula Khan was to have no territorial gains, but only the available movable

properties in the course of his invasion of their territories. Venkata apparently in a

moment of weakness agreed to the proposal, but soon realising the underlying motives

of the Muslim general, he declined to abide by the terms of the agreement. Finding

that his plan was frustrated Randaula Khan made an alliance with Sriranga, a nephew

of the emperor. Randaula Khan instigated him to rebel against the emperor.*

After making such preparations Randaula Khan turned his attention to the con-

quest of the Karnataka. The first kingdom to be conquered by him was Ikkeri. The

causes for the invasion are not so easy to find. ‘ According to the accounts of Govinda

Vaidya and Tirumalaryya Kenge Hanuma who was on terms of enmity with Virabhadra

Nayaka of Ikkeri (his master) requested the Sultan, of Bijapur to invade Ikkeri

with a view to annihilate it and promised him large presents. But according

to Linganna, one Sadasivayya, a brother-in-law of Virabhadra Nayaka made

a futile attempt with the help of the chieftains of Sode (Sudhapura) and Bilige to oust

yirabhadra Nayaka from the throne. Sadasivayya soon died, and the ruler of Ikkeri

conquered the principalities of Sode and Bilige. The chiefs appealed to the Sultan of

Bijapur for help and an army was sent to.help them to recover their lost principalities,

in the meantime Virabhadra Nayaka also sent his secretary to the Bijapur court, to

explain to the Sultan his own position vis-a-vis Sadasivayya. As a result of that,

Virabhadra Nayaka was recognised as ruler of Ikkeri but he was required ro restore the

principalities of Sode and Bilige to their respective rulers. But soon one Venkatappah

of Tarekere apparently another recalcitrant feudatory of the ruler of Ikkeri, appears to

have induced the Sultan of Bijapur to invade Ikeri. Takking advantage of the new
situation the Sultan sent Randaula Khan for the conquest of the kingdom. The city of

Ikkeri was soon attacked by the Muslim general. Virabhadra Nayaka offered resistance

for sometime, but finding that his position was growing weak, he retired to the fortress

of Bhuvanagiri along with his family. Randaula Khan assisted by Kenge Hanumappa
.Nayaka attacked Bhuvanagiri with a large army of 40,000 horse, 100,000 foot and 40

elephants. Finding further resistance impossible, Virabhadra Nayaka sued for peace,

and according to the treaty that was concluded the ruler of Ikkeri gave up his claims to

,the conquered forts ; and he was allowed to rule over the remaining part of his kingdom

on terms of subordination.® According to Linganna Ikkeri fell in 1560 IJvara Pushya

Bahula daiavii corresponding to 30th December, 1637.

2. Sastri, K A. Nilakanta, and Venkataramanayya, D.N. Fintlier sources of Vijayanagar History

I, pp. 341^2.

3. Piocccdings ofthe Indian Historical Records Commission, Vol. XVI. pp. 341-42,
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Early in 1638 Randaula Khan turned 'his attention to the other portions of

Western Karnataka. The Bijapur general’s invasion of the region synchronised in point

of time with the rebellion of ^riranga, the nephew of the emperor. Venkata immediately

marched with an army of25,000 to the place where his nephew revolted, but when he

heard that the western Karnataka was being invaded by the Bijapur general with an

army of 90,000 and that Bangalore had been reached by him, Venkata returned back to

his capital Vellore and appealed to his Nayakas for help against the Muslim invader.*

But Randaula Khan continued his march to Bangalore. On the way he took Sira and

appointed Shahji as governor of the place. Then he besieged the fort of Srirangapatta-

nam for a month, but however raised it on receipt of an indemnity of 5 lakhs of hons

from Kanthirava Narasa, its ruler'and returned back to Bijapur.

Kenge Hanumappa who was till then loyal to the Sultan of Bijapur and had

helped Randaula Khan in his expeditions into the Karnataka revolted, and, therefore, to

punish him the Muslim general once again marched into the Karnataka. According to

Singanna, however, Virabhadra Nayaka of Ikkeri wanted the help of Bijapur for

bringing back under his control the chiefs of Tarekere and Basavapaltanam and sent one

Ramakrishnappa, a niyogi in his service to carry on negotiations with the Sultan for

the purpose. The Sultan agreed to the suggestion and again sent down Randaula Khan

to help the chief. The combined Ikkcri-Bijapur forces attacked Tarekere and Basava-

pattanam.®

The brothers of Kenge Hanumappa were taken prisoners by Afzal Khan a

lieutenant of Randaula Khan. Finding further resistance hopeless Kenge Hanuma
offered to Randaula Khan a large indemnity, surrendered his city and sued for peace.

In the meanwhile Shahji marched on Bangalore and captured the fort from Kempe
Gauda who was in charge of it. The Maratha lieutenant made the newly conquered

city his headquarters from where be controlled the southern territories. During his stay

at Bangalore he reduced Srirangapattanam to obedience.®

The appeal that was made to his subordinates by the Vijayanagara Emperor

Venkata III to check the aggressions of the Sultan of Bijapur in the Karnataka met with

some response : Venkata was able to have an army of 13000 men with him early in 1639

and with that he invaded the Karnataka region that had been taken by the Muslims in

the previous year. But he was not successful in his attempt, and therefore, returned

back to Vellore after promising the enemy 27 tons of gold, elephants, horses, jewels, etc.

of which four lakks had to be paid immediately. Towards the end of the year once

again he marched to the Karnataka with an army of 20,000 to recapture Bangalore but

had to retrace his steps when he heard that Randaula Khan was then in the Karnataka
and had taken Basavapattanam.’ But the loss of a part of his empire still rankled in

4. Macleod, op. cit.. Sastri and Venkataramanayya. op. cit., n, p. 173.

5. Proceedings ofthe Indian Historical Records Commission, Vol. XVI, p. 5]; also Sastri and Venkatara-
manayya, op. cit., I, p. 345.

6. Sardesai, G., New History ofthe Marathas, Vol, I, p. 72.

7. Macleod, op. cit., II, p. 173.



rAndaula khan and the karnatak 157

Venkata’s mind and with the help of the army supplied by his southern nayakas he

again marched to the Karnataka in May 1 640. He was however obliged to return to

Vellore in August, before rains set in.

But in April next year, Randaula Khan with the support of Venkata’s nephew

Sriranga captured some places in Venkata’s empire, and came within twelve miles of

Vellore. It was a trying period in the history of the empire, and the Nayakas Thanjavur,

Madurai and Ginji rallied to the emperor’s standard. The combined forces resisted the

Muslim advance to Vellore and saved the capital and the Empire.® It is apparently this

service rendered by the Nayak of Madurai that is described in the ballad Raimppayyan

Arnnianai which deals with the achievements of Ramappayya, the dalavay of Tirumalai

Nayaka. According to it Ramappayya, while conducting his campaigns against the

Setupati of Ramanathapuram, received a message from Tirumalai Nayaka asking him to

proceed north to help the emperor against the Muslims who had penetrated into the

empire as far as Vellore and from there to Bangalore where after taking instructions

from the emperor, he oefeated the enemy for which he was duly honoured by the

emperor.®

8. Ibid., p. 176.

9. But Ramappayya 's march to and success at Bangalore are not supported by other pieces of evidence
Probably he was one of those that fought on the side of the emperor in 1641 against the Bijapuris on
the outskirts of Vellore, and contributed much to the emperor’s success.
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Lessons of Vijayanagara History :

Glories of a Great National Movement

“La histoire ne sert rein" (History never serves), so said a writer. A few critics

hold that one has nothing to learn from a study of history, and the time and energy spent

over a study of the subject can be due to nothing except misdirected enthusiasm. But

such a hasty and onesided conclusion is doe to the fact that the question has been

considered from a wrong angle of vision and with the specific object of culling

out semething from the history of a country or a nation. For Man’s progress and

development, memory is very important; what applies to an individual applies to a

nation and the memory of a nation or a country is nothing but its previous history.

History cannot be the chronicle of kings and queens, their wars and campaigns,

court intrigues and palace feuds only, but a study of the manners and customs of a

people, their everyday life and activities and their social and economic problems and solu-

tions. None can deny that special problems have arisen in different periods which taxed

the energies of statesmen and thinkers and demanded their solution for the betterment

of the community and the progress of the country. History has got lessons to teach us,

but it is difficult to catalogue them in any specific order. By a study of the history of

a nation or country we can get ideas which may aid us in the solution of many of the

problems that confront us to-day. But application of old methods in every detail to

solve modern problems may not be quite appropriate; for changes and developments

in environment demand their turn a change in methods. But what one should aim at is

to adapt time-honoured institutions to changing circumstances. The spirit of history,

the broad lessons it holds in store, cannot be lost sight of by a discerning student. As

one truly observed, the lessons of history are to be read in “a mood of pious

agnosticism”.

In one sense the history of the World is the history of Empires ; each of them

has left behind permanent traces of its existence. India has been the scene of huge
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Empires, and among these, the Vijayanagara Empire strikes us as the one which attained

to a very high and remarkable pitch of glory during its hey days, and has left lasting

traces of its existence, especially in the fields of literature and art. Surely there was

nothing which Vijayanagara did not influence for some good, for, “there was nothing

which it touched but did not adorn”.

Origin of Vijayanagara

. The Vijayanagara Empire rose by force of circumstances not anticipated. South India,

the bedrock of conservative orthodoxy, was an object of attack by the Muhammadans
since the days of Allauddin Khalji, the Sultan of Delhi. It was he who began to cast

his covetous glance on the rich and fertile plains of south India. His policy was persis-

tently and successfully followed by Muhammad Ibn Tughlak. He frequently attacked the

rulers of Dvarasamudra and and Warangal and created terror in the minds of the people

of south India. The Sultan, of Madurai, Ghiaz Uddin, ‘was a fiend in human shape’. The
Hindu temples of south India suffered much at the hands of the Muhammadans, especi-

ally those of Chidambaram and Srirangam. The frequent invasions of the Muslims

over south India resulted in her cultural and economic ruin. This intense suifering of

the Hindus for well nigh over a generation at the hands of the determined invaders

made them realize the need for co-operative effoit to save themselves from the impend-

ing ruin and for establishing their power and glory once again in south India. Thus,

there lay before them a double task : one to stem the surging tide of Islamic aggression,

and the other to consolidate the discordant elements of militant Hinduism against the

onslaughts of the aggressive foreign faith and give an impetus to and effect a renaissance

in the Hindu religion and soul. The situation gave rise to a national movement fired by

religious zeal and enthusiasm. The movement resulted in the foundation of the great

Vijayanagara Empire which enjoyed a glorious life for over 300 years. The study of the

history' of this last great Hindu Empire of south India is one of more than absorbing

interest, for it stood as a splendid symbol of a vigorous national movement and

regeneration.

The Empire was founded in 1336, exactly 600 years ago, with its nucleus at

Vijayanagara, the modern Hampi in the Bellary district. Scholars hold different views

as to its origin; some attributing to the Kamatakas and others to the Telinganas. But

it appears many of them lose sight of the forest while counting the trees, for the Empire

was the intense symbolic self-expression of a widespread national movement in which the

Karnataka and the Telugu alike took part. It was founded by a small band of five

enthusiastic brothers, the “Pancha Pandavas” of medieval south India. Vidyaranya,

the pontifical head of the Sringeri Matha in Karnataka, helped them in the task they had

undertaken, and within a generation of its brith, during the period of Harihara and

Bukka, the first two rulers of the dynasty, the Empire grew from a small principality

into a vast Empire extending over the whole of south India.

Though the Vijayanagara Empire is now a thing of the past, the influence it exerted

pn the institutions of south India and the services it rendered for the cause of H'lldu
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religion and DItanna are still realized in a great measure. And it is no exaggeration to

say that south India is to-day what it is only because of that Empire. It will be

interesting to examine now what lessons that Empire had to give us at the present

moment when many problems demand solution.

In the political horizon of to-day dictatorships loom large. Dictatorships, though

efficient and beneficial to the country, are too much dependent upon the personality of

the dictator for the time being, and one is not able to know what would become of the

country if the dictator’s powerful hands should bo removed. Vijayanagara provides

ample illustrations of the merits and defects of the administration depending to a large

extent on the personality of the sovereign. Under strong rulers there was peace and

order in the country, and contentment and progress prevailed, and there was an active

pursuit of the general good of the land. But under weak ones court intrigues, palace

feuds and rebellions became frequent, there was no order or peace in the kingdom and

confusion and chaos prevailed. In personal administrations there is often no element of

self-criticism and no sense of moderation or proportion and hence no stability of

durability. Influential provincial governors gained upper hand, usurped the royal

authority, and tried to eflect.a revolution in the royal dynasty at a favourable opportu-

nity. The character of the constitution of an empire should be such as would survive

dynastic revolutions.

Excessive Provincialisation

The provincial administration in the Vijayanagara Empire has its lessons. One
historian observed that the history of India is mainly that of provincial governments of
feudatory vassals rising in importance and growing in strength generally at the expense

of the Central Government when signs of weakness were visible in the latter. There is

much truth and sense in that remark. An important feature of the administrative

organisation of the empires in India is the enjoyment of autonomous powers by the

provinces. The division of the Empire into such provinces was due more to historical

accidents rather than to any deliberate policy on the part of the rulers. Generally, old

ruling chiefs, if conquered by the Emperor, retained their possessions as subordinate

rulers owing allegiance to the invader. The conquerer did not so much aim at the

amalgamation of the conquered territory and the annihilation of the ruling dynasty as at

the recognition of his authority and the periodical payment of tribute. In the Vijaya-

nagara Empire there were a large number of such provinces which owed allegiance to the

imperial yoke, and the degree of autonomy enjoyed by them was not the same, since

there were marked differences .between them. Under a weak ruler the provincial rulcrs-

took the earliest to free themselves from all imperial authority and control. Such

instances are the Nayaks of Thanjavur, Madurai and Mysore, who were the feudatories

of Vijayanagara that gradually and steadily enhanced their power, importance and

prestige till, in the end, they became separate States. By an irony of fate the Emperors

of Vijayanagara had by force of circumstances, sometimes, had to take shelter under

them. The provincial rulers took sides in palace disputes on many occasions, -more

often to strengthen their position, than to fight for the right cause. For instance; on
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the death of Venkata in 1614, there was a widespread civil war in the country on the

question of succession to the throne. Thus the rise and fall of the Empire impresses

upon us the dangers of excessive provincialisation to the detriment of the Central

Government.

The Dowry System

In the modern day, with the growing complexity of society, the States consider

it their duty to undertake social legislation in the interest of the community. In this

direction also the Vijayanagara Empire offers us guidance. The lessons to be learnt

may not be copied in detail, but surely they can be used with advantage.

The problem of marriage reform is neither new nor peculiar. In the Vijayanagaia

period the problem of varastilka or bride’s price was a serious and important one which

called for solution. The dowry system was prevalent in the Vijayanagara days and the

system being compulsory in character was a great burden on many families. Lands and

property had to be sold to meet the demand and at one time the people of a village grew

so anxious about this question that they decided not to part with land as Stridimna.

This evil was so prevalent in the Tamil districts in the 15th century that, during the

time of Devaraya II, the influential Brahmins of the Padaividu Kingdom (modern North

Arcot District) belonging to various sub-communities made an agreement among them-

selves that bears the character of a social legislation. The inscription recording this

agreement states that, the great men of all branches of sacred studies of the kingdom

of Padaividu drew up in the presence of the God Gopinatha of Arka Pushkarni a

document which contains an agreement fixing the sacred law. According to this docu-

ment if the Brahmins of Padaividu, that is Kannadigas, Tamils, Telugus and Latas

(Gujaratis) of all gotras, sutras and sakas conclude a marriage they shall from this day

do it by Kanyadam. Those who do not adopt Kanyadana, that is both those who give

a girl after receiving gold, or those who conclude a marriage after having given gold

shall be liable to punishment by the King and to excommunication.

An important point to be noted is the fact that this piece of social legislation was

the result of an agreement made by the Brahmins of the locality. It was not initiated

by the State and forced on the people, but it was only a voluntary agreement which

Government sanctioned and enforced. Since the State was called upon only to give

effect to the agreement, it could not have found it difficult to enforce it. Unless the

time is ripe and the ground is prepared for a thing it may not be possible to enforce any

legislation.

Initiative For Social Legislation ;

When there were grave circumstances of social and religious unrest, the Vijaya-

nagara rulers tried to examine the problem and decide the issue taking due care to

consider the Sastraic basis of doubtful cases demanding settlement. In Madurai for

instance, the Sourashtras, who had settled there in large numbers, tried to raise
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themselves in the social scale by assuming Brahmin caste names and performing thci

Brahmanical ceremony of xipakarma, or the annual renewal of the sacred thread.

There was a great agitation over this practice and the Governor of Madurai arrested 18

members of the souraslitra community for performing such acts. Mangammal who

was then ruling in Madurai, took cognizance of the situation and convened a meeting

of men learned in the sastras to investigate into the question of the right of the PattimuU

karans to perform this ceremony. This assembly, after going into the details of the

subject, declared in favour of the practice, and on their advice Queen Mangamma

granted a sasamtn authorising the Patttmulkarans to follow the rights prescribed for

Brahmins in regard to iipakiirina- A few years earlier Virappa Nayaka of Madurai

proclaimed that the five divisions of the Kainalms (artisans) should not intermingle.

This order was issued by the ruler to facilitate the separation of the communities from

one another in their own interests and because a regulation was needed from the

Government. In all these cases the saslraic sanctions were examined in all their details,

and only if there was sufficient sanction for legislation in social and religious matters and

the people were prepared to receive- the slight innovations cheerfully and without demur,

did the State interfere in such matters. The initiative in such matters came more from •

within than from without.

Settlement of Communal aid Religious Disputes :

On questions which demanded tact and diplomacy on the part of the rulers for

effecting compromises between rival creeds or religions, the Vijayanagara sovereigns took

personal interest and solved them successfully. In 1368, a great dispute arose in the

modern State of Karnataka between the Vaishnavas and the Jains; the question at issue’

being whether the Jains were entitled to the use of the five great musical instruments and

the kalasa (holy water pot) on ceremonial occasions and’ processions. The question went

up to the headquarters where Bukka I was ruling. He called the leaders of both the

sects, investigated the question with their help and issued a proclamation that there

was no difference between the Darsana of both of them, and taking the hands of the

Jains placed them in the hands of the Vaishnavas, as if placing them under the protection

of the latter. He declared that the Jains were entitled to the five great drums and that

they should not consider each other as different. He also appointed a special Officer to

carry out his order and made him responsible for it. Thus such communal and

religious questions which were the cause of much discord in the Empire were decided

amicably.

Improvement of Economic Conditions :

The duties of the State in any age are something more than those of the police-

man and the soldier, though these constitute the elementary functions of a State. The

most important of its duties is to improve the economic well-being of the community by

actively helping the people in the better production and distribution of wealth. This

point was well-understood by the Vijayanagara sovereigns who tried their best to improve

tjie economic condition of the country. - .
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India, in that period as it continues to be now, was an agricultural country and
considerable attention was paid by the Government to improve the condition of agricul-

ture. The necessity for adequate irrigation facilities was realised by the rulers who
undertook important schemes especially in areas which depended largely on precarious

rainfall. Thus, in 1368 the government of Vijayanagara constructed a large tank in the

modern Anantapur distiict. The State often granted lands in uncultivated wastes on

easy terms of assessment and brought new lands under cultivation. For such lands

graded rates of assessment were fixed; for the first few years the tax was nominal, but it

was gradually raised in subsequent years. When there were unforeseen calamities, such

as droughts or devastating floods, the State reduced, and in a large number of cases did

not demand, taxes till normal conditions were restored.

Gaining from the lead of Vijayanagara, modem governments can try to relieve

unemployment among the middle classes to some extent by granting dharkast lands to

them on favourable rates of assessment, which move would^ surely be welcomed by all.

A few Provincial Governments in India have already begun to try this experiment, and
it would be desirable that the others also follow the lead, including the States where

there may be scope for such improvement.

Such a careful study of the history and activities of Vijayanagara has valuable

lessons to give us and we would surely be better by a study of its institutions, for the

practical experience of that Empire in different spheres of activity surely will be able to

give us a lead in the solution of many of our problems'.
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Sahiva Tirumalaideva Maliaraya

The establishment and growth and later the maintenance of vast empires in India

as elsewhere in medieval times have depended very largely on the loyal co-operation of

a number of chieftains in them. Some of them were members of the ruling family

itself, while others were official nobles in the empire who rose to power and influence by

virtue of their ability and loyalty to the government. In the displacement of Ruling

Houses, and the establishment of new ones the feudal chieftains played a considerable

part in medieval south India and hence it was once observed by a scholar that “Indian

History is mainly the story of feudatory families rising into power when the time was

opportune.”^ In the history of the Vijayanagara Empire, for instance, the Sangama

dynasty which was responsible for its foundation was abruptly brought to an end in 1485

by the Saluva chieftain and General Narasimha. Further, the feudatory chieftains played

a large part in the history of local regions.

During the days of Mallikarjuna and Virupaksha, the last two members of the

Sangama dynasty, the family of Saluva Narasimha like that of Godwin in pre-Norman
England rose to great political and dynastic influence. The early members of the family

had played a considerable part in the expansion of the Vijayanagara Empire over the

Tamil country. The earliest known chieftain of the family was one Vangideva. - His

son Gunda is said to have ruled from Kalyani and captured Ramadurga, the stronghold

of a Sahara chieftain." According to the Ramabhyndaya he had six sons of whom
Saluva Mangi was the most distinguished.’’ He was a contemporary of Kumara
Kampana and greatly assisted him in the conquest of the Sambuvaraya kingdom and

the Madurai country; the latter was then in the hands of Muslims. He was father of six

sons, one of whom Gauta II appears to have had three sons, of whom Gunda III and

1. 1907-08, p. 235.

2. Iyengar, S.K., Sources of Vijayanagara History, p. 32.

3. ARSIE, 52 of 1905; Report, para 44.



Saluva .tirumalaideVa Maharaya 165'

Tippa or Tipparaja deserve mention. Tippa Raja who was a brother-in-law of the

Vijayanagara king Devaraya II by his marriage with the king’s sister, was the father of

Gopa.* One of Gopa’s sons was Gopa Timma or Tirumalaideva Maharaya about whom _

this paper deals. Gunda Ill’s son was Saluva Narasimha who rose to be a powerful vassal

under Mallikarjuna Raya and Virupaksha Raya of the Sangama dynasty of Vijayanagara

and usurped the throne in 1485. The following genealogical table will help us to under-

stand the relationship between the different members of the family.

VANGIDEVA
I

Gunda I

1 I . 1 1 I . .
I

.

Gunda II Madiraja Gautayya ' Virahobala Saluva Mangi Savitri Mangi

Gauta II
I

Narasimha Four other sons

Gunda III

m. Mallambika

1

Saluva
Narasimharaya
(Usurped the

Vijayanagara throne

in 1485)

Saluva Boppa Tippa m. sister of

I
Devaraya II of

Parvatayya or Vijayanagara
Parvataraya

1

Goparaja

Tirumalayya Tippa®
or*

Timmaraja

Tirumalaidevamaharaya is represented by about a dozen inscriptions in the

Tiruchirappalli, Thanjavur and South Arcot districts ranging in date roughly between

A.D. 1442 and 1475. They may be listed as follows :

—

Reference Date King Details

/4RS/£388 of Dtindublti, 1364^ Saluva Tippadeva Records a charter granted

1911, Sattra- A.D. 1442 Maharaja, son of to the S'emfuns by Dalavay

vada (Coorg) Saluva Tippaya- Sriranga Ravuttar.

deva Maharaja.

4. EC, XI, Cd. 29.

5. Rangachary, V., Insaiptions of the Madias Piesidci.cy, II, Kellore, 6C6 and 620 ; Buttervvorth and

Chetty, Venugopal, Nelloie Iiisciiptioi.s, 111, llS4 and 1203 ; Epi. ltd., \11I, p. 76; ASIAR, 1908-9,

p. 168 ; Mahalingam, T.V., Administration and Social Life Under ViJo}ai agar, p. 416.
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Reference Date King Desails

ARSIE., 238 of

1916, Srimush-

nam (S.Arcot)

ftid., 264 of

1927

Ibid.^ 448 of

1922, Papana-

sam (Thanjavur)

VUvavasu.

Parabhava.

Ani, 20 (17-6-1447)

1372 PrajapalU

Karkataka, Su.

Paurnima, Tues-

day, Tim'onmn,

Lunar eclipse

(11-11-1451)

1370 (wrong),

Prajapati, (exp.)

Angirasa, Rishabha,

5u, 12, Sunday,

Hasta, Vaikaii 4

(May 1452)

Immadi Tifumalai

deva Mahafaya.

Virapratapa

Devaraya.

Mallikarjunadeva

Maharaya

SII, VIII;

ARSIE., 67 of

1903 ; Ibid.,

342, Jam-

bukesvaram

(Tiruchirappali)

lyiS—Srimukha, Saluva Tiriimalai

Makara, Apara Paksha, Raja son of

13, Friday, Mtdain, Goparaja

Sat. (26-1-1454)

Records that Nagaiah

JNayaka, one of the servants

of the king assigned for

the merit of the latter “the

taxes due from the village

of Nedunjeri situated in the

district given to him for

military service for worship

and repairs to the temple

of Tirumuttamudaiyattj,

Nayanar.

Registers a gift by M, M.
Tirumalayyadeva Maha-
raya of the village of Ellur

in Tirunariyurparru for the

expenses of the worship,

offerings, etc., to the God
Tiruchattivanapperumal at

Tiruchattimurram.

Registers the gift of Raja-

kesariparru alias Papana-

sam with all the taxes

levied on the village for

offerings, worship twilight

lamps, etc., and for con-

ducting the festivals insti-

tuted in the temple of

Papanasapperumal by

Saluva Tirumalaideva Ma-

haraya on the occasion of

the re-consecration of the

temple. The chief bears a

number of birndas such as

gandaragtdi, ^ambhuva-.

raya, etc.

Gift of a padakkam by the

ruler to Nachiyar Akhilan-

de^vari Nayakiar.
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Reference Date King Details

SII. II, No. 23. § 1377 (exp.) Yttva,

Thanjavur, . Chitrai, 17 (A.D.

r. .

^455)

/f-RS/JS., 452 of S 1379, Is\'ara.

1922, Papanasam Makara, ba,

(Tj.) Amavasya, ardha

udaya Sunday,

Sravana, Tai 19

'
. . .

(Jan. 1457)

Ibid^ 55 of 1897, §. 1382. Vikrama

SII, VII. No. 4 Morgan, 17 Sun-

Tirukkattuppalli day, 14-12-1460

(Tj.) . .

ARSIE, 378 of Vikraina-k.T>.

1906 Kudumiya- 1460-61

malai (Pd.)

M.M. Tirumalai-

.deva.

Vira Praudadeva

Raya Maharaja,

son of Vira Pra-

tapadeva Raya
who instituted

the elephant hunt.

M.M. Tirumalai-

deva Maharaya.

Tirumalaideva

Maharaya.

Remission by the ruler of

taxes like Pradhani Jodi

Karanikka Jodi, Talaiyarik-

kammavadai, maravadai, etc.

Gift of the village of Vasu-

devanallur bordering on

Rajakesaripparru in Nit-

tavinodavajanadu in Tir-

uchirapalli Usavadi on the

south bank of the river

Cauveri in the Chola coun-

try to the temple of

Papanasam Perumal for

worship, offerings and

repairs by Saluva Tiruma-

laideva Maharaya.

Gift of taxes to the sthanat-

tar of the Tirukattupalli

temple for worship and

repairs.

Inaccessible in the middle

on account of the temple

door.

Ibid.,_ 249, of §. 1385. Snbhann,

1904
. A.D. 1463-64

Ibid.,- 59 of 1 892 1 385, Siibhdmt,

SII. IV. No. 506 Makara Amcnasya,

Srirangam(TP) f/r/irada-Sunday

(8-1-1464)

APSIE., 535 of L 1397. Manmatha

1922 Tirukkan- Karttigai, 16 (Nov.

napurani (Tj'.) 1475)

Tirumalaideva Ma- Gift .for the merit of Nara-

haraya Udaiyar son singaraja Udaiyar.

of Gundaraja

Udaiyar.

Saluva Tirumalai- The ruler with various titles

deva Maharaya made a gift of income to

(Gopa Timma) the Srirangam temple.

Tirumalaideva Remission of certain taxes

Maharaya. accruing from Kallanainadus

belonging to the temple

for the repairs of the temple

including the gopura and

for conducting worship and

offerings in the temple.

Mentions a certain ofBcer

called Vikramadittar.
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From the above list may be seen the fact that though he owed some nominal

allegiance to the ruling house at Vijayanagara, Tirumalaidevamaharaya appears to have

been in the enjoyment of a considerable measure of autonomy within his area.

As one ruling over the Tiruchirapalli area he naturally took interest in the temples

at Srirangam and Jambukesvaram. Tlie Koyilolugti^ which contains an account of the

tempi: at Srirangam gives some interesting details about Tirumalairaya’s services to the

temple. According to the work one Kulitfandal Kamparaja came to Tiruchirapalli

apparently as an agent of the Vijayanagara king bearing the rayiimndra. Tirumalairaya

thought that his jurisdiction was being interfered with and therefore insisted on the

territories being left to his own control. But since that did not happen conflict between

the two arose, as a result of which in §. 1381, Praimthin, PnraitaSi (September 1459) all

the residents of the northern and southern banks of the river including the members of

the sablm and the mdn deserted their villages and lived for 12 years in thousand pillared

mantapa and other places. At the end of the period however in §. 1383 /tTarn (A.D.

1471) the region passed under the jurisdiction of Tirumalairaya, peace was restored and

the cultivators returned to their respective villages. Immediately, thereafter Tiruraalairaja

reconstructed the north gopura and gateway of the AUnadan enclosure and made a

passage by piercing the AUnadan wall. The new passage was intended to have a direct

approach to the thousand pillared hall through what was called the vcliajagiyan or

manalveli. From that time onwards the procession of the God from the sanctum to the

thousand pillared mantapa on the occasion of 'the Tirtcvayinoliliinmal was taken through

a new’ gateway. Tirumalairaya is also credited with the erection of a mantapa called

Alagiyainanavalon tiru-jnantapa a dais of sandal wood adorned W’ith three gilded copper

pots and the fixing upon the dais a Cliapra and a couch made of ivory for the enjoyment

of the God.'^

It appears that since the old seaport town of Kaverippumpattinam had declined

in importance Tirumalairaya found a new city a little farther south which came to be

called, Tirumalairajanpattinam after himself. It was an ideal locality situated between

two rivers the Tirumalairajanar excavated by him to the north of the new town and the

Puravudaiyan in the south and girt by the ocean on the east. The new city consisted of

three parts, outer (pnranagar), the middle (idainagar) and the central (aganagar). In the

outer quarter of the new city stood the military training ground and residential quarters

for the soldiers. In the middle portion of the city w'erc the palace for the ruler and

numerous temples. The site now called Kottawiedn (Palace mound) and mannan tirnva^al

tidal on the nortlwrn bank of the R. Puravudaiyan appears to have been the place where-

the palace (korilagatn) existed. Probably Polagam, a small suburb lying on the north of,

the river was the PnJial-agam or entrance to the fort, and the name of the present suburb

is probably derived from that word Villadiniettuttidal and Arnbuttidal very near the

village. Agarakondagai served as the military training ground. Vanjiyur now marks

6. Koyitotugu, p. 139.

7. Ibid., p. 142.
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the southern limit of the city and in that village stands the deserted temple of Visvanatha

facing the west ; and the whole space is now covered by high mounds pointing to the

fact that residential quarters must have stood in the area.

Saluva Tirumalayadeva was a patron of Tamil and he has been praised by his

contemporary Tamil scholars. One of them, poet Kalamegam went to his court to

obtain the present of a pearl jacket, probably because the coast nearby abounded in

pearls. The court poets headed by Adimadhurakavi subjected him to a severe test,

which he successfully withstood. But he could not get the wished for present from the

b’ng and hence Kalamegam is said to have cursed the destruction of the city immediately

which bore fruit. Thereafter, the king appears to have constructed a new palace for

himself at a short distance to the north. Among the other poets patronised by him

were the poets Madusuryar and Ilanjuryar called usually the Irattaiyar or the Twins.®

?• ARSIE, 1925, pt. n, p. 31; PWlal, Purnalingam ; History’ of Tamil Literature, pp. 274-7^.
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Virappa Nayaka and Vijayanagara

Virappa Nayaka of Madurai (1573-1595), the son and successor of Krishnappa

Nayaka was the contemporary of three successive kings of Vijayanagara, namely, Tiru-

mala (1570-1578), Sriranga I (1578-1586) and Venkata II (1586-1614). Like his prede-

cessors in the Madurai Nayakship, he bagan his rule as a loyal feudatory of the Vijaya-

nagara house. He also appears to have been regular in the payment of the annual

tribute to the Imperial House in the early years of his rule like the Nayaks of Thanjavur

and Ginji. His subordination to Vijayanagara is borne out by some of his early inscrip-

tions. An epigraph of 1577 at Krishnapuram records that during the days of Sriranga-

deva Maharaya Virappa Nayaka made a gift of land to the temple ot Tiruvengadanatha-

deva at the place for the merit of his father Krishnappa Nayaka.* In the next year,

Virappa Nayaka who calls himself an agent of the king made a gift of land to a temple

at Sermadevi for conducting certain festivals.® Another inscription of the same year

belonging to Sriranga specifically mentions Visvanatha Krishnappa Virappa Nayaka as a

feudatory of the Emperor.® A Telugu inscription of A.D. 1582 a Srimushnam (South

Arcot District) records the remission of some taxes by one Kondama Nayiningaru, the

son of Krishnappa Nayiningaru during the reign of Vira Pratapa Vira Srirangadeva

Maharaya “who was ruling from Penugonda.”* Obviously the chieftain was a brother

of Virappa Nayaka of Madurai and was serving the Vijayanagara Emperor as a feuda-

tory in the South Arcot District.

But for some unknown reason the relations between Srirangadeva and Virappa

Nayaka appear to have become strained by A.D. 1583, and a conflict arose between

Venkata, the brother of Sriranga and the Vijayanagara viceroy at Chandragiri and the

Nayak of Madurai. As Rev. Fr. Heras suggests, it is just possible that Virappa Nayaka

1. ARSIE, 16 of 1912.

2. Ibid., 663 of 1916.

3. Ibid., 185 of 1895.

4. /Wrf., 266 of 1916,
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mightjliave become recalcitrant in the payment of tribute to the Imperial government

after his success against the Mahabali Vanadaraya chieftains in the south which might

have made him think ol his independence.® Whatever might have been the cause, the

definite change in the attitude of Madurai towards Vijayanagara is indicated by the

Pudukkottai Plates of Sri Vallabha and Varatungarama of the Pandyan line of rulers at

Tenkasi. ' The Plates give a short account of the rulers of that line and record the grant

of the village of Pudukkottai (in the Tirunelveli District) to a number of Brahmanas at

the request of one Tirumalairaja who is described as the right hand of Virappa Kshoni-

pala (Virappa Nayaka of Madurai), and with the permission of the Madurai ruler. It

further states that in the battle of Vallamprakara fought between Venkatapati, the

Viceroy at Chandragiri, and Tirumalairaja, the armies, of Viraraja were destroyed,

Achyuta Raya fled from the battle-field and Tirumalairaja collected all the horses from

the place.®

The circumstances under which this battle of Vallamprakara was fought are not

• however clearly known. In fact there is no reference to it in any other inscription or

literary svork of the period. Venkatapati, the nephew of Sriranga of Vijayanagara was

the Viceroy of the southern parts of the Vijayanagara Empire with his headquarters at

Chandragiri, when Sriranga as Emperor was ruling from Penugonda. Obviously when

Virappa Nayaka stopped the payment of tribute to the Vijayanagara House Venkatadeva,

in order to reduce the rebel Nayaka to submission and exact the tribute payable by him

marched against him with an army in which there were two generals, Basavaraja'^ and

Viraraja. In this invasion he was supported by his loyal feudatory Achyutappa Nayaka of

Thanjavur. The army of Virappa Nayaka was led by his general Tirumalairaja. A
' battle was fought at Vallam near Thanjavur early in 1583. When Tirumalairaja saw

Basavaraja in the army of Venkatadeva he killed him forthwith, and Achyutappa

Nayaka (of Thanjavur) was made to flee from the battlefield. In this battle Tirumalai-

raja is said to have “employed against his enemies iron guns which he charged

with leaden shots.” At the end he collected all the horses from the battlefield.

. Thus according to the Pudukkottai Plates the battle of Vallamprakara ended in

the complete defeat of the Imperialists and the success of the Nayaka of Madurai. While

relying on the evidence of the Plates for the battle Rev. Fr. Heras asserts that “the

defeat of Venkata’s troops is a figment of the imagination” and says that “these plates

are all a panegyric of Tirumalairaja at whose request the Pandya sovereigns made the

grant of Pudukkottai.”® Thus quite against the categorical statement contained in the

inscription he feels sure that Venkata obtained a victory over his enemies in the battle.

The reason for this conclusion seems to be the fact that Virappa Nayaka acknowledged

the authority of the Vijayanagara Emperor after the battle. But it is really difficult to dis-

credit completely the statement made in the record regarding the success of Tirumalairaja

5. Heras, Aravindu Dynasty, I, p. 286.

6. TASS, I, pp. 79 and 84; also p. ii, para 79.

7. After the death of Ramaraja in the battle of Rakshasa Tangadi in 1565 he had taken refuge under
Tirumalairaja (Nayaka), against his enemies Payati and Riichaviti, and was restored to his native

place. Ibid., vv. 161-163.

8. Ibid.
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However in view of the subsequent loyalty of the Hayaka of MadurAi ' to the

Imperial House it may be doubted if the claims made by Tirumalairaja were not really

too large. Very possibly the battle did not end in the complete defeat of the Imperial

army, and by an agreement made between the two, the status quo ante was restored and

Virappa Nayaka promised to continue the payment of tribute to the Vij'ayanagara

Honse.^

In 1584-85 Emperor Sriranga I died and was succeeded on the throne by his

brother Venkatapatideva II, who, as said above, was previously viceroy over the’souihem

part of the Empire with his capital at Chandragiri. Virappa Nayaka appears to have

continued his loyalty to the Vijayanagara House under the new Emperor also. This is

indicated by a few inscriptions. The Dalavay Agraharam' Plates of Emperor Venkapati II

say that in S 1508 (A.D, 1586) the Emperor made a gift of the village ofVirabhupa-

samudra at the request of Virabhupa (Virappa Nayaka) who was “living gloriously” :

and had the title Pakshinasamudradhipati.'^'^ The existence of an inscription of the

Emperor dated two years later (A.D. 1588) at Piranmalai (Ramanathapurhm district)

shows that his overlordship over Madurai was accepted in that area in the year of the

record.^i An inscription of Virappa Nayaka at Erode dated S 1501 (apparently

a mistake for § J510) expired^ Sanadbarin (A.D. 1588) mentions the Emperor as

Vira Venkatapati Raya and thereby bears evidence to the loyalty of the Nayak of

Madurai to the Imperial House, Two years later Emperor Venkatapati made from

Kumbakonam a grant of some villages in the Tirunelveli district to a Vaishnava

shrine under the management of one Krishna Das.r® Again in 1592 the Emperor made

a grant to a temple a Tirukkarangudi in the same district.^* The above pieces of

evidence point to the fact the Madurai country continued to be loyal to the Imperial

House till at least the date of the last mentioned record.

9. Prof. Satjanalhier feels no doubt about the loyalty of Virappa Nayaka of the VijayaiJagara House

throughout his rcigO and is inclined to think that the Pudukkottai Plates must belong to Muttu

Virappa Nayaka, a later member of the dynasty (1609-1623). In discussing the questi n however

he remarks : "If this is a reference to the war of succession, fought in the south in 1616, the date

of the inscription will have to be revised. But there was no Venkata at that time and Achyutappa

Nayaka had already abdicated. Perhaps the e.xpression "armies of Venkataraja and Achyuiaraja”

was loosely used fof the forces of the loyalist party and of Raghunatha Nayaka. If the date 1583 is

correct, it is difficult to explain such a combination of contending parties in 1583 or before.” But

he concludes the discussion with the statement that '‘nothing definite can be said about the value of

this inscription in relation to the war of succession of 1616." (of NVyaks ofMadurO PP- SI, lOl,

102 and 101 n.). But Dr. S. K. Aiyangar asserts that "it is clear . . . that the battle of Vallampra-

kara referred to in the Pudukottai Plates (of date 1582-83) cannot be taken to be the battle of

Toppur” {Ibid., p. 103 n), meaning thereby that the battle must have been over by 1583. In the

same breath he says that the invasion of Madurai by Venkatapati Raya must have been taken place

soon after 1586 (Ibid., pp. 17 and 102). One does not see how it is possible to take the incidents

mentioned in the Pudukkottai Plates of 1583 to a date tliree years later.

10. Epi. Ind., Xn, pp. 161 and 187.

11. Rangachary, V., Inscriptions of the Madras Presidency, II, p. 1189, No. 223.

12. ARSIE, 13 of 1891; Md., 1892, p. 9.

13. Sewell, List ofAntiquities, II, p. 3. \

14. Ibid., I, p. 315.
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But by 1595 Virappa Nayaka appears to have once revolted against the Imperial

control. The Chikkademraya vaiiddvalj says that Venkatapati Raya, who apparently

became displeased with his vassal at Madurai declared war on Virappa Nayaka and

laid siege to his capital with a large army.^“ Anquetil du Perron, however says that

before the year 1595 the Nayaka of Madurai refused to pay homage to the Vijayanagara

Emperor “on the ground that the latter had murdered his legitimate severeign.’’^®

Though it may be true that Venkatapati Raya declared war on Virappa Nayaka for the

latter’s stopping of the payment of tribute, the suggestion of the foreign authority

that the action of Virappa was due to Venkata’s murder of “his legitimate sovereign”

cannot be accepted for the Nayaka had
^

continued to be loyal to the Imperial House
for at least ten years after the “murderer’s” accession. Whatever the real reason

for Virappa Nayaka’s rebellion' may be, he was soon forced to submit to the

Imperial House, obviously having been defeated. This is borne out by the fact that

Krishnappa Nayaka II who succeeded Virappa Nayaka 'in that year itself (1595) accepted

the overlordship of the Vijayanagara House.

The C/iiV:A nrferaiflj’n wwjidi’u// contains certain interesting details about this war.

According to it Venkatapati Raya declared war against Virappa Nayaka of Madurai and

laid siege to the fort at Madurai with a large army. But the Nayak of the place managed
to bribe the several generals of the Emperor’s army. One of them was Tirumalai Raya,

a nephew of the Emperor. He is said to have accepted the bribe and returned home
without continuing the siege of Madurai.” Rev. Fr. Heras discredits the value of the

account contained in the work, and thinks that Tirumalai Raya could not have been one

of the generals in the army of the Emperor. He says : “neither can we believe that

Prince Tirumala was one of the generals of the army; for he would have been too young

for such a task. The whole passage seems to be a poet’s concoction for justifying Raja

Vodeyar’s capture of Seringapatam ...Now the poet speaks of this capture of Seringapa-

tam as immediately following Tirumala’s supposed treason of Madurai. Fourteen years

separate these two events.”^® But it is difficult to decry the value of the historical work

simply because the details contained in it do not seem to have much cogency. With

regard to the age of Tirumala the Father thinks that he could have been about forty

years in 1610.” This surmise is acceptable for we have the inscriptions of Tirumalai in

the Seringapatam area spread over a period of about 25 years from 1585 to 1610. If he

was forty years of age in 1610, he must have been about 25 years old in 1595, not a very

tender age to take an active part in war. The value of the work need not be belittled

for the second reason suggested by the Father, namely, the poet’s putting the capture of

Seringapatam as closely following Tirumala’s supposed treason of Madurai. For one

thing it is not improbable that Tirumala could have succumbed to the bribes offered by

15. Aiyangar, S. K., Sources of Vijayanagma History, pp. 302-303.

16. Heras, op. cit., p. 342 and n.

17. Aiyangar, S. K., op. cit , pp. 302-303; also pp. 19 and 248 /i; Satyanathier, op. cit., pp. 17, 81 n 17,

and p. 99. n 9.

18. Heras, op. cit., p. 343n.

19. Ibid., p. 421 n 4.
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Virappa Nayaka. The Emperor was more attached to Sriranga III than to Tirumala

though he was himself anxious to win his favour and that must have been oppressing

his mind not a little. Further the rise of Raja Odeyar into prominence was looked upon

with grave concern by Tirumala, particularly because, he had the sympathy of the

Emperor himself. Under the circumstances he could not have evinced much enthusiasm

in the Emperor’s war against Virappa Nayaka of Madurai. Taking advantage of the

strained relations between the Emperor and his nephew Raja Odeyar probably took

Seringapatam and increased his power and influence. The account contained in the

Cikkadevaraya vamiavati of course gives the impression that Raja Odeyar’s capture of

Seringapatam was the result of Tirumala’s disloyal attitude towards his uncle. But one

cannot expect the author of the work to treat the achievement of the founder of the

Mysore dynasty in any other way. Hence one need not entirely discredit the value of

the work in so far as it deals with Tirumala’s behaviour at Madurai and the subsequent

events. There is nothing improbable in his having been sent to Madurai to subdue its

ruler Virappa Nayaka and his returning home with a bribe from the rebel.



Two Decades of Madm*ai (1734-1754)

Madurai the Athens of south India and the radiating centre of an ancient

culture, a city known from the earliest beginnings of south Indian history for power,

plenty and prosperity, a city that was the capital of many dynasties of rulers beginning

from the pre-Christian period passed through calamitous vicissitudes of fortune on the

disruption of the Nayaka rule in the region. After the extinction of the Sultanate of

Madurai about 1378 as a result of the military activities of Kumara Kampana, the son of

Bukka I of Vijayanagara, Madurai was included in the Vijayanagara Empire. In the

sixteenth century, in order to provide for the efficient administration of the Madurai

country, Madurai was constituted as a Nayakship and one Visvanatha Nayaka was

appointed for the place. The Nayak period was a very bright one in the history of

Madurai when great encouragement was given to the promotion of arts and letters, big

irrigation works were undertaken, and everything great in the Hindu civilisation was

patronised. “A Government whose wealth and whose tastes are manifested by its

temples and statues and whose readiness to employ all its resources for the benefit of its

people, as proved by the number and nature of the irrigation works it completed, implies

a contented and a prosperous people ; while a high state of the arts and knowledge is

abundantly testified by the exquisite design and workmanship discoverable in many of

the temples and statues as well as by the grasp and mastery of the principles of irrigation

—a complicated and difficult branch of the Engineering Art—displayed in their irrigation

systems.”! Among the great rulers of this dynasty were Visvanatha Nayaka, Tirumalai

Nayaka 'and Rani Mangammal.

Vijayaranga Chokkanatha Nayaka (1706-1732) who had no male issue, was on

his death succeeded by his wife Minakshi and she ruled for five years till 1736, being

J. Stuart, A.J., Manual ofTinnevelly, p. 69,
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supported by her brother Venkata Perumal. Her shoit reign was a period of great inter-

nal strife. Queen Minakslu adopted Vijaya Kumara Muttu Tirumalai Nayakkar, the

son of one Vangaru Tirumalai, a member of a collateral branch ot the royal family.

But Vangaru Tirumala attempted to depose Minakshi and usurp the royal authority.

The Nawab of Arcot during that time was Dost ‘Ali (1732-1740), the nephew of Saadat

‘Ullah Khan (1710-1732) who inaugurated the Nawabi He sent his son Safdar ‘Ah

and son-in-law Chanda Sahib to the Thanjavur and Tiruchirappalli area to bring the

region under his control if it failed to pay tribute. Vangaru Tirumala took advantage

of the piesence of the Muslim army nearby and sought the help of Safdar 'Ali against

Minakshi. Safdar ‘Ali offered to arbitrate on behalf of the two, deeided in favour of

Vangaru Tirumala and left the area leaving instructions with Chanda Sahib to give elTect

to the same. But Queen Minakshi managed to bribe Chanda Sahib a crore of rupees,

and he promised on the Koran that he would stand by her. But soon the differences

between Vangaru Tirumala and Minakshi were patched up, and therefore Chanda

Sahib returned home; being frustrated in his plans. In 1736 he again came down to

Madurai with a view to reduce it, t iking advantage of the political confusion there He
offered to subdue her enemies, and sent a large force which took possession of Dindigul.

The place was stormed and Vangaru Tirumala, who was in charge of the Dindigul area

organised resistance at Ammayanayakkanur against the Muslim invader but was defeated

by him.- Vangaru fled from the battlefield and took refuge in the fort of Vellikurichchi

under the protection of the Raja of Sivaganga. Chanda Sahib who became the master

practically of the whole of Madurai, took Queen Minakshi prisoner quite in violation of

his promise to her on the Koran. The Queen who could not brook her fate committed

suicide in the same year by taking poison. ’
‘

,

' / I

Chanda Sahib, during the period of his administration in the South strengthened

the fortifications of Tiruchirappalli and appointed his two brothers as the Governors

respectively of Dindigul and Madurai. ,But his rule was very unpopular, and aroused

great resentment and hatred of the Hindus.
^

Vijaya Kumara Muttu Tirumalai Nayakkar, son of Vengaru Tirumalai Nayakar,

Vellaiyan Servaikkaran, the vaSal dafavay of the Setupati left the area. The managers

and attendants of the temples of Minakshi Sundaresvara and Kudal AJagar at Madurai
took with them the Gods of the above two temples to Vanaravlrarmadurai (Manaraa-

duraj and stayed there for two years (1739-41), The Setupati made necessary provision

for thopuja and daily offering of the Gods as also food and drink for the servants of the

temples, and thus kept them under his protection.®

f f

Vangaru Tirumala and Pratap Singh, the Raja of Thanjavur, (1739-63) sought

the help of the Mahrattas who were extending their power, in the south. Raja Sahu sent

Raghuji Bhonsle on an expedition against the Camaitc. He defeated and killed Dost
"Ali, the Nawab of the Carnatic, at the- battle nt Damalcheruvu Pass (North Arcot

T

2. Taylor : Oriet tal Historical Manuscripts, 11, p. 234.

3. Maduraittala^aralaru in the TiruppaifimTilai, Sen Tamil publication, No. 27, pp. 6-7, . ,

V. ' . t
^
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District) in 1740. Later, probably at the instigation of Safdar ‘Ali-he marched against

Chanda Sahib, sacking on the way Tiruvannamalai and Porto Novo and plundering the

places. ‘The total estimate of the value of the plunder was about 1,50,000 pagodas. The

Maharattas first deceived Chanda Sahib by taking their forces beyond Tiruchirappalli but

'when they found that he had sold the grains with him and was not prepared for an
engagement, they besieged Tiruchirappali in 1741. Bade Sahib, the brother of Chanda

"Sahib, marched to the relief of Tiruchirappalli with large provisions, horsemen and foot.

But he was intercepted by the Maharattas with a body of 2000 cavalry near Dindigul from

which place he went forth and defeated them. ' However, "Raghuji Bhonsle marched to

‘the scene with 10,000 horse and attacked the camp of Bade Sahib at Manapparai and

killed both him and his sister’s son-in-law Sadiq Sahib. Later the corpse of Bade Sahib

was richly dressed and sent to his brother Chanda- Sahib at Tiruchirappalli so that he

might be'warned of the impending downfall of his hopes. Raghuji Bhonsle then attached

-Tiruchirappalli wth the help of the Pindaris, Kallars and Poligars of the area and

Chanda Sahib offered him stiff resistance. But his ammunitions and stores failed him
and therefore he surrendered himself to Raghuji on 25th March, 1741. He was disarmed,

taken'pfisoner and sent over to Satara where he remained within prison for seven years.

The fort of Tiruchirappalli was taken by the Maharattas and .Murari Rao Gh'orpade of

Gooty was appointed the Governor of Tiruchirappalli and the area' depending on it, assi-

sted by 14,000 of the best troops of the Maharattas."*

. "The Maharatta occupation and rule of the South seems to have been congenial .to

thfe betterment of the condition of the Hindus. Murari Rao appointed one Appaji

Nhyaka to; administer Madurai on his behalf and sent him to the place along with 2,000

horses. < The latter did not like to stay in a city where there was no God, and hence he

visited Vanaravirarmadurai, worshipped the Gods at the place, and with the consent of

.the Betupati, took back the idols of Minakshi Sundaresvara and Kudal-Alagar to

Madurai in July 1741 and reconsecrated them in their respective temples. He also per-

formed purificatory ceremonies in the temples and made large provisions for the daily

worship and services of the Gods in the old manner.®

But the rule of Madurai by the Hindus was not destined to last long. The for-

tunes of the city were soon affected by domestic and political revolutions in the Carnatic.

The course of the revolutions was as follows : Safdar ‘Ali Khan who succeeded Dost

‘Allas the Nawab of the Carnatic on the death of his father in 1740 was assassinated in

his bed by his cousin Murtaza ‘Ali Khan on the night of 13th October 1742 by order of

orielGhulam Murtaza ‘Ali Khan the Governor of Vellore, and his own Diwan Mir Asad

was’ imprisoned. But the position of Ghulam Murtaza ‘Ali was not strong. Murari

Rao of Tiruchirappalli refused to recognise him and the army also mutinied. Therefore

Murtaza ‘Ali ' escaped to Vellore, and Sayyid Muhammad Khan, {the young son of

Safdar ,‘Ali tyas declared the Nawab of the Carnatic. Nizamu’l-Mulk the Subedar of

4.. .Srinivasachari, C. S., Anandaranga Pillai, pp. 16-18; Kincaid, C.A. and Parasnis, D.B., A Bistory

ofthe MardtJia People, VP. 116-11.
' ' ‘

5. MqdiirqittalaYaralani op. cit., p. 7; Ayyar, R. Satyanatha, The Naf’ahs ofMadura, p. 37?,



\178 READINGS m SOUTH INDIAN HISTORY

the Deccan who was anxious to restore order in the south marched to Arcot with a' large

army of horse and foot which seemed “as though the sea was rising and flooding the

land.” ' He subdued the Carnatic and appointed Khwaja Abdulla Khan,
, one of his own

important ofiicers to administer the Carnatic and keep as his ward ' Sayyid Muhammad
Khan. Then he marched towards.Tiruchirappalli which was ruled by Murari Rao. , The

Mahratta chieftain trembled within his shoes at the approach of Nizam’ul-Mulk, and

therefore evacuated his headquarters on 29th August, 1743 and went north. Thus’ by
the mere strength of his arm, without waging one battle, the Nizam got possession of

the Carnatic including the far South. So the Maharatta rule of -Tiruchirappalli and

Madurai was put an end to in 1743. The attempt of Murari Rao to revive the power of

the Maharattas in the south soon after failed. The Nizam returned hotne along with

Nawab Khwaja Abdulla and confirmed hirn in his office. But on the night of the same

day the Nawab of the Carnatic was found dead in his bed, Having bfeen killed by an

unknown hand. Therefore one Anwar-’uddln Khan wh6 was in charge of the adminis-

tration of the Northern Ci rears was appointed Nawab of the Carnatic, and the young

son of Safdar ‘Ali was sent along with him to be taken care of. The young boy was

killed :by a body of Tahiran soldiers in June 1744, apparently at the instigation of Gulam

Murtaza; Ali of Vellore. Hence Anwar-‘ud-din was confirmed in the Nawabship of

the Carnatic in 1744.® '
'

.

Anwar-’ud-dln Khan appointed his son Muhammad ‘Ali to be in charge of the

general administration of the Carnatic and Mahfuz Khan to be in charge of the adminis-

tration of the Tiruchirappalli country, and from this time for more than ten years ' the

Madurai area was under the rule of Muslims.' Mahfuz Khan attacked Pratap Singh, the

Maharatta Raja of Thanjavur and extracted from him a bond for the payment ofan annual

tribute. During this period an attempt was planned with a view to recover the TirhcHif-

appalli fort from the Muslims and establish the rule of the son of Kattu'Raja^theZamin-

da'r of Udaiyarpalaiyam) when it was arranged that the Mahara’ttas' must ifavade the'

country being helped by the people of Thanjavur and Mysore, the Tondaimall Raja of

Pudukkottai and the Setupati of Ramanathapuram (Maravain). But such grand..schemes-

and designs did not fructify.'^

Matters went on for about four years, ull 1748, when certain incidents 'of

inomentous significance took place in the Deccan and the Carnatic. In'that ’ year

Nizam-ul-Mulk died leaving behind him six sons. 'Ghazi’uddin, Nasir Jiing, Salabaf

Jung,’ Nizam ‘Ali, Muhammad Shariff, and Mir Moghal. He had also a grandson'

Muzaffer Jung by name, by his daughter. Ghazi’ud-din’ w’as at Delhi, engaged' in>

imperial politics. Hence Nasir Jung, the second son of Nizara-’ul-Mulk succeeded to

the Nizamat on the death of his father. Muzaffar Jung was anxious to succeed to the"

position of his grandfather. A cominon cause was made between Muzaffar Jung and.'

Chanda Sahib (the latter anxious to become the Nawab of the Carnatic) and ’Raza'

6. Nainar, Muhammad Hussain (tr), Tuzak-i-lValafahi' (Madras University),"' I, pp; .82-84 and'

106-08.
, .

’

.

7. Srinivasachari, op. c;/.,pp. 1(3-14 and p. 114 fn, 17
.' ' ” ' ' ’ ”
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rSahjb the son of Chanda Sahib sought the help of Dupliex the Governor of French

possessions in India. It was learnt that the Maharattas would be willing to release

.Chanda Sahib if they were paid a ransom of seven lakhs of rupees. The money was paid,

.Chanda Sahib got his release and the confederates marched towards Arcot. The French

and their allies effected a Junction with them, met Anwar-‘ud-din at Ambur, where the

latter was killed on 3rd August, 1749, owing to the treachery of one of his own comman-

ders, Husain Khan Tahir, the Jagirdar of Amburgadh who persuaded Nawab Anwar-

,ud‘-din to fix his camp before his fort having treacherous designs.®
^

It was this political condition in the Deccan and the Carnatic where there were rivals

for the Nizami and the Nawabi that rendered the recall of Muhammad Ali and Mahfiiz

khan from the south necessary and inevitable. Under such circumstances they left the

south for the Arcot region in 1 748 placing Madurai under the charge of one Mayana,

apparently a Muslim. It is not known how long he was in charge of his post but within

a few years he appears to have been supplanted by one 'Abdul ‘Ahmad Khan who
captured the fort of, Madurai and ruled from that place. This was followed by another

revolution at the place. One 'Alam ‘Ali Khan, probaly a brother-in-law of Mayana, took

possession of the city from ‘Abdul ‘Ahmad Khan. According to Orme, he was a soldier

of fortune originally in the service of Chanda Sahib and the Raja of Thanjavur.® Taking

advantage of the course of events and the political confusion in the Carnatic he proclaim-

ed himself as an adherent of Chanda Sahib. He brought under his control Tirunelveli

Madurai and other places and subdued the Palaiyagars of the parts as far as the territory

of the Tondaiman Raja of Pudukkottai. This meant that Muhammad ‘Ali the rightful

successor of Anwar-’ud-din Khan had lost a good slice of territory in the Carnatic and

the hands of his adversary had become strengthened. Therefore, the Nawab of the

Carnatic, Muhammad ‘Ali, sought the help of the English for retaking Madurait

Consequently a contingent of force was despatched to Madurai under Captain James

Cope who was in command at Tiruchirappalli assisted by ‘Abdul Wahhab Khan, the

brother of Muhammad ‘Ali. One ‘Abdul Rahim, an officer who was in charge of the

Tirunelveli area, also helped Captain James Cope in his operations against Madurai,

‘Alani Khan was a great military General, and successfully resisted the attack of Madurai,

Captain Cope was foiled in his attempt to take the fort and hence was forced to with-

draw to, Tiruchirapplli. Abdul Wahab Khan’s troops betrayed their master and went

oyer to the side of ‘Alam Khan.

j.

Saunders the Governor of Madras thought that he could effect the reduction of

Madurai by diplomacy and therefore on the 22nd of July 1751 he wrote a letter to ‘Alam '

‘Ali Khan as follows : -

“I have heard of your courage in the defence of Madurai, which though against my
own people I cannot but highly commend. Merit ought highly to be rewarded, instead

of which I hear you are to be divested of your Government and the French to take

8. Nainar, op. cit., I, pp. 144-47.

9. Ibid., I, pp. 169 ff.
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possession of the fort. This I think is but a bad return for much bravery. You'nre’a

soldier and your sword may make your fortune. If you will espouse the cause of

Muhammad ‘Ali and assist his affairs I promise you shall have a Government under him

which will afford you wealth and a great name and support you and your family in

affluence.’’^
“ t •

"
'i

'

Alam Khan however refused to accept the suggestion. In the next year a battle

was fought by the British and Muhammad ‘Ali against Chanda Sahib and the French at

Tiruchirappalli. ‘Alam Khan went to Tiruchirappalli, sided with Chanda Sahib and fought

against the British. In the course of the battle he was killed.^^ Wben he left Madurai

for Tiruchirappalli he lefc the former under the charge of his brother-in-law, Mayana. It

appeared that the latter was not able to maintain control over the region and therefore he

sold the city to Kuku Sahib, a Mysore General who was moving about the Dindigul

area, of which the Mysoreans were in possession at that time.*- The city of Madurai

suffered very much during this period, and the sentiments of the people were defiled by

him. Cows killed and eaten and cocoanut trees were cut and destroyed.

The Hindus became disgusted with this rule and organised a revolution. Hence

Vellaiyan Servaikkaran commander of the Setupati’s guard and Tandavaraya Pillai thV

Pradhmi of the guard of Udaya Tevar (Zamindar of Sivaganga) took up the cause
_

of

the Hindus and laid siege to the fort of Madurai for about a month, at the end of which,’

as a result of an arbitration made between the Hindu invaders and Kuku Sahib, the latter

left the city under the charge of the Setupati and retired towards Dindigul. Hawng
defeated the Mysore General, both Vellaiyan Servaikkaran and Tandavaraya Pillai entered'

Madurai and restored order in the city. Since Madurai had been under Muslim rule for’

about ten years the temples and religious practices in the city had suffered much. Hence^

both of them performed purificatory ceremonies, threw open the temples that had been

kept closed, restored services in them and made provision for the renewal of worship in

them. They also restored Hindu rule over Madurai by taking Vijaya Kumara MuttU'

Tirumalai Najaka, son of Vangaru Tirumala from Vellikurichchi and crowning him

as the ruler of Madurai in the sanctum of the Goddess Minakshi.’®

But the revival of the Hindu power in Madurai was not to last long. According'

to certain local accounts, Vijaya Kumara Muttu Tirumalai Nayaka ruled only for sixteen’'

months and was dethroned on 29th November, 1752, by the combined efforts of three

10. Country correspondence, 1757, No. 97, quoted by H. C. Hill, Yusuf Khan the Rebel Commandant^

p. 30.

11. See Orme, Vol. I, pp. 200 ff.

12. Nelson thinks that this Kuku Sahib was the saiue as General Cope, who wws in command at

Tiruchirappalli. (Nelson, The Madras Country, III, pp. 270-71). This is due to the author’s taking

that the two persons were one. While General Cope died on Feb. 3, 1752 fighting at Kiishnavaran,'

Kuku Sahib lived for some years more and is "nicnlioned by Colonel Heron in a letter to Couneik

dated 29th October, 1754 as causing trobule in Madurai with some Mysore horse and sepoys." See

Hill, YusufKhan the Rebel Commandant, p. 31.

13. See MaduraittaIa\aralTiru in the TiruppaniniSlal, p. 8.
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Muslims, Mianah (Mahomed Barkey), Modemiah (Mahomed Mainch) and Nabi Khan
subordinates of Muhammad ‘Ali. This is indicated by a signed document in which they

recognised the authority of the Nawab over Madurai and Tirunelveli.^^ Madurai again

appears to have suffered under Muslim yoke. Temple lands were confiscated. The

gardens and wells were destroyed and the trade of the merchants was paralysed. There-

fore Vellaiyan Servaikkaran seems to have sought the help of Kuku Sahib, the Mysore

General. Both of them marched towards Madurai encamped at a place called Panaiyur

Anuppaladi near the city and besieged the fort of Madurai for six months.

But the forces of Mayana were successful, in the battle and killed both Vellaiyan

Ser&aikkaran and Kuku Sahib. Thus the Muslim chieftain was able to maintain himself

as the<jovemor of Madurai from 1753. Mayana however was not loyal to Muhammad
‘Ali and was not regular in the payment of the annual tribute to him, to which he was
legally entitled as the Nawab ol the^Carnatic which -included Madurai and Tirunelveli,

also. Hence Muhammad ‘Ali appealed to 'the English to help him in the- restoratian 'of

his authority in the far south. The Governor of Madras sent Colonel Heron and Yusuf

Khan (the latter a Hindu convert to Islam who had distinguished himself in the siege of

Tiruchira'ppalli (1752-54) and had i,Mpn great praise from General Lawrence as a-“bom
soldier’Vi Heron reached Madurai early -in ’March 1755 to, find that Mayana ,had fled

away from the place to Koyilkudi and taken refuge, in the strongly built temple at

Tirumbur and took possession of the city. He also concluded a treaty on his own
responsibility with the Setupati of Ramaaathapuram. Then he marched to Tirumbur,

stormed the temple,' set fire'to its gates and allowed his sbldiers to' plunder the temple

and-carry oET a large number of idols from it.' But.Mayana.had made good bis escape i

from that place also. Later Colonel Heron marched 'into the Tirunelveli country and „

reduced it to submission after attacking Kattabommu Nayaka and other chieftains in '

that region. Mahfuz Khan was appointed as the renter of Madurai and was required to

pay an annual rent of Rs. 15,00,000.

1

14. Hill, op. oil., p. 31.



The End of the Madurai Nayaltship

’1

The generally accepted date for the end of the Madurai Nayaksliip is 1736 or
’

1737.^ But really it appears to have continued to exist till 1739 for there is evidence to

show that queen Minakshi, the last ruler of the dynasty, reigned till about the middle .of

.

that year.

The fortunes of Madurai in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries were closely

bound up with those of the Nayak dynasty of the place ; but from the thirties of the

eighteenth century, the Madurai country passed through great vicissitudes of fortune.

When Vijayaranga Chokkanatha Nayaka died in 1731 without issue he left his kingdom
to Minakshi, the first of his eight wives and she assumed the reins of administration.

Queen Minakshi adopted Vijayakumara Muttu Tirumalai Nayakkar, the son of

one Vangaru Tirumalai, a descendant of Kumara Muttu, a brother of Tirumalai Nayaka,
and was supported by her two brothers one of whom was Venkata Perumal. They

forced one Narayanappa Ayyar, formerly the Minister of Chokkanatha Nayaka and bis

friends to refund the large sums of money which they had embezzled. The latter were

so much provoked on that account that they called back from exile Bangaru Tirumalai,

the father of the adopted son of Minakshi, and gave him hopes of being crowned the

ruler of Madurai. Soon many of the feudatory chiefs of the Nayaka rulers joined

Bangaru Tirumalai since they were made many tempting promises. It seemed even

possible that without the shedding blood the crown of Madurai would be transfened

from Minakshi to Bangaru Tirumalai. Hence Minakshi appealed to Tukoji the Maratha
ruler of Thanjavur and with his help quelled the intrigues of the pretender.-

1. Ayyar, R. Satyanatha, The Nayaks ofMadura, pp. 232 and 234 ;;; Rnngachary, V. Ind. Ant., XLVl,
p. 213.

2. This is borne out by the Thanjavur inscription of Sarfoji though Wilks {Historical Sketches of
Mysore, I, p. 155) and the KarftTitakadeia Rajtikkal Savisitlra Charitram say that it was Bangaru
Tirumalai who got the help from Thanjavur.
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^‘During this period of confusion in the far South great changes were taking place

iarther north. The “Nawayats” had established themselves in the southern part of the

dbyomandel, and were ruling from Arcot. Sadatulla Khan the founder .of the dynasty

died in 1710, and was succeeded by his adopted son Dost Ali. He ruled virtually as an

fndependent prince, though he owed nominal allegiance to the Nizam of Hyderabad, and

collected tribute from the kingdoms of Thanjavur and Madurai on behalf of the Mughal
em^^erors whose feudatories they still were.

^ ^

Taking advantage of the dispute oyer the succession question and consequent

confusion in Madurai Dost Ali interfered in the affairs of that kingdom. There are

conflicting accounts about the exact circumstances under which the Muslims came upon
the scene. According to the Kanjatakadefa Rajdkkal charitram Minakshi appealed to

Chanda Sahib, the son-in-law and Civil Dewan of Dost Ali for help while Bangaru

Tirumalai applied to Safdar Ali the son of Dost Ali for help, and therefore both

ofthem came down to rirucin'rappaffi with an army of 10,000 cavalry. But the real

idea behind their interference in the politics of the south was the suppression

apd annexation of the region. As Orme says ; “The kingdoms of Tiruchirap-

pally and Thanjdvur although tributary to the Moghul were each of them gover-

ned by its own prince or Raja, and the care of levying tributes over these countries was
entrusted to the Nawabs of Arcot who were obliged to send an army to facilitate the

collection of them. The death of the king of Tiruchirappalli in 1736 (1731?) was followed

by disputes between the queen and a pripce of the royal blood, which produced

a confusion in the government sufficient to give the Nawab of Arcot hopes of subject-

ing the kingdom to his authority. He therefore determined to send an army under

the command of his son Safdar Ali and the Dewan Chanda Sahib to seize an opportu-

nity which might ofier the chance of getting possession of the city of Tiruchirappalli; but

to prevent suspicions, the collection of tribute was given out as the only intention of the

expedition and the army was ordered to move leisurely down to the sea coast before they

proceeded to the south; accordingly they game to Madras where they remaind some

days, and then went to Pondicheri where they stayed a longer time; during which

(^handa Sahib laid- the first foundation of his connections, with the French Government

in|(hat city ; from hence they marched to Tiruchirappally.”®

' On their way the two Muslim invaders occupied Thanjavur and subsequently

they reached Tiruchirappalli after a victorious campaign in Travancore and Madurai.

Even in' that hour of crisis Minakshi and Bangaru Tirumalai did not join together to

save their kingdom from the Muslim invaders. The pretender made overtures to Safdar

Ali offering to pay to him 30 lakhs of rupees if he supported his cause againt that of

Minakshi. The invader finding that the queen was prepared to resist him offered to

arhitra(e,between the two contestants, but decided in favour of Bangaru Tirumalai. The

queen was not -however prepared to accept the decision of Safdar Ali. Therefore

3. Ind. Ant., XLVI, ppl 217-18; Nelson, The Madiirtji Country, pt. iii, p. 256; and Orme, The Military

Transactions in Indostan, T, p. 35. , ,
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linding that matters were dragging on and were not likely to be settled easily he 4eft the

enforcement of his award to Chanda Sahib and returned back to the north. Taking

advantage of the changed situation queen, Minakshi and her partisans offered a crore of

rupees to Chanda Sahib if he, ,without giving effect to the arrangement made, by Safdar

Ali, recognised Minakshi as the lawful ruler. ,When he easily agreed to, the ,sug-

gestion the party did not have 'confidcnec in his words and wanted him to reiterate

his promise with the Koran in his hands on the bank, of the river Kaveri. He made the,

promise once again without the least idea of keeping his word.* It appears that

Minakshi borrowed some money from the Raja of Thanjavur for making payment to the

Muslim invader,,in return for which helji he' got the right of occupying till the loan was

repaid the fertile territory of Tinikkattupalli^l^ing between the Cauvcry and Col^toon up

to Thanjavur.® '

\ ,

< Meanwhile the preferider,‘Bangaru Tirumalai assisted by the Tondaiman Raja-pf

Pudukkottai and the Mysoreans > proceeded against Madurai and occupied the -place,

though with difficulty. Later, however, Minakshi patched up- her relations with .her

rival and so Chanda Sahib who* was utterly disappointed in his aims returned .baclCto

Arcot with a view to return to the scene once again-with additional reinforcements. \ !'. -j

' • • c !
’

1 I i(. 1 . 1 . ) r r.'
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,

'

“Having gained some' time an'd relief Minakshi was able thereafter to' engage hersMf'

in ’local war. 'Tukoji suggested to her that ' she 'rrtight wage' a"'" war with/the'

Tondaiman of Pudukkottai 'for his help to her enemifes and himself offered help to her.'

The ' llianjavur ruler supported by Minakshi sent his General Anandaraya Makhi*

(Ananda Rao) to invade the Pudukkottai'region. 'After taking a few places he laid 'siege'

to the strong fort of Tirumayyam which, however, he was not able to tdke. But he went*

on with the siege until at last he was obliged to raise the siege and hurriedly lead back-

his mutilated army to meet another serious enemy nearer home. ' -

“

C/t’f*/ J f j->/T

Queen Minakshi appears to" have been left to herself till 1739 and we find her,'

ruling till the middle of that year.
,

According to a copper plate record of. the queen,

dated § 1660, Kalayiikti, Magtia 12th corresponding to 9th February 1739 she made a giff*

of land to a Muslim priest named Imam Sahibu in Sivalapperi ' alias Muddii -'Venkata-

'

lakshmi Bhupalasamudram in the Tiruvadi rajya which belonged to the Nayaka ruler of

Madurai.® This record proves thaHhe hitherto accepted date for the tragic end'of her

reign namely' 1736 or 1737 is not correct. It is interesting to find that this late dateisj

confirmed by the Madaraittalavaralaru which' says :
’ “From Virodhikrit Masi -to-

Siddharti "Vaikasi (A.D. 1731-39) for therperiod of nine years Minakshi Ammal, the .wife

of Vijayaranga Chokkanatha Nayakkar crowned herself and ruled along with her brother.
' 1

'
,

f V
!

j

4. Wilks, op at

,

I, p. 1,55; According lo hitn Chanda SaYieb' did not make the oath plaCing his hand"

on'Koran bul on a brick hidden under'splehdid Cbve’rings ’ which’ queen Minakshi and her partisans^

did not notice; and thereby he deceived her.

5. Ayyar, Radhaktishna, A General Biiio/'y ofthe K/niiiA-Apf/ai S/o/e; pp.'WS-and 171, 'g ,
- -

6. M. .dm., LV, p. 195; TAS, "V, pt. iii. \
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Venkataperumal Nayakkar. ^ Thus the Madurai chronicle fixes the death of the queen
three montlis after the date of the copper plate referred to above.

There was an interregnum in the history of Thanjavur between 1736 and 1739 when
it was a cockpit of intrigues and offered scope for the exercise of power by adventures.

However, early in 1739 things settled down with the accession of Pratap Singh. Just before

his accession Chanda Sahib’s intervention in the confused politics of the extreme south

once again commenced. Both he and Safdar AH marched on Thanjavur and besieged the

city. Leaving Safdar Ali to continue the siege, Chanda Sahib marched towards

Tinichirappalli. A letter firora Pondicherry dated 6th January 1739 by Father

Gaston Coverdon says: “The fate of the kingdom in Triuchirappally is at present

seale'd; that is to say, hereafter it is a Moorish (a Muhammadan) country. The Nawab
Chanda Sahib made his entrance into the capital more than a month ago (i.e.

December, 1738) when the missionaries assembled together with solemnity for the

Chirstmak’festivities.”* He persuhded .Minakshi to entrust to . him the work of the

destruction of her enemies, and after gaining control over the administration of the

territories under her sent an army farther south to take Dindugal from Bangaru

Tirumalai who had by that time fallen out with queen. The latter was overpowered

in the battle of Ammaiya NayakkanurT’and 'forced to take refuge in l§ivaganga.

The army of Chanda Sahib soon occupied Madurai also! Thus the victorious Muslim
General became virtually the master of the terriories of the Nayaks of Madurai by the

middle 'of 1739i and it was probably during his stay there'that the queen mdde a grant

to the Muslim mosque.

Then Chanda Sahib’s character revealed itself. He threw to the winds his

solemn vow to Minakshi and imprisoned her- in her- own palace at Tiruchirappalli.*

The erstwhile queen became stricken with poignant grief and put an end to her life

Chanda Sahib how became the absolute master of the Nayaka territories. Thus with the

tragic death of queen Minakshi in 1739'the Nayakship of Madurai icame to an end as

also a brillant chapter in the history of the extreme south of the Peninsula.

7. Iyer, K..' Satyanatha, The Nayaki ofMaiura, p. 378; also Proceedings of the Indian Historical Records

Conwifirfon, VT, p. 112. '

i ^

8. Besse, Rev. L. (ed.), Li/c o/5<>jcW, p. 157. , .
,

i

9. Hill, S. C., Yusuf Khan, p. 12.

10. The manner in whicK Minakshi put an end to her life is however not clearly known. Some chroni-

cles say that she took poison and died. But Burhan Ibn Hasan gives the following graphic account

of the manner of her end. According to him Husayn Dost Khan, the third 'son-in-law (of the

Nawab of Dost Ali) went there (Tiruchirappalli) in the guise 'of peace. Swearingen the word of
' Allah, the king and the Great Knbwer, he span the thread of relationship of a brother to her, made

it into a noose of punishment and deceived her. He cut the throat of the times, broke his plighted

word, and tinged his scimitar with blood. Finally in the sarai known as Dalavai mandap {Dalaray

Mandapa) adjoining the fort of Tiruchirappalli he broke 'his covenant with her) yielding to his

prolific vicious nature, took possession of the fort, and set the mischief afoot. The Rani be'eame

aware of the deceit, being too weak to take revenge the power went from her hands. Thus wounded
in heart and helpless she burnt herself according to the custom, of the Hindus; Nairiar, M. H.
T"^iik-i-WalajaIii, Eng, Tr. I, pp. 70-71. ,



Historical Material in tlie Ramappayyan Ammanai
r

The Ammanai is a kind of poetical composition in Tamil, each verse of which

has the word ammanai for its refrain. Curiously enough the Ramappayyan Ammanai

unlike other ammanais consists of songs which do not end in all cases with that refrain,

but it is found only at the end of a few verses. The title of the work is to some extent

misleading for it deals mainly with the martial achievements of its hero. It may with

greater correctness be called Ramappayyan Padaippdr. It is a much worn out paper

manuscript running to 63 pages. The author of the work is not known, but it was pro-

bably written some where in the second half of the eighteenth century, since Bade Khan
the brother of Chanda Sahib (D. 1752) and Yusuf Khan, popularly known as Khan
Sahib and Governor of Madurai between 1759 and 1764 are mentioned as

having taken part in the campaigns of Ramappayya. The author was evidently an

admirer of the Maravas and their chieftain the Setupati. The poem largely deals with

the war that was waged by Ramappayya, the famous Dalm-ay of Tirumalai Nayaka
(1623—1659) who is referred to in the work as Tennavan Kachchi Tinimalaiyendiran on

behalf of his master against Setupati chief of Ramanathapurara. It also gives an-

account of Ramappayyan’s successful fight on behalf of the Vijayanagara Emperor

Venkata III against the Muslims who invaded the Bangalore region.

The work opens with the request made by Ramappayya to Tirumalai

Nayaka for permission to undertake an expedition against Sadaikka Teva

who is known to history as Sadaikka Teva II or Dalavay Setupati.

Permission was given for the expedition by the Nayaka only after great hesitation

for he realised the great strength of the Maravas and their capacity for determined fight.

The circumstances that led to the war were probably as follows : Kuttan Setupati who
was the chief of Ramanathapurara from 1623 died in 1635 leaving behind him a legiti-

mate son, Sadaikka Teva II also called Dalavay Setupati and an illegitimate son called

‘Tambi’. The former of the two who had a greater right to succeed to his father’s

possessions succeeded the father in 1635, but two years later the illegitimate son of
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the deceased father convinced the authorities at Madurai of-his right to succeed to the

chieftainship and threatened to dethrone the ruling chieftain. Sadaikka Teva was

prepared to resist and fight out his case. This probably led to a war between the

Madurai Nayaka who supported the ‘Thambi’ and the reigning Setupati. We are not

able to get more than these slender details regarding the genesis of the war.

According to the work among those who helped Ramappayya in his campaign

against the Setupati are said to have been Sivile Maran, the Pandyan ruler of Tenkasi,

the King of Colombo besides Shah Abbas Khan (Yusuf Khan) and Bade Khan. Of
these it is possible that the Pandyan ruler alone could have been of any help to Ramap-
payya. Sivile Maran who is referred to in the work was very probably the same as

Varagunarama Pandya Kulasekhara Somasiar one of whose inscriptions dated A.D.

1616 has been discovered.^ Colombo was then in the hands of the Portuguese, and

therefore it is quite improbable that a ruler of that place could have helped Ramappayya.

Shah Abbas Khan (Yusuf Khan) was the ruler and Governor of Madurai between 1759

and 1764 and Bade Khan the brother of Chanda Sahib also could not have taken any

part in the war, since their periods are separated from that of Ramappayya by a century

or more.

The work describes in graphic language the march of Ramappayya along with his

large army though such places like Chinna Ravuttar Palaiyam, Vandiyurkkottai, Tirup-

puvanam, his bringing into full view the Rajagambhirankottai a stronghold of an early

Baija chieftain Mavali Vana Raya which had been submerged under the thick growth of

a dense forest and his reaching Yanaraviran Mudurai the modern Manamadura, Sadaikka

Teva who heard of the invasion of his country by Ramappayya held a war council and

appointed his own son-in-law Vanniya Tevan as the leader of his forces. We have an

account of the disposition of the forces and the different stages in the war, at everyone

of which Ramappayya was defeated. At the end of four days of hard and terrible

fighting however Sadaikka is said to have become very much fatigued and, therefore, he

was safely moved to the island of Ramesvaram with all his army and treasury by his

nephew and son-in-law Vanniyan. Ramappayya who was also in need rest is said to

have continued at the place of battle for about twenty days.

It was at this time tliat, according to the work, Ramappayya was ordered to

proceed to Bangalore to help Venkata III against the Muslims who had invaded the

Karnataka country as far as that place. We are considering this portion of the manus-
cript at the end of this paper. After his return from the north he marched to the South,

and camped at Vanaraviran Madurai. He then proceeded towards Ramesvaram where

the Setupati had entrenched himself. Ramappayya is said in the work to have emulated

the epic hero Rama by the construction of a cause way across the straits in a short

period of a week. While the Nayaka General started taking his army along the dam and
encircling the island of Ramesvaram the Marava leader Vaimiyan mounted his cannons,
Rama and Laksmana and opened fire on the enemies. Ramappayya was defeated and
forced to withdraw.

1. TAS, Vol. I, p. 148.
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It was then that the Nayaka general was awakened . to a full realisation of the

serious danger that threatened him and he hccamc convinced of the fact that unless he

secured the help of a naval force 'he would not be able to reduce Sadaikkan and his

subordinates to submission. Hence, in consultation with his lieutenants Kondappayyan

and some others he opened negotiations with the Pottuguese in Coylon, Colombo,

Mannar, Kandi and Cochin, and promised them freedom of the channel as well as the

entire island of Ramesvaram in return for their help to win the war'against' the Setupati.

The Portuguese were only too willing to take advantage of the opportunity that presented

itself before them. According to the work they had long been suffering from the oppres-

sion of the Maravas who levied heavy taxes from them and other islanders whenever

their ships passed through the Pamban Channel.

Now to the account of the war itself. In the course of the terrible naval battle

that was fought, the Setupati General Vanniya Teva came out successful. But worn out

by the war he died soon after advising his father-in-law to surrender to the Nayaka King.

However, when the Setupati submitted to his overlord he was ill-treated and imprisoned.

According to the work on acbount of the efficacy of his prayers his fetters broke, and

Tirumalai Nayaka released him from prison and sent him home to rule in peace. But the

real reason for the relase of the Setupati W’as in fact different. The ‘Tanibi’ who was sup-

ported by Tirumalai Nayaka to succeed to the chieftainship of Ramanathapuram was very

much disliked by the people. The country was thrown into confusion and disorder, and

hence Tirumalai Nayaka, apparently realising that the Dalavay Setupati was the only

person who could restore order in the region released him from prison and accepted him
as the rightful chief. The over lordship of Tirumalai over the region under the Setupati

is indicated by an inscription of 1641 at Vembangudi which records a grant for the

merit of Tirumalai Nayakkarayyan.-

Nelson says that Ramappayyan died before the conclusion of the campaign

against the Marava chieftain. But this statement is not supported by the evidence of

the History of the Carnataca Governorsf an important manuscript in the Mackenzie

collection or the Ramappayyan Ammanai. An inscription of 1638 mentions him along

with Tirumalai Nayaka.^ As said earlier he went to Goa in August, 1639 as his master’s

ambassador. Hence he must have died some years after the successful conclusion of his

war against the Setupati. From the fact that an inscription of 1648 refers to an agree-

ment “in the time of Ramappayyan’’^ we may draw the conclusion that he must have

died by that year.

A part of the manuscript, as said earlier describes Ramappayya’s successful war
in the Bangalore region against the Muslim invaders on behalf of Venkata III the

Emperor of Vijayanagara (1620— 1630). It is said to have been undertaken by him

2. ARSIE, 120 of 1920.
,

3. Taylor, Oriental Historical Manuscripts, 11, p. 175.

4. ARSIE, 59 of 1916.

5. ARSIE,
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during the short period that intervened between his first campaign against the Setupati

and the soCond one.
,

t

According to the work under reference while he was staying in the South after

the first stage of his campaigns against the Setupati he received a message from, Tiiu-

malai Nayaka calling him back to Madurai for he had heard from Venkata III that the

Mugil Paccha (Mughal Badshah) had come down with 30,000 horse and taken Vanavay,

that the Golkondaiyan (the ruler of Golkdnda) was 'plundering Vijayapura, Vellore and
other territories of the Raya, that the Nayaka’s territory itself was threatened to be
invaded and that Ramappayya must start on an expedition against them. The Nayaka
General, after giving instructions to his lieutenants to be watchful returned to Madurai,

and under orders from his master, started northward to help"' the Emperor against the

Muslims. He is said to have marched through Solavandan, Vadamadurai, Dindigul,

Manapparai, Irattaimalai, Tiruchirappalli, Srirangam, Samayavaram, Kannanur, Vali-

kondapuram and Velur and reached Bangalore where he had an interview with the Raya.

Taking orders from him he joined forces with Ikkeri Venkita Krishnayya and defeated

the enemy, and returning back to the Raya, reported to him of his success. Then
having been duly honoured by the Raya for his services he is said to have returned back

to Madurai through Velur. Vijayapuram, Anegondi, Uttattur, Valikondapuram,

Kannanur, Stirangam, Tiruchirappalli, Manapparai, Tekkumalai, Dindigul, Solavandan,

Tovariman and Pillaiyarpalaiyam. . i >

j

Though the above account contained in the work is too graphic and detailed to

be dismissed easily, many statements made in it have to be doubted from the historical

point of view.

f

The incidents that are said to have happened in the Bangalore region may be

assigned to the period between 1638 and 1639; a confused one in the history of the

Karnataka. The main political events relating to it may be reviewed as follows. In 1636

a treaty was concluded between the Mughal Emperor and the Adil Shah of Bijapur,

according to one of the terras of which the latter accepted the overlordship of the

Badshah. Subsequent to that the Sultan of Bijapur extended his power over the

Karnataka country. Randaula Khan, the Bijapur General invaded the Ikkeri country

and forced its Nayaka Virabhadra to sue for peace according to the conditions of which

he was to surrender his claims to the conquered forts and retain the remaining territory

as a subordinate of the Sultan of Bijapur. Randaula Khan then marched towards

Bangalore at the head of 9000 men with a view to take the city, which was then ruled

by one Kempe Gauda, a subordinate of Venkata III. Finding his own position weak
'

and his force inadequate to resist Randaula Khan the Emperor appealed to his feudatory j

Nayakas for help.® But before any help reached Venkata from Them, Randaula Khan
took the fort of Bangalore, appointed Shahaji as its governor and besieged Seringapat-

am for a month at the end of which he raised it probably on receipt of-an indemnity

of five lakhs of hons from its Governor Kanthireva Narasa, and returned to Bijapur.

6. Macleod De Ocst, indtsebie Campagnie, U, p. 173.
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Taking advantage of the
.
General’s return to Bijapur Kenge Hatiuma, Ibe ruler of

Basavapatt'anam revolted against the Bijapur overlordship, but Randaula Khan once

again brought the territory under Subjugation
’’ Thus the invasion and conquest of the

Karnataka country appears to have been undertaken only by the Bijapur General.

Therefore, the statement made in the work that the Mughal Badshah invaded the South

as far as Bangalore with 30,000‘horse is open to doubt.

It was prabably somewhere about the time of the Bijapur General’s invasion of

the Bangalore reigon that Venkata made a piteous appeal to his subordinate Nayakas in

the South, The appeal could have had the desired effect, and even the distant Madurai

Nayaka seems to have sent a contingent of troops to help the Emperor. Though, in

the latter portion of his region Tirumalai Nayaka of Mudurai showed signs of insubord-

ination to the Vijayanagara 'House he appears to have been loyal to it till at least about

tills period. The Kuniyur Plates of Venkata III (1634) for instance refer to Tirumalai

in respectful terms. That inscription mentions a grant made by Venkata according to

the wishes of the glorious prince Tirumala.® Venkata was able to have at his command

early in 1639 an army of 1,30,000 soldiers. With that he marched to Bangalore, with

a view to recapture the fort, but being foiled in his attempt, he returned back to Vellore

in the middle of 1639. A few months later, taking advatage of the fact that the Bijapur

General had gone back to his Capital he started once again with an army of 2000 to

take Bangalore, but hearing that the latte? had come down once again to the Karnataka

country having subdued the rebellion of Kenge Hanuma, returned to Vellore.

Ramappayya probably took part in the first invasion of Bangalore by Venkata III,

for it was only then that the emperor had with him a large force supplied by his

feudatories. Mention has been made earlier that he was at Goa on the I3th

August, 1639 as the ambassador ' of Tirumalai Nayaka, and it is doubt-

ful if he would have been able to lead his lorccs to Bangalore during the second

expedition of Venkata III to the place. But with regard to the success of his expedition

against Bangalore the Antmanai makes too tall a claim for the hero. The contemporary

sources do not bear out the statement. According to some of them Venkata 111

was foiled in his attempt to take Bangalore then. Further it is hard to believe that a

person who found himself unable to conquer the Setupati could have come out with such

brilliant success against the army of the Sultan of Bijapur. Again the predating of the

march of Ramappayya as far as Bangalore and assigning it to the period that intervened

between the two stages in the campaigns of the Madurai General against the Setupati

both of which took place in 1637 is again historically inaccurate, for, as said above, the

Portuguese Governor was thanked in August, 1639 for his help to the Madurai Nayaka
two years earlier in his campaigns against the Setupati. Besides the statement made in

the work that the Mughal Badshah invaded the Karnataka country in 1639 is difficult to

7. Sastri, K. A. Nilafcanta and Venkataramanayya, R, Further Sowces of Vijaianasara IFislory. Vol. I,

pp. 344-45.

8. Epi. hid., Vol. nr, p. 255.
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be accepted. Furthermore the Sultan of Golkonda did not participate in the expansion

of the Muslim power over west Karnataka during this period. He entered the political

arena of the Karnataka, and the eastern portion of it comparatively late. Lastly the

author of the Ammanai betrays lack of knowledge of the geographical position of the

places to the north of Tiruchirappalli and Srirangam mentioned in the work. For

instance it is stated in the work that Ramappayya returned from Bangalore to his place

through Velur, Vijayapuram, Anegondi, Uttattur, etc. Certainly he could not have gone

to Bijapur and Anegondi on his way to Madurai from Bangalore.

Thus after a careful study of the whole work, one is led to the conclusion that the

Ramappayya?! Ammanai is not historically so valuable as it is claimed to be, particu-

larly the portion dealing with the expedition of the General to Bangalore.



The Nawabs of the Carnatic and Hindu Temples

The Nawabs of the Carnatic (the members of the Walajahi dynasty of Arcot),

particularly Muhammad Ali Walajah and his successor Umdatu’l Umara, were deeply

interested in the proper maintenance of the Hindu temples. They were anxious that no

harm was done to them in the course of the many wars that were waged in the Carnatic

during their period. More than that, they were equally anxious that the traditional and

customary modes of worship there were followed without any interruption. They

considered it their duty to settle disputes, if any, that arose among groups or parties with

regard to the performance of temple rituals and worship.

One of the major temples which sulfered considerably in the course of the Carnatic

wars was the Ranganatha at Srirangam near Tiruchirappalli which was a great

stronghold of Muhammad Ali Walajah. Srirangam, on account of its geographical and

strategic position, played a considerable part in the course of the Anglo-French conflict,

and it was the main aim of the French to capture the place ; and on many occasions they

succeeded in their attempt though they could not retain the place for long. But during

their occupation, the place as also the temple there sulfered a good deal. According to

Ananda Ranga Pillai, the diarist at Pondicherry, in 1759 the French army under

Crillon.the Commander, which had been sent to attack the English near

Samayavaram made an attack on the Srirangam temple and mercilessly plundered two

streets in the town.^ This statement is corroborated by the evidence of the Koyilolitgtt,

a work in Tamil which deals with the history of the Srirangam temple. It says that the

{/Mflfc (Yavanas— the French) who became powerful in Puducheri (Pondicherry) spread

their army everywhere, entered Srirangam and harassed its inhabitants Unable to bear

the harassment the people inhabiting both the banks took refuge in the temple and

closed its gates. The Uiials however entered the Chitrai street and the Uttira street,

plundered the temple and were planning to harass the whole population when Ajagiya-

manavala Perumal, taking pity on the people, evoked the sympathy of an aged Paion^i

!• Ananda Ranga PiUai's Diary, Vol. XI.
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(Frenchman) towards them, and through his good offices saved the temple." The
Tiizak-i-Walajahi of Burhan Ibn Hasan also refers to this incident. It says that “the

French cut down the trees, destroyed, plundered and vacated the buildings and devasta-

ted the temple”.® However, when the French retired from the place on account of the

threatened attack on Wandiwash by the English, the army of 'the Sirkar entered

Srirangam without any fight and “according to custom appointed the qiladar, the

danigha and other managers issued orders to rebuild, inhabit and fortify it.” This is

surely a good instance of the interest of Muhammad Ali Walajah in the proper function-

ing of one of the biggest and most important Hindu temples in his jurisdiction.

f

Muhammad Ali 'Walajah’s successor Umdatu’l Umara Bahadur (1795-1801) also

evinced great concern for the observance of customary usages and the conduct * of proper

worship in temples. During his time two disputes, as known to us were decide^.

There was a long standing quarrel between two nae'mbers of a 'Vaishnava family regard-

ing receipt of tirthani (sacred water) in the Ranganatha temple at Srirangam and it was

amicably decided after careful enquiry by iSfawab Umdatu’l Umara. The case related

to a complaint made to the Government of the Nawab by one Annangar Varadacharya

that one Rangacharya was enjoying the complainant’s share and properties without any

right for one hundred and twenty years. The Nawab after making an elaborate enquiry

and taking necessary evidence decided in A.D. 1796 (Nala) on 'the verdict of jurors.

According to it “under the orders of Huzur both parties will have their shares in tirthams

in the temple. They will enjoy rtisuas (dues, fees) and mirasi (right) equally half and

half. Without any quarrel they will enjoy their shares in lirtham for ever and look after

their own business. If anyone in the future goes against this order he will forfeit his

rights and be liable to the orders of Sirkar”.*
,

’

« 1

A few months later in the same year an important thing happened in the temple

at Chidambaram. The Vishnu temple which is situated in ’ the Siva temple at the place

had a chequered history, and not infrequently worship in the temple was stopped.

However, the temple was restored and worship in it was arranged for by Ramaraja of

Vijayanagara, and in the teeth of opposition of the priests of . the Siva temple some

additions were made to it by Krishnappa Nayaka of Ginji towards the dose of the

sixteenth century. But at some date subsequent to that, the, Vishnu temple appears to

have suffered once again at the hands of the priests of the Siva temple. They closed the

Vishnu temple and put a stop to worship in it. But in 1796 during the administration

of Hazrath Muhammad Moiuddin Khan Sahcb, who was probably administering the

area, they admitted the wrongs that they had cornmitted against the Vishnu temple and

gave in writing that they had once again opened the temple and restored worship in it.

They said : “We are the Pujalies of the temple of Sabapathy Iswar, situated in the

Khasba of Chidambaram of our_ own free will and desire, \ve admitt and give in writing

2. KoyUolugu, Part 11.

3 Nainar, S. Muhammad Husasain, Ttizak-i-Walaiahi, Vol. II, p. 240.

A Mackenzie Collection (Restored), Vol. Ill, pp. 223-24.
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as follows: That we had shut up the Pagoda of Sri Govinda Raj Pcrumal, as an act

of wickedness and depravity for the years, and had put a stop to the worship etc., in

aforesaid Pagoda. That, now (recently) during the administration of Hazrath

Muhammad Moiuddin Khan Saheb, we have opened the aforesaid Pagoda and have

commenced worship, etc., at the temple of Perumal, according to vwmool (custom).

That we had used force and beaten a body of the soldiers, the servants of the State,

(employed) as watchmen, also the footmen of the establishment and—‘Poligars etc.,

posted for continuing the worship in the temple of Perumal, at the door of the aforesaid

Pagoda That we had made arrangement in the temple, having in view the object of

pulling down the aforesaid temple. We had appropriated to our own use for thirty-four

years the amount of sixty pagodas annually, being the income of the Himdavan belonging

to the Sircar, as well as, that of the Miras of Mikavalukar (head watchmen). That we
had forcibly taken in our custoday the keys of the temple of Eashwar, which, as a

manwo] (custom) should have been in the custody of Mikavahikars. That we had destroyed

Ballipeit (altar) the pial and the post of the temple of Perumal, which had been in

existence as usual from time immemorial. That we admit all these faults. Therefore,

we promise that we would not obstruct the performance of worship and Pimclia Parra

Oathsa\'aiu and Rtilh Potllsa^'an^ etc., that is festivals of the Perumal Pagoda, which are

being celebrated according to matnool (custom). We would not stop the Pujalies of the

Perumal Pagoda from drawing the water of Pramanadham well. We shall give them
possession of the hundred pillars Mandapam for the Ootlisavajm (festivals) usually

performed in Perumal temple. We shall not prevent Pujalies of the aforesaid pagoda,

from taking water out of the tank, that is, water fountain, situated in the pagoda for the

observance of Tiruth that is, the washing of Perumal. We shall pay the Sircar the sum
of six thousand pagodas, to every pie, conveniently and leisurely being the income of

the Himdavcm belonging to the Sircar, and Miras of Mikavalukar which we had
appropriated to our own use. In future, we shall remit the amount of sixty pagodas to

the Sircar in respect of Htmdavan, from year to year, and month to month; and shall

continue the Miras of Mikavalukar, according to mamool. We shall, hand over the keys

of the temple to Mikavulukars and shall construct and deliver Ballipeit (altar) and post

in the same state as before. We, the Pujalies of the Perumal pagoda, shall live in

complete harmony and shall not disobey the order of the Sircar. That we had been in

the habit of assembling in one place from a long time until now, and after causing the

fault of every plaintiff and defendant to be prbved, we had collected fines from them

and appropriated the same to our own use, without remitting them to the Sircar.

Hereafter, should there be any dispute, forthcoming from us, we shall cause the same to

be known to the Sircar and should there be any payment of fine, we shall remit the fine

to the Sircar ; and we will not assemble in one place. Should, at any time,-

an order of the Sircar be issued
^
we shall obey the same with head and eyes

(heart and soul). In case of (our acting) contrary to this we shall be guilty to the

Sircar. Therefore, we have written and given these few words as an agreement to be

voucher hereafter”.®

5. A copy of this agreement was kindly placed at my disposed by Sri V.R. Krishnamachary, th?

present trustee of the Vishnu tempi?,
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Though it is not said in so many plain words, it may be taken that the priests of

the Siva temple gave up their obstructionist policy and reopened the Vishnu temple at

the suggestion or interference of the Nawab. This may be inferred from the fact that

the written admission of the Pnjaries served as an agreement to be vouched thereafter and

the document was affixed with the QazVs seal.

The above instances should certainly bear testimony to the interest of the Nawabs
of the Carnatic in the conduct of proper worship in the Hindu temples on tradi-

tional lines.



32

Colonel Baird at Tiriipparanlcimram

During the closing years of the reign of Muhammad Ali Walajah I, the Nawab

of the Carnatic, his son Nasirul-Mulk was ruling over the Madurai country as the repre-

sentative of his father. He was assisted in the administration of the area among others

by Mutasaddi (Dewan?)* Gopal Rao and Abdul Qadir who was the renter (Peshkar) of

the place. Between the 10th and 15th of March 1793, some interesting incidents took

place at Tirupparankunram and Madurai consequent on the encampment of Colonel

Baird at the former place along with his detachment of 700 soldiers and his

forced opening of the temple gate in order to house his soldiers, resulting in the religious

martyrdom of some Hindus.

On account of the political unrest and trouble in the far South during the period.

Colonel Baird who was then at Tiruchirappalli was asked to march to Tirupparankunram

with his detachment and stay on there for some time. Colonel Baird marched to Tirup-

parankunram and halted with his soldiers in the Subrahmanya temple at the place on

the 10th of March, when the “ceremony” of the temple was in progress. The people

who had assembled in large numbers for it objected to the high-handed action of Colonel

Baird. The Brahmanas and Pandarams- ascended the gopiiram of the temple and thre-

atened to throw themselves from its top and sacrifice their lives if the Colonel persisted

in quartering his troops in the temple. On receipt of the information Mutasaddi Gopal

Rao waited upon the Colonel and explained him the point of view of the Hindus

regarding stationing the troops in the temple. After some altercation the Colonel told

Gopal Rao that although he “wtis not at liberty to allow a single day’s respite, still for

the satisfaction of the Sarkar’s people he would give the Brahmanas five days in which

1. Though Gopal Rao is referred to ns Mutasaddi in the English records mentioned by the author, in

the Tamil inscription at the Subrahmanya temple, Tirupparankunram, he (Gopal Rao) is described

Z)?)i(CT (Tamil and Sanskrit Inscriptions by Burgess J. and Sastri, S.M. Natesa, Madras 1886,

n.4I).

2. According to Hobson Jobson by Col. Henry Yule and Arthur Coke Burnell Pmirfnram is *' a Hindu
ascetic mendicant of the (so-called) Siidra or even lower caste."
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time they would finish their ceremonies”, and desired that the Brahmanas should

descend from the tower before the evening and he himself should be informed of it.

When Gopol Rao returned to the fort subsequently, he sent for Abdul Qadir the

Pesbkar and communicated to him the Colonel’s desire. The renter however feared

that the ceremonies could not be finished in the space of five days. In the meanwhile

four European officers who had halted before the temple tried to get forced entry into

it by breaking its gates as a protest against which, some Pandarams attempted to cut

their own throats, while others climbed up the temple tower with the intention of

throwing themselves down. News of such developments reached Gopal Rao and Abdul

Qadir when they were talking about the matter'and the latter felt that such a high handed

action was unprecedented, and feared the cessation of all normal activities in the country

and the beginning of unrest.
^

^
, Th& Mutasaddi sent the Sarkar’s Dubash to Colonel Baird to inform him that

he had explained matters to the people. The Colonel who was ‘determined on bringing

the troops into the pagoda and would not give it up’ wanted Gopal Rao to see him.

Considering it a good opportunity, the Mutasaddi waited on the Colonel along with the

Pesbkar and his son-in-law and explained to him the position. The Colonel said that

‘he had 700 soldiers with him, that the chaultries around the pagoda would be just suffi-

cient for the officers, that 300 of the soldiers^ would be quartered in the chaultry fronting

the gate of the pagoda, and the ramainder—200 men who were sick, must have a separa-

te place, and unless the gates of the pagoda were opened so that he might have the cha-

ultry inside it, there was no other place to lodge the sick men and that he had the gover-

nor’s orders for lodging the troops in the pagoda’. Gopal Rao warned the Colonel that

his action would result in the rebellion of the people and loss in ihs kist of the Sarkar
and that the Pandararns would sacrifice their lives. The Colonel replied however that if

he did not get the choultry within the temple “the king’s soldiers would perish in the heat

of the sun”, that this was a greater consideration with him than any inconveniences

that the Hindus might suffer, and that the sircar likewise would not allow the soldiers

to be put to hardships, and that therefore he would give orders for opening the gate.

Gopal Rao assured the Colonel that the people would be agreeable to his occupying the

choultries outside the temple but never inside it and warned him once again that, if he

persisted, there would be general unrest in the country and a consequent fall in the

kisi of the Sarkar. Besides the people would “lay their complaints before the presence

at Madras”. He further said that on an earlier occasion Colonel Bruce by order of the

Governor ledged about 500 soldiers in the temple at Wallajahbad as a result of which
^

the Hindus closed their shops and complained about it to the Nawab of the Carnatic.

He took the matter to the Governor of Madras.who immediately directed the Comman-
ding Officer at Tiruchirappali to remove the soldiers from the temple and station them
in some other place. After considering the whole position for some time Colonel Baird

said that he remembered Colonel Braithwaite, having on a former occasion lodged his"

people in the c/ioi//rr>’ under consideration, and he would also do the same after ascer-

taining from him about it; but if Colonel Braithwaite has not done so he would write

to tlie Company that barracks must be built for the lecepticn of the Irccps. The
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Colonel desired Gopal Rao to enquire of the inhabitants of Madurai and the neighbour-

hood about the lodging of the troops by Colonel Braithwaite in the choultry within the

temple and inform him about it to which the Mutasaddi agreed. The Colonel asked

Gopal Rao to appoint a person bn behalf of the Sarkar to clear out the choultries in

which the troops were formely quartered besides a few other places. The Pashkar and

his son-in-law were appointed for the purpose and the Colonel sent one of his officers

to see the places on his behalf and report to him about them. The Peshkar and his

son-in-law Abdul Qadir pointed out 35 chottUries besides the large one in front of the

temple and five of the Pandarms' numbering altogether 40 choultries and delivered

them to the Colonel.^

The next day the scene of action shifted to Madurai where the Brahmanas and

Pmdarams of the Minakshi temple on receipt of information about the incidents in the

temple at Tirupparankunram (Sikandar banda) closed the gates of their temple, and

went up to the top of their tower blowing all the while their conch shells. Gopal Rao

on heaving about it explained to them through the Peshkar Abdul Qadir, the Persian

writer Venkat Rao and another one as to what had transpired the previous day between

himself and Colonel Baird. It was reported to them that the Colonel had agreed to

station his soldiers in the choultries in which they had halted previously, and therefore it

was expedient that they should get down from the temple tower and open the gates.

But they represented to Gopal Rao that even when the troops had encamped at the

place on one or two earlier occasions for a week or ten days the ceremonies were stopped

in the temple, but now when they had'eome there with the intention of remaining at the

place for five years and had occupied the chaultries and charity houses around the temple

they did not know what would happen. Gopal Rao next sent word to them that no

useful purpose would be served by their making such disturbance and

suggested that all those that belonged to the temple might give him in writing 'a state of

circumstances that I might transmit the same to the presence, and the business would be

settled’. Accordingly, he caused them to write a cajan to the Brahmanas of the

Sikandarbanda temple desiring them to descend from the tower.'

But all this persuasion of Gopal Rao and others did not have much effect on the

people both at Tirupparankunram and Madurai on account of the high handedness of

Colonel Baird and his troops. On the morning of the 14th of the month matters

reached a climax, when in spite of the fact that people had assembled in such large

numbers. Colonel Baird sent a guard of soldiers to clear out the choultry within the

temple at Tirupparankunram. “The Brahmans and Pandarams making a clamour, the

soldiers first began to beat them with the butts of their fire-locks and aftervvards gave

everyman four or five wounds with their bayonets. Then taking hatchets in their hands

they set about to break open the gates of Secundarbanda. Immediately on the noise"^ at

the bottom a Pandaram threw himself from the steeple of the said pagoda and sacrificed

his life; when this news reached the people belonging to the pageda of Meenatchee some

3. Military correspondence, Vol. 44 A, Letter No. 59 of 1793.

4. Jbid., No. 59 of 1793.
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of them went up the steeple, and began to beat their tom toms etc., louder than before

and according to their custom, sent people and caused the bazaar of the town to be

shut up, and having assembled the parayars without the fort they despatched kazhan

letters to the several parts of the talookas to assemble the people”. Therefore by order

of the Colonel the Major confined the people who were responsible for the closing of

the shops®.

Gopal Rao from time to time sent reports in writing to Nasir-ul-Mulk at

Madurai who sent them all to the Nawib of the Carnatic. While sending the Nawab

the last of Mutasaddi’s letters Nasirul-Mulk wrote to his father that on receiving

information of the incidents those in the temples of Srirangam and Jambukesvaram had

decided to close them and assemble the country people and said ; “if orders to Colonel

Baird from the Governor and Council arrived in time the fire of disturbance will be

extinguished. Otherwise the talookas will be plundered by the colories”.®

When Nawab Muhammad AH received such letters from Nasir-ul-Mulk at

Madurai about the unhappy incidents at Tirupparankunram described above, he sent all

of them to Sir Charles Oakeley Bart, Governor of Madras, on the 21st of March with a

covering letter in which he wrote that formerly when the Governor and Council sent

any officer to command troops in any part of his country they made the appointment

with his approval. Referring to the incidents at Tirupparankunram he said ; “I there-

fore now trouble you with a request that you will immediately send positive orders to

Colonel Baird not to injure the ryots and give up the intention of taking possession of

the pagoda; and that even you will recall the Colonel from that place and appoint

another officer in his room and issue most positive orders that none of the European

Sardars may injure the poor inhabitants in order that there be no difficulty in paying

the lasts’’.^

The Governor acknowledged the letter of the Nawab on the 23rd and wrote in

reply ; “Your Highness may be assured that I shall mark with the strongest disapproba-

tion any irregular conduct on the part of those who act under my authority and that

I shall lose no time in sending positive orders to Colonel Bruce the Officer commanding

in the southern division to call upon Lieutenant Colonel Baird for a full and satisfactory

explanation of the circumstances stated in your Highness’ letter and to take the earliest

opportunity of quieting the minds of the Brahmanas by withdrawing the troops from the

pagoda, if they have been placed there.

“I directed the European regiment to proceed to Secundurmally (Tirupparankun-

ram) because it was represented to me as a favourable situation for

cantoning them, and my intentions were that Lieutenant Colonel Baird

5. Ibid., No. 59.

6. Nasir-uI-Mulk’s letter to Mohammad Ali dated 15th March, 1793, and Military Correspondence,

Vol. 44A, No. 5.

7. Letter from His Highness the Nawab Walajah to Sir Charless Oakeley Bart, Governor of Madras
dated 21st March 1793, Ibid., No. 59,
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should occupy those chauKries which had in former occasions and even very

lately been appreciated to similar accommodation and that he should consult

with your Highness’ servants and request their aid in removing any difficul-

ties that might occur. I shall now enjoin him to observe this line of

conduct with particular attention and I make no doubt that your Highness

will instruct your servants to afford such assistance as he may require for

the convenience of the regiment."®

r

Quite in keeping with his promise the Governor soon made enquiries with regard

to the conduct of Colonel Baird at Tirupparankunram and wrote to the Nawab as

follows on 11th April, 1793 explaining the position according to the information he

had received :

“Having called upon Lieutenant Colonel Baird for an explanation of his conduct

in the charge preferred against him by the Brahmins of Secundurmally he has

stated that he never made any attempt to take possession of the pagoda by

force, that the chaultry occupied by the troops is open to the street and had

been given up on former occasions for a similar purpose, and that your

Highness’ principal manager in the district had prevailed upon the Brahmans

to give up this chaultry for the accommodation of the Regiment, though

they afterwards resisted the attempt to take possessibn of it. Lieutenant

Colonel Baird added that the pagoda had been and was still in the uninterrup-

ted possession of the Brahmins, and that in consequence of the orders I had

sent him, he should immediately withdraw the troops from all the

chaultries.’’®

It is interesting to note that the main incidents at Triupparankunram deesribed

above a-e recorded in an inscription incised on the walls of the inner gopiirarn of the

temple at the place. It mentions three persons associated with the administration of

the country, Asata Kepila Napapu Sayapu Avargal ruling over the kingdom, Amir
Katar Sayapu Avargal ruling over the Madurai country and Raja Sri Gopal Rayar

Avargal. The first of them may be indentified with Nawab Muhammad AH Walajah I

or his representative at Tiruchirappalli since he is referred to in the course of the inscrip-

tion as Asata Napapu Sayapu of Trisirapurara. Amir Katar Sayapu was obviously the

same as Abdul Qadir, the renter or Peshkar and Gopal R.ao the Mutasaddi or Dewan.

The inscription which is dated S 1714 exp. Partiapi, 4lh Pmigtwi, SuUapa! sha, 2

Rei’ari corresponding to 13th March 1793 records that a regiment of Europeans came
and destroyed the temple of Sokkanatha and Palaniandavar, captured the town, took

8. Ibid., No. 60.
'

9. Letter from His Highness the Nawal Walajah to Sir Charles Oakcly Bart, Governor of Madras.
'

<lt. 21-3-1793, No. 70,
• '
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possession of the astham mandapatn, broke the gates of the atchagopuram and was

approaching the A wawdepom. Then at the suggestion of some people associated

with the temple, one Kutti, the son of a bairagi ascended the temple tower and jumped

down from it (and died) as a result of which the regiment went away. For this religious

martyrdom of his some lands were granted as a rakta kamkkaid° In regard to some

important details however there are diversions between the documentary and inscrip-

tional evidence. For instance, while according to the records the regiment continued to

stay on at Tirrupparanakunram even after the incident, according to the inscription it

left the place. But one thing is clear : Colonel Baird forcedly opened the temple in

spite of the protests of the local officers and people which resulted in the religious

martyrdom of a zealous devotee of the temple, and his report that ‘he never made any

attempt to take possession of the pagoda by force’ is absolutely false, an assertion

unworthy of an officer of his position.

10 Burpess J. and Sastrij S. M Natesa^ Tamil and Sanskrit Inscriptions, pp. 4}-43,



33

Haidar Ali and Tiruchirappalli 1781

Some of the manuscripts in the Mackenzie Collection are of considerable value for

a study of the history of south India in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries and
supplement in a large measure the information supplied by the English and French
records on the events of the period. At times, they give some information which

is not available in other sources. Among such manuscripts is one which relates to the

history of the Turaiyur Zamindari in the present Tiruchirappalli District in Tamil Nadu.

The manuscript which was collected by Col. Mackenzie tlie first Surveyor-General of

India is available in full in Mackenzie Manuscripts, Restored Vol, III, pp. 161-176

and has been noticed by Taylor in Vol. Ill of his Catalogue Raisome of Oriental

M/vmscripts in the Government Library (IS62). It throws some welcome light on the

part played by Kumara Venkatachala Reddiyar and Vijaya Venkatachala Reddiyar

(father and son) of the Turaiyur Zamindari in defeating Haidar Ali who invaded and

besieged Tiruchirappalli in June 1781.

Haidar whose avowed objects were “the extermination of the British power in

India” and the weakening of the power of the Nawab Muhammad Ali Wallajah of the

Carnatic took advantage of the general weakness of the Madras Government in 1780

and descended info the Carnatic country with a large army in June of that year,

plundering and destroying the area on his way and thus commencing w’hat is popularly

known as the Second Mysore War. After descending into the region by the pass of

Changama he divided his army into two divisions and directed the smaller one to raid

the entire country from Machalipatna (Machli Bandar) in the north to Madurai and

Ramesvaram in the south. Having sent a few other detachments to some other parts

of the Carnatic, he himself marched through the Carnatic with the remaining army and

laid siege to Arcot. In the meanwhile the English army under the command of Sir

Hector Munro and with a number of field officers was concentrated at Kanchipuram forty

five miles (72 km.) west of Madras. Col. Baillie who was proceeding towards the place

from the north was intercepted by Haidar’s forces at Pullalur and destroyed on 10th

September, 1780. -Sir Hector Munro then retreated to Madras. : Haidar then continued
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the.siege of Arcot for- nearly two and half months, took it, and proclaimed his son as

the Nawab:Of the, Garnatic. Then he took a number of other places like Ambur,
Wandiwash and Chingleput and besieged Vellore. But Sir Eyre Coote who had been
made Commander of the English forces came upon the scene early in 1781, relieved

Chingleput and Wandiwash and forced Haidar to'-'raise the siege of Vellore.

Having lost his hold over the region Haidar marched with his army south to

Portonovo (Muhammad Bandar) and the northern bank of the Coleroon. From thence,

he sent detachments of his army to the Thanjavur area and ravaged the country. It is

said that on that occasion “Weavers and their families were collected and forcibly sent

to people the island of Seringapatam. Captive boys destined to the exterior honour of

Islam were driven to the same place with equal numbers of females, the associates of

(then) present and the mothers of a future race of military slaves.” One of the detach-

ments, under the command of Haidar All’s son Tipu, overran Srirangam and Jambu-
kesvaram and proceeded towards Tiruchirappalli and began to invest the fort; but he

was defeated by Mr. Hall, the Officer Commanding it. However, Haidar Ali pitched

his camp very near the fort on the eastern side, attacked the English and took many of

them prisoners, though Mr. Hall himself made good his escape. Meanwhile Tipu who
had strengthened himself at .Srirangam with the troops of Tally made ready for an
attack of the Tiruchirappalli fort during the night from the -west.

, Hall and Nixon were, straining every ner\'e to save the fort from falling into the

hands of the invaders. They recruited the entire cml population of the place for its pro-

tection. Further according to the Kaifiat in the Mackenzine collection, referred to at the

beginning, Nixon and Major Sullivan appealed for help to Kumara Venkatachala Reddiyar

the Zamindar of Turaiyur as also his son Vijaya Venkatachala Reddiyar and requested

them to immediately proceed to Tiruchirappalli with soldiers, artillery, etc. Immediately

they marched to the place with an army of 10,000 soldiers (probably an exaggerated

number), fought against the Mysore Generals and defeated them; and as a result of that

they left the area and went back. According to the work, the European officers at

Tiruchirappalli were so mightily pleased with the splendid service which the Zamindar of

Turaiyur and his son rendered at a very critical period that they rewarded them with

such honours as rising and firing eleven guns when they entered the fort and gave them

certificates of distinction.

The above account is in a way confirmed by the Koyilolugii a Tamil work which deals

with the history of the Srirangam temple. It contains some interesting details about the

invasion of Tiruchirappalli by Haidar Ali. According to it after Saka 1703 in the month

of Ani (c.A.D. 1781, June-July) of the cyclic years Plavanga Haidar marched with a lak of

soldiers, occupied Tondaimandalam and Cholamandalam, destroying the country through

which he passed and surrounded Srirangam. A crore of inhabitants could not contain

themselves in the temple ... Haidar who had stationed himself in the temple for six days

suffered heavy losses on the seventh day (on which day he had intended to plunder the

temple) and ran away. Though there is some confusion here, for the work refers to the

occupation of the temple by Haidar Ali, while in fact it was occupied only by his son
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Tipu, it can be explained by the circumstance that Haidar was very near Srirangara

during the period and Tipu was obviously acting only under the directions of

his father.

But the English sources relating to these incidents would probably make one
believe that Haidar Ali could have taken Tiruchirappalli had it not been for certain

unexpected developments that took place in the north which forced Haidar to abandon

his attempt at the capture of the fort. According to them Sir Eyre Coote who was in

charge of the operations against Haidar Ali in the north made streneous attempts to

take Chidambaram and pagoda which were under the command of Jehan Khan appointed

to the place by Haidar Ali; but finding it difficult he returned to Portonovo to procure

battering guns and other necessaries. When Haidar heard of the critical condition in

which Chidambaram was, he was, forced to give up his siege of Tiruchirappalli and

proceed to Chidambaram.

But the evidence supplied by the two pieces of work mentioned above, thoKaifiyal

of the Zamindari of Turaiyur and the Xayilolugu, makes one believe that Haidar Ali

who was practically in possession of Srirangam and the area round Tiruchirappalli was
not able to fake the fort on account of the stiff resistance he had from the officers in

command of the place who were well supported by the civilian population as also the

army from Turaiyur. They clearly show that be was foildd in his attempt to take the

place. It was a historical .accident that at the same time Chidambaram was in danger of

falling into the hands of Sir Eyre Coote. Hence Haidar Ali rushed to the place,

abandoning, at least for the time being, his idea of taking Tiruchirappalli.
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After wars and suffering in the second half of the eighteenth century, when things

settled down to normal in south India with the assumption of the reins of administration

by the British East India Company in 1801 in the Carnatic, a large amount of reconstruc-

tion and reform had to be undertaken by the British. To that stupendous work, the

older members of the Civil Service who had played a considerable part in the establish-

ment of British Rule in the country contributed their best. Among the outstanding

men who belonged to that order mention may be made of Major Sir William Black-

bume who was Resident at Thanjavur in the first quarter of the last century. By his

character, ability, efficiency and statesmanlike understanding and handling of the really

pressing problems that confronted the administration he left an indelible impress on the

government.

Major-General Sir William Blackburne (1764-1839) entered the Madras army as

a cadet of infantry in 1782 and served under Colonel Fullerton in the reduction of the

Poligars of Madurai and Tirunelveli ; later he served in the campaigns which ended in

the defeat of Tipu Sultan in 1792. He was proficient in the Indian languages and hence

was employed in 1787 as Maharatla Interpreter at Thanjavur in connection with the

enquiry that was made over the disputed succession in that Raj. Subsequently he was for

some years the Maharatta Interpreter to the British Resident at Thanjavur. Having

obtained the military rank of Captain he was appointed in 1801 the Resident at the

Court of Thanjavur, an office which he held till 1 823 when he resigned and left India.

When Raja Vijaya Raghunatha Tondaiman, the ruler of Pudukkottai died in 1807 and

was succeeded by Raja Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman, a boy of ten years. Sir

William Blackburne was appointed Political Officer for Pudukkottai and was required

“to undertake the management of the Province of Pocdoocottah and the guardianship of

the minors.” When the Prince attained age and was delivered charge of the State,
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Blackburne was made the medium of communication between the Raja and the cutcherks

of Thanjavur, TiruehirappaUi and Madurai. The period of his connection with

Pudukkottai was one of “peace, progress and reform” in the State.^

As soon as he was appointed Resident at Thanjavur Sir William Blackburne

became interested in the State of Pudukkottai. He realised that the dignity and position

of the Tondaiman in the administrative set up of south India must be recognised by the

East India Company and the princes and zamindars in the Carntaic
; that the territories

under him formed an important administrative unit and hence doubts regarding the

boundaries of the State must be settled ; the ruler must receive proper education and

training and made to realise his duties and responsibilities as the head of the government;

and, above all, the different departments of the administration] must be reorganised and

the tone of the administration must be improved.

Sir William Blackburne felt that for the improvement of the standards of adminis-

tration in the native states the position of the rulers must be exalted, and their status

must be recognised by others. The Raja of Thanjavur thought for instance that the

Tondaiman was only a zamindar and therefore had no right to the distinction of a sarkil.

Therefore, the Resident wrote to him in 1822 a spirited letter in wliich he clearly explain-

ed the position of the ruler of Pudukkottai. He said ;

“A zamindar is a landholder, paying rent to the government, but possessing

neither Military nor Civil authority over the land of which he is the proprietor, he and all

his dependents being amenable to the British Courts of Justice, Civil and Criminal. Rajah

Tondaiman Behauder is a native hereditary Chief, the Prince and ruler of an extensive

province. He is a dependent Chief in regard to all matters of a political nature on the

British Government, to whom as his liege lord he owes allegiance and military service.

In the internal arrangement of his province, he is absolute. He has the power of life

and death. He enacts laws, appoints Courts of Justice, Civil and Criminal, maintains

a considerable Military force, collects his revenues and disposes of them at pleasure,

paying no tribute either directly or indirectly through the well-deserved kindness and

favour of the British Government. All his subjects are expressly exempted from the

jurisdiction of the British Courts. The Rajah - Behauder’s Sirkeels and Fouzdars have

been received with the compliments requested from Your Highness whenever they have

visited British stations, and it is indeed, a matter of much surprise as concern to me to

receive this refusal from Your Highness. I shall be very happy if the explanation I

have shortly offered, for a great deal more might be said of this distinguished Chief,

shall incline Your Highness to grant a request of the Resident at Your Court, who is

responsible to the Hononrable the Governor for the propriety of what he asks and

1. Dictionary of National Biography, \lli :iho Records ofthe Madras Goxermnent East India Military

Calendar containing the sen ices of the General and Field Officers of the Indian Army, 1824; Gentleman's
Magazine, 1840, p. 92.
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considers a reciprocity of attentions and civilities as being not less graceful and becoming

in Your Highness than consistent with the alliance which unites Your Highness so closely

with the British Government.”^

The Resident also felt that the niter of Pudukkotfai must be allowed the -right to

enjoy certain marks of distinction. The Tondaimans had been the recipients of such

privileges from time to time from the native rulers who were their political superiors.

When Vijaya Raghunatha Tondaiman met Sir William Blackburne iri 1803 he suggested

that His Lordship the Governor of Madras mighf be pleased to permit him to enjoy the

privilege of the use of two chobdar sticks as a mark of his status. ‘ On the recommenda-

tion of the Resident, the request was granted and the Raja was presented with two chob-

dar sticks made of gold.®
'

' '

One of the first things that Sir William Blackburne had to do after his appoint-

ment as Resident to Pudukkottai was- to decide impending questions - relating to the

boundaries of the State. They were four, namely, the position of the Kilanilai fort and

the surrounding territory lying on the borders between Pudukkottai and TTianjavUr and

certain small areas lying bn the borders of the State and Mafungapuri, Manapparai and

Sivaganga.
_

'

Sir William Blackburne took up first the question of "the Kilaiiilai tract. The fort

originally belonged to the Maharatta Rajas of Tliarijavuf. ‘‘In 1749 Raja Pratap ’Singh

who had disputes with the Setupatis of Rafnanathapuram With’ regard' to tlie possession

of the land lying on the boundary between their 'fespectlve territories ordered' Manoji

to attack the fort of Arantangi in the area. Finding that his resoufces were not sufficient

for thie work, Manoji arranged with the T^bndaimaii for ' help in’ return for the cession

of the Kilanilai fort and district valued at 30,000 ' rupees a year. After the' reduction of

Arantangi the Tondaiman took possession of Kilanilai and the area around it and'asked

Manoji for the patents of cession under the s'eal of the rRaja ' of Thanjavur. The Raja

felt that his general had acted beyond' his 'authority and' disapproved of his action.

Manoji however ‘'purloined the use of his' ’seal” and g'ave the' patents to the Tondai-

man.'’ But the Raja of Thanjavur took back the fort from the Tondaiman in 1756-57.

The Tondaiman, however, tried to 'collect faxek from the' region from time to time.

Both of them made frequent representations 'to the- GoVenior of Madras, but he did

not effectively interfere' to 'settle' the dispute.'
'

.
In the meanwhile Haidar Ali of Mysbre descended' into the Garriatic “like a

thunderbolt” and took a number of ‘places near ’ Thanjavnif and Pudukkottai among"
which were Arantangi, Pattukkottai %'hd Kilanilai, but tva's' Yepulsed by the Tondaiman

2. Letter of the Resident to the Raja of Thanjavur dated 3lsf December, 1822; see Translations, Copies
and Extracts of Several Letters relating to Pudukkottai (published by T. Rungasamy Naidoo in 1874),

pp. 123-24. .

3. Ibid., p. 90; but the request of the rule'r‘tfiafhe might be styled Maharaja was not granted obviously
for the reason that even the ruler of Thanja'vur'was called only Raja,

'
'*

4. Ome, Bistory ofIndostan, I, pp.402-D3f
V.-l::-. .sq
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wlien he attempted to conquer fhs Pudukkottai country itself. Under those circumstan-

ces the British Commander-in-Chief, Sir Eyre Coote wrote to the Tondaiman that it

would be very agreeable to the English if he took the fort from the enemy, particularly

in view of the fact that they had come to know that the Raja of Thanjavur had written to

the Tondaiman that the fort belonged to the latter and therefore he might take - it from

the enemy. In 1781 Col. Braithwaite who was commanding the southern army also

approved of his capturing the fort, and its retention by himself. The Tondaiman aecor-

dingly captured it from Haidar Ali ; but two years later the Government of Madras

decided that the fort must go to the Raja of Thanjavur in spite of the appeals and

protests of the Tondaiman.

But from the commencement of the nineteenth century the political condition of

south India changed and the fort of Kilanilat for which there was a protracted quarrel

for over fifty years between the rulers of Pudukkottai and Thanjavur was now in British

hands, and if it was to be returned to the Tondaiman it had to be done by the British

themselves, relinquishing all their claims ' to it. Raja Vijaya Raghunatha Tonda'man

took advantage' of the situation and requested that the fort might be made over to him.

The Governor in Council directed Sir William Blackburne in 1803 to ascertain the

nature of the Tondaiman’s claim to the fort and make a report on it “with his opinion

of the degree of consideration which it might deserve in consequence of his general

attachment to the interests of the'company and of his particular exertion during the

late rebellion' of the Southbrn Provinces.” The Resident met the Tondaiman in April

1803 in a village on the frontiers of Thanjavur, when the latter explained how his claims

to Kila'nilai originated with a grant made of it to one of his ancestors in the name of

the Raja of Thanjavur and how he took it from Haidar Ali in consequence of his enga-

gements with Colonel Braithwaite,' General Coote and Lord Macartney. The Resident

made a favourable report to the Governor the next month ; and by a grant made on

the'Sth July, '1803, the fort and district of Kilanilai were ceded to the Tondaiman “in

perpetual lease in return for a' tribute of an elephant to the presented annually to the

British Government.” The arrangement was ratified later by the Court of Directors.

The tribute was not however insisted upon and it was actually excused in 1836.®

' • .The Tondaiman had boundary disputes with the zamindars of Marungapuri,
Manapparai and Sivaganga, and thanks to the stateman-like ^handling of the delicate

questions by Sir William Blackburne, they were amicably settled.®

' • When Raja Vijaya Raghunatha Tondaiman died in 1807 Vijaya Raghunatha Raya
Tondaiman, who was a minor, ten years old, succeeded to the gadi. Sir William Balck-

burne took over the management of the State as also the guardianship of the minor
ruler and his younger brother. The Resident after a careful examination of the require-

ments of the State felt convinced that its progress was closely intertwined with the proper

5. Translations copies etc , pp. 110-117; Aitchison. Treaties, V. pp. 331-33, Ayyar, K. Radhakrishna,
A General History ofthe Pudukkottai State, pp. 186, 276-78 and 3l9-’4;’Ayyar, K. R, Venkataratna,
A Mannual ofthe Pudukkottai State, Vol. IT, pt. I, pp.-814-8I6.

6, Ayyar, Radhakrishna, op. cit., pp.' 325-27 pnd 360-g|,
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education and good training of the prince for the ruler must be able to exercise great

influence over the administration by clear understanding of the needs of the people and

personal attention to details. For the acquisition of general equipment for administra-

tion he wanted that the prince should receive good instruction in general education and

the art of government. He made arrangements for giving the two princes regular

instruction in Sanskrit, Marathi, Telugu and Tamil as also in riding and other exercises.

He provided for their learning English also in order to enable them to transact business

with the British Government without the aid of an interpreter.

The Resident’s xdews on the duties of the princes and the manner in which they

were to apply themselves to their work are revealed by some of his letters to the young

ruler of the State and are worth reproduction here. He wrote for instance :

“Be not satisfied with your superiority in rank, wealth and power,, but endeavour

to excel all your subjects in wisdom and virtue After your daily studies and exercises

are over I wish you to enquire into and inform yourself what business has been transac-t

ed in the cutcherries ; but you must not as yet give any orders and above all give no

recommendation in favour of anyone I wish that you would examine the accounts

frequently and enquire daily what repairs have been made to the tanks, what advances

have been made to the cultivators and what plans of improvement have been projected

or in orogress Protect all your subjects from oppression and extortion. This is the

most sacred duty of a king. Any violence committed against' anyone in your country

is an injury to you. It is particularly your duty to protect all classes of persons in your

country, but most particularly so to be careful that the persons and properties of the

lowest ranks suffer no injury, the higher classes, generally speaking, being out of the

reach of injury and the lower classes most exposed to it.. .See everything, hear everything

and suffer no injustice, oppression or idleness enter into any part of your administration.

No human consideration whatever should induce you and me to acquiesce in any injury

to a poor man. This is your sacred duty in particular,' and as you fulfil it properly the

blessings of the ‘Great Judge of Kings and cultivators be upon you ’ You

should be the benevolent father of your people consulting like a tender parent the welfare

and comfort of the children rather than your own gratification.”’

The success of Sir William Blackburnc in the training of the young prince and his

brother is attested to by a letter written to the ruler of Pudukkottai in 1823 by

Sir Thomas Munro. the Governor of Madras, in which he said :

“You represent your grateful sense of Lieutenant-Colonel Blackburne s kind

attention to your affairs and to the education of yourself and of your brother, during

the period of your minority as also of his exertions for the improvement of your country,

and of its institutions....

7. Ibid., pp. 348-49.
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The reports, which I have received from Lieutenant Colonel Blackburne, of your

acquirements, of your disposition, and of the regularity with which you apply yourself

to the business of your Samastaunum are exceedingly satisfactory to me; and it has

afforded me a further pleasure to learn that his endeavours to qualify you for the station

to which you were destined, have been correctly estimated and are thankfully acknow-

ledged by you. The prosperous state of your country attests their success, and justifies

the confidence with which Lieutenant Colonel Blackburne had at an early period charged

you with the administration of its affairs. Your proceedings and conduct in the

discharge of that tnisl are stated to afford a promise of much happiness to your people

and honour to yourself. Go on and prosper.”®

Sir William Blackburne’s interest in and love for bis wards were so well reciprocated

by them that there developed some sort of a filial affection between them. On the death

of Raja Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman in 1825 Sir Blackburne who had retired in

1823 wrote lo the former’s younger brother : “It would be fruitless to describe the effect

which the loss of one of our children so beloved, so respected, so highly praised has had

upon us. I say children for such we always considered and loved you, and although the

custom of our country prevented us from so addressing you, we received willingly from

you the endeared appellation of parent.”®

The Resident had a keen eye on the financial stability of the government and was

anxious that the debts contracted by the previous ruler were cleared and hence in a

letter written to the young prince he warned him against his spending more

than his income. In 1821 he wrote to the prince : “For several years,

I have interfered, as you know, very little in your internal affairs. I wished to see what

you could do and would do when left to yourself, and I now regret the experiment

Let every expense which is not indispensable be struck off altogether and let all the

necessary expenses be reduced to the smallest possible limits. Strike off the Dussere and

all similar expenses until you are out of debt.”^®

As said earlier the condition of the Pudukkottai State at the beginning of the last

century was far from satisfactory and since the new ruler who succeeded to ihtgadi was

onlv ten years of age the whole responsibility for improving its administration fell on

the shoulders of the Resident, Sir William Blackburne who realised that there was
great need for drastic reforms in every branch of administration submitted in 1808 a

report on the same to the Government of Madras. According to it the condition of the

State was very poor largely due to the prevalence of the arnani system, according to

which the produce from land was divided in certain proportions between the government

and the cultivators. There was no organised revenue department with a hierarchy of

officers. The administration ofjustice in the State was very defective and the police

system also required reform.^’-

8. Translations, copies, etc., op. cit., p. 30.

9. Ayyar, Radhakrisha, op. cit., p. 350.

10. pp. 367-68.

11. Major Blackburne’s Report to the Madras Government, dated 3 1st December, 1808; see Ayyar,

K. R. Venkatarama, op. cit., pp. 831-32,
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To ensure the efficient administration of the State during the minority of Raja

Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Tondaiman, Blackburne assumed the responsibility for the

appointment of the chief officers of the government. Mappillai Pallavarayar, a son-in-law

ofRaghunatha Raya Tondaiman and Tirumalai Tondaiman, the Jagirdar of the Chitma

araninanai were appointed managers of the State, and were required to carry out the

instructions of the Resident through the Sarkil Venkatappayyar. But within a short

time after their appointment they incurred the displeasure of the Resident on account of

their mutual quarrels and neglect of public business. They failed to take the necessary

steps to clear the debts to the tune' of 60,400pagodas left by the' previous ruler. But since

the managers showed no sign of reform in spite of the repeated warnings of the Resident

one Anantayya was appointed by the Government of Madras as the Karyasta or Agent and

was authorised “to exercise all authority of the Rajah Bahadur under the superintendence

of the Resident” and the managers were required to take instructions from him. Besides

one Tana Pillai, the conicopole (Accountant) in the office of the Resident, was sent to

Pudukkottai to write to him daily “an account of everything that passed in the State.”

Anantayya, however, exceeded his powers collecting unauthorised taxes and granting

rent-free lands to a number of persons without the sanction of the Re.sident. Therefore

Sir William Blackburne became very much displeased with him also. In 1814 the

administration of the State was entrusted to a committee of three persons who were first

called managers, and later counsellors. They were Soiroba Naig, Anantayya and Tana

Pillai, the first one being the chief among them. When the young Raja came of age in

1817 he was invested with ruling powers, the Resident exercising only supervisory

control over the administration of the State. The office of the Sarkil was kept

vacant beetween 1814 and 1822 when Soiroba Naig in whom Sir William Blackburne

had great confidence, was appointed to it.^^ At that time, the Resident paid a high

tribute to Soiroba Naig and said : “Your principal Manager, Soiroba Naig, possesses in

an eminent degree all the qualifications for the discharge of the important duties of your

First Minister His abilities are considerable, his experience and knowledge of

business are great. His integrity as you know, is unimpeachable. During your minority,

I did not fill up the place of the late Sirkeel with a view to recommend to you Soiroba

Naig for it.”

Largely based on the recommendations of the Resident some important

changes were introduced in the administrative system in the State. Among the

important features of the reforms were the abolition of the amani system, the

division of the State into five taluks for administrative purposes, the transaction

of all official business in the entelwries, the appointment of the officers of the

aitcheries and the taluks by the Government, the creation of the office of the village

kaniam, introduction of the system of the submission of weekly reports and
accounts to an office of record at the capital under the charge of the Sirkeel and the

payment of the revenues to the Sirkeel who was to issue receipts for the payments

received. Important treasury rules were framed among which were that all public

business was to be transacted only in the public offices, all public money was to be kept

12. Guide to the Records ofthe Thaujarur District (1749-1835) in Eight Volumes, Vol. ill.
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in public treasuries from wlu'ch as much money as was required could be drawn whenever

necessary/ the previous' sanction of the Resident had to be obtained for incuning extra-

ordinary expenditure, and no article was to be purchased on credit for the State.

Regular courts of justice were established at Pudukkottai in 1812 for, according to

Sir William Blackburne, “^‘the country would be miserable where justice fluctuated

according to the pleasure of the prince, where delay was great, where recommendations

were admitted, and where steadiness in carrying out into execution the decisions was

wanting” and conditions in Pudkkottai warranted such a description. According to the

new arrangement a court of five persons was created which was to meet every day at the

capital to receive petitions, examine and investigate the evidence on both sides and write

down their opinions. The Raja along with four of his officers and the five judges would

form the supreme court in the State and meet every fifth day for the transaction of

business. But two years later the courts were reorganised and three separate courts

were brought into existence, namely, the iVj'nyaS'ah/m or civil court consisting of four

judges, the Danda Sabha or criminal court consisting of three judges and the Mudra
Sabha, civil court to decide small civil cases. One Chakravarti Ayyangar, a man of

great learning, character and drive who had earned a name at Thanjavur “for his

integrity, impartiality and strict sense of justice” was appointed the first Chief Judge of

both the Civil and Criminal courts at Pudukkotti.^^ But he died in 1817. Writing about

it to His Lordship, the Governor of Madras, the Resident said “the brightest ornament

and the solid support” of the Pudukkottai throne is dead. “He was a

blessing to the province of Pudukkottai and an honour to Your Excellency’s service.”^*

A kotml was appointed for the Capital and was charged with the duty of the maintenance
of peace and the arrest of offenders. He was later authorised to try small civil

suits also.

The policy of the British Government was to secure control over the manufacture

of salt, and hence the collector of Thanjavur suggested in 1813 to the Resident of Puduk-
kottai that the manufacture of earth-salt in the State may be suppressed or at least its

sale may be restricted with a view to making it available for consumption by the people

of the State alone and not to those outside the State. Sir William Blackburne thought
that the suggestion was not reasonable and therefore, strongly protested against it by
cogent leasoning and good argumentation. He said that it was unfair that the manu-
facture of earth-salt should be suppressed in the State for it would adversely affect the

economic condition of the poor ryots who were already suffering from “the proverty of
the soil and the frequent failure of scanty crops”; it was not right to think that salt

would be exported from the State into the British territory for only a small quantity of

it was produced in the State, and since the same article was produced in a like manner
in parts of the Thanjavur country there was not likely to be much demand for the article

from the State, and even if there was demand for the salt produced in the State from
outside it was not easy to supply it on account of the existence of the Cbowkies ; that it

13. /6i</.,m,pp. 167-168.

14. Ibid., ni. p. 190.
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was politically inexpedient to prohibit the production of salt in the State for the people

it would begin to lose their faith in the British Government “which had never yet been
considered by the Rajah Bahadur and his subjects in any other light than that of a bene-

ficent and guardian angel.” The strong representations made by the Resident had the

desired effect at least for the time being and the question was dropped then.^®

There was an outbreak of fire in Pudiikkottai in 1812 as a result of which the

town was to a large extent destroyed and had to be rebuilt in a manner worthy of the

capital of a State. Sir William Blackburne who was very much interested in the

embellishment of the city advised the Raja to spend some money on the scheme “so

that you will be admired and praised as long as you live and your memory will be

cherished by remote generations.” The streets were widened, tiled houses were construct-

ed by the rich and the poorer classes were helped by the Raja with money to make

their own houses. The new town that was completed came to be in the form of a square

with eight streets running east to west and another eight streets running north to south,

and in the middle of the town was constructed the “New Palace”. Mr. Pennington was

so much impressed with the town that in his report to the Madras Government in 1875

he said : “Pudukkottai strikes the newcomer as an unusually clean, airy and well-built

town” and that “it is to be wished that some municipalities were endowed with as much

enlightenment and as much energy as Raja Vijaya Raghunatha Raya Bahadur.”

Thus the interest of Pudukkottai was very dear to the heart of Sir William Black-

burne; and just before he relinquished the Office of Resident he requested the ruler of

the State to send to him his Sarkeel and Foiizdar to whom he offered to give advice with

regard to the administration of the State.^® Again on the day previous to his embarking

for England he wrote to the Tondaiman from Madras as follows

‘T have spoken fully of you to the Governor to Mr. Stratton, Member of

Council and particularly to Mr. Wood, the Chief Secretary to the Government

I do not think you will suffer any other inconvenience from my departure than

the loss of an affectionate friend.

I have found no difficulty in making friends for you, in consequence of your

character for justice and kindness to your people being very high. Be careful to maintain

that character, cherish the excellent and well tried servants you possess Sairoba Naig,

Tana Pillai and Tyagaraze and you will never fail to go on well.”^^

That was the way in which Sir William Blackburne identified himself with the

State and worked for its progress. Surely he was an ideal Political Resident.

15. Ibid., HI, pp. 286-87.

16. Translations, copies, etc., p. 125.

17. Ibid., p. 125.
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Sopatma

The anonymous author of the Periphts of the Erythracn Sea while describing the

northern portion of the east coast of the Tamil country after the Pandyan territory writes

that, “60 among the market-towns of these countries and harbours where the ships put

in from Damirica and from the north, the most important are, in order as they lie, first

Camara, then Poduca, then Sopatma; in which there are ships of the country coasting

along the shore as far as Damirica; and other very large vessels made of single logs

bound together called sangara; but those which make the voyage to Chryse and to the

Ganges are called colandia, and are very large. There are imported into these places

everything made in Damirica, and the greatest part of what is brought at any times from

Egypt comes here, together with most kinds of all the things that are brought from

Damirica and of those that are carried through Paralia”.

Of the three places mentioned the first Camara has been identified with

Kaverippumpattinam, i.e., the port at the confluence of the river Cauvery with the sea;

and Poduca with Pondicherry, the Tamil form of which is Puduchcheri, near which place

at Arikamedu, recent excavations have brought to light a Roman emporium. The third

and last, Sopatma, is taken as the phonetical equivalent of the Tamil form Sopattinam,

which is equated with Eyil-pattinam, the Timil words so and eyil meaning a wall or

rampart and identified with Marakkanam (Merkanam of the maps) in the Tindivanam

taluk of the South Arcot district and lying on the sea-coast, though it is about 3 or 4

miles from the sea-coast, (about 32 km) north of Pondicherry,

That Marakkanam or at least a portion of it had the name Eyirapattinam is clear

from epigraphy^. In inscriptions it is also sometimes referred to as Pattinam in Pattina-

nadu a subdivision of Oeyma-nadu. Eyirapattinam is also a place of great antiquity and

1. ARSIE, No. 30 of 1919.



‘ SOPATMA 215

is mentioned in the Tamil poem Sirupamrruppadai included m the Fattuppatlii an

anthology in the Sa?igam classics- the place is called madil-ode peyariya pattinam which

means the sea-port having the name of a fortress i.e., Eyilpattinam which becomes

Eyirpattinam; according to the rules of sandhi, the word eyil also meaning a fortress.

Of the practice of using the synonym instead of the correct name to indicate an

object or place there are many instances. In the Manimekhalai for instance Vanji the

capital of the Cheras is referred to in one or two places as Porkodi-p-peyar-p-padnain-pon-

nagar which means the golden city having the name of the golden-creeper®. The term

porkodi which literally means a golden creeper also indicates a ‘beautiful woman’ which is

also one of the several meanings of the word Vanji. In the Penimpamrriippcdai, another

poem included in the PaKuppoliti the expression paravai-p~peyar-ppatu-yattam meaning the

boiled rice having the name of the bird’ is used to indicate iraiamiain a kind of superior

paddy. Here the word paravai (literally, a bird) is used to denote aniiain (swan), which

word thus obtained by translation is used to denote the full word irdiannani, a kind of

superior rice. The expression ‘a sea-port having the name of a fortress’ has also been

similarly used.

The name Eyirpattinam can be divided according to the rules of sandi in Tamil

both as Eyil-pattinam and as Eyir-pattinam. Only in the former case it will mean a

sea-port having the name of a fortress. The latter form will indicate a sea-port of the

Eyins or Eyinar. There are many references to a class of people variously called Eyin,

Eyinar or Eyiniyar the latter two being formed from the root Eyin who are explained as

hunters in the desert. The poem Sirupamrruppadai itself refers to the habitation of the

Eyinar in the Oyma-nadu and the other poem Penmpdndrruppadai in describing the

adjacent country with Kanchipuram as its capital also refers to the habitations of the

Eyinar. It will thus appear that the place owed its name to the Eyinar and

not to the high wall of fortress. It is true that the word So has the meaning,

among others, of a wall. But the name So-pattinam does not appear to have ever been

applied to Marakkanam or Eyirapattinam. Further the place is at a very short distance,

only about twenty miles (32 km), from Pondicherry which has been identified with

Poduca. It is very likely that two such great emporiums existed within such short

distance. As such the identification of Sopatma with Marakkanam does not seem

satisfactory and its location has to be placed farther north.

There are some villages in the Tamil country having names associated with the

word so e.g., Tiruchchopuram near Tirtanagari in the Cuddalore taluk of the South

Arcot district. But they alt do not conform to the description of Sopatma given above.

Further this sea-port is not mentioned by the other geographers. Ptolemy who described

this Peninsula in some detail giving not only the sea-ports but also inland marts, does not

mention Sopatma. But the place could not have fallen into disuse or ceased to exist

within the short interval especially because it was at the time of the Periplus, a great

2. mani-nir valpim madil-odii peyariya pani-nir-p-paduvin-pattinam padarin, Sinipanarrtippadai, 152-53.

3. Manimekhalai, 26; 92; 28; lOl-O?,
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trading centre visited by foreign vessels including those of Chryse or Golden land i.e.,

Snvarnabhumi and the Ganges. Evidently this place is referred to by some other name

by those writers.

The country lying immediately to the north of the Oymanadu was the region which

had Kanchipuram as its principal town. Bordering on the sea-shore on the eastern side

it should have had also some sea ports. The Pallavas had not come to rule over the

area. But still the city of Kanchipuram had become important and well-known. It

appears that even China had maritime intercourse with this place as early as the second

century B.C. This becomes clear from the mention of the kingdom of Houang-tchc,

which has been identified with Kanchi, as having had trade relations with China from

the time of Emperor Wou (140-86 B.C.) according to Pan-Kou, a Chinese writer who
lived not later than the end of the first century A.D.‘ During the days of Pallava rule

over this region, from the third to the tenth centuries A.D. there were many port-towns

of which two, Mallai and Mayilai, i.e. Mamallapuram or Mahabalipuaram and Mavali-

varam and Mayilapur within the present city of Madras were prominent as gleaned from

literature.

Kanchipuram itself is regarded by some scholars as a port-town®. This statement

cannot be said to have been made without any foundation. In the Life of Hiuen-Tsiang

by Beat we have the following remarks : “The city of Kanchipuram is situated on the

mouth (bay) of the Southern sea of India, looking towards the kingdom asSimhala,

distant from it three days’ voyage”. It has also been recorded that ships go to Ceylon

from Kanchi and that it extended by twenty miles (32 km) to the sea®.

Kanchipuram is not on the sea-coast, but situated inland about forty miles (64 km)
from the sea. It is said that when the Pallavas ruled over the Tondaimandalam, “Kanchi
was their capital and the celebrated Mallai on the sea-coast, their chief port”,' and to

explain the discrepancy found in the statement of the Chinese traveller she adds: “there is a

strong tradition in south India that in ancient days Kanchi and Mamallapuram were

connected by a long channel”. I am not able to trace any authority for this tradition.

Mallai, the shortened from of Mamallapuram is also referred to as Kadal-

mallai, i.e. the Mallai on the sea, and is referred to in one of his verses by the

Vaishnava saint Tirumangai Alvar.

Ptilankol navamanit-k-nvai-y-odu pulaik-kai-rna kalirrinamim

nalankol nmamaiji-k-kmaiyimi snmemd-engmn mnrosindti

kalankal iyangiun-MaUai-k-Kadan-MaUai-t-Talasayanant

valaitkoj manattar-marai valankoJ en-made-nenje.

(Periya Timmoli, Kadanmallai Hymns, verse 6).

4. Sastri, K. A. Nilakanta, Foreign Holices of South India, Extract II, pp. 445; also introduction, p. 4.

5. Chhabra, B. Ch., Expansion of Indo-Aryan rule during Pallava Rule, JRASB, L (1935) Vol. I, p. 5,

Watters; Yuan Chwang, p. 22; also Cunningham, Ancient Geography of India, p. 738.

6. Beal; Buddhist Recotdsof the Western World, Vol. II, p. 228.

7. Minakshi, C., Administration and Social Life under the Pallavas, p. 2,



SOPATMA 217

He says that in its harbour ride at anchor "vessels bent to the point of breacking laden

as they are with wealth, big trunked elephants, and the grains of the nine varieties in

heaps”. The place owes its name to Mamalla or Mahamalla, by which title the Pallava

ruler Narasimhavarman I, of Vatapi fame was known and many of the rock-cut temples at

the place date from the time of Narasimha and his successors. J. Dubreuil is of the

opinion that Mamallapuram did not exist before the time of Narasimhavarman I.«

But according to M. Raghava Aiyangar, Mamallapuram was a flourishing sea-

port under another name even at the Sangam period and that the harbour was full of

ships carrying horses from Western countries and merchandise from northern countries.®

He states that Nirppeyarru was the earlier name of the place and quotes the

authority of the Pentriipa/jarnippadai, one of the ten poems included in the Patliippathi

said to have been composed by Kadiyalur Uruttiran-Kannanar on Tondaiman

IJantiraiyan in support of his theory. But this is not borne out by the text. The poem

in the form of an address by the bard who had received presents from Tondaimanilan-

tiraiyan. King of Kanchi, to another bard whom he met on his way advising the latter

to go to the same king for bounty describes in detail the flourishing condition of the

land and the way leading to Kanchi.' The village of Nirppeyarru is first described in

lines 310-19 and "after leaving behind the village of Nirpeyarru”,^® it is said that he

would reach pattinam which is described in lines 319-336. Raghava Aiyangar thinks

that Nirppeyarru and Pattinam refer to the same place and adds : Nirppeyarru means

literally that which received the showers of the sea (nfr-peyal-iu i.e. the city which

abounds in seaborne goods”) and also “if in the expre sion ‘Nirppeyarru ellai-p-pagipafti-

nam pa4arin\ Nirppeyarru had not been the name ol the pattinam or the sea-port town

itself, the author would surely have mentioned its name”. He also draws attention to a

variant reading Nirppeyarttti meaning ‘that which has the name of the sea’. On the

analogy of the synonym’ being used to express the name of a place in the case of

Eyirpattinam discussed above, he takes the name Nirppeyarttu as indicating Kadal-

mallai, the words nir and kadaJ, both meaning the sea; and states that the place was

known as Nirppeyarttu in the Sangam period.

Nachchintirkkiniyar, the commentator on the Pattuppattn and also all the scholars

who have studied these poems have treated Nirppeyarru and pattinam as different and

referring to two separate places. In fact there is even now a separate village named
Nirpper in the area.

He also adds in a foot note that Mahavidvan R. Raghava Aiyangar has suggested

an emendation as nirppayar-ralai-p-pdgi thus making nir-p-payal meaning ‘the sleeping

couch (made up) by sea or ‘the lying (posture of God) by the sea’ as the name of the

place. This term nir-p-payal is a literal translation in Tamil of the word Jalaiayanam.

8. Ibid., p. 68.

9. Dubreuil, Pallam Antiquities, Vol. I.

]0. JOR, 1928, p. 152.
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And this term JalaSayanam is held to indicate the idol of couchant Vishnu in the Shore
Temple at Mamallapuram on the strength of the inscriptions of the time of the Chola
king Rajaraja I, found in the same temple referring to the god by the name Jalasayana
devar.ii as distinguished from Talasayanam, the name of the idol of couchant Vishnu in

the temple in the interior, which is so called because of the lying posture of the God on
the land (sr/in/asnjflufl). But this temple which is in the middle of the village is a i later

one while the place has been referred to as Kadal-mallai-t-Talaiayanam even earlier by
the Vaishnava saint Tirumangai Alvar; The expression TalaSayana-p-puram and Taiyen

found in an inscription in the Vishnu temple at Taiyur near Mamallapuram^- indicating

Taiyuras the endowment village of Talasayanam, would indicate that the term referred

to the Vishnu at the place. That this form Talasayana and not sthalasayano has acquired

some fame will be clear from an inscription found in Indo-China. This record found at

Ghai Lamov in the valley of Phanrang (ancient Pnnduranga) dated in Saka 723 (A,D.

801) registers the donation made by king Indravarman to the temple of Sankara-Narayana
and describes the Narayana aspect in the following words : taigapi Narayams-
santasta bliiibana pari rakshana-samantha bhtceat ksitir-arrnnm’a taranga-sanghata-talaiaycm-

am anta-blwgablm]aga parisevita chaturblvtja bhuvanas-stamphaschapi (Again, Narayana
is also capable of protecting the whole world. His four arms—the pillars of the world

—

are served by the serpent king with infinite hood, whose fathomless bed is formed by the

ocean of milk, beneath its mighty waves).*®

It will be seen from the above that the places mentioned in the Penimpanhrruppadai

cannot be identified with Mamallapuram. In fact, it could not have served as a sea-port,

the area being full of under-sea rocks and dangerous for ships to near the coast. The
present light-house at Mahabalipuram, it may be noted in this connection, is intended

only to wave the ships off the danger.

The word paltinam simply means a village on the sea-shore and may thus indicate

any sea-port. Some specified places were known to have been popularly (commonly)
referred to as the pattwam with or without the prefix of the place name. (Even today in

the Tamil districts the city of Madras is simply referred to by the people as Pattinam

and the term generally means only Madras). In the Chola inscriptions, Nagapattinam

in the Thanjavur District has been referred to as being situated in the territorial divison

of Pattina-k-kurrara,** and the Eyirpattinam above mentioned in the Pattina-nadu.*^

Both these divisions were named accordingly after the pattinam or sea-port, the import

towns in the area. But Mamallapuram is nowhere referred to as a pattinam, either in

epigraphy or in literature. It is only mentioned as Mamallapuram. The earliest occur-

rence of the name in epigraphy is found in an inscription deated in the 37th regnal year

of Nandivarman Pallavamalla*® and later on it is mentioned as Jananathapuram*", but

]1. Periimp'SijSrnippadai^ Nirppeyarruellai-p-pog}, lines 310-319.

12. Ibid., p. 153.

13. SII. Vol. I, Nos. 40 and 41.

14. SII. Vol. ir. p 356.

15. Majumdar R. C., Champa, p. Ill, list of Inscriptions, No. 24(b).

16. ARSIE, No. 259 of 1907; also the Larger Leiden grant Epi. hid., Vol, XXII, p,

17. 577, Vol. XX, No. 38.
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bowlicre has it been referred to with a name having the addition ofpattinam. On the.

other hand, the modem Sadras which is at a distance of about ten miles (16 km) from

Ivlamallapuram is known to have had such a name. The place is referred to as Nadira-

Vaehakanpattinam or simply as pattinam in inscriptions. In an inscription dated in

1376 A.D. of the time of the Vijayanagara king from Tirukkalukunram, which is at a

distance of nine miles (14‘4 km) both from Mamallapuram and Sadras (thus the three

places being in a triangular position and equi-distance from each other), the namdeHs and

others of Sadira Vachakan pattinam are reported to have bound themselves to pay to the

temple every month certain specified rates of levy on import of all articles (of merchan-

dise) to meet the expenses for the worship of Desivitanka-p-perumal.^® Another inscrip-

tion from the same place dated in the reign of the Vijayanagara prince Kampana

Udaiyar of Tirukkalukkunram on the levy of a cansolidated payment by the kaikkola of

Tirukkalukunram on the cloths taken out to Pattinam for sale and the commodities

brought by them from there.^® The Pattinam referred to in the latter record is evidently

the iSadira Vaehakanpattinam of the former where also it is stated that the place was a

mercantile centre and inhabited by the nanadesis i.e. members of the merchant guild

who traded with different countries.

The geographical position of Sadras also is significant. It is situated on the

northern bank of the river Palar at its confluence with the sea. The city of Kanchipuram

is situated about 64 km up to the river. The modem town is at a distance of about a

mile (1'6 km) from the river and is skirted by the Vegavati, a tributary of the Palar which

joins the river 16 km to the east. The river Palar is now only a river-bed without running

water; but it does not appear to have been like this always, It is said that water was

flowing in the river till about the beginning of this century. Very likely water was

flowing in the river in the earlier period of history and if so the river would have been

navigable at least by boats of smaller size from its mouth near the modern Sadras up

to Kanchipuram.

About three miles (4'2 km) west from Sadras, there is now a small village called

Vayalur on the northern bank of the river. The place is famous for the inscription of the

Pallava king Rajasimha giving the genealogy of the family from the mythical progenitor

to his day, found engraved on one of the pillars in the mandapa in the temple there.^" In

inscriptions, the place is called Tiru-p-pilavayil, which became corrupt later on as Tiru-

p-puli vayal, giving rise to the name of Vyagrapurisvara to god Siva in the temple (the

Tamil word ptdi meaning a tiger, Vyagra in Sanskrit). The present name of Vayalur is

perhaps the shortened form of the original name, retaining only the. suffix. The name
pf the place Tiru-p-pilavayil has been translated into English by H. Krishna SastrP as

‘the mouth of the sacred cave’ and thus lost its significance. The word iirn is the Tamil

word for Sri and is only a prefix to the name which is PUavayil which in Sanskrit is;

18. Ibid., Vol. IV, No. 377, also SITI, Vol. I, No. 500. Amiir-natut nagar MdmaUapuram'ana Jananatha-

Piiram.

19. SITI, Vol. 1, No. 466; also ARSIE, No. 173 of 1932-33.

20. Ibid., Vol. 1, No. 465; also ARSIE, No. 170 of 1932-33.

21. Epi. Ind., Vol. XVIII.
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pila-dvara. The word pila-dvara means ‘the passage to the nether world’ which was

occupied fay the nagas or in other words the passage to the naga-land. It is well-known

that South East Asia was referred to in Tamil literature as naga-land. Nachchinar-

kkiniyar, the celebrated commentator on the Tamil classics while describing the liaison

of a Chola prince with a Naga-princess of the nether world uses this term in the passage

Nagapattiiiattii-cb'cholm pilattuvarattin valjye Nagalokam ietirii (the Chola of Nagapatti-

nam having gone to the Naga-/oA'a by way of the pila dvara). It will them appear that

Tiru-p-pilavayil at the mouth of the river Palar on the sea-coast was the port of embar-

'

kation in those days for persons going to South East Asia and if so, identifiable with

Sopatma of the Periplus wherefrom ships bound for the Chryse from the Coromandal

coast began their direct voyage crossing the sea.

But scholars like Dr. R.C. Majumdar found it difficult to accept the view, gene-

rally held on the authority of the Periplus, that there was a direct voyage between south

India and the Far East in the first century A.D.-- And they maintain that their viesv is

confirmed by Ptolemy according to whose Guide to Geography the apheteriura, i.e. “the

point of departure for ships bound for Khryse” (land of Gold) is located near Paloura.-®

This place was identified by Sylvan Levi with Dantapura, a city prominently mentioned

in the Buddhist literature as a famous place situated in Kalinga.-’ They would argue

that the ships bound for South East Asia from the Tamil country went along the sea-

coast up to Paloura, placed by them on the coast of Orissa near the modern Chicacole

(^rikakulam) wherefrom they “ceased to follow the littoral and entered the high seas”.

The identification af ‘Paloura’ with Dantapura is based on the argument that Paloura is

derived fiom a Tamil word Pallur (Pa/«r, meaning town or village of the tooth); but

no such name is met within the whole field of Tamil literature and epigraphy so far.

And the location of the apheterium on the Orissan coast has been disputed by others.

Jouveau-Dubreuil thought that it was situated near the mouth of the Godavari.^®

Ptolemy’s Geography presents many broblems of identifications so far as south

India is concerned. Jouveau-Dubreuil has pointed out that between the ‘Khaberis-

Emporium’ indicating Kaverippurapattinam and the Ganga not a single place mentioned

by Ptolemy could be identified with any amount of certainty. Many authors have put

forth many hypotheses but without any great success.-® It may also be noted that Prof.

K.A. Nilakanta Sastri who has included extracts relating to south India from Strabo,

Pliny and other western authors in his book Foreigj] Notices of South India, has excluded

Ptolemy even though he is fully aware of its importance and explains the omission as

follows: “it has been rightly observed that Ptolemy’s Guide to Geography, ‘differs from
Strabo’s production as does the skeleton from the living being;®^ for this reason and

22. Ib!d.,\ol.XVlU.

23. Majumdar, R. C., Smarnadviptt, Vol. I, p. 7.

24. McCrindle; Ptolemy, pp. 66, 69.

25. JA, 1925, pp. 46-57.

26. Jouveau-Dubreuil, G., Ancient History ofthe Deccan, pp. 86-88.

27. /hid., p. 87.
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because of the numerous and difficult problems of identification, presented by his tables

relating to Southern India, broblems which cannot be adequately in casual notes, I deci-

ded to omit the tables from the present collection” .28

The identification of Paloura, the point wherefrom the ships bound for Suvama-

bhunii from the Tamil country entered the high seas is one sueh problem as the identifi-

cation made either with Dantapura or Kuduru does not possess unimpeachable

authority.

It is well-known that there was intense maritime activity in those days between the

Tamil country and South East Asia and that the ports on the Coromandal coast were

brisk with foreign vessels lying at anchor. There should certainly have been a direct

route from the Tamil country to the Far East, the existence of which has been sometimes

acknowledged.

We have shown above that according to the Tamil literature and epigraphy,

Tiruppiiavayil, the present day Vayalur on the river Palar, near its confluence with the

sea was the port of embarkation for direct voyage from the Tamil country to the Suvar-

nabhumi in those days and that the town of Sadira vaehakan pattinam, the modem Sadras

which rose by its trade was a principal trading centre for a long time. We may, there-

fore, identify Paloura, near which the apheterium according to Ptolemy was located,

with the river Palar.

One other point has to he explained. If this place is to be treated as the same as

referred to by the Periphis under the name Sopatma, it has to be explained how it got

the name. The word has been restored, as pointed out already, as So-pattinam meaning

'the town of wall’. Even though the word So means ‘a wall’, it is not its principal

meaning. It stands mainly for Sonitapuram, the Capital of the mythical king Bapasura,

grandson of the celebrated Mahabali and it is in this sense that the word is used in

classical Tamil literatuie. Very likely the word Sopatma has to be restored as So-patham

meaning “the way leading to the capital or the land of Mahabali and Banasura, i.e., the

nether world” and thus in a xvay a translation of the word pillavayil or piladvara taking

the word patha-^ as indicating ‘the way’ or road. Very likely it was a very big town

in those days extending both along the coast and also in the interior and was directly

connected with Kanchipuram by the river.

28. Ibid, Int. XIX.

29. Ibid., p. 8.

30. The word Andhrapathia is translated into Tamil as yadiiga-vali.
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Study of Medieval Indian History

This period deals with the years between 711 and 1206 A.D., the first marking

the commencement of Muslim aggressions in India, and the second the date of the

establishment of Muslim rule in Delhi. It is rather surprising to note that the Muslims,

who in the course of about eighty years from the date of the Prophet’s death, became

the masters of Arabia, Persia, Syria, Western Turkestan, Sind, Egypt and Southern

Spain, took nearly five centuries to establish their power in north India and to found a

kingdom there. It is not that the Muslims did not make vigorous attempts to bring

India under their sway. But their conquest of India was slow, partial and difficult

because of the determined resistance by the Hindu rulers in North-west India.

Nagabhata I, the founder of the Pratihara dynasty at Bhinmel is said to have defeated

the Vaiacha Mkchchas (the Baluchas). The attempt of the Arabs to conquer the Nava-
sarika country (southern Gujarat) was checked by Avanijanasraya Pulakesi tor which
he received the title of Dakshinapatha-svadharana (solid pillar of the Dakshinapaiba) and

Anirarlaka iiivartayitr (repeller of the unrepellable). Sulaiman the Muslim merchant

remarks that the Gurjara ruler was an enemy of Islam and Masudi says that the then

king of KanauJ had with him four armies for the four quarters and that the army of the

north was fighting against the prince of Multan and the Muslims on the frontier. Thus

for more than two centuries the Muslim invasions were held in check by the PanchalaS'

and the Pratiharas. But with the decline of the Gurjara empire by the middle

of the tenth century, the political condition of north India offered opportunity

for the renewal of Muslim invasions. The problem of arresting them became however

difiicult on account of the determined raids of Sabaktagin followed by those of his son

Mahmud of Ghazni whose fighting qualities were of a superior order, and later by those

of Muhammad of Ghor. The brunt of the fight had to be borne by the Chahamanas whose

territories were the most exposed to those raids. Next to them the Gahadavalas resisted

the Muslim inroads, to meet the expenses of which they collected a special tax called the

Turushkadanda. Later the rivalry between the Chahamanas and the Tomaras, their-

failure to join together against the determined foreign invaders, their diflering foreign
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policies, and their in difference to pursuing a victory to its conclusion resulted ultimately

in the establishment of the Delhi Sultanate in 1206. This was not, therefore, wholly

due to the superiority of the invaders in fighting power, their coming from a cooler

climate, their sturdier physique, their flesh-eating habits, their strong cavalry and their

fanatical zeal. Really this long period of five centuries when the Hindu rulers of north

India successfully held out against the invaders was a glorious period in the history of

pur country.

In spite of India’s resistance to aggressive Islam, the Hindus and Muslims found

mutual accommodation possible and during our period the influence of Indian culture

was felt in the court of Baghdad. The Khalifas of Baghdad invited Indian scholars to their

country, appointed them chief physicians in their government hospitals and got them to

translate from Sanskrit into Arabic books on medicine, pharmacology, toxicology, philo-

sophy, astrology and other subjects. An Arab astronomer is said to have been studying

Indian science at Banaras for ten years. The sttfis were influenced by Indian monasticism.

Alberuni who followed Mahmud to India, was an admirer of Hindu intellectual

achievements; and he translated many Sanskrit astronomical and philosophical works

into Arabic. In the Deccan and south India the Muslims found conditions congenial to

them. Friendly intercourse existed between the Deccan and the Muslim states of South

West Asia. Hindu kings who wanted Arab horses gave encouragement to Muslim

traders. Rashtrakuta Amoghavarsh I ordered that, the Muslims within his kingdom

should not be molested. They were allowed to construct mosques in the country.

Muslim saints like Nathad Wali preached Islam in south India.

The dates 711 and 1206, the initial and closing years of this period,

Tiave been apparently fixed from the point of view of the commence-

ment of the Muslim invasions of India and the establishment of the Sultanate of Delhi,

though they do not serve as landmarks in the internal history of our country. In

fact, after the decline of the Gupta empire there flourished in India a number of powerful

kingdoms in each of which there were rulers of conspicuous ability. This period com-

menced about 550 and ended about 1300, and may be divided into three sub-periods:

(I) from 557-750, (2) from 750 to 950, and (3) from 950 to 1206 in north India and 950

to 1300 in south India. Among the kingdoms in north India during the period were

those of the Gurjara Pratiharas of Bhinmal and Kanauj, the Turki Shahis and Brahmana
Shahis of Kabul and Ohind, the Karkotakas and Utpalas of Kashmir, the Solankis of

Anhilvad, the Paramaras of Ujjain and Dhar, the Kalachuris of Tripuri, the Chandellas

ofBundelkhand, the Chahamanas of Sambhar and Ajmer, the Gahadavalas of Banaras

and Kanauj, the Palas of Bengal and Bihar, and the Senas of Bengal. Among the

kingdoms in the Deccan and south India were those of the Western Chalukyas of

Vatapi, the Rashtrakutas of Malkhed, the Western Chalukyas of Kalyani, the Eastern

Gangas of Kalinganagara, the Eastern Chalukyas of Vengi, the Western Gangas of

Talakad, the Pallavas of Kanchi, the Cholas of Thanjavur and the Pandyas of Madurai.

Since the history of these Kingdoms was not seriously affected by the Arab invasion of

Sind, and the history of the Deccan and south Indian kingdoms was not affected by
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the establishment of the Delhi Sultanate it is desirable to widen this period so as to

cover the years between A D. 550 and 1300. We have authentic accounts of the history

of many of the dynasties of this period written by competent scholars in the shape of

monographs and articles. But since fresh materials for a study of the history of the

period are becoming available year after year some of the works may require revision.

For instance a fresh examination of the chronology of the later Pallavas of Kanchi has

been rendered necessary by the find of an inscription of the Western Chalukya King

Vijayaditya (730-31) in the Kurnool district which refers to the Pallava King Parame-

svaravarman II as the luler of Kanchi. We have been alt along thinking that his reign

came to an end by 710 A.D. itself. Further the histories of the less known dynasties

that ruled over different parts of the country during the period require to be worked

upon. They served not only to fill up the gaps between the periods of rule by the

major dynasties but also as links between them.

Our period saw the transition from the ancient to mediaeval India, and bears

some resemblance to Europe of the same period. The existence in India of many

independent kingdoms then reminds us of the division of Europe into a number of

Kingdoms in the period of the Holy Roman Empire. As in Europe the foundation of

political organisation in India was influenced by the feudal principles of service and

protection. But while admitting “the curious coincidence between the habits, notions

and government of Europe in the Middle Ages and those of Rajasthan, it is not absolu-

tely necessary that we should conclude that one system was borrowed from the other”.

The fact, however, that the clan system under the Rajputs bears close similarity to the

feudal institutions of Europe cannot be denied. The social virtues cultivated both in

India and in Europe during this age were also almost similar. Among them may be men-
tioned the virtues of courage, loyalty and politeness.Like the knights of mediaeval Europe,

the military classes in India who shunned battle, or were disloyal to their overlord or

failed to keep their word or were rude to women were considered less than chivalrous.

H.G. Wells once imagined a “time machine” by which one can travel into the

future or the past. If we had one such now, I think we should like to go to our period

which is the most interesting and attractive of the different periods in Indian history. It

is usually said that the country can be happy only under a strong and big empire. But

in spite of the wars and .campaigns, revolutions and changes of kingdoms, that marked
the period, there was enough peace in the country for saints and philosophers to make
deeper and richer the spiritual life of the world, for scholars to write books and promote
learning, for businessmen to trade and prosper and for architecture, sculpture and

painting to develop.

A very significant feature of the religious life in India during this period is the

growing influence of the Agarms in temple rituals and worship. The Agamas or tantras

are books that deal with the worship of Gods like Siva, Vishnu and Sakti. The names
of 108 Vaishnava (or Bhagavata or Pmeharatra or Satvata) Agaruas and 28 Saiva (or

Pahipata or Mahe^vara) Agamas besides many others are known, Though the earliest



STUDY OF MEDIEVAL INDIAN HISTORY 225

extant text of the Agaiiios may not be older than the 6th centuay when the Agajua

teachings became popular in the Tamil country the ogama doctrines must be assigned

to the period before the commencement of the Christian era. But Agamic ideas gained

popularity during this period with the gradual decline of the Vedic rites like the Yajna.

fhe Vaishnava doctrines recognise the supreme God in four forms {vyilbas).

Vishnu became Vasudeva, Sankarshana, Pradyumna and Aniruddha. Of his 39 avataras

ten came to be recognised by the Agamns', §iva successively became the three iatlvas,

Sadash'O, Isvara and Vidya. Lakshmi, the Sakti of Vishnu gradually lost her ground

but ^iva-Sakti usually called Amba or Kali gained the upper hand. Seventy-seven

Agapws are devoted to her

.

Though temples were not unknown in ancient India a good number or them

came into existence during our period in various parts of the country, particularly in

south India and the Deccan. In the construction of the temples, consecration of images

and the organisation of worship in them the Agamas have served as the authority. With

the elaboration of temple rituals and worship in south India priests were brought from

the north for the organisation of such worship.

Again the advent of the new schools of Saivism and Saktism in south India

resulted in the consecration of Devi or Parvati in the 10th and 1 1th centuries in separate

shrines constructed for her usually in the north-western part of the temples dedicated to

Siva. It is worthy of note that while in the temples of the 8th and 9th centuries in

south India there were shrines dedicated to the Saptamatrikas and Jyeshtha there was

no separate shrine for Devi. It is believed that the city of Kanchi was conceived as

Srichakra in which the Devi was consecrated in a separate temple constructed in the form

of Sr/cM-rn according to the Sdtta /Ignmas. Probably following this a separate shrine

for the Devi was consecrated in every Siva temple. The Saptamatrikas and Jyeshtha

lost their place in Siva temples. But Durga as an individual deity continuted to be

worshipped in separate temples or was given a place in a niche in the northern wall of

the Siva temples.

This period not only saw the elaboration of the temple rituals and organisation

but also the growth of a vigorous theistic devotional movement of the emotional type as

also of philosophical speculations. It was then that many of the great devotees like the

Nayanmars and the Alvars and philosophers like Kuinarila, Sankara and Ramanuja

lived. The devotional or Bhakti movement was characterised by the self-surrendering

devotion to a personal God and transcended all reason and understanding. Bhakti was

considered enough to get the Lord’s grace and attain salvation. Though the Bhakti

cult might have originated in north India in very early times, it seems certain it was

elaborated more fully in south India. In this connection it is of interest to note that the

Bhagm'ata Maliatmya contains a parable which says that bhakti which is described as a

woman was born in the Dravida country, attained her womanhood in the Karnataka

and Maharashtra and reached Brindavan with great misery through Gujarat along with

her two sons Jnana (knowledge) and Vairagya (freedom from desire) and that the sons

djed there. This shows that southern India was a stronghold of the Bhakit cult.
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The Bhakti movement in south India progressed along the parallel streams Saivisni

and Vaishnavism. The Saiva and Vaishnava saints were drawn from different communi-

ties in south India. Among the 63 Saiva Nayanmnrs were a few Brahmanas, a pariah, a

woman and a General of the Pal/ava army; and among the twelve Alvars were a few

Brahmanas and Kshalriyas besides Sudras and low caste men known as the Panar. Most

important among the former were Appar, Tit'ujnanasambandar, Sundaramurti and

Manikkavachakar. The outpourings in hymns of the first three among them ace

collected in the Dexaram and those of the last among them are collected in the

TiniYacIiakam. Most of the saints lived in the Pallava period. Except three, the other

Alvars also appear to have lived in the Pallava period, and were the authors of the Pra-

baiidlia literature. The devotion of all of them threw them very often into ecstatic moods.

On the philosophical side of the Hindu revivalist movment, Kumarila led a cru-

sade against Buddhism and succeeded in reviving respect for the authority of the Vedas.

Sankaracharya, a Nambudri Brahmana from Kaladi and a clear metaphysical thinker

and logician propagated his philosphy of monism. He blended the agamic rites of

worship, the Vaidik rites, the Sahta rites of the Buddhists and the paths of devotion to

God and knowledge of the Upanishads Borrowing the organisational methods of the

Buddhists, he stimulated desire for sanyasa and founded at Sringeri, Dvaraka, Bhadri-

nath, Puri and Kanchi maihas to propagate his teachings. On the Vaishnava side,

Wthamuni systematised the Vaishnava canon and Yamunacharya tried to differentiate

i'he Supreme from the Individual soul. But the idea was pcr'ected by Ramanjachhrya

who built up the VUishtadvaita system according to which “the soul though of the same

substance as^ God emitted from him rather than created can obtain bliss not in absorption

but in 6xistence near him.” His broad outlook and deep sympathies made him uhder-

takc feforms'in the temple rituals. Nimbarka, a younger contemporary of Ramanuja,

founded a new school of vaishnavism almost in the same period.

‘ h ' ^ ‘ . r J'
'

Among the Saivas there developed schools in south India, the pasupatas, Kapali-

kas and the Kalamukhas w'ith their shocking and repulsive practices like hurhan sacrifices

and the wearing of garlands of skulls became popular in certain parts of the country.

From the (welftli century onwards the philosophical system of Saiva Siddlianta based

largely on the Agamas and the Tinmiandiram of Tirumalar spread in south India and ser-

ved to create a large volume of religious literature explanatory and controversial. Almost

simultaneously the Vira Saiva or Liiigayat cult founded by Ekantada Ramayya spread in

the Karnataka country. Mallikarjuna Panditaradhya of the Telugu country founded

another Saiva sect, the ‘Aradhya' sect, which differed from the earlier one in some respects.

Both of them served to resist the spread of aggressive Islam in south India.

Buddhism was definitely on the decline during the period except under the Palas of

Bengal, who were patrons of the religion. In other parts of the country it lingered on

only in a few places like Kanheri in the Deccan, and Nagapattinam, Srimulayasam and

Kanchi in south India. It was not able to resist the force of the reviving Hinduism, and

with the adoption of the Tantric forms Buddhism lost its individuality and strengtl).,
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But Jainism continued to maintain its influence particularly in the Karnataka and Tamil

country during the period. The Rashtrakutas were great patrons of the religion.

It has been remarked that this period was poor in literary activity. But the

charge is not wholly true. Though the country did not produce great literary celebrities

of the type of Kalidasa, there lived during the period a number of litterateurs in different

parts of the country whose works covered a variety of fields like poetry, poetics, drama,

grammar, le.sicography, philosophy, astronomy, astrology, mathematics, law, politics,

medicine, music, etc. It may, however, be said that the nnmber of original works produ-

ced during this period were few when compared with the larger number of commentaries

and digests. It is perhaps needless to mention now the names of all the scholars of the

period known to us through their works but it is difficult not to take at least a passing

notice of the authors like Bhavabhuti, Bhatta, Venkata Madhava, Somadeva Suri,

Krishna Misra, Paramara Bhoja, Kshemendra, Somadeva, Behana, Abhinavagupta,

Vijnanesvara, Vatsaraja, Dhananjaya, Kalhana, Hemachandra, Lakshmidhara and

Bhaskaracharya among a large number of others.

This period also saw the development of vernacular literature in the country parti-

cularly in south India. The Hindu religious revival brought into existence a large volume

of devotional literature. In Tamil the Saiva canon {timmnrai) containing the Devaram

was systematised by Nambi Andar Nambi in the 10th century. Sekkilar wrote the Peri-

yapurmm. Nathamuni arranged the Vaishnava canon, the Nalayiraprabandham.

Among the works of a non-devotional character maybe mentioned the Nandikkalam-

the Tamil B/jara/a/n of Perundevanar, the JTmkachvilamani of Tiruttakkadevar,

the Ramayanam of Kamban, the Siddmaui of Tolamoli, the Kalingalliipparaid of

Jayankondar, the Yappanmgakjn of Amitasagara besides a number of others. After

Tamil, Kannada possesses the oldest literature in south India. Among the Kannada

works of the period may be mentioned the Kavirajainargci of the Rashtrakuta king

Amoghavarsha I, the Adijmrana and the Vikramdrjuncnyaya of Pampa, the Santipiirmia

and the Jiuaksharainala of Ponna, the Ajitapnrana and the SahasabJiiptaviJaya of Ranna,

the Mallimlhapvrana of Nagachandra, the Nejuimthapiirana of Kamaparya, and the

Kavyavalokana and the Kaniatakabhdshabhiisbana of Nagavarma II. Telugu literature as

such began later than Kannada. Among the important Telugu works of the period are

the Aitdlirafabdacltintapiaiii and a translation of a part of the Bharata by Nannaya and the

Kmijandiraya and the BhTmefvara Piirana by Vemula Vada Bhima Kavi of Kalinga.

There were a number of organised educational institutions in the country serving

as centres of higher education and attracting students from far and near. The old

hJalanda University was patronised by Yasovarman in the 8th century and the Pala Kings ^

in the subsequent period besides the Sailendra emperor Balaputradeva. Among
^

its

techers in the eighth century were Santideva, a Mahayana Santarakshita tvriter, besides

Padmasambhava, Kamalasila and Chandragomin, all authorities in Tantric Buddhism.-

Yiradeva and Buddhakirti belonged j to still later periods. But this popular institution ^

which attracted students even from foreign countries like Indonesia, China,

Tibet, Korea and .Tapan was destroyed towards the end of our period by Muhammad
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bin Bakhtyar in the courie of his conquest of Bihar. The Vikramasila University also

in Bihar was another important one comparable only to Nalanda. It was patronised by

Nayapala, during whose time the head of the institution was one Dipankara Srijnana

alias Atisa, a master of Buddhist learning. There were six colleges attached to it, each

under a dvarapandita and 108 professors. The affairs of the University were managed

by the President (Vice-Chancellor) who was assisted by a Board of six members. This

institution which specialised in Tantric Buddhism met with the same fate as the Nalanda

University by the end of our period. There were two other Universities in Bihar, the

Odandapura University founded by Gopala in the eighth century and the Jaggaddala

Univeisity founded by Ramapala in the eleventh century. The latter specialised in

Tantrism. Kanchi in the South with its gliatika was a centre of higher Brahmanical

learning. Besides there were ghatikas and Brahmapuris in other places also like Niranta-

nur (Cuddapath Dist), Ummachige (Dharwar Dist.), and Belgaum in each of which

hundreds and thousands of scholars were studying. Besides, there were colleges in different

places in south India such as those at Ennayiram and Tribhuvani devoting themselves to

higher learning. Thus our period was also one of intense educational” activity.

It is needless to say much about the progress of the allied arts of architecture,

sculpture and painting. In fact this period was the golden age of structural temples in

north as also in the south, particularly so in the latter. South India became studded

with Hindu temples and Jain monuments. The evolution and development of the styles

of architecture of this period is an interesting and fruitful study by itself.

The history of Greater India constitutes a very brilliant and important chapter in

the history of India. Starting with peaceful commercial intercourse with the countries

of the Far East India was able in the period covered by this section to establish her

cultural imperialism over them. Really “India under the influence of the Cholas and

the Palas, who ruled contemporaneously over southern and northern India became the

school of Asia by supplying faith, literature, arts and material necessities to Nepal,

Tibet, China, Japan, Java, Burma, and other lands beyond the seas”. A general study

of the history of South East Asia between the 8th and the 1 3th centuries shows that the

Indian language (Sanskrit), script, faiths, beliefs, arts, customs and manners were trans-

ported there. Thanks to Dutch and French archaeological work during the last half a

century and more we have now a large volume of material throwing light on the Hindu
achievement in the Far East. The subject requires greater attention at our hands.

Though many savants have worked in the last century on the inscriptions of this

period their published works are not easily available to us. For instance the

pioneer works of Dr. Fleet, viz., the volumes of the Bombay Gazetteer and the inscrip-

tions of the Kanarese districts are not available to many of us. A fresh edition of them
is a hard felt need and steps should be taken to republish them. In this connection it is

gratifying to note that the Government Oriental Manuscripts Library at Madras has

taken on hand the publication of the inscriptions in the Mackenzie Collection, The
Chif Epigraphist of the Govt, of India has been bringing to light on an average about

500 to 600 inscriptions every year from different parts of the area and noticing them in
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their Annual Reports. The texts of the inscriptions collected by him are being published

in the volumes of the South Indian Inscriptions but a good number still await publication.

The inscriptions with the Archaeological Survey may come to about 40,000 besides others

collected by the Hyderabad, Mysore and Travancore-Cochin Archaeological Departments.

Some 30 years ago a list of the inscriptions collected by the Madras Epigraphy Depart-

up to 1915 were arranged according to Districts by Prof, Rangacharya and the work was

published under the authority the Government of Madras in 1919. I think it is highly

necessary that all the south Indian inscriptions collected so far and published in

various reports and periodicals should be similarly arranged according to districts and

in chronological order and published for the use of students of south Indian History.

Of late we see much stress being laid on the history of India being written by

Indian scholars. The re-evaluation of the history and culture of our country by Indian

scholars who are naturally suffused with Indian thought and feeling and therefore are

belter equipped to write Indian history with greater understanding is now increasingly

necessary. To my mind the ideal history writer is one who is always fair minded in his

treatment and conclusions. If we are able to attain this ideal that would be the great

service that we can render to our country and to Indian history.


